
 
 

 

 

 
Local Government Act 1972 

 
I Hereby Give You Notice that an Ordinary Meeting of the Durham 
County Council will be held in the Council Chamber - County Hall, 
Durham on Wednesday 23 October 2019 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the 
following business:- 
 
 

1. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 18 
September 2019  (Pages 3 - 16) 

 

2. To receive any declarations of interest from Members   
 

3. Chairman's Announcements   
 

4. Leader's Report   
 

5. Presentation by Area Action Partnership  (Pages 17 - 26) 
 

6. Questions from the Public   
 

7. Petitions   
 

8. Report from the Cabinet  (Pages 27 - 34) 
 

9. Appointment of a Head of Integrated Strategic 
Commissioning - Report of Corporate Director of Adult and 
Health Services  (Pages 35 - 44) 

 

10. Review of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy - 
Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services  (Pages 45 - 300) 

 

11. Adoption of Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan - Report of 
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services  
(Pages 301 - 306) 

 



 

 

12. County Durham Vision 2035 - Report of Director of 
Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 307 - 344) 

 

13. Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018/19 - Report 
of Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel  (Pages 345 - 
368) 

 

14. Motions on Notice   
 

15. Questions from Members   
 

 
 
And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting 
 
Dated this 15th day of October 2019 
 
 

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
To: All Members of the County Council 
 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At an Ordinary Meeting of the County Council held in the Council Chamber - 
County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 18 September 2019 at 10.00 a.m. 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor K Corrigan in the Chair. 
 

Councillors E Adam, J Allen, J Atkinson, B Avery, A Bainbridge, B Bainbridge, 
A Batey, D Bell, J Blakey, G Bleasdale, L Boyd, D Boyes, D Brown, L Brown, 
C Carr, J Carr, J Chaplow, J Clare, J Clark, M Clarke, J Considine, B Coult, 
P Crathorne, R Crute, M Davinson, S Dunn, D Freeman, A Gardner, Geldard, 
J Grant, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson, K Hawley, T Henderson, S Henig, D Hicks, 
J Higgins, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, P Howell, E Huntington, G Huntington, 
S Iveson, I Jewell, O Johnson, P Jopling, C Kay, B Kellett, J Lethbridge, K Liddell, 
H Liddle, L Maddison, J Maitland, R Manchester, L Marshall, C Martin, E Mavin, 
S McDonnell, M McKeon, I McLean, O Milburn, S Morrison, A Napier, J Nicholson, 
P Oliver, A Patterson, L Pounder, S Quinn, A Reed, S Robinson, J Rowlandson, 
A Savory, E Scott, K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, 
H Smith, J Stephenson, B Stephens, D Stoker, A Surtees, O Temple, 
K Thompson, F Tinsley, T Tucker, J Turnbull, A Watson, M Wilkes, A Willis, 
M Wilson, D Wood and S Zair 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Atkinson, A Bell, E Bell, 
J Bell, R Bell, P Brookes, J Charlton, I Cochrane, S Durham, K Hopper, S Hugill, 
A Laing, J Makepeace, C Marshall, L Mavin, R Ormerod, C Potts, G Richardson, 
P Sexton, T Smith, P Taylor and S Wilson 
 

 
Death of John Jennings 
 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting, the Chair reported the sad news 
of the death of John Jennings. John had worked in local government in 
Durham for over three decades and had been the Director of Environmental 
Services at the former Durham City Council. 
 
The Council stood for a moments silence as a mark of respect. 
 

1 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 July 2019 were confirmed by the 
Council as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



2 Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

3 Chair's Announcements  
 
The Chair extended a warm welcome to pupils from Years 4 and 5 from 
Dean Bank, Ferryhill Station, Chilton and Cleves Cross Primary School’s who 
were working towards becoming Ambassadors for Community Change with 
Approach Too, a Community Interest Company, to help them develop skills, 
knowledge and motivation for participation. 
 
The Chair referred to the Pennies from Heaven scheme which allowed staff 
and Members to donate to charity via payroll deductions and thanked the 
Council for their support. 
 
The Chair referred to the ‘PREVENT’ agenda and presentation about far-
right extremism which would follow the meeting. Councillor A Patterson 
provided the Council with a brief synopsis of the event and hoped that the 
one-off training opportunity would benefit members and officers. 
 

4 Leader's Report  
 
The Council noted a report of the Leader of the Council as follows: 
 

 September marked the start of the new school year, a time when many 
young people across County Durham were commencing further and 
higher education courses after successfully achieving GCSE’s and A-
level qualifications. The County’s exam results had been excellent with 
the average attainment grade at A-level increasing, compared to the 
national average. An increase in the proportion of students achieving a 
grade B or above in key subjects such as Maths, English and Science 
had increased to just under 14% compared to 10% the previous year. 
At GCSE level, the proportion of successful pupils achieving Grade 4 
or above in both English and Maths was 60% which matched last 
years performance but was a significant improvement from 2017. The 
Leader congratulated all pupils for their achievements, particularly 
given all the recent changes to the exam systems; 
 

 The Leader took the opportunity to welcome the 74 new apprentices 
who had started work with the Council the previous week and wished 
them every success in their new roles; 
 

 Care providers and those wishing to pursue a career in the care sector 
could now access free training through the County Durham Care 

Page 4



Academy to improve skills and resilience in the care sector. The 
academy offered support across a range of different areas. The 
academy was part of a broader programme of work aimed at 
supporting independent adult social care providers across the County. 
The Leader explained that Adult Health and Social care roles made up 
a large proportion of employment opportunities across the County. 
According to the independent charity ‘Skills for Care’, 10% of adult and 
social care roles were vacant in County Durham which equated to 
1400 vacancies at any one time. The average age of a care worker in 
was 44, with 25% of the workforce aged over 55 and due to reach 
retirement age within the next 10 years. This was set against an 
increasing demand for care as the older population continued to grow. 
To help providers meet this need the care academy had provided a 
route into an adult and social care with the introduction of a course 
which would commence in September and was just one of a broad 
range of training opportunities on offer; 
 

 The Leader expressed his delight that one of the new Azuma trains, 
built in County Durham and by north east workers, had stopped at 
Durham for the first time. The image was featured on the front page on 
the latest edition of the County Durham News; 
 

 Transformations were underway to turn Bishop Auckland Town Hall 
into a thriving cultural hub with the investment of £1.5m to refurbish 
and redefine the hall with improved layout and modern facilities which 
would allow for a more enticing programme of activities and events. 
The venue would be closed until Spring 2020; 
 

 Bishop Auckland was one of 51 local areas picked to go through to the 
next round of the Future High Streets Fund and would receive upto 
£150,000 worth of funding to work up detailed projects to regenerate 
and redevelop the town centre, and, if successful would eventually 
receive multi-million pound funding to complete the project. 
 

 In Durham City the new Odeon Luxe cinema had opened on the 
Riverwalk. The first phase of Milburngate and the development of the 
Council’s new smaller Headquarters were underway. The new HQ 
would free up the current Aykley Heads site to be one of the best new 
business parks in the North East providing a £400m economic boost 
for the County and creating 6,000 jobs; 
 

 The Council had secured £1.6m from the National Lottery Heritage 
fund for the redevelopment of the Seaham Townscape Heritage 
project, a 3-year project focussing on the heritage and regeneration of 
historic properties in Church Street, Seaham. The Leader 
congratulated everyone involved; 

Page 5



 

 The year of culture continued at the Apollo Pavilion in Peterlee, which 
was the focus of an artist’s creative vision as part of its 50th 
anniversary; 
 

 Next month would see the return of the annual Durham Book Festival, 
the completion of the Auckland project multi-million pound 
development of Auckland Castle and the return of the tenth 
anniversary of the Lumiere festival, the UK’s largest light festival. The 
event promised to be very special and the full programme would be 
launched in October; 
 

 Other events that had been held included the annual brass festival, the 
Flying Scotsman visit to Locomotion at Shildon, the Durham City Run 
festival and the final performance of Kynren at Bishop Auckland had 
taken place. 
 

 The Cycling Tour of Britain which some of the worlds best cyclists 
competed in, had travelled through the west of the County. There had 
been lots of support from the roadside and the event had featured 
heavily on local and national news bulletins, as well as being 
broadcast on ITV4. Record crowds also turned out for the Wolsingham 
Show, one the biggest shows in the agricultural calendar; 
 

 In relation to health issues, the Leader informed the Council that 
increased mental health would be supported for children and young 
people following a successful funding application. Teams would work 
in schools and colleges in areas of social disadvantage, with the 
County being one of 57 areas across the country chosen by NHS 
England. The application was made by a partnership of agencies. The 
new support teams would start work in 2020;  
 

 Stoptober would launch on 19 September and would continue 
throughout October. The campaign was based on research that if you 
could stop smoking for 28 days you were five times more likely to stop 
smoking for good. The ambition for County Durham was a reduction of 
5% smoking prevalence by 2025. The current level was at 15%. The 
Leader explained that the impact of smoking had been a key challenge 
over many years and progress had already been made with reduced 
levels of smoking in the county;  
 

 County Durham businesses were able to access support to reduce 
their carbon footprint and save money thanks to a £1.5m funding 
stream, having been accepted as part of an EU project that helps small 
and medium sized businesses change their energy behaviour, reduce 
operational costs and cut carbon emissions. £160,000 was available 

Page 6



from the fund which was available to support projects from now until 
July 2022. Durham had been welcomed into the scheme because of its  
successful business energy efficiency project which had helped 200 
local businesses improve their energy performance; 
 

 The Leader congratulated the Council’s Facilities Management and 
Building Cleaning Service which had won the Best Service Team of 
the Year in the Association for Public Service Excellence Awards 
2019; 
 

 The Leader of the Council welcomed John Pearce, the new Corporate 
Director of Children and Young People’s Services and James 
Etherington, the recently appointed Deputy Monitoring Officer to the 
Council; 
 

 Finally, the Leader placed on record his congratulations to Michael 
Stevens who had completed 50 years of service with the Authority, 
having joined Durham City Council in 1969 as an apprentice. The 
Chief Executive and Head of Environment had joined Michael and his 
colleagues for a much deserved celebration, where Michael was 
presented with a certificate and shopping vouchers as a thank you for 
his hard work, dedication and long service. 

 
Councillor F Tinsley thanked the Leader for his comprehensive report and 
noted the comments made regarding the Azuma trains. Councillor Tinsley 
expressed concern at an article which had appeared in the local media 
regarding the loss of a £500m contract for the new Nexus trains for the Tyne 
and Wear Metro and wished to record his anger at the decision and asked 
the Council to do all it could prior to the final decision being made in January. 
 

5 Presentation by Area Action Partnership  
 
The Council received a presentation from the AAP Coordinator and the Chair 
of Weardale Area Action Partnership (for presentation see file of Minutes). 
 
Councillor A Savoury explained that Weardale Area Action Partnership had 
one of the smallest populations in the County, but were one of the largest, 
geographically. The AAP started at Witton le Wear, with the fantastic nature 
reserve of Low Barns and climbed up to Killhope, a Museum which covered 
aspects of rural life and lead mining. Each of the numerous hamlets within 
Weardale held their own unique characteristics. 
 
The presentation focussed on key areas and gave an insight into some of the 
projects the AAP had delivered, such as: 
 

Page 7



 More and better – projects were carried out around rural skills training 
whereby the AAP had asked farmers what courses or training they 
would like developing for them. The AAP utilised the skills sets of 
Upper Teesdale Agricultural Support Services, listened to the feedback 
and worked together to develop a bespoke training package; 
 

 developing unique apprentices from outdoor activity workers to sports 
activators; 
 

 helping people live long, better and independent lives – whereby the 
AAP engaged with the community through the employment of a 
wellness coordinator who visited people in their own homes, to 
address issues that allowed them to have happier healthy lives staying 
in their own homes. In 2018, the wellness coordinator had identified 
three cases of AF – arterial fibrillation* (abnormality of the heart which 
is associated with strokes, heart attacks and dementia.); 
 

 secured over £105k of unclaimed benefits through the use of a rural 
advice worker; 
 

 worked with the Women’s Institute supporting an open house drop-in, 
which over 20 local residents attended and helped towards reducing 
social isolation; 
 

 supported and helped to develop a writing group “The North Pens” 
which had now been successfully managed to link the group into the 
Durham Book Festival; 
 

 worked with young people harnessing the potential of the community 
to bring a skatepark to the area. The project involved school children 
who helped with public meetings, a social media campaign and 
consultation meetings. Funding was sourced from LEADER, Sport 
England and Wolsingham Parish Council; 
 

 Connecting communities through the ‘We Are Weardale Project’ 
working with older residents, sharing memories and stories, holding 
workshops from creative writers to support children to understand their 
heritage and culture; 
 

 Created a Weardale Tub, utilising a similar methodology of inter-
generational work, workshops working with a ceramic glass panels, 
that were then fused together and placed as panels to form a lead 
mining tub.  The project had been nominated as a regional example of 
community arts work. 

 

Page 8



These projects provided a small sample of the work undertaken by the AAP. 
The AAP always took the opportunity to talk to the community, at agricultural 
shows, meetings or gatherings. They had held over 500 positive 
conversations, listened to the community, built on and developed 
programmes for future years. 
 
It was important to highlight that a vast community network had been 
developed in the Weardale area. Everyone in Weardale could benefit from 
AAP funding. The AAP worked proactively in this regard and met individuals, 
groups and worked through funding applications. The AAP also explored 
areas where joint working could take place and how additional funding could 
be sought to enable sustainable projects to be delivered. Many other 
agencies tapped into the AAP network to help make the area a better place. 
 
The Chair and AAP Coordinator finished their presentation by thanking 
everyone for having the faith, kindness and compassion to let AAPs do their 
job, not only in Weardale but across County Durham. 
 
The Chair thanked the AAP Chair and Coordinator for their presentation. 
 

6 Questions from the Public  
 
One public question had been received from a member of the public. The 
question related to Durham County Council planning policies and higher 
energy conservation standards for new buildings. 
 
In the absence of the questioner, the Chair advised the Council that a written 
response would be provided following the meeting. 
 

7 Petitions  
 
There were no petitions for consideration. 
 

8 Report from the Cabinet  
 
The Leader of the Council provided the Council with an update of business 
considered by Cabinet at its meeting held on 10 July 2019 (for copy see file 
of Minutes). 
 
The Chair informed the Council that one question had been received from 
Councillor Craig Martin, in relation to Item 4 of the Cabinet Report (2018/19 
Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection Fund), as follows: 
 
Considering there is a net underspend of £11 million from 2018/19 Final 
Outturn. Which resulted in an increase in earmarked reserves of £5.6 million, 
following a review of reserves, post year end. 

Page 9



 
Would the Portfolio Holder reallocate this money for spending on items 
identified by members for much needed extra funding such as highways, 
community centres, introducing 20mph speed limits, and dealing with 
backlog of dropped kerbs? 
 
The Chair of the Council invited the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
Councillor A Napier to respond.  
 
Councillor Napier thanked Cllr Martin for his question and explained that the 
cabinet report referred to clearly set out how the change in reserves was 
allocated as part of the close-down of the year end accounts.  
 
Councillor Napier explained that all Councillors should understand the 
importance of the areas identified in the question and everyone was more 
than aware of all the financial pressures faced and dealt with by the Council. 
The Council needed to reflect that it had been through ten years of austerity, 
through which time it had managed its finances very well by maintaining 
investment in frontline services despite cuts made to grants year after year. 
Councillor Napier reminded the Council that over the last two years £12m 
had been invested in Children’s Services, whilst the government continued to 
reduce funding and that was why any decisions relating to the use of the 
budget were made as part of the Council’s budget setting process where all 
opposition groups had the opportunity to set out their proposals prior to the 
budget being agreed. 
 
The Council had already agreed to use £5.5 million pounds of reserves to set 
the budget for the current financial year.  
 
Councillor Napier looked forward to the budget debate taking place over the 
coming months through the established and transparent procedures that 
were already in place. 
 
In response, Councillor Martin asked how a significant surplus of £11m had 
been generated and why the Council felt the need to spend this on PFI costs, 
academisation of schools and capital projects. 
 
Councillor Napier explained that all Members ought to be aware of the 
excellence of the Council’s strategic financial management, throughout a 
period of ever reducing resources, going back to 2009. The Council prided 
itself on its medium-term financial planning and highlighted some of the 
uncertainties that the Council was facing, including the recently announced 
‘spending round’, which detailed one-off areas for 2020 but nothing beyond 
that point. Councillor Napier questioned how the Council could plan on this 
basis.  
 

Page 10



Councillor Napier also informed the Council that delays to areas such as the 
fair funding review, comprehensive spending review and business rate 
retention, which incorporated the revenue support grant and public health 
grant and could potentially mean a reduction in revenue £18.6m in 2021 had 
been extremely unhelpful. 
 
Finally, Councillor Napier referred to the Shared Prosperity Fund (the 
replacement for the European Structural Investment Fund) which the Council 
should have been consulted about in late 2018. The Council had been 
lobbying the government through the Industrial Communities Alliance around 
three very important areas - What is the amount? How will it be distributed? 
and What are the governance arrangements? The government had been 
non-committal in respect of these matters.  
 
Councillor Napier explained that the areas highlighted were very important, 
however, it was imperative to continue with the budget setting process as 
opposed to choosing one-off areas. 
 

9 Treasury Management Outturn 2018/19  
 
The Council noted a report of the Corporate Director of Resources regarding 
the treasury management outturn position for 2018/19. The report provided a 
summary of the Council’s treasury position, borrowing activity, investment 
activity, treasury management and prudential indicators (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
The Corporate Director of Resources informed Members that the Council had 
adopted the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management was 
regarded as best practice in ensuring adequate monitoring of the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans and its Prudential Indicators. All of the Council’s 
investment activity had remained within the benchmarks for managing 
investment risk which were included in the Annual Treasury Management 
Strategy. 
 
In conclusion, the Corporate Director of Resources informed the Council that 
it had complied with its Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 for its full 
year activity covering the period to 31 March 2019. 
 

10 Audit Committee Terms of Reference  
 
The Council considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
regarding proposed changes to the Audit Committee Terms of Reference 
which were intended to update and make clear the specific purpose, roles 
and responsibilities the Committee undertake following new CIPFA guidance 
which expanded and provided more detail on the role of the Audit Committee 
(for copy see file of Minutes). 

Page 11



 
The Corporate Director of Resources informed the Council that in May 2019 
the Audit Committee reviewed its arrangements against the new CIPFA 
Guidance and recommended the changes proposed within the report to the 
Constitution Working Group. 
 
Many of the areas raised in the new CIPFA guidance had been operating in 
practice through the Committee prior to the formal release of the publication. 
However, the Terms of Reference for the Committee required updating and 
made clear the specific purpose, roles and responsibilities the Committee 
undertake.  
 
The proposed changes would ensure that the Council’s audit arrangements 
continued to reflect best practice. 
 
Moved by Councillor Shuttleworth, Seconded by Councillor Rowlandson and  
 
Resolved 
That the Council agree the changes to the Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference and delegate authority to the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services to make the consequential amendments to the Constitution. 
 

11 Report of Audit Committee September 2018 to August 2019  
 
The Council noted a report of the Chair of the Audit Committee which 
informed the Council of the work of the Audit Committee during the period 
September 2018 to August 2019 and how the Committee continued to 
provide good governance across the Council (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
In the absence of the Chair of the Audit Committee, the Vice-Chair provided 
an update on the work of the Committee during the period outlined in the 
report. The Vice-Chair explained that during the year, CIPFA had updated 
their best practice for audit committees which had led to the change in the 
Committee’s Terms of Reference which had been agreed in the previous 
report. 
 
Three key areas were drawn to the Council’s attention: 
 

 The work of Internal Audit - the Audit Committee continued to promote 
and champion the work of Internal Audit across the organisation and 
had agreed a revised version of the Internal Audit Strategy Charter and 
the Annual Internal Audit Plan. The Committee had also challenged 
and supported the work that was proposed and agreed the work 
programme for the coming year. The work completed by Internal Audit 
continued to provide assurance to the Committee that the Council’s 
control environment, governance arrangements and management of 

Page 12



risks were sound.  Internal Audit also continued to update the 
Committee on a quarterly basis; 

 

 The outcome of the Council’s External Audit of the Statement of 
Accounts – the Committee received the audit completion letters from 
their External Auditors. It had been very pleasing to receive an 
unqualified opinion on both sets of financial statements for both the 
Council and the Pension Fund. The work of officers from Finance to 
achieve an unqualified opinion had been a fantastic achievement, 
particularly given the Council’s size and complexity. The Councils 
External Auditors had been very complimentary of the Council’s efforts 
in answering queries and ensuring a timely outcome and an 
unqualified opinion. The Vice-Chair informed the Council that thanks 
had been passed onto all those involved in the process; 
 

 The continuing good work of the Council’s Corporate Fraud Team – 
the Committee had continued to note the excellent work being carried 
out in proactive counter fraud work. The Corporate Fraud Team had 
completed over 481 investigations in 2018/19 including blue badge 
abuse, council tax, business rates reduction claims, bogus insurance 
claims and housing tenancy. Over the year the team had recovered 
£1.3m of public money from fraud. As a result, the team had an 
excellent local and national profile for their work and had developed 
strong, partnerships with other public sector organisations which had 
continued to enhance the reputation of the Council. The increasing 
profile had seen the team win a national award in March 2019 and had 
also been nominated for another national award for excellence in 
counter fraud. 

 
In closing, the Vice-Chair congratulated the team for their work and 
highlighted that the effectiveness of the Audit Committee was excellent. 
 

12 Motions on Notice  
 
In accordance with a Motion on Notice it was: 
 
Moved by Councillor A Patterson, Seconded by Councillor J Considine that 
the Council resolves to: 
 

1. Commit to introducing a Parental Leave Policy to give all Councillors 
an entitlement to parental leave following the birth or adoption of a 
child; 
 

2. Request that Officers prepare a draft Parental Leave Policy; 
 

Page 13



3. Request that the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) consider 
appropriate remuneration as part of the Members Allowance Scheme 
and make appropriate recommendations; and 
 

4. That the draft Policy and IRP recommendations are considered by 
Constitution Working Group prior to being presented for approval at a 
future meeting of the Council. 

 
In Moving her Motion, Councillor Patterson explained that the essence 
behind the motion was to ensure all Councillors have the entitlement to 
parental leave policy after giving birth or adopting. The implementation of 
such a policy would ensure that all Councillors regardless of their 
background or the political party they represented would be appropriately 
supported in their role. It would also encourage a wider range of people to 
become Councillors and support existing Councillors and parents to remain 
as Councillors. 
 
Councillor Patterson informed the Council that research by the Fawcett 
Society in 2017 highlighted that only 4% of Council’s had a parental leave 
policy in place for Councillors. Since then many Councils across the country 
had adopted a policy for its Councillors, including neighbouring authorities, 
Newcastle and Sunderland. 
 
Any such policy would include improved provisions for new parents, 
contribute to increase diversity of gender, experience, age and background 
of local authority groups. It would encompass a range of shared parental 
leave arrangements, adoption leave entitlement and ensure that Councillors 
with other caring responsibilities would be appropriately supported. 
 
Councillor J Considine, seconding the motion, informed the Council that she 
had balanced the demands of a new-born baby with her role as a Councillor 
which had been a relatively good experience. Councillor Considine was 
concerned that other Councillors in her position may not be as fortunate and 
a parental leave policy would enable the Council to further develop provision 
for those becoming new parents or for those adopting a child. Councillor 
Considine felt that individuals should not be faced with one choice or 
another, which the introduction of such a policy would address. The policy 
would assist in attracting a wider range of people to the role. 
 
Councillor Temple felt that the motion presented was a very good idea and 
supported the proposal because it looked after people who worked within the 
Council structure which could only be positive. 
 
Councillor Temple hoped that consideration could be given to the great 
demands placed on residents in circumstances whereby their representation 
may be affected by a Councillor utilising a Parental Leave Policy, adding that 

Page 14



it was important that any policy looked at what way the resident’s interests 
could be assisted in a cooperative and supportive set-up. 
 
Councillor J Shuttleworth explained that the role of a Councillor was one of a 
public servant, an elected position without a contract of employment, 
whereby accessibility to the public was key and queried the legality of the 
proposal. 
 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services informed the Council that whilst 
Councillors did not have contract of employment, the Council had a duty of 
care to Councillors. A parental leave policy would be consistent in terms of 
exercising a duty of care and any proposed changes to the Members 
Allowances Scheme would be proposed by an Independent Remuneration 
Panel, therefore it was lawful to do so. 
 
In closing the debate, Councillor A Patterson informed the Council that she 
would take all the comments raised into consideration and felt that everybody 
in communities should be afforded the opportunity to be able to stand as an 
elected member without having any barriers in place. The draft policy and 
any recommendations suggested by the Independent Remuneration Panel 
would be considered by Constitution Working Group prior to being presented 
and debated at a future meeting of the Council. 
 
Upon a vote being taken the Motion was carried. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Council: 
 

1. Commit to introducing a Parental Leave Policy to give all Councillors 
an entitlement to parental leave following the birth or adoption of a 
child; 
 

2. Request that Officers prepare a draft Parental Leave Policy; 
 

3. Request that the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) consider 
appropriate remuneration as part of the Members Allowance Scheme 
and make appropriate recommendations; and 
 

4. That the draft Policy and IRP recommendations are considered by 
Constitution Working Group prior to being presented for approval at a 
future meeting of the Council. 

 

13 Questions from Members  
 
There were no questions from Members. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Derwent Valley Partnership

Corinne Walton, AAP 

Coordinator

& 

Jeanette Harold, AAP 

Chair

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 5



Derwent Valley Facts and Figures

• North west 

Durham

• Population 

45,000+

• Urban and rural

• Rich heritage –

steel and sword 

making

• From Blackpool 

to Australia!

P
age 18



Derwent Valley Priorities 

2019-2021
• Employment, Enterprise and 

Training (EET)

• Environment (ENVIRO)

• Health and Wellbeing (HAWB)

• Cross cutting themes

P
age 19



Action Plans
• EET

- Supporting development of higher level 

science, technology, engineering and 

manufacturing (STEM) skills and 

qualifications across all age groups

• ENVIRO

- Exploring resource efficiency, reducing 

carbon emissions and improving air quality

• HAWB
- Improving mental wellbeing for all ages with 

specific focus on suicide 

prevention and social isolation

P
age 20



Some of our sustainable best 

bits!
• Beat the 

Scammers!

• Primary and 

Secondary 

School 

Coding Clubs

• School Apple 

Project

P
age 21



You may have heard about….

Party in the Park 

2014, 2016 

& 2018

Christmas in Consett 

2014 - 2017

Consett Cycle Festival                

2019

P
age 22



Forthcoming projects 
• Community Transport Scheme

• Eco Friendly Schools

• Foodbank Debt Adviser

• Waste Not Want Not

• LFL Sensory Room

• STEM Camps

• Dementia Friendly Communities

• Mental Health Training for Young People

• Consett Advice Hub

P
age 23



Winter is coming!

Faith and Wellbeing Event 2019

Wednesday 20th November 

1pm-3.30pm 

Salvation Army Hall

Christmas in Consett 2019

Saturday 30th November

5.30pm-6.30pm 

Middle Street, Consett

P
age 24



Something you didn’t expect 

to see in Consett!

Who’s inside the costume?

Gordon or Corinne…….

P
age 25



Contact Details

Corinne Walton

AAP Coordinator

Derwent Valley AAP

03000 260725

corinne.walton@durham.gov.uk

dvaap@durham.gov.uk

Find us on          @ Derwent Valley Partnership – AAP

Community website:

www.derwentvalleylife.org.uk

P
age 26

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl&imgrefurl=https://en-gb.facebook.com/&h=0&w=0&tbnid=fTKCrFX9aTbCVM&zoom=1&tbnh=225&tbnw=225&docid=4adcRtEzCB9lzM&tbm=isch&ei=qpKMU5mlDaSV7AaS1oDgBg&ved=0CAIQsCUoAA


 

 

23 October 2019 
 
Report from the Cabinet 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To provide information to the Council on issues considered by the 
Cabinet on 11 September 2019 to enable Members to ask related 
questions. 
 

Contents 
 

Item 1 County Durham Vision Update 2035  
[Key Decision: CORP/T&P/19/01 ] 

 

Item 2 Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues  
 

Item 3 Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
2018/19 

 

Item 4 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018/19 
 

Item 5 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2019/20 –  
Period to 30 June 2019  

 

Item 6 Commissioning Plan for Children and Young People’s 
Services  

 

Item 7  A Digital Strategy for County Durham 
 
 

 
1. County Durham Vision Update 2035  

[Key Decision: CORP/T&P/19/01 ] 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Simon Henig 
Contact – Tom Gorman 03000 268027  

 
We have considered a report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships which presented the latest draft of the County Durham 
Vision 2035 document for approval.   
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



 

An extensive public consultation exercise was carried out where the 
vision was presented to AAP meetings and partnership meetings.  A 
video and the vision document were made available on the council’s 
website together with a questionnaire giving all the opportunity to 
comment on the vision. The consultation ran from 12 June to 31 July.  
Full details of the comments received following the consultation 
exercise, together with the partnership response were contained in the 
report.  Following the consultation, changes were made and the revised 
draft was presented in appendix 3 of the report.  A new branding 
strategy is required to replace the Altogether Better branding and 
options for this were presented in appendix 4 of the report.  
 

Decision 
 
We have:  
 
(a) Noted the public consultation feedback contained summarised 

within the report; 
(b) Agreed the latest draft of the vision for consideration and 

agreement by the County Durham Partnership prior to launch at 
the County Durham Partnership event on 25 October; 

(c) Agreed to develop a branding strategy for the new vision; 
(d) Agreed to review the delivery framework and monitoring 

arrangements for key strategies.  
  

2. Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues  
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Angela Surtees 
Contact – Emma Gardner 03000 268054  

 
We have considered a report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships which provided an update on the implications of the 
government’s welfare reform programme and its impact on the county.  
The report outlined the main changes introduced under the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012, and, the main policy developments which have taken 
place since the last update to Cabinet.   
 
The Council has an overarching Poverty Action Steering Group to 
oversee and coordinate its approach to mitigate poverty and has 
developed a comprehensive network of statutory, voluntary and 
community organisations who work together to provide advice services 
across the county through the Advice in County Durham Partnership.  
The steering group has developed a new poverty action strategy which 
was outlined in appendix 3 of the report.   
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

To achieve the best possible outcomes for residents experiencing 
poverty, the strategic aims of the strategy are: 
 
(a) To improve understanding of the types of poverty and its impacts 

on County Durham residents;  
(b) To increase employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth 

for residents;  
(c) That residents receive the best support and advice available 

concerning their financial situation; and 
(d) That children, young people and families have the resources to 

meet their basic needs including accessing opportunities to take 
part in society.  

 
To realise the strategy, the poverty action plan has been reviewed and 
revised in order to improve and develop service provision, and 
assistance to people in need.   
 

Decision  
 
We have: 
 
(a) Noted the progress being made by the council and its partners in 

addressing welfare reform and the wider poverty issues in the 
county; 

 
(b) Agreed the draft updated Poverty Action Strategy and Poverty 

Action Plan included in the report.  
 

3. Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
2018/19 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Olwyn Gunn 
Contact – Gordon Elliott 03000 263605   

 
We have considered a joint report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships and Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services which presented the final Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB) Annual Report 2018/19. This is the final report prior to 
transitioning to the new statutory partnership arrangement known as the 
Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP).  
 
The LSCB Annual Report 2018/19 demonstrates the extent to which the 
functions of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set out 
in the earlier national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to 
Safeguard Children’ (March 2015), have been effectively fulfilled.  The 
report describes the work undertaken against the LSCB’s 2018-19 
priorities and describes local governance arrangements and links to 

Page 29



 

other strategic partnerships across County Durham.  The report 
provides an overview of performance monitoring as well as providing a 
summary of the use of restraint in secure centres; Serious Case 
Reviews; Child Death Reviews; and the LSCB’s provision of multi-
agency training provision.   
 

Decision 
 
We have endorsed the 2018/19 Annual Report of Durham Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.  

 
4. Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018/19 

Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Olwyn Gunn 
Contact – Helen Fergusson 03000 261663   

 
We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services which presented the Corporate Parenting 
Panel Annual Report April 2018 – March 2019.  The Annual Report was 
agreed by the Corporate Parenting Panel at its meeting on 19 July 
2019.  Following an inspection of Durham County Council’s Children’s 
Services by Ofsted in February/March 2016 the Council’s 
transformation agenda has made significant improvements in relation to 
political oversight of Children’s Services including the revised terms of 
reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel.  This is the second Annual 
Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel, following the changes to 
political oversight. 
 
Decision  

We have endorsed the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report for 
2018-2019. 

5. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2019/20 –  
 to 30 June 2019   

Deputy Leader of the Council – Councillor Alan Napier 
Contact – Jeff Garfoot 03000 261946   
 

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
which provided information on the following: 
 
(a) forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2019/20; 
(b) forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 

position at 31 March 2020; 
(c) forecast use of earmarked, cash limit and general reserves and 

estimated balances to be held at 31 March 2020. 
 

Page 30



 

The report also sought approval of the budget adjustments and 
proposed sums outside of the cash limit. 
 
In accordance with the council’s constitution, Council agreed the 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which incorporates the revenue 
and capital budgets for 2019/20, on 20 February 2019.  The constitution 
also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to Cabinet on the 
overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly basis. 

This report provided a forecast of the revenue and capital outturn for 
2019/20, based upon expenditure and income up to 30 June 2019. This 
is the first report on forecast financial performance against the 2019/20 
budgets this financial year. 
 
The 2019/20 projected revenue outturn a forecast cash limit 
underspend of £0.049 million plus an underspend on all other budgets 
of £1.138 million. This forecast net underspend of £1.187 million 
represents 0.3% of the net expenditure budget of £419.581 million.  
Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves) 
are forecast to reduce by £8.769 million in 2019/20, from £209.069 
million to £200.300 million. The projected capital outturn is £142.663 
million. The estimated outturn for the Council Tax Collection Fund is a 
surplus of £0.132 million.  Durham County Council’s share of this 
forecasted surplus is £0.111 million, which will be available to support 
the 2020/21 budget.  
 
The estimated outturn for the Business Rates Collection Fund is a 
surplus of £2.525 million Durham County Council’s share (49%) of this 
estimated surplus is £1.237 million which will be available to support the 
2020/21 budget. 
 
Decision 
 
We have: 
 
(a) noted the council’s overall financial position for 2019/20; 
(b) agreed the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval; 
(c) agreed the revenue and capital budget adjustments; 
(d) noted the forecast use of earmarked reserves; 
(e) noted the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and 

general reserves; 
(f) noted the position on the capital programme and the Collection 

Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates. 
   
 
 
 

Page 31



 

6. Commissioning Plan for Children and Young People’s 
Services  
Cabinet Portfolio Holders – Councillor Olwyn Gunn and 
Lucy Hovvels 
Contact – Mark Smith 03000 267395  
 

We have considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services and Corporate Director of Adult and 
Health Services which presented the Durham County Council Children 
and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan for 2019-2021. 

The purpose of the commissioning plan is to set out Durham County 
Council’s key strategic commissioning priorities and activities for 
children and young people’s services over the next two years. The plan 
also incorporates commissioning activity that is being undertaken jointly 
with Durham’s Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).  The plan builds 
upon the vision set out in the County Durham Children and Young 
People’s Strategy (2018/19 - 2020/21): 

County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to 
grow up in and for Durham to be a place where all children are healthy, 
happy and achieving their potential. 
 
The commissioning priorities and activities are structured across the 
four key aims developed within the above strategy:  

 All children and young people have a safe childhood 

 Children and young people enjoy the best start in life, good 
health and emotional wellbeing.  

 Young people gain the education, skills and experience to 
succeed in adulthood. 

 Children and young people with special educational needs 
and disabilities (SEND) achieve the best possible 
outcomes.  
 

In addition, the plan incorporates commissioning priorities and activities 
developed through consultation within other strategic plans. 

The plan incorporates activity that is underway to address the findings 
of the inspection of the local areas’ effectiveness in identifying and 
meeting the needs of children and young people who have special 
educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND).  This is specifically 
focused upon addressing the limitations in our understanding of the 
impact of local services and how these contribute to children and young 
people’s outcomes alongside the need to join up commissioning activity 
across the local education, health and care system to secure the 
benefits of an integrated approach across County Durham.   

Page 32



 

The plan proposes that the performance and impact of commissioned 
services should be monitored through the development of service level 
impact and evidence statements and that these should be considered 
by the Integrated Steering Group for Children on a quarterly basis to 
identify areas of support and challenge and any remedial activity 
required. 

Decision  

We have received the Children and Young People’s Services 
Commissioning Plan 2019-21.  

7. A Digital Strategy for County Durham 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders – Councillors Andrea 
Patterson and Joy Allen 
Contact – Alan Patrickson 03000 268165 
 

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
which provided an overview of the Customer First Strategy with three 
core objectives:  

 To provide easy to use and effective ways for people to contact 
the council; 

 To provide responsive and customer focussed services; 

 To use customer feedback for learning and to improve services.  
 
Since that time, and in delivery of the Customer First strategy, the 
Council’s digital offer to its customers has seen dramatic improvement.  
The Council is now delivering an ambitious programme of 
Transformation with the overall objectives of:  

 Redesigning services to better meet our customers’ needs at 
reduced cost to the Council; 

 Helping communities become more self-reliant and resilient; 

 Moving partnership working from good to great; 

 Becoming renowned for our skilled and flexible workforce and our 
employee engagement. 

 
The new Digital Strategy sets out the Council’s digital ambitions for the 
County. It provides a framework within which these ambitions can be 
delivered and aligns to the interlocking objectives of the Revised 
Council Vision and the Transformation Programme.  The new strategy 
is set out under three main themes along with individual service specific 
ambitions set out by each service grouping. The three themes are: 

 Digital Customer  

 Digital Organisation  

 Digital Communities 

Page 33



 

 

Decision 

We have approved the adoption of the new Digital Strategy and the  
publication of the Digital Strategy on the Council’s website. 

 
 

Councillor S Henig 
Leader of the County Council 

 
15 October 2019 

Page 34



 

  County Council 

23 October 2019 

Appointment of a Head of Integrated 

Strategic Commissioning  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and 
Health Services  

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek approval, in accordance with the Council’s Pay Policy, to create a 
Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning. This post would be jointly 
funded between Durham County Council and the Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), in response to the development of a 
Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham and specifically the 
development of an Integrated Strategic Commissioning function.   

Executive summary 

2 The establishment of an Integrated Strategic Commissioning function 
under a new joint Head of Service is in line with the direction of travel for 
the integration of health and social care in County Durham and follows on 
from the Integration of Community Services in October 2018. The benefits 
of integrating commissioning are anticipated to be: 

a) Increased influence on the Children’s Health agenda. 

b) More efficient use of resources, maximising the impact of the Durham 
Pound. 

c) Shaping of the provider market more in line with requirements of the 
Durham system.  

d) Strengthened leadership and working alongside Integrated 
Community Services.  

e) Joint Contract monitoring to enable improved quality of service 
provision. 

f) Reduced duplication to improve efficiency and processes. 

g) To improve outcomes for the people of County Durham. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



3 The new post has been evaluated at Head of Service Band 1 and joint 
management arrangements for the post are required, reporting to the 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and the Chief Officer, 
North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs.     

4 Once an appointment is made a review of the staffing structures will take 
place across the Council and CCG’s to ensure structures are fit for 
purpose. 

Recommendation(s) 

5 Council is recommended to: 

(a) approve the establishment of a Head of Integrated Strategic 
Commissioning within Adult and Health Services, at HoS Band 1, 
jointly funded by Durham County Council and North Durham and 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs; 

  

Page 36



Background 

6 In County Durham, there is a strong and long-standing track record of 
effective partnerships and integrated working which is well established.  
The Council and CCGs have also jointly commissioned in areas such as 
community equipment, carers services, social prescribing and post 
diagnosis autism service.   

7 Since 2018, progress has been made in integrating Health and Social Care 
and the Integrated Commissioning Group has developed options for an 
Integrated Strategic Commissioning function that will capture 
commissioning for Children and Adults across the whole life course. 

Main implications 

8 Durham County Council will host the Integrated Commissioning Function 
with joint management arrangements required reporting to the Corporate 
Director Adult and Health Services and the Chief Officer, North Durham 
and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs. 

9 The Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning will be responsible for 
budgets of c.£1bn covering all the community services commissioned by 
both Durham County Council and the Durham CCGs. 

10 Durham County Council and the CCGs would retain their statutory 
responsibilities and decision-making processes.  The existing connections 
with Primary Care will be enhanced to ensure the local influence of clinical 
leads across the Primary Care Network is maximised.  

11 The integrated team for commissioning will follow the same approach 
adopted within the Community Services model where staff retain their 
employment status with their own organisation and associated terms and 
conditions of employment.   

Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning  

12 The role profile for this post is attached at Appendix 2. 

13 The position has been subject to evaluation using the Local Government 
Association (LGA) Senior Scheme, which is consistent with the process for 
grading all Heads of Service and Strategic Manager posts within Durham. 
The evaluation for the Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning 
equates to HoS Salary Band 1 (£116,744 pa). 

14 In accordance with the council’s Pay Policy Statement 2018/19, the 
creation of any new post paying over £100,000 pa, requires approval from 
full council. 

Conclusion 

15 This report proposes the creation of a new Head of Integrated Strategic 
Commissioning in order to lead an Integrated Strategic Commissioning 
function for the Council and CCGs that will capture all ages i.e. 
commissioning for Children and Adults across the whole life course.   

Page 37



16 Background papers 

 None 

Other useful documents 

 Previous Cabinet reports: April 2018; March 2019; October 2019  

Contact: Jane Robinson Tel: 03000 267355 

 Alison Lazazzera Tel: 03000 264473 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

In accordance with the requirements of the Transparency Act and the council’s 

Pay Policy Statement 2018/19, the new Head of Service post will require approval 

from full council. 

Finance 

The costs of this new post – estimated at £151,159 pa including on costs – has 

been factored into the Better Care Fund (BCF) planning and will be jointly 

funded by the council and the two Clinical Commission Groups from BCF 

resources.  

  

Page 38



Consultation 

Consultation will take place with senior officers within both the Council and 

CCG. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Climate Change 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

The establishment of a new Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning will 

provide leadership to the proposed Integrated Commissioning Function. As a 

result of this appointment, consideration of staffing structures in both 

organisations will take place to ensure they are suitably fit for purpose. 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

By failing to create this role progress against an agreed position of developing 
an Integrated Strategic Commissioning Function will be detrimentally affected 
and progress will not be made to enable the achievement of anticipated 
benefits. 

Procurement 

None

Page 39



Appendix 2:  Role Profile 

 

 

Job Title:     Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning  
 

Accountable to:  Joint management arrangements reporting to the 

Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

and the Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham 

Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs.  

 

 

Direct Reports:   To be developed as part of new structure 

 

Job Purpose:  To provide strategic leadership on behalf of the 

County Durham Health and Care System for the 

development, implementation and operation of an 

integrated strategic commissioning function for 

County Durham.   

 

 

Role Specific Key Result Areas: 

 

 Lead on the implementation and delivery of the integrated 
commissioning function; associated staffing structures and operating 
procedures, as a senior manager of both Durham County Council and 
the Durham CCGs in conjunction with the Integrated Commissioning 
Group. 
 

 For the NHS this is a Governing Body level appointment operating in 
accordance with the specific requirements of the CCG constitution. As 
such the Director will share responsibility as part of the team to ensure 
that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently, 
economically, with good governance and in accordance with the terms 
of the CCG constitution as agreed by its members.   
 

 To be responsible for all matters in relation to strategic commissioning 
across health and social care, covering the whole life course.  Lead the 
development and delivery of an integrated commissioning strategy and 
market position statement. 
 

Page 40



 Develop and implement a programme that encourages and supports 
commissioning staff and functions to operate within the integrated 
commissioning function and explore all opportunities for closer 
alignment of staff and systems, joint work and system savings. 
 

 To identify strategic commissioning priorities based on population 
intelligence in line with DCC/CCG priorities and ensure long-term 
strategic planning for commissioned services using the data and 
intelligence available to the system partners. 
 

 To establish effective and dynamic relationships with internal and 
external stakeholders including elected members, Governing Body 
members, senior colleagues in other agencies, staff, regulatory bodies, 
independent and voluntary sector providers, communities and services 
users. 
 

 Lead on market oversight through the monitoring of contracts and 
effective provider relationship management to ensure the delivery of 
high-quality, cost-effective, diverse and sustainable services in line 
with individual, Council, CCG and legal requirements.  
 

 Work with senior finance colleagues across the system to develop a 
framework to measure the impact of commissioning strategies on the 
long-term financial model and annual operating plans, ensuring 
effective benchmarking of efficiency and value for money as part of the 
annual service transformation and redesign programme. 
 

 Take a systematic approach to budget management, reviewing costs, 
efficiencies and investments working closely with finance colleagues. 
Be responsible for appropriate commissioning budgets for each 
organisation and any relevant Sec 75 Agreements or pooled budgets 
across the health and social care partnership.  
 

 Lead the strategic and operational delivery of plans, leading innovation 

and transformational change across a range of commissioned 

services. 

 

 Understand asset-based and preventative approaches and lead on 
developing strategies that maximise independence, early intervention 
and community capacity in conjunction with the Director of Public 
Health.  
 

 To support the Integration Board to review and recommend 
appropriate governance arrangements across both organisations to 
ensure effective streamlined and integrated decision making.  
 

Page 41



 Work with clinical and other colleagues to ensure effective quality 
improvement frameworks are in place to optimise the commissioning of 
the highest quality of care and maximise market stability and diversity. 
 

 Maintain an oversight of all services that are jointly commissioned to 
ensure they are effectively managed so that partners’ individual 
statutory responsibilities are met, and appropriate recovery planning 
processes are in place where necessary. 
 

 Recommend through commissioning strategies the decommissioning 
of services as necessary including leading on the decommissioning of 
services where appropriate. 
 

 Ensure robust commissioning arrangements are in place for the 
delivery of integrated care and ensure effective relationships are in 
place with the Director of Integrated Community Services and local 
Primary Care Networks. 
 

 Ensure a corporate approach which provides visible and effective 
leadership and which focuses on outcomes for customers and the 
community on behalf of both the CCG and DCC  

 

 Support the development of partnership arrangements that ensure co-
operation and collaboration between all stakeholders.   
 

 To ensure effective arrangements are in place for the involvement of 
user/carer/patients/ public and voluntary sector representatives in the 
commissioning of health and social care services.  
 

 Carry out the decisions of Cabinet and the CCG Governing Body 
ensuring they are implemented effectively and efficiently.  

 To ensure corporate responsibilities are fulfilled in relation to health 
and safety, information governance, people management, budget and 
risk management. 
 

 To understand and manage the interface with the emerging Integrated 
Care Partnership (ICP) and represent the County Durham system and 
the broader NHS on a regional/national level as required. 
 

 To operate within the expected standards, values and behaviours for 
both organisations, displaying appropriate leadership at all times. 
 

 Deliver all activities in line with the public sector equality duty and 
address areas of discrimination. 
 
 

Page 42



General Duties: 

HEALTH & SAFETY 

 

You have the responsibility to work in compliance with all current Health and 

Safety legislation and the relevant Health and Safety Policies of both 

organisations and to attend any training requirements both statutory and 

mandatory in line with the legal responsibility to comply with the Health and 

Safety at Work Act 1974. 

You have an obligation under the Employment Rights Act 1996 in 

ensuring good physical working conditions and that health and safety 

standards are maintained throughout the organisations. 

You must have regard at all time to your own health and safety and that of 

your colleagues and visitors to related premises. Any hazards or accidents 

must be reported immediately to your manager and this should be 

documented on the appropriate form. 

 

INFECTION CONTROL 

It is the responsibility of all individuals to comply with infection control policies 

and to attend any appropriate training requirements. 

 

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE 

You have a legal duty of confidence to patients/service users. Breaching 

confidence can be a serious disciplinary offence. 

You are required to preserve the confidentiality of any information regarding 

patients, service users and staff (in connection with their employment), and 

DCC/ CCG business. This obligation shall continue indefinitely. 

You are subject directly or indirectly to the Data Protection Act. This Act 

covers the confidentiality of personal information held on computer and 

manual systems. Every employee is now personally liable to respect and 

protect the confidentiality of the information they enter, process, 

encounter and should not discuss this information or disclose it to any 

unauthorised person or company. Anyone who discloses personal 

information, intentionally or otherwise, can be sued for damages by the 

individual affected and the person concerned will be subject to the 

relevant disciplinary procedures. 

Page 43



DBS 

This post is subject to the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act (Exceptions Order) 

1975 and as such it will be necessary for a submission for Disclosure to be 

made to the Disclosure and Barring Service to check for any previous 

criminal convictions. 

 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 

You must: 

a. Complete any statutory and mandatory training as required. 
b. Ensure that you and all other staff for whom you are responsible 

complete their statutory and mandatory training requirements. 
c. Ensure systems and processes are in place to enhance your 

personal development and that of all staff for which you are 
responsible and that this is reviewed and training needs are 
identified. 

 

SAFEGUARDING 

All staff have a responsibility for safeguarding and protecting adults and 

children from abuse, regardless of the setting in which the care takes place. 

You must remain mindful of safeguarding when commissioning services and 

use the expertise of Designated professionals when developing service 

specifications. All staff need to be aware of relevant policies in relation to 

safeguarding and must take part in training as identified.  

 

Page 44



 

County Council  

23 October 2019 

 Review of the Council’s Statement of 

Licensing Policy 

 

Report of Joanne Waller, Head of Community Protection 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Local Services  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: Countywide 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report seeks Council’s approval of the revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy, following the recommendation of the General 
Licensing and Registration Committee. 

Executive summary 

2 Following public consultation, the current statement of licensing policy 
was revised. Where it was possible and appropriate to do so, the 
suggestions and recommendations of respondents were incorporated 
into the revised statement. 

3 The policy has been reformatted and updated creating a policy 
document which provides applicants, licensees, Members, officers and 
the public with much more guidance, information, recommendations and 
direction in relation to licensing matters. 

4 The policy changes aim to improve the quality of applications by 
assisting applicants to clearly and comprehensively demonstrate how 
they can promote the licensing objectives through their licensed 
business activities. They will also help responsible authorities and other 
persons when considering and assessing proposed and existing 
licensed premises under the 2003 Act.  

5 On 7th October 2019 the revised policy was considered and accepted by 
the General Licensing and Registration Committee for recommendation 
to Council for adoption. Members of the Council are now asked to 
consider and adopt this newly revised licensing policy.  

Page 45

Agenda Item 10



Recommendation(s) 

6 Members of Council consider the current policy, the comments received 
during consultation and the revised statement of policy.  

7 Members of Council approve and adopt the revised statement of policy. 

  

Page 46



Background 

8 The Licensing Act 2003 requires licensing authorities to prepare and 
publish a statement of their licensing policy at least every five years. 
The policy must be kept under review and the licensing authority may 
make such revisions to it as it considers appropriate.  Durham County 
Council adopted the current Statement of Licensing Policy on 29th 
October 2014. It must be revised, adopted and published by 
Wednesday 30th October 2019. 
 

9 The need to revise the current policy stems from the statutory timetable 
set in legislation. The current policy was deemed as being fit for its 
purpose however, it was recognised that improvements could still be 
made to the document and the review presents an opportunity to make 
several appropriate and desirable changes to the existing statement of 
policy. 
 

10 The Statement of Licensing Policy fulfils two principal purposes; firstly, it 
provides advice to businesses and the public on the Council’s overall 
position concerning the Licensing Act 2003.  Secondly, it provides a 
decision-making framework for the Council via its Licensing Committee 
to exercise its functions under the Act. As such the policy must balance 
the legitimate needs of businesses and demand for leisure and cultural 
activities alongside the need to protect those adversely affected by 
activities. 
 

11 Failure to achieve the correct balance could lead to a policy being either 
overly prescriptive or open to challenge or alternatively ineffective in the 
protection of residents through a failure to promote the licensing 
objectives effectively. 
 

12 The Policy seeks to promote the following four licensing objectives: 
 

 the prevention of crime and disorder 

 public safety 

 the prevention of public nuisance; and 

 the protection of children from harm.  
 

13 These are the only licensing objectives and no other objectives exist for 
England and Wales.  
 

Statutory consultation  

14 Prior to consultation, the Consultation Officers Group (COG) process was 
engaged. In accordance with the Government’s Code of Practice on 
Consultation, 12 weeks was allocated for the consultation and for the return of 

Page 47



responses. In addition to direct communications on the subject, the review 
was also advertised and publicised on the Council website.  

15 A presentation for Members on Licensing Policy development took 

place in April, to which all members of the GLRC were invited, and 

officers also met with various representatives of the responsible 

authorities and Parish Councillors during the consultation period. 

16 The consultation ran between Monday 11th February and Friday 3rd 

May 2019. In addition to the named statutory consultees, many other 

individuals, agencies and organisations considered to be affected by the 

policy were identified and their comments invited. The list of consultees 

that were communicated with directly in connection with this policy 

review are shown in Appendix 2. 

17 All the responses received during the 12-week period were recorded. 

The Police submitted two responses after the close of the consultation. 

The late responses provided by the Police were accepted and added to 

the other responses received.  

18 In total the Council received 28 separate responses. The respondents, 

their responses and associated commentary and information provided 

by the Licensing Manager are shown in Appendix 3. Officer comments 

relate to the relevance and appropriateness of the responses in terms of 

policy inclusion. Some of the responses or parts of the responses were 

relevant and appropriate for policy development.  

19 To create the revised policy, all recorded responses were considered 

and the merits of each were judged against the legislation and statutory 

guidance.  

20 Information that was relevant for policy development was identified. 

From the relevant information, that which was useful for policy 

development was identified highlighting practical, realistic suggestions, 

recommendations; material that could make a positive contribution to 

future policy.   

21 The current policy and the salient responses were compared with a 

sample of several policy statements published by other licensing 

authorities. 

22 Licensing Services also utilised the services of an undergraduate intern 

from Durham University under a formal 9-week working agreement. The 

intern produced a report ‘Revising the Durham County Council 

Licensing Policy: An Investigation into Good Practice associated with 

the Promotion of the Four Licensing Objectives’. This report is shown as 

Page 48



appendix 4 and involved comparing DCC’s policy with other licensing 

authorities’ policies.  

23 In choosing the councils, 6 notable characteristics were selected and 

licensing authorities which were like Durham County for each of the 6 

features were chosen. These characteristics were: local authority type, 

heritage, population size, student population, crime rate, and proximity. 

24 The information and results of this external study were also considered 

and helped to shape the content and layout of the revised draft policy.  

Categories of review responses 

25 Of the responses that were relevant, those that provided tangible, 

identifiable suggestions or specific issues for consideration can be 

grouped under the following headings: 

 The advertising and publication of licensing applications – 

responses commenting on current arrangements and calling for 

improved methods of alerting the public to applications under 

the Act. (Mostly in relation to Durham City licensed premises) 

 Licensing hours – responses about current policy and the 

existing ‘framework hours’ and calling for a less permissive, 

more restrictive approach, shorter licensing hours, a stricter 

implementation of framework hours and efforts to reign-in 

existing terminal hours. (Mostly in relation to Durham City 

licensed premises) 

 Controls over the number of licensed premises in Durham 

City – responses on current policy and highlighting the number 

of licensed premises, the number of applications and the effects 

of both on the promotion of the licensing objectives in Durham 

City. Calls for a Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP) or special policy 

and a late-night levy (LNL) to deter late opening; that 

respondents believed would address several problems they 

identified as being associated with too many licensed premises.  

Main changes to current policy  

26 During the consultation phase leading up to the revised statement of 
policy there were calls from the Durham City MP and from the City of 
Durham Parish Council for a special policy or CIP for Durham City. To 
find out whether a CIP is necessary the council are carrying out a 

Page 49



cumulative impact assessment (CIA). That process will take several 
months to complete.  

27 As a result, this (possibly interim) revised policy statement will have to 
be reported to Council in time for adoption by the end of October. 
However, alongside this reporting process a CIA is being undertaken. It 
is not possible to complete the CIA in time to inform the revised policy 
by October 2019. If the result of the CIA is that a CIP is needed for 
Durham City, we will then modify this revised version of the policy and 
take it back to Council to incorporate a CIP. 

28 Irrespective of whether the need for a CIP is identified by the CIA, it is 

anticipated that the CIA will assist the council and others by highlighting 

any problems and issues of concern within the City, thereby aiding the 

identification of possible solutions or remedial steps that could be 

applied.  

  

29 Before turning to those matters that have been included in the revised 

statement of policy, in addition to the CIP, the situation regarding the 

framework hours must also subject to further consideration before any 

recommendations may be made to GLRC and Council.  

 

30 Although criticisms about the current framework hours were received, 

few respondents provided any alternative suggestions. The proposals 

on terminal hours for licensed premises that were received varied 

 

31 Of the responses that were received from responsible authorities, the 

subject of terminal trading hours for licensed premises was not raised. 

 

32 In the absence of any comments from those officers and organisations 

that have responsibilities and influence in connection with the 

investigation and control of public nuisance and crime and disorder, it is 

difficult to make a case for changes to the current framework hours. 

 

33 Members of the General Licensing Committee were asked to consider 

the existing framework hours. They found them to be appropriate and 

made no changes to them. 

 

34 The following revisions have been included in the updated policy 

document: 

 

(i) Changes to layout, format, syntax – to improve the look and 

structure of the policy for clarity and readability purposes 

Page 50



(ii) Information concerning possible future changes resulting from the 

CIA 

(iii) Addition of a version history table 

(iv) Expanded content table and guide  

(v) Expanded introductions to and explanations of the Licensing Act 

2003 and the council’s role within that legislative framework. 

Increased prominence of the four licensing objectives which form 

the bedrock of the licensing function, our main aims and 

enhanced description of the County of Durham in context. 

(vi) Greater explanation in connection with the way in which we 

implement licensing policy in the County, providing important 

information about the context in which the policy sits and how it is 

used for the administration of the licensing function and its 

relationship to other strategic, policy and regulatory regimes. 

(vii) Clearer descriptions of the application of the licensing policy 

highlighting several licensing principles, practices and processes 

that support and underpin the licensing function of the council. 

(viii) Guidance on the application and operation of the policy in 

practice detailing the types and use of licensing conditions that 

may be attached to licences to control the use of premises where 

licensable activities take place, thereby safeguarding and 

promoting the licensing objectives. 

(ix) Increased clarity on the means used by the council to promote 

the four licensing objectives with some reference to specific 

circumstances and situations such as licensed premises 

operating in and close to sensitive areas.   

(x) Improved information about the practical application of licensing 

looking at the methods and standards of operating licensed 

premises that may be used to promote the objectives and to 

encourage excellent standards of management by licence and 

certificate holders. 

(xi) Greater focus on each of the licensing objectives in turn, detailing 

with the use of examples how applicants and licence holders may 

practically demonstrate their understanding of and commitment to 

the promotion of the objectives at their premises.    

(xii) Clear descriptions and explanations of what the council expects, 

recommends, requires, considers and encourages and why. 

(xiii) Enhanced information on the purpose and use of the policy 

including detailed explanations of the use and purpose of 

operating schedules, licence conditions, GDPR, self-assessment 

activities and risk assessments, enforcement and monitoring 

activities and compliance 

Page 51



(xiv) New information and guidance on the licensing of large-scale 

events, single-use plastics at licensed premises, counter 

terrorism complaints and appeals 

(xv) Updated information concerning responsible authorities contact 

details 

(xvi) More background information and data on public health matters 

associated with alcohol consumption in the County 

(xvii) Updated guidance on children in licensed premises 

(xviii) Enhanced glossary information 

(xix) More information for residents and other persons explaining how 

residents and businesses can have their say in respect of licence 

applications and the operation of licensed premises in their area 

(xx) New appendix with suggestions, recommendations and practical 

examples of what may be included in applications and operating 

schedules to ensure that the licensing objectives are promoted 

(xxi) Greater clarity in connection with planning and development 

control issues and the links between planning and licensing 

regimes. 

(xxii) New appendix showing links to other important and relevant 

strategies and policies that may be of help/interest and contain 

further details of schemes available in Durham which applicants 

and licensees can participate in to assist in carrying out the 

objectives 

(xxiii) Policy to refuse to grant licenses to sell alcohol for late-night 

takeaway premises  

35 A copy of the draft revised policy that includes all the proposed revisions 

is attached in Appendix 5. 

 

Options  

35 Following consideration of the information presented in the table of 
responses and the current policy statement, Council may give support 
to the revised statement of policy and the associated proposals as they 
have been presented and agree to adopt the policy unchanged. 

36 Council may give support to some of the proposals and reject others 
with reasons. This may therefore necessitate further revision prior to 
adoption.  

37 Council may reject the revised statement and associated policy 
proposals in full. Under these circumstances, unless an alternative 
policy was put forward, the current policy would require re-adoption.  

Page 52



Main implications 

38 Supporting the proposals in full. This will allow the process to continue 
with the revised policy adopted by Council on October 23rd, 2019. 

39 Supporting the proposed revision of the policy statement in part. This 
option, with the less-than-full support being offered, depending on the 
exact nature and extent of any required changes, may necessitate 
modifications to be made to the draft policy prior to re-submission to the 
Council.  

40 Rejection of the proposal. This would require a detailed explanation of 
the committee’s decision to withhold support for revised policy 
statement. Because of the timescales involved, rejection of the 
proposals would likely result in a failure to produce a revised statement 
of policy for adoption by Council by the prescribed date. Under these 
circumstances the existing policy would be presented to Council for re-
adoption.  

Conclusion 

41 The current licensing policy requires revision and re-adoption by the 
end of October 2019. The current policy has been consulted on in 
accordance with statutory requirements and all the responses received 
have been considered. 

42 Relevant information, suggestions and recommendations have been 
used together with information from other sources to draft a revised 
licensing policy. This policy together with the consultation response 
information was presented for consideration by Members of the GLRC. 
Following the recommendation of GLRC, this policy is now presented to 
Council for adoption.  

43 Some matters raised during the consultation period have necessitated 
the carrying out of a CIA. The outcome of the CIA may lead to further 
revision of the policy following its adoption by Council, however that is 
not a certainty.   

Background papers 

 Durham County Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy 

 Licensing Act 2003 

 Revised Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Page 53



Contact: Joanne Waller Tel:  03000 260923 

 Owen Cleugh Tel:  03000 260925 

 Craig Rudman Tel:  03000 260090 

  

Page 54



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Failure to adopt a revised statement of licensing policy by 29th October 2019 
would mean that DCC has not complied with the requirements of the 
Licensing Act 2003 in connection with the revision, adoption and publication of 
licensing policies. Under such circumstances, licensing activities subject to the 
provisions of Act performed by the Council in the absence of such a policy 
may be unlawful or subject to legal challenge. This report and associated 
appendices have been considered by Legal and Democratic Services 

Finance 

The costs of consultation and publication of the revised policy will be met from 
existing budgets. 

Consultation 

The consultation was undertaken following COG processes and procedures 

and was carried out in accordance with statutory guidance over a 12-week 

period.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

There are no known equality or diversity implications 

Human Rights 

There are no known human rights implications 

Climate Change 

There are no known climate change implications 

Crime and Disorder 

The Council’s licensing policy forms a central part of the control and regulation 

of the evening and night time economies. As such, it can be viewed as having 

a pivotal role in the prevention of alcohol related crime and disorder. The 

effective control or licensed premises via appropriate conditions or restrictions 

on licences can significantly reduce the potential for alcohol related issues or 

mitigate their effects. This coupled with monitoring and enforcement and the 

appropriate use of the review process can significantly contribute towards 

crime reduction and an increase in public reassurance. 

Staffing 

Page 55



There are no staffing implications 

 

Accommodation 

There are no accommodation implications. 

Risk 

Failure to follow the statutory process could result in challenge and 

reputational damage. Following adoption, the policy may be subject to judicial 

review and legal challenge  

Procurement 

There are no procurement implications  

  

Page 56



Appendix 2:  List of consultees 

 

 Responsible Authorities for County Durham (the relevant licensing authority, 
the chief officer of police; the local fire and rescue authority; the relevant 
enforcing authority under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974; the local 
authority with responsibility for environmental health; the local planning 
authority; a body that represents those who are responsible for, or interested in, 
matters relating to the protection of children from harm; each local authority’s 
Director of Public Health (DPH); the local weights and measures authority 
(trading standards); Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the 
Secretary of State) 

 All persons / bodies throughout the County holding premises licences or Club 
Premises Certificates including pubs, clubs, off licences, supermarkets, 
takeaways, restaurants and mobile food vendors  

 Persons / bodies representative of local holders of Personal Licences  

 Persons / bodies representative of businesses and residents in the County  

 Safeguarding Children Board  

 All Elected Members of Durham County Council  

 Clerks of Town and Parish Councils throughout Durham County  

 Safe Durham Partnership  

 Durham CIU  

 The British Beer and Pub Association  

 The Federation of Licensed Victuallers  

 British Institute of Inn Keeping (BIIAB)  

 Alcoholics Anonymous  

 The Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers  

 Equity  

 North East Musicians Union  

 Global Online Assessment for Learning (GOAL)  

 Security Industry Authority  

 Local MP’s and MEP's  

 Area Action Partnerships  

 Citizens Panels  

 County Durham Area Taxi Working Groups  

 Safety Advisory Groups  

 Business Support Managers  

 Town Centre Managers  

 Residents Associations  

 Disability Groups  

 North East Chamber of Commerce  

 Night Time Economy Managers  

 Local Multi Agency Problem Solving Groups  

 Streetscene  

 Community Safety Team  

 Anti-Social Behaviour Team  

 BALANCE  

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Licensing Act 2003 – Review of Statement of Principles 2019 

No. From Response Received 

1 Peter M. 
Aitken 
OBE. 
Secretary, 
Brancepeth 
Community 
Association
. 

Response: Your letter of 8 February refers.  We are unimpressed that our thoughtful contribution to the 
National Review which should have informed your 2014 policy statement was not acknowledged.  
However, we are where we are.  If you are seriously wanting advice on how to proceed, we are willing to 
participate. 
  
Our main point is that there should be a distinction between commercial operation and “not for profit” local 
charity fundraising initiatives.  It seems to us that there should be a difference in charges, due to the 
difference in risk.  Take for example our village hall.  We hold 3 to 6 events a year where we include within 
the ticket price, the cost of a glass of wine at the start of an event.  Since we do not set out to make a profit, 
– being a charity - only charging for what we sell, we are already in a loss position due to the TEN £21 
licence fee.   Before the 2003 Licencing Act came in we were charged £9.30 by the Justices.  Even this 
small sum created losses.  As soon as the Local Authority became involved due to the imposition of the 
new Act, the costs went immediately to £21.  We were unable to see any increase in service or advantage 
to us for this outrageous 52% increase in cost.    
  
Our view is that since there is no question of competing with other licensed premises, the TEN licence fee 
for village hall/charity events should be “nil”, subject of course to notifying the Police etc that the event is 
taking place.  Given that your aims are “The prevention of crime and disorder; public safety; the prevention 
of public nuisance, and the protection of children from harm”, none of these issues are central to normal 
village hall circumstances. 
  
I am copying this to Mid Durham AAP and our Parish Council. (Parish Clerk, for agenda). 
 
Comments: Fees for Temporary Event Notices are subject to national legislation, not local policy. 
 
The Licensing Act 2003 that requires authorisations for the sale of alcohol and it is Central Government that 
sets licensing fees. By law, the licensing regime administered by local government should aim to be cost 
neutral and fees are set nationally to achieve this.   
 

P
age 59



2 
 

No changes or amendments to policy can be based on this representation 
 

2 Hannah 
Price | 
Associate    
Poppleston 
Allen 
E: 
h.price@po
pall.co.uk | 
T: 0115 
9349 199 | 
M: 07377 
889 254 | 
W: 
www.popall
.co.uk 

Response: Dear Sirs, we have received your letter in relation to the consultation of your statement of 
licensing policy.  
  
I have been on the website but cannot find your draft new policy? There are two links, but both take you to 
the current policy.  
  
There is nothing to suggest what changes the Council are proposing to make, which makes it impossible 
for anyone to consult on it?  
  
Please can you confirm what changes the Council are seeking to make? Or whether your will update the 
consultation page with a draft policy?  
  
Kind regards 
Hannah 
 
Comments: The website includes the following information: 
 
We are reviewing our current policy - We are now reviewing the current policy and we welcome your views 
and suggestions for improvements in the coming 5-year period. 
 
The letter we sent out also states: We would very much like to hear your views in relation to our current 
licensing policy. We would welcome any suggestions you may wish to make that might lead to 
improvements in our policy for the coming five-year period. 
 
We have not developed a draft revised policy in advance of the consultation, as to do so may attract 
accusations of pre-determination. At this stage, licensing officers are not making any proposals. Also, we 
are not currently aware of anything specific that any other organisation may want to see in the new policy, 
we can’t include anyone else’s proposals at this stage. 
 

P
age 60



3 
 

The questions at this stage are straight forward and form the basis of this consultation: What do you think 
of our current policy?  and do you have any suggestions as to how you think it could be improved for the 
future.  
 
No changes or amendments to policy can be based on this representation 

3 Hannah 
Price | 
Associate    
Poppleston 
Allen 
E: 
h.price@po
pall.co.uk | 
T: 0115 
9349 199 | 
M: 07377 
889 254 | 
W: 
www.popall
.co.uk 

Response: There is no cumulative impact assessment – are we to assume that one hasn’t been 
completed? Or one has been completed but disregarded?  
 
Comments:  A few years ago, we were part of a group that included the police, their analysts, legal 
advisors, Public Health and other responsible authorities which looked at the situation in County Durham. 
At that time there was no indication of the need for or the appropriateness off any special policies for our 
area. In short there was little available or identified evidence of any cumulative impact resulting from 
licensed premises in Co Durham.  
Durham Constabulary, The Police and Crime Commissionaire, public health etc. have not to date made any 
representations to the Licensing Authority on the basis of the existence or likely occurrence of 
crime/disorder, public safety issues or public nuisance resulting from any cumulative impact; in connection 
either with any licence applications, existing areas/premises or in connection with the need to do such work 
for the development of future licensing policy.  
 
Calls for a CIA has been made (see below) If we are presented with evidence to show that the number or 
density of licensed premises in any area is having a cumulative impact and leading to problems which are 
undermining the licensing objectives, we would review the situation and look towards the need for a CIP. 
 
No changes or amendments to policy based on this representation 

4 Nick Rippin  
Caseworke
r 
Office of 
Roberta 
Blackman-
Woods  

Response: Many thanks for sending through confirmation of the review of the local authority’s licensing 
policy. 
 
Roberta was grateful to receive this notice; however, she is very concerned about a number of aspects of 
this letter. First, the letter states that licensing authorities must prepare and publish a statement of their 
licensing policy every five years, where in fact the guidance from the Secretary of State indicates that this 
must be done at least once every five years. I have attached the relevant section of the guidance below for 
your information: 

P
age 61



4 
 

MP for the 
City of 
Durham 
Shadow 
Minister for 
Planning 
and Local 
Governme
nt 

 

 
 
As you will no doubt be aware, Roberta has for a number of years requested that the local authority review 
the licensing policy, given the number of issues that have been raised by Roberta and residents of Durham, 
and this guidance indicates that this could have been done at any time and it is extremely disappointing 
that the council have refused to move this forward when this was entirely in keeping with the Secretary of 
State’s guidance. 
 
Furthermore, Roberta is very concerned that this letter states that the council wishes to “consult with 
existing licensed premises and with organisations, persons and bodies representing responsible authorities 
and most importantly, the licensed trade in our area.” This statement appears to completely disregard 
the purpose of a licensing policy as outlined in both the Act and the most recent guidance. Both of these 
documents clearly state that the aim of the Licensing Act is to promote the four statutory objectives, which 
must be addressed when licensing functions are undertaken. Each objective is of equal importance, and 
the guidance itself states that the principles of the objectives include providing a regulatory framework that 
“reflects the needs of local communities” and “encouraging greater community involvement in licensing 
decisions and giving local residents the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing decisions that may 
affect them.”  
 
It is difficult to see how any policy that considers the views of the licensed trade above those of responsible 
authorities, residents and their representatives can fully uphold the licensing objectives, rather than being 
focused on the economic and financial needs of the businesses operating in Durham. This is clearly not in 
keeping with the aims of the legislation. I have also attached the relevant pages from the Act and the 
guidance to this email. 
 
As you will know, Roberta is holding a public meeting on Friday 1 March 2019 to discuss licensing with 
local residents and will be feeding this information back to the local authority as part of the consultation. 

P
age 62



5 
 

 
Comments:   
 
The current policy is considered sound in its application and interpretation and has been use effectively by 
applicants, responsible authorities and other interested parties since its adoption. In terms of who are 
consulted as part of the review, the guidance is quite explicit.  Although we consult with the licensed trade 
and as licence holders, we encourage them to respond, this does not mean that their views are given any 
more weight or importance than those of anyone else who may respond. The purpose of the policy is to 
support the objectives and aims of the legislation. The consultation process is available for all with no one 
voice or organisation given more weight or credibility than any others. 
 

5 Jane 
Gilliead  
 

Response: Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the licensing policy  
 
I would like to comment on CCTV Data capture as you will be aware falls under GDPR AND DPA This 
commands registration with the ICO  
Wording of CCTV conditions are commonly worded with standards adhering to Durham Constabulary 
standards.   Again, Durham Constabulary standards adhere to GDPR/DPA standards  
 
Should this not be reflected somewhere in the policy The ICO are pro-actively enforcing non-registration 
This is a criminal offence.   
Would a fine and appearance at magistrates Court be considered relevant for a premise licence holder?  
 
The trade is not aware of their obligations. This may not be the forum for the awareness. 
 
Or maybe it is.  
 
Comments: Improved/enhanced information and advice on use of CCTV and GDPR may be included in 
future policy and information on GDPR is included in the draft revised policy. 
 

6 Len Shield 
 

Response: Could I make the following comments that must be considered in your review? 
 
1/ section 2.10 refers to Disability Groups, please consult with the Durham access for all group. 

P
age 63



6 
 

 
2/ section 2.18 in the current document refers to the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 This was incorrect 
then and it Should Be the EQUALITIES Act 2010 which is a consolidation act.  
 
3/ section 11.15 Late night levy, starting hour must be changed 11.00pm or earlier and this levy must be 
charged and paid to the police.  
The Council tax Police precept part is being increased due to government cuts and the general public are 
paying for policing the streets at night with in town centres when it should be the premises selling the 
alcohol. 
 
As the licensing establishments are making profit by the sale of alcohol they must pay for the policing to 
cover the result that the alcohol causes. 
 
I see no reason why rate payers who amount to probable 99% of the population and do not frequent the 
streets at night but end paying f Could I make the following comments that must be considered in your 
review. 
 
Comments: In relation to disability discrimination. References to the Equality Act 2010 are made in the 
draft revised policy. The Durham Access for All Group will be added to the list of consultees. 
 
In relation to the late-night levy. The starting times for licences that could be affected by a levy are set by 
government/legislation and the commencement is set at 11pm. They cannot be started any earlier. 
 
Proposals for the adoption of a late-night levy generally come from Durham Constabulary and the Police 
and Crime Commissioner. A call for a LNL has been made by Durham City Parish Council and the planned 
CIA may also provide relevant information that could aid the decision making process in connection with 
this matter – this could influence future policy.  
 
No recommended changes or amendments to the current policy based on this representation now. The 
draft revised policy does not include a LNL for Co Durham or any town or City within the County. It does 
however include information about LNLs. 
 

P
age 64



7 
 

7 Chris Batty 
(treasurer) 
Croxdale 
Community 
Centre 

Response: With reference to your letter of 08/02/2019 
 
Please note your records that this community centre does not retail or store any alcohol or tobacco 
products. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Comments: No changes or amendments to current policy can be based on this representation. 
 

8 John 
Spellman 
Chairman 
Castle 
Eden 
Cricket 
Club  
TS28 4TJ 

Response: Thank you for your letter dated the 8th February 2019  
 
As a local cricket club, we do hold a licence but very much to deliver a social service to the local sports 
community, rather than pursuing a wide range of entertainment projects. So, although we do hold a small 
number of events, the club generally supports a small network of social members and a small number of 
cricket team members. That said, we support the council’s objectives in this area and will continue to 
support future initiatives so happy to work alongside you. 
 
In the specific areas that’s bulleted in the email:  
• Prevention of crime and disorder – we have had little trouble in this area considering we’re quite 
remote. We have shuttered windows and doors with alarms and CCTV, so we try and protect ourselves as 
best we can.  
• Public Safety – Being a cricket club we need to be aware of the public in general and have 
processes and procedures in place. We also provide for disabilities with toilets and disabled access. We 
have never had any reason to question public safety on the premises. 
• The prevention of public nuisance – Like I say it’s a cricket club and used essentially for that purpose 
– we have limited events but control and manage those events in a courteous and sensitive manner. 
Although we’re surrounded by a residential area we seem to co-exist in a very amiable way and we don’t 
tend to get any complaints  
• Protection of Children – we have approximately 20 people who hold current DBS certificates, from 
coaches through to committee members, bar and kitchen personnel. We also have 2 child welfare officers 
at the club, one male, one female and we have parental consent approval when required so we’re well 
covered  

P
age 65



8 
 

 
Like I say I look forward to hearing from you in the near future and Castle Eden Cricket Club look forward to 
working with you in the future 
 
Comments: No changes or amendments to current policy can be based on this representation. 
 

9 David Duell 
1 
Heathways 
Durham 
DH 1 2PG 

Response: I have concerns over the number of premises operating in the City of Durham into the early 
hours of the morning. The number of food outlets in particular seems to have more than doubled over the 
last four years. I do not live in the City centre but have friends and colleagues who do and I know that their 
lives have been severely disrupted by antisocial behaviour and the general disturbance caused by many 
hundreds of people milling around the streets. Perhaps when the granting of a licence is being considered, 
the number of other premises operating in the vicinity could be considered.  I would also like to see a 
restriction in the number of licences granted which allow operating after midnight. 
 
Comments: The respondent raises concerns over number of premises with late licences and voices 
concerns in relation to disturbance and anti-social behaviour not experienced by himself. To date we do not 
hold evidence for the need for a cumulative impact assessment or CI Policy (see below) the issue of 
cumulative impact can be raised at the application stage where evidence of such would need to be 
presented. In this manner, the number of existing licenced premises is and can be taken into consideration 
under the existing policy. Restrictions on the number of licences granted may only be applied by policy 
through the existence of a CIP, supported by evidence. Time restrictions may be applied via carefully 
considered applications with evidence-based decisions. A framework for operating hours already exists. 
While statements of policy may set out a general approach to making licensing decisions, they must not 
ignore or be inconsistent with provisions in the 2003 Act. For example, a statement of policy must not 
undermine the right of any person to apply under the terms of the 2003 Act for a variety of permissions and 
to have any such application considered on its individual merits. A statement of policy should also make 
clear that licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-social 
behaviour by individuals once they are away from the licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct 
control of the individual, club or business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. 
Nonetheless, it is a key aspect of such control and licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to 
the management of the evening and night-time economy in town and city centres. Other respondents have 
made calls for a CIA/CIP and this matter will be taken forward in due course. No changes or amendments 

P
age 66



9 
 

to current policy (CIP) can be based on this representation alone however, a planned CIA may lead to 
changes in policy later and this issue raised are worthy of further investigation. 
 

10 Gilbert 
Stokoe 
<gil.stokoe
@btinterne
t.com> 

Response: To whom it may concern, 
I see that you intend your policy to continue to promote the same four objectives. Why is the public not 
being asked whether or not the objectives themselves require scrutiny and change? 
The vast majority, if not all of those who visit licensed premises, do so in order to enjoy themselves in 
safety; your four objectives set out to ensure that this is mostly the case. However, the public expect more 
than that which the law demands; they are concerned about those other things that can affect its 
experience, amenities, cleanliness and such like. 
I offer no solutions, but merely ask why the objectives ignore the main concern of the public, namely that of 
their enjoyment, which must surely be its principal reason for visiting the premises in question. 
Yours sincerely, 
Gil Stokoe. 
 
Comments: The four licensing objectives are set by legislation. Each objective is of equal importance. 
There are no other statutory licensing objectives, so that the promotion of the four objectives is always a 
paramount consideration. It is not within the remit of DCC to question or scrutinise these four objectives 
when deciding on licensing policy that must be in accordance with national legislation and guidance. 
However, the legislation also supports several other, key aims and purposes. These are vitally important 
and should be principal aims for everyone involved in licensing work. They include: 
• protecting the public and residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance caused by 
irresponsible licensed premises; 
• giving the police and licensing authorities the powers, they need to effectively manage and police the 
night-time economy and act against those premises that are causing problems; 
• recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our local communities by 
minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging innovation and supporting responsible 
premises; 
• providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local communities and empowers 
local authorities to make and enforce decisions about the most appropriate licensing strategies for their 
local area; and 

P
age 67



10 
 

• encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving residents the opportunity to 
have their say regarding licensing decisions that may affect them. The revised draft policy contains more 
information and guidance that will help both applicants, responsible authorities, licensees and the public 
navigate the licensing processes.  
 
Statements of licensing policy should set out the extent to which the licensing authority intends to facilitate 
a broad range of entertainment provision for enjoyment by a wide cross-section of the public. Statements of 
licensing policy should address what balance is to be struck between promoting the provision of 
entertainment and addressing concerns relevant to the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities should be 
conscious that licensing policy may inadvertently deter live music by imposing indirect costs of a 
disproportionate nature, for example a blanket policy that any pub providing live music entertainment must 
have door supervisors.  
 
No specific recommended changes or amendments to current policy are based on this representation 
however the draft revision contains information that may satisfy the respondent. 

11 From: Rob 
Ferguson 

<rob.fergus
on@canta

b.net>  
Sent: 29 
March 

2019 20:05 

Response: I'm responding to this consultation as a resident in Durham City (DH1 postcode) and in 
connection with the 'Prevention of public nuisance' part of the policy. The existing policy document 
considers this only as regards the immediate surroundings of the licensed premises (paras 9.1+, also 
12.14), but I suggest it also needs to consider public nuisance on the part of those dispersing after the 
premises close.  
I live around 10 minutes' walk from the nearest licensed premises, in a street with a mix of owner-occupied 
properties, properties let to young professionals, and student HMOs. Much of the City has been like this for 
a long time and more areas are becoming like it as student numbers expand. Since the extension of 
drinking licences to 2 a.m and 4 a.m.it is become normal to be woken up in the early hours by groups of 
students returning noisily from late-night socialising. Where I live this happens 2-3 times a week in term 
time. Noisy students are not a problem at 11-12 pm, but they definitely are at 2, 3 or 4 a.m. Please bear this 
aspect of 'public nuisance' in mind when reviewing the policy. 
best regards 
Rob Ferguson 
 
Comments: A statement of policy should also make clear that licensing law is not the primary mechanism 
for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from the 

P
age 68



11 
 

licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding the 
licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. 
Nonetheless, it is a key aspect of such control and licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to 
the management of the evening and night-time 
 
Once away from the licensed premises, a minority of consumers may behave badly. To enable the general 
public to appreciate the breadth of the strategy for addressing these problems, statements of policy should 
also indicate the other mechanisms both within and outside the licensing regime that are available for 
addressing such issues. The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities and responsible authorities, through 
representations, to consider what constitutes public nuisance and what is appropriate to prevent it in terms 
of conditions attached to specific premises licences and club premises certificates. It is therefore important 
that in considering the promotion of this licensing objective, licensing authorities and responsible authorities 
focus on the effect of the licensable activities at the specific premises on persons living and working 
(including those carrying on business) in the area around the premises which may be disproportionate and 
unreasonable. Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for the personal 
responsibility of individuals under the law. An individual who engages in anti-social behaviour is 
accountable. However, it would be perfectly reasonable for a licensing authority to impose a condition, 
following relevant representations, that requires the licence holder or club to place signs at the exits from 
the building encouraging patrons to be quiet until they leave the area, or that, if they wish to smoke, to do 
so at designated places on the premises instead of outside, and to respect the rights of people living 
nearby to a peaceful night. 
 
No changes or amendments to policy (CIP) based on this representation however a planned CIA may be 
required and may provide evidence to determine whether a CIP is needed. Also, changes to framework 
hours may be considered by members. 

12 Sedgefield 
Town 
Council 

Response: Dear Mr Rudman, 
 
Review of Statement of Policy under the Licensing Act 2003 
 
Thank you for your recent letter dated 8th February 2019 giving us the opportunity to comment on Durham 
County Council’s current licensing policy as part of your five yearly review.  Based upon Sedgefield Town 
Council’s experience of your Licensing Policy we would like to suggest the following improvements:  

P
age 69



12 
 

 
• The Licensing Act 2003 requires the County Council to consult with local businesses and residents 
and their representatives.  To ensure that this is carried throughout the County Council should include all 
Town and Parish Councils in the list of organisations automatically informed of any applications or 
variations.  This would not only improve communications with the level of Councils most closely aligned to 
the local community but could also potentially save having to hold appeals when Town and Parish Councils 
find out indirectly and too late that application  
requests and variations have been considered. 
   
• Darlington Borough Council’s Licensing Policy states under item 9.5 that the maximum opening time 
for licensing purposes in residential areas is 11pm.  Middlesbrough Council’s Licensing Statement 2017/22 
states under item 7.4 that no licensing activities are permitted after 11pm and premises are to close by 
11.30pm.  We feel both these points should be included in Durham County Council’s Licensing Policy. 
 
 We look forward to hearing the outcome of your Review. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
Dr Jane Ayre,  
Town Clerk 
 
Comments:  Guidance in connections with the Licensing Act 2003 sets out the requirements for 
consultation. The advertising, publication and notification of applications is prescribed in the Act and it 
should be noted that neither the Act or the regulations allow the licensing authority any discretion. Actions 
are being taken to drive forward on-line licensing systems and on-line public registers which may go a long 
way in meeting the aspirations of other bodies such as town and parish councils.  
 
The Government acknowledges that different licensing approaches may be appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives in different areas. The 2003 Act gives the licensing authority power to make 
decisions regarding licensed opening hours as part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement 
and licensing authorities are best placed to make such decisions based on their local knowledge and in 
consultation with other responsible authorities. However, licensing authorities must always consider each 

P
age 70



13 
 

application and must not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, without considering the merits of 
each application. Statements of licensing policy should set out the licensing authority’s approach regarding 
licensed opening hours and the strategy it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives in its area. The statement of licensing policy should emphasise the consideration which will be 
given to the individual merits of an application. In determining appropriate strategies around licensed 
opening hours, licensing authorities cannot seek to restrict the activities of licensed premises where it is not 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives to do so. Blanket restrictions and standard 
conditions cannot be justified and may be unlawful. 
 
No changes or amendments to policy (CIP) based purely on this representation alone however, changes to 
framework hours may be considered by members. 

13 Shildon 
Town 
Council 

Response: Dear Sir 
 
At a Meeting of the Town Council held on 8th April 2019 the Review of Licensing Policy was considered by 
Members of Shildon Town Council. 
 
Only one comment was made (Page 8) 4.1    
 

 The retail sale of alcohol 
Members felt this point should be defined to identify the areas where alcohol is sold, i.e. Pubs, restaurants, 
shops etc. 
 
No other comments were made with regards to the Review of the Licensing Policy 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
T A Bellas 
 
Comments: 4.0 Scope of the policy, 4.1 The licensable activities specified in the Act and covered by this 
policy, include: 
• The retail sale of alcohol 
 

P
age 71



14 
 

The retail sale of alcohol refers to any premises and licensed area where retail sales of alcohol take place. 
Therefore, such activities do not include wholesale premises or any other premises that do not sell alcohol 
by retail. It would be possible to list the kinds of premises that do engage in retail sales such as public 
houses, restaurants, hotels etc. however it is not considered necessary that such a list of premises is vital 
for explanatory purposes. No changes or amendments to policy are recommended based on this 
representation. 
 

14 Jonathan 
Hobbs 

Response: Subject: Licensing: Guidance issued under section 182 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
I write regarding the "Revised guidance issued under section 182 of Licensing Act 2003" published 24 April 
2018. I wonder if you could take a second to clarify a point. 
 
Under section  8. Applications for premises licences, parts 8.35-8.37 " Beer gardens or other outdoor 
spaces" it is stated that "in scenarios where drink orders are taken by a member of staff in the garden or 
outdoor space and the member of staff then collects the drinks from the licensed premises and returns to 
deliver them to the customer this would be treated as an off-sale and any conditions that relate to off-sales 
would apply. In such cases it will be not necessary to include the garden or other outdoor space on the plan 
as part of the area covered by the premises licence." 
 
However, under "Changes to structure/layout", part  8.62 states "Many small variations to layout will have 
no adverse impact on the licensing objectives.  However, changes to layout should be referred to the full 
variation process if they could potentially have an adverse impact on the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, for example by: • increasing the capacity for drinking on the premises; • affecting access 
between the public part of the premises and the rest of the premises or the street or public way, for 
instance, block emergency exits or routes to emergency exits; or • impeding the effective operation of a 
noise reduction measure such as an acoustic lobby." 
 
Would demolishing an external wall to join two outdoor areas and create a new beer garden come under 
"changes to structure/layout"? 
 

P
age 72



15 
 

a) if the old and new beer garden do not appear on the plan? 
b) if the old beer garden appears on the plan but not the new one? 
c) both beer gardens appear but are not licensed for "on-sales"? 
 
In all scenarios you can assume that the gardens are used by the premises for off-sales drinking. You can 
also assume that the overall drinking capacity will be increased and that there may be some effect on 
access and noise reduction. 
 
I'd appreciate your clarification of this. 
Jonathan Hobbs 
 
Comments: This is not a policy consultation matter. This will not be responded to as part of the 
consultation process but has been passed to Licensing Administration for the provision of advice.  
 
No changes or amendments to policy can be based on this representation. 
 

15 Roberta 
Blackman-
Woods MP 
for the City 
of Durham 

Response: RE: Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
I am writing to you in relation to the review of the local authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy, which runs 
until 3 May 2019.  
 
As you will know, along with local residents, I have for many years raised a number of issues relating to 
County Durham’s Licensing Policy and its failure to address the unique challenges of Durham City as well 
as requesting on a number of occasions that the licensing policy be reviewed. As this review is finally taking 
place, I am getting in touch to once again raise a number of concerns, and I will address these in turn. My 
comments on this policy relate to many residents meetings that I have held over the years, a significant 
number of emails from constituents, and the most recent public meeting I held to discuss the issue of 
licensing on 1 March 2019. 
 
Structure of the Review 
 

P
age 73



16 
 

First, as I raised in my response to the formal notification of the review, there are a number of issues with 
the process of this review itself. Within the text of the letter indicating that a review would be taking place, it 
is claimed that “licensing authorities must prepare and publish a statement of their licensing policy every 
five years”, where in fact the guidance from the Secretary of State indicates that this must be done at least 
once every five years.  
 
This means that the local authority could at any point in the last five years made the decision to carry out a 
review. Given the number of issues that I and others have raised over the years, it is disappointing that the 
council felt that this process could not be brought forward. 
 
Furthermore, in my response to the consultation notification, I highlighted my concern that the letter stated 
the Council was seeking to “consult with existing licensed premises and with organisations, persons and 
bodies representing responsible authorities and most importantly, the licensed trade in our area.” This 
statement appears to completely disregard the purpose of a licensing policy as outlined in both the Act and 
the most recent guidance. Both of these documents say that the aim of the Licensing Act is to promote the 
four statutory objectives. The guidance itself states that the principles of the objectives include providing a 
regulatory framework that “reflects the needs of local communities” and “encouraging greater community 
involvement in licensing decisions and giving local residents the opportunity to have their say regarding 
licensing decisions that may affect them.”  
 
It is difficult to see how any policy that considers the views of the licensed trade above those of responsible 
authorities, residents and their representatives can fully uphold the licensing objectives, rather than being 
focused on the economic and financial needs of the businesses operating in Durham. This is not in keeping 
with the aims of the legislation. 
 
As the Council will be aware, the aim of a licensing policy is to uphold and support the four licensing 
objectives outlined in the Licensing Act 2003. These are the prevention of crime and disorder; prevention of 
public nuisance; public safety and the protection of children from harm. There are no other licensing 
objectives contained within the Act, and each of these four is of equal importance, and must be the 
paramount consideration of any licensing policy. 
 

P
age 74



17 
 

Given the proliferation of licensed premises within the city, it appears that the Statement of Licensing 
Policy, and the process of determining licenses needs to be strengthened in a number of areas. 
 
Current Licensing Process 
Alongside the four licensing objectives, there are a number of issues relating to the current process of 
licence applications that must also be addressed. Paragraph 2.16 of the Statement of Licensing Policy 
states that “Licensing Services works almost exclusively with, through and for people”, yet it is hard to 
determine how this is achieved in practice.  
 
It is clear from the correspondence I have received from residents on this issue, as well as the feedback I 
have been given at numerous public meetings, that many of those who live within the city feel that the steps 
that the Council take to ensure that new applications for licensed premises, or variations to existing 
licences are well publicised are simply not good enough. It is worth noting that planning applications 
received by the Council are displayed on the planning portal, yet should a resident wish to look at the 
details of a licence application, this can only be done by appointment at council offices located in 
Meadowfield. As the determination of licences can have a significant effect on those who live or work in the 
vicinity of the premises, it seems very unfair that people are presented with such an onerous task when 
viewing the details of an application. 
 
It would be helpful if, as part of the review of the Statement of Licensing Policy the local authority would 
commit to greater transparency around applications, and ensure that residents living within the vicinity of 
the proposed establishment were better informed when a premises licence application has been received. 
It is also imperative that members of the public are able to view the details of a licensing application, either 
online as with planning applications, or at a location in the city. This could also potentially be expanded to 
other key locations throughout the county. 
 
Indeed, Paragraph 9.2 of the most recent guidance indicates that hearings on licence applications should 
not take place unless representations have been received by the licensing authority, but it is apparent that 
in many cases people are simply not aware that an application has been made, nor have the opportunity to 
properly scrutinise the information submitted by the applicant. 
 

P
age 75



18 
 

Turning to the Statement of Licensing Policy itself, it seems that the current policy does not uphold the four 
licensing objectives, and I will address these in turn.   
 
Public Safety 
One of the key requirements of a Statement of Licensing Policy is that it promotes public safety, and it 
would appear that the local authority’s current policy does not do this.  
 
While some of the content of the policy is appropriate when applied to individual premises, such as the 
requirement that applicant discuss such matters as fire and building safety with the local authority, it is clear 
that the sheer number of licensed premises within the city centre is causing a wider safety concern. 
 
In fact, the number of people leaving the Walkergate complex late at night and seeking transport home 
creates such a danger to the public that Durham County Council now closes Claypath to road traffic 
between 9pm and 4am on Friday and Saturday nights. Such drastic action indicates that this area has 
reached saturation point for bars and clubs, and public safety is a huge concern in the Walkergate area.  
 
Alongside this, in February 2018, a young student died following a crushing incident while queueing outside 
a venue in the Walkergate complex. Although investigations are still ongoing, eyewitness reports at the 
time indicate that the area was full of people, and that it was not unusual for queues on busy nights to be 
disorderly.  
 
It appears then that the continued approval of licences, and particularly late licences, in the City of Durham 
has led to a significant negative cumulative impact on public safety. 
 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
In paragraph 7.1 (Prevention of Crime and Disorder), the Statement of Licensing Policy indicates that 
licensed premises, especially those offering late night/ early morning entertainment may sometimes, if not 
properly managed, become a source of public nuisance, generating crime and disorder problems.  
 
The policy itself seems to acknowledge the issues around crime and disorder in paragraph 12.7 (Licensing 
Hours) which states that there is evidence to suggest that late night, alcohol-related crime and anti-social 
behaviour remains a problem in parts of the county. It goes on to say that the effect any such disturbance 

P
age 76



19 
 

may have “is a genuine matter to be considered when addressing the hours during which licensable 
activities may be undertaken.”  
 
Publicly available crime statistics indicate that reports to the police of the three offences most linked to 
alcohol consumption (Public Order offences, Anti-Social Behaviour and Violence) are concentrated in the 
Walkergate area and North Road (Appendix 1). Indeed, between March 2018 and February 2019, nearly 
fifty percent of these crimes that were reported to the police were concentrated in these two areas. 
 
This clearly indicates that there is an issues with overcrowding and saturation of venues in these areas, 
especially when considering that this reported crime rate is significantly in excess of other locations within 
the county (see Appendix 1). 
 
Given the above crime statistics, there is clearly an issue in Durham City that needs to be addressed, and 
this supports the argument that a specific policy for Durham City is needed, as other towns are not 
experiencing these issues to the same extent as Durham.  
 
Prevention of Public Nuisance 
Equally, the policy states in paragraph 9.1 (Prevention of Public Nuisance) that licensed premises that open 
late at night can cause a range of nuisances for people living, working or sleeping in the vicinity. These 
concerns relate to, amongst other things, litter; light pollution; noise and vehicles. 
 
It is clear from the feedback I have received from residents over many years that the policy in its current 
form is not upholding this licensing objective for people living in the city centre. The noise created by people 
moving around the city in the early hours of the morning is extremely disruptive, and many people feel the 
condition of the market place and the surrounding streets, particularly on a Sunday morning, is 
unacceptable, with a significant amount of litter left uncollected, and the city appearing dirty and 
unappealing. 
 
The issue of public nuisance is not just experienced by those living in the immediate city centre however. 
As Durham is a small city, many people choose to make their way home on foot. The immediate city centre 
is surrounded by residential areas in all directions, so whichever direction people choose to move through 

P
age 77



20 
 

the city, whether this be up Claypath towards Gilesgate, or through the city towards Neville’s Cross, South 
Road or Framwellgate Moor, there will be disruption and noise for residents.   
 
Furthermore, Appendix B of the policy indicates the framework licensing hours – that is the recommended 
hours for the operation of licensable activities across County Durham. This appendix indicates that the 
recommended closing time for premises licensed for the sale of alcohol on Friday and Saturday nights is 
1am, yet within the city there are a number of venues, mostly clustered around Walkergate and on North 
Road, that open to 2 am on Saturday nights. One is licensed until 2.30am. Within the Walkergate complex, 
four out of six bars operate until 2am on Fridays and Saturdays. 
 
While it is sensible for the local authority to produce a framework of suitable hours, what is not clear is how 
this framework was decided. As has been highlighted above, paragraph 2.16 of the Statement of Licensing 
Policy states that “Licensing Services works almost exclusively with, through and for people”, yet residents 
in the city clearly do not want licensed venues to be open to these hours. It is hard to determine therefore 
where the mandate for the Council to produce this framework comes from, or how the creep up to 2am for 
some venues has been allowed. 
 
This problem is exacerbated by the increasing use of Temporary Event Notices (TENS) by venues in the 
city centre. Current legislation allows for a venue to apply for fifteen TENS in a year, and this has seen a 
number of venues in Durham, particularly clustered around Walkergate, open until 4am for certain events. 
Given that there are six bars within the Walkergate complex, this could potentially lead to ninety TENs 
being granted over a year in this small area alone – nearly two a week. While the legislation may allow for 
this, the effect this will have on the local community has clearly not been considered by the licensing 
committee when granting licenses in such a small, residential city centre, and it is simply ridiculous that 
venues should be allowed to open to such early hours with such frequency.  
 
It is clear that this framework has not been fully considered or adhered to, and allowing the proliferation of 
licenses to this time has contributed to a cumulative impact of public nuisance in the city centre. It could 
equally be argued that moving away from this framework has had a significant impact on public safety and 
the prevention of crime and disorder.  
 
Protection of Children from Harm 

P
age 78



21 
 

In correspondence I have received, a number of residents and business owners indicated that drinking at 
weekends is starting earlier. This of course has an impact on families and visitors in the city, and the 
increased number of stag and hen parties visiting Durham mean that more raucous behaviour and 
inappropriate language is evident within the city at times when Durham should be particularly welcoming to 
visitors and families. The policy does state that applicants for a licence will be expected to demonstrate that 
suitable measures will be implemented to minimise disruption, but the sheer number of venues with 
licences in such a compact area is leading to a cumulative effect of significant volumes of people drinking in 
the city centre late at night, and increasingly during the day. 
 
Cumulative Impact Policy 
Given the above information, and the concerns that have passed on to me by residents of the city it seems 
that Durham City has reached saturation point for bars and clubs, and a specific policy is needed to 
address the licensing issues faced by Durham City Centre.  
 
Durham is a small, compact city with very challenging topography, and a significant number of licensed 
premises. It is also home to Durham University, which has in the region of 17,000 students, most of whom 
live within the city centre.  
 
The area that could be considered the centre of Durham covers approximately one square mile, yet 
contains in the region of forty licensed premises, mostly concentrated in Walkergate and North Road. A 
number of these premises operate with late licenses on Friday and Saturday nights. Alongside this, each 
college at Durham University also contains a bar that is open to students. 
 
The compact nature of the city centre, the unusual topography of the area, and the concentration of 
licensed premises mean that the blanket policy for the county does not address the unique issues within 
Durham, and a more targeted approach to licensing within the city centre must be taken. As the local 
authority will be aware, this can be achieved through the introduction of a Cumulative Impact Policy, via a 
cumulative impact assessment. 
 
Cumulative impact assessments were introduced in the 2003 Act by the Policing and Crime Act 2017 and 
are the method by which a licensing authority measures the potential impact on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives of a number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. The most recent revised 

P
age 79



22 
 

guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 provides further detail on this in paragraph 
14.21:  
 
“In some areas where the number, type or density of licensed premises, such as those selling alcohol or 
providing late night refreshment, is high or exceptional, serious problems of nuisance and disorder may 
arise outside or some distance from those premises. Such problems generally occur as a result of large 
numbers of drinkers being concentrated in an area, for example when leaving premises at peak times or 
when queuing at fast food outlets or for public transport.” 
 
Indeed, Durham County Council’s own Statement of Licensing Policy itself recognises the potential 
cumulative effect of the number, type and density of licensed premises in a given area in Section 11, and in 
paragraph 11.2 states that “Where there is evidence that such a problem exists, the Licensing Authority 
may decide that it is no longer appropriate for any further licensed premises to be established or variations 
to existing licenses to be made in the area, and that a Policy relating to cumulative impact should be 
adopted.” 
 
The local authority does not have to look too far to find an example of a successful cumulative impact 
policy, with Newcastle City Council introducing such measures in seven different areas of the city. The 
Statement of Licensing Policy adopted by Newcastle City Council states in paragraph 7.1.1.  
 
“There is evidence of a clear positive relationship between increased outlet density and alcohol 
consumption in adults and young people The evidence shows that increases in alcohol outlet density tend 
to be associated not only with an increase in alcohol consumption, but also increased alcohol-related crime 
and violence and under-18 alcohol-specific hospital admissions. Also where licensed premises are 
clustered together within an area they are more likely to compete on price and promotions which can lead 
to increased consumption and alcohol related injury and violence.” 
 
Newcastle City Council has also gone one step further in ensuring that these special policies are as 
effective as possible, by introducing two different policies, which apply to different types of licensed 
premises and with different requirements for each zone (Appendix 2). 
 

P
age 80



23 
 

Given that Newcastle is a significantly larger city than Durham, with a much more clearly defined area for 
city centre activities, it is astonishing that Newcastle City Council have put in place seven Cumulative 
Impact Policies, yet despite all the representations made by myself, residents and others over many years, 
Durham County Council has not yet introduced a single one.  
 
Another example of how a Cumulative Impact policy can be applied can be found in Cambridge City 
Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy (Appendix 3). Within this document, the Council also identifies 
several different areas across the city, and in some cases goes as far as to break these down to individual 
streets.  
 
Chester is another historic city, such as Durham, that has residents living in close proximity to city centre 
activities, and a further example of how a Cumulative Impact Policy can be used to minimise disruption and 
promote the licensing objectives can be found in the Statement of Licensing Policy of Cheshire West and 
Chester Council. Within this policy, paragraph 11.3 states that: 
 
“The Council introduced the Cumulative Impact Policy in parts of Chester because of the impact on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives of the number, type and density of licensed premises in the area 
defined in the Special Policy. The concentration of licensed premises in this area has led to problems of 
noise, nuisance, crime and disorder outside of, or a distance from licensed premises particularly late at 
night or early in the morning…” 
 
A good example of how existing legislation can be used to define uses within an area can be found in 
Lambeth’s Statement of Licensing Policy (Appendix 4). This policy not only contains a Cumulative Impact 
Policy, but also specifies which areas of the borough are considered to be Major, District and Local Town 
Centres, and outlines what the Council expects from applicants in these zones. This is also a great 
example of how local authorities can protect residential areas, and how local people can be more involved 
in the licencing process, as this policy requires all applicants to canvass residents’ views before submitting 
an application and producing an operating schedule. 
 
Given that Durham County Council is currently examining responses to the recent consultation on the 
County Durham Plan, which contains analysis of sub-regional and town centres, it would seem a simple 
step for this work to be applied to the Statement of Licensing Policy, and requirements for applicants to 

P
age 81



24 
 

properly canvass the views of people in areas that contain residential properties should be adopted by the 
local authority as part of this review.  
 
It is clear therefore, that there are steps that Durham County Council can take to properly uphold the 
licensing objectives within the city, and to deal with the issues that have been raised with both myself and 
the local authority for many years. This is not the first time I have raised with the local authority how other 
areas of the country are doing licensing much better however, and is a matter of great sadness and 
distress to the people of Durham that this information has not been acted on previously to strengthen  
 
It is therefore imperative that the local authority urgently carry out a cumulative impact assessment on 
Durham to address these issues. 
 
The evidence that local authorities can draw on when carrying out a cumulative impact assessment is 
outlined in the revised guidance (paragraph 14.29) and includes local crime and disorder statistics; crime 
hotspots; anti-social behaviour offences; health related statistics; environmental health complains, 
particularly in relation to litter and noise; residents questionnaires; evidence from elected members and 
information gathered through consultation. 
 
In fact, Durham County Council’s own Statement of Licensing Policy outlines the process that the Council 
would follow in order to introduce such a measure. Paragraph 11.5 states that, should the local authority be 
minded to introduce a Cumulative Impact Policy, then concerns relating to crime and disorder or public 
nuisance must be identified and consideration must be given as to whether it can be evidenced that 
incidents of crime and disorder and nuisance are arising from and caused by the customers of licensed 
premises. If so, then the local authority must identify the area from which problems are arising or whether 
risk factors are such that the area is reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent. Following this, 
consultation must take place with the prescribed statutory consultees on the content of the policy. 
 
It is clear that evidence exists of a significant negative cumulative impact of licensed premises on the city 
centre already, and it is important that, as the local authority are already consulting on the Statement of 
Licensing Policy, that a cumulative impact assessment is carried out as soon as possible. 
 

P
age 82



25 
 

The Statement of Licensing Policy indicates that “residents need to live and work in a safe and healthy 
environment”. It seems apparent from the correspondence I have received, and no doubt from that received 
by the local authority, this is simply not the experience of many living in the city centre.  
 
Furthermore, as indicated above, investigations are still ongoing into the death of a student in Walkergate 
in February 2018. It would be helpful to know when the Council expects the outcome of these investigations 
to be known and, given that the review of the Statement of Licensing Policy is happening now, how any 
recommendations made by the final report will affect the Statement of Licensing Policy should that be 
needed. 
 
I urge Durham County Council to acknowledge the specific issues affecting Durham and take steps 
immediately to carry out a cumulative impact assessment and introduce a specific licensing policy for 
Durham City Centre. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Comments: 
Structure of the Review 
Licensing Authorities can review and renew their policy any time within a five-year period.  
  
The current policy is considered sound in its application and interpretation and has been use effectively by 
applicants, responsible authorities and other interested parties since its adoption 
 
We consult with the licensed trade and as licence holders we encourage them to respond, this does not 
mean that their views are given any more weight or importance than those of anyone else who may 
respond. The purpose of the policy is to support the objectives and aims of the legislation therefore your 
points on this matter is disputed. The consultation process is available for all with no one voice or 
organisation given more weight or credibility than any others. 
 
Current Licensing Process 
The process followed by Licensing Services upon receipt of an application or variation is that which is 
prescribed. In addition to the displaying of notices, Durham County Council Licensing services also send 

P
age 83



26 
 

the information to every County Councillor who will be aware of the application whether it is in their ward 
boundary or not.  
It is accepted that applications for Planning permissions are dealt with differently to applications under the 
Licensing Act. This is because of the differences that exist between planning and licensing legislation. 
 
It is recognised that vicinity of a proposed establishment is not defined. 
 
Any resident or interested party can submit a review of any premises licence at any time. This includes 
Councillors and MPs. Any persons or organisations who consider that the activities at the premises do not 
uphold the licensing objectives may make representations, so although on occasions a resident may be 
unaware of an application before it is granted, should the grant of that licence cause concerns linked to the 
objectives, there is a swift prescribed process to follow which could lead to an effective remedy. 
 
Public Safety 
 
It is accepted that many instances of crime and anti-social behaviour can be caused by those under the 
influence of alcohol. The data provided does not correlate the actual nature of any of the offences and 
number of licensed premises and does not directly attribute crime numbers or rates of increase in crime 
directly with licensed premises. 
It is of course likely that some of the crimes reported are related to alcohol consumption and with the night 
time economy however, without further information there is no way to identify exactly what the data is 
showing. 
 
It is recognised that certain categories of crime are on the increase nationally. It is also recognised that 
alcohol consumption is reducing, especially amongst younger age groups. It is difficult to support an 
assumption that increasing crime levels shown by unqualified, numerical data proves or even indicates that 
the root cause is the number of licensed premises under these circumstances.  
 
Durham County Council’s Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2015-20 incorporates information and data 
produced a few years ago when this same issue was being explored. Based on this information, the 
document states “the overall density of licensed premises was not directly correlated with the rate of 
alcohol related events within the local areas. However, alcohol -related events (particularly ambulance call-

P
age 84



27 
 

outs and hospital admission episodes) were positively correlated with Index of multiple deprivation scores”. 
The same document also states that “In County Durham alcohol is now consumed more in the home than 
in pubs and clubs. Many pubs and clubs are closing as they are unable to compete with the cheap price of 
alcohol from off trade supermarkets” 
 
Evidence from the earlier study did not support the necessity for a CIP in any area of the County. I accept 
that circumstances may have changed since the last study however, that remains to be evidenced.  
 
The road closure in Claypath was brought about because of problems associated with taxis and private hire 
vehicles queuing up a narrow street, blocking the road and ranking outside residential properties. The 
measures were introduced to alleviate concerns from residents and the emergency services on traffic 
matters. This measure resulted purely from road traffic, road safety and access related issues. This road 
closure is not an indication that the area has reached saturation point for bars and clubs.  
 
The City Safety Group have worked closely with ROSPA on many aspects of safety within the City and 
their findings in the Licensing Review report was that there was “no absolute correlation identified between 
footfall and incidents of crime”. 
One of the recommendations in the report is to “Consider allowing the increase in the number of licensed 
premises to maintain the ratio of capacity to student numbers” and concludes “The City of Durham has put 
in place different measures to ensure that the night time economy is properly managed. This is achieved 
through a mix of measures applied by venue operators, the University and the Council. The measures in 
place are largely well co-ordinated between the different stake holders through the Pub Watch scheme. 
The recommendations made should not detract in any way from the good standards of operation that were 
seen during periods of observation” 
 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
Durham City has a significant night time economy in comparison to other areas of County Durham and will 
attract visitors from outside of the County and probably the region. Statistics for Durham City, Bishop 
Auckland and Barnard Castle, all show a rise of violent crime and sexual offences. There has been no 
evidence provided that these increases are because of the number licensed premises and their trading 
hours.  
 

P
age 85



28 
 

Prevention of Public Nuisance 
Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by 
individuals once they are away from the licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the 
individual, club or business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. Nonetheless, it is a 
key aspect of such control and licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to the management 
of the evening and night-time. Inevitably there will be noise generated from any night time economy and it 
is unclear at this stage not known how or if a licensing policy could prevent this. 
 
The existing framework hours were decided by Full Council upon adoption of the policy following a 
consultation process. Statements of licensing policy should set out the licensing authority’s approach 
regarding licensed opening hours and the strategy it considers appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives in its area. The current approach including the framework hours was discussed with 
and recommended by elected members of the General Licensing and registration Committee to Full 
Council prior to the adoption of the policy.  
 
As part of this policy review members may wish to amend those hours but this may depend on the 
consultation feedback and when evidence or justification can be provided.  
 
Although the recommendations are within the policy, in accordance with legislation and licensing guidance, 
each application should be considered on its own merits and if applicants are able to demonstrate that later 
hours could be appropriately addressed then through negotiation or at a hearing, it may be possible for 
later hours to be allowed. However, should any responsible authority or interested party wish to review any 
licence based on a premise not promoting one or more of the objectives and they have evidence to show 
that, a review may be taken. 
Temporary Event Notices (TENs) do allow for premises to operate outside of their standard hours. The 
Police and Environmental Health can and do object to TENs when they consider it necessary. As the 
process and number of TENs is prescribed, any Policy changes could not restrict these further 
 
Cumulative Impact Policy 
An assessment of the need for a cumulative impact policy in various areas of the County, including Durham 
City, was carried out in 2014. At that time there was insufficient evidence to support the introduction of such 
a policy in any of the areas identified. However, despite the recent ROSPA recommendation of “allowing 

P
age 86



29 
 

the increase in the number of licensed premises to maintain the ratio of capacity to student numbers”, the 
Licensing Authority will undertake to carry out a Cumulative Impact Assessment to see if the situation has 
changed since the last time these issues were considered. Such an assessment involves personnel from 
many sections of the authority as well as external organisations and agencies. CIA’s cannot be completed 
quickly, and it would not be possible to commission a CIA for County Durham and expect it to be completed 
before the policy is to be adopted in October.  However, should following the publication of a CIA it be 
found necessary to implement such a CIP, whether that be in Durham City or elsewhere in the County, the 
policy would then be revised accordingly. 
 
Should an area have a CIP, this will not have the effect of reducing the number of licensed premises in that 
area and would not reduce their hours of trading. A CIP also does not preclude other licences from being 
granted, but it does reverse the presumption to grant under the Act. Such a special policy once adopted 
may be challenged and contested either by Judicial review or by individual applicants. Therefore, they must 
be based on good, supporting evidence. Any good policy should set out the evidence base for restraint, be 
that in relation to controls over the number of licensed premises or the hours during which they may 
operate.  
 
We have had the benefit of research carried out by a student intern from Durham University to consider 
recommendations/good practice from other licensing policies which will be fed into the draft revision. 
However, it is recognised that there is no one size fits all policy and it would be inappropriate, without the 
necessary evidence, to compare one authority’s policy to another, especially considering the unusual 
topography and demographics of each area.  
 
A key objective of the County Durham plan is the expand the night time economy offer through the 
promotion of responsible drinking practices and through the development of alcohol-free alternatives. As 
the Licensing policy has been consulted on widely to both the public, responsible authorities and the trade 
we would hope that this objective can be supported further in the future through the new policy. 
 
The Licensing policy cannot address all  concerns that exist around the night time economy and the effects 
of alcohol consumption. A planned CIA may provide the Council with information that could lead to future 
changes to licensing policy. 
 

P
age 87



30 
 

 
 

16 From: 
Caroline 
Gardner  
Sent: 16 
April 2019 
11:49 
 

Response: Subject: RE: Review of Durham County Council's Statement of Licensing Policy  
 
Hi Helen 
 
Just to let you know that I have read the document and have the following queries – 
 
Does the document need to reference wider enforcement powers such as the ‘CPW’ and ‘CPN’ in respect 
of ASB linked to alcohol?  
 
Reference the ‘MAPS’ and ‘TLP’ process regarding addressing lower level locality issues? 
 
Reference access to the First system in respect of accessing Police and DCC reports of ASB displayed on 
the mapping screen of this system? (as well as access to other data held in this system) 
 
Include an approach to addressing increasing violence linked to the NTE? 
 
Thank you 
Caroline 
 
Comments: Reference may be made to these wider enforcement powers 
Reference may be made to the ‘MAPS’ and ‘TLP’ process 
Reference may be made to these sources of information 
More assessment and information necessary to address this within the policy if anything relevant and 
meaningful is to be included. A CIA may provide the evidence that may be used to inform future policy 
changes. 
 

17 Donna 
Gracey 
Corporate 
Governanc

Response:  
DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL  
STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2019- 2024 CONSULTATION  
Punch Taverns Response  

P
age 88



31 
 

e and 
Estates 
Manager 
Email: 
donna.grac
ey@puncht
averns.co
m 
Tel: 01283 
501897 
Mob: 
07717 
274633 
Punch, 
Jubilee 
House - 
Second 
Avenue - 
Burton 
upon Trent 
- DE14 
2WF  
 

Punch is one of the UK's largest leased pub companies, with around 1300 pubs across the UK. From the 
spirit of our local community pubs, the energy of our lively city centre hot spots and sports bars, to the 
warmth and calm of our inviting country inns; our pubs are the heart of all we do.  
We are a business of people that love pubs! With a mixed estate of high quality leased, tenanted and retail 
pubs, our years of experience have enabled us to develop a leading proposition for those wishing to work 
with us and run a pub business of their own. We provide industry leading, tailored business support to our 
Publicans and develop market-leading, flexible agreements and retail concepts to suit all aspirations.  
Under the ownership of Patron and May Capital, we have exciting plans to grow our business: longer term 
through potential acquisition opportunities and – in the here and now – by substantially investing in our 
teams, our pubs and Publicans.  
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is embedded across many elements of our business, from corporate 
fundraising to responsible retailing. We have dedicated teams in place to assist in ensuring that our 
premises operate to the highest standards. We strive to ensure that our pubs are not operating 
irresponsible drinks promotions or serving underage drinkers or those who are intoxicated.  
The Punch Buying Club, our online ordering and communications portal, also has a section dedicated to 
Risk Management providing our Publicans with a wide range of downloadable educational tools, advice 
and pub-friendly materials, which can be used pub managers and team members.  
As supporters of Drinkaware we do not condone irresponsible promotions and pricing of alcohol, and we 
have actively supported Drinkaware’s campaigns to help tackle binge drinking amongst 18 to 25 year olds. 
Responsible retailing forms a key part of our Publican training and we provide clear guidance on current 
legislation and best practice. We also support industry led initiatives to promote responsible retailing and 
are active members of industry trade bodies such as British Beer Pub Association (BBPA) and the British 
Institute of Innkeeping (BII).  
We are pleased to be able to contribute to this consultation, we have always prided ourselves with working 
with Local Authorities and Responsible authorities.  
Punch Taverns are the landlords of 20 licensed premises within Durham County and therefore is one of the 
largest premises licence holding companies in the council area. We would ask therefore that the opinions 
expressed in this consultation response are given due weight in these circumstances.  
We have considered the existing policy and base this response on best practice we have seen around the 
country in terms of not just policy documents, but also in relation to how best councils can seek to frame 
their licensing remit to ensure that the correct balance between operators being able to thrive and residents 
having proper protections within the remit of the four licensing objectives.  

P
age 89



32 
 

Response to consultation  
Section 3: Integrating Strategies and Avoiding Duplication 
Punch is a business name of Punch Taverns Limited Reg No. 3752645, Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited 
Reg No. 3321199, Punch Partnerships (PGRP) Limited Reg No. 3989664, Punch Taverns (Branston) 
Limited Reg No. 5596581 and Punch Taverns (Services) Limited Reg No. 4221944, each of which is 
registered in England and Wales and has its Registered Office and Jubilee House as below. Tel: 01283 
501600 Fax: 01283 501601 Web: www.punchtaverns.com Punch | Jubilee House | Second Avenue | 
Burton upon Trent | Staffordshire | DE14 2WF  
1Licensing policies works best when they reference, and indeed work with, other council strategic plans 
and policies. For instance, planning strategies and local cultural strategies often inform applicants for either 
new licences or variations to licences as to what the council are looking to do in terms of promoting culture, 
leisure use and night-time economy uses in a particular area.  
Often it can be difficult to find these documents online and therefore reference to them and indeed a 
general statement that the authority will take into account other strategies is both a pertinent and of benefit 
to applicants and responsible authorities alike.  
Links to specific strategies, will also assist new potential businesses to understand and factor in the likely 
costs of entry into the city. We note a reference to 'Plymouth plan for plastics, later in the policy. We feel 
that this should be referenced in the general section too under the above heading.  
Planning  
2We would also urge you to clarify in your policy that where conditions are stipulated on a planning 
permission, such as restriction on hours or activities, these do not need to be repeated in the premises 
licence, unless there is good reason to do so. Often conditions relating to extract systems, closing times of 
external areas, etc. appear on both permissions and on occasion they do not even mirror the other. This 
leads to additional and unnecessary expense for licence holders should such conditions need to be 
amended.  
3 Para 6.5 Promoting excellent standards of management  
Whilst we support the council making it clear the council's intentions to promote excellent standards of 
management, there is little pre-amble to give context to the examples then provided. A significant number 
of the examples given have little or no relevance to the majority of licensed premises, being more relevant 
to larger nightclubs and late night venues. As such, we suggest that this important message would be 
better made with a reference beforehand along the lines of:  

P
age 90



33 
 

'The council recognises that individual premises will all need to assess their own management needs to 
establish best practice. Therefore what would be good practice at one premises may be a financial or 
otherwise unnecessary burden on another. The examples below are indicative of different measures that 
premises managers/ licence holders may wish to consider to assist them in improving management 
standards:'  
4Para 6.11: Layout and Operation of Premises-  
Security measures and CCTV  
We note that the policy does not make reference to the GDPR  
One of the most significant changes in recent times has been the change to data protection legislation 
introduced via GDPR. Whilst the obvious effects of this regulatory change relate to protecting personal data 
held on behalf of individuals, such as social media, mailing lists, email data bases and various other forms 
of storage of someone else's data, there are other effects that need to be reflected in licensing policy.  
For instance, the requirement for CCTV at a premises licence is not only expensive to install, but we 
question the value of such systems in terms of crime prevention and detection, especially in smaller 
community pubs. However, it is now commonplace for police to demand CCTV in almost all premises and 
to insist upon complicated and demanding CCTV condition's to be added to premises licences. In addition, 
operators of CCTV systems have to consider the GDPR implications. In particular, anyone who stores data, 
including CCTV footage of individuals, which is classed as data for the purposes of GDPR, must be 
responsible for its safe collection, storage, usage and disposal. Handing over CCTV footage to Police 
officers in the active investigation of a criminal offence, such as a fight, would obviously be a legitimate  
Punch is a business name of Punch Taverns Limited Reg No. 3752645, Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited 
Reg No. 3321199, Punch Partnerships (PGRP) Limited Reg No. 3989664, Punch Taverns (Branston) 
Limited Reg No. 5596581 and Punch Taverns (Services) Limited Reg No. 4221944, each of which is 
registered in England and Wales and has its Registered Office and Jubilee House as below. Tel: 01283 
501600 Fax: 01283 501601 Web: www.punchtaverns.com Punch | Jubilee House | Second Avenue | 
Burton upon Trent | Staffordshire | DE14 2WF  
reason for providing data. However, a condition with a general requirement to hand over CCTV at the 
behest licensing officer or police officer would arguably breach GDPR were it to be enforced. This means 
that there are numerous CCTV conditions on licences that would likely, were one to try and enforce them 
as they are written, cause an operator to breach GDPR.  
Similarly, club scan conditions need to be thought about in terms of GDPR and the obligations of the data 
holder. For instance, the time for which any data is stored and the purpose for storing that data needs to be 

P
age 91



34 
 

made clear to people handing over their data. Again conditions that require such data to be handed over at 
the behest of an officer other than in investigating a criminal offence would in all likelihood breach GDPR.  
We feel therefore that this need to be addressed in the policy in order to ensure that conditions are updated 
to ensure compliance and that CCTV in particular is not being universally required where there is no real 
and pressing need for it.  
5Section 7.0: The Prevention of Crime and Disorder  
The prevention of crime and disorder is one of the four licensing objectives and clearly a major pillar of 
licensing legislation. However, we have become increasingly concerned that licensed premises are 
sometimes being unfairly held to a higher standard when it comes to prevention of crime and disorder than 
other public premises. For instance, when Police present evidence of crime and disorder in relation to 
licensed premises, they will often include references to any crime that is associated not just with the 
premises in terms of its operation as licensed premises but generally. For instance, the Police will often 
include reference to all calls where those calls have referenced the premises as a local landmark which can 
include anything from criminal activity from people who have not been customers of the premises, offences 
in relation to taxis, or general disturbance and noise nuisance in a town centre where it cannot be said to 
be relevant to the premises.  
Premises licence holders will also often find reference to offences that are not relevant to the licensing 
objectives themselves. So, for instance, robberies at residential premises above a licensed premises are 
sometimes included. We feel it is important that the council recognise in their policy that these are matters 
that are not relevant to the prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective and that the licensing 
authority's expectation is that they will only be presented with evidence where it directly relates to the 
licensable activities being provided within the premises themselves.  
6Section 9: Prevention of Public Nuisance  
The prevention of public nuisance licensing objective is to be widely interpreted, as set out in the Statutory 
Guidance. However, we often come across conditions imposed on licences, as well as the investigation of 
complaints that do not relate to public nuisance. For instance, conditions that refer to 'nuisance', rather than 
'public nuisance', set a significantly higher barrier- one that was not intended by the Licensing Legislation. 
We also see this in terms of enforcement action where often enforcement officers will allege that a 
nuisance, often a private nuisance, has occurred and demand action under the terms of the premises 
licence.  
Clearly this is beyond that which was intended by Parliament and therefore we suggest that your policy 
reflects the need for public nuisance to be demonstrated and for conditions relating to nuisance to relate to 

P
age 92



35 
 

public nuisance rather than any wider definition. In particular, we suggest that expressly stating that private 
nuisance is not a licensing objective would assist in all parties understanding what is and is not the remit of 
licensing legislation.  
7Para 9.4: Tables and chairs on the highway  
External areas, especially gardens and enclosed spaces laid out to tables and chairs, are often attractive in 
their own right, as well as promoting businesses. Where they are on council land, they can be useful 
sources of revenue for local authorities. We would ask that your policy refers specifically the tables and 
chairs policy in place, with links to where application forms can be found on the council website etc. Whilst 
not strictly related to the Licensing Act 2003, the council policy document is a useful guide to licence 
holders and the more information that can  
Punch is a business name of Punch Taverns Limited Reg No. 3752645, Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited 
Reg No. 3321199, Punch Partnerships (PGRP) Limited Reg No. 3989664, Punch Taverns (Branston) 
Limited Reg No. 5596581 and Punch Taverns (Services) Limited Reg No. 4221944, each of which is 
registered in England and Wales and has its Registered Office and Jubilee House as below. Tel: 01283 
501600 Fax: 01283 501601 Web: www.punchtaverns.com Punch | Jubilee House | Second Avenue | 
Burton upon Trent | Staffordshire | DE14 2WF  
be provided about ancillary matters, the more likely it is that licence holders and applicants will use this 
resource.  
8Section 11: Cumulative Impact  
We suggest that this section needs to be updated since the change in law has put cumulative impact on a 
statutory footing and requires Cumulative Impact Assessments every three years (maximum).  
We note that your policy excludes cumulative impact zones, and we feel that this is appropriate in these 
circumstances.  
Cumulative impact policies can have the effect of dissuading operators from even attempting to get a 
licence. This unintentionally penalises operators considering smaller more novel applications (simply 
because of the prohibitive cost), often resulting in them looking to take their ideas elsewhere and thereby 
wasting a chance to develop a more rounded and vibrant economy in the CIP. For the same reason, such 
policies also promote ubiquity and stagnation as the only operators willing to take on the risk and outlay of 
applying in cumulative impact zones are larger established chains with the financial backing to fight for a 
licence. Given the plight of the pub market 5 years ago and now the casual dining market, in part because 
their offers failed to change as the market developed around them, the use of CIPs needs careful oversight 
to ensure it is not deterring investment  

P
age 93



36 
 

Cumulative impact assessments need to be scrutinised with an open mind. Stagnation will kill a vibrant 
area and CIP's, if left to choke the area they were designed to protect can do as much damage as good. If 
a CIP is deemed necessary, we would expect that it clearly and explicitly states the type of premises that it 
intends to apply the rebuttable presumption to, for instance, nightclubs or off-licences, rather than just 
applying to all licensed premises. This would allow for an area to gradually adapt and change with the 
policy, so long as the policy then adapts and changes to the area.  
9Section18: Conditions  
Whilst Punch Taverns recognise the importance of conditions on premises licences in certain 
circumstances, such as to prevent or to mitigate the potential risk of certain activities undermining the 
licensing objectives, we have a concern that more and more conditions are being placed on a licence that 
are then enforced as breaches of the licence in their own right. Licensing authorities are obliged to promote 
the 4 licensing objectives. Breaches of condition in and of themselves are an offence under Section 136 of 
the Licensing Act and on summary conviction can lead to an unlimited fine and/or up to 6 months in prison. 
It is important that this distinction is recognised in your policy and that breaches of condition in and of 
themselves are a matter for the Courts; whereas an undermining of the licensing objectives, which can 
happen with or without conditions being on the licence in any event, are the province of the licensing 
authority to deal with. We would suggest that this distinction is made in your policy as it will re-enforce the 
message both for responsible authorities and for operators who hold premises licences in your area.  
Punch has always been happy to work with licensing authorities in relation to conditions being imposed on 
a licence where they are necessary and proportionate to achieve an identifiable aim. However, we are 
concerned with the prevalence of standard conditions being used across all licences within any particular 
class, This has taken over from a proper analysis of the need for such conditions in the first place.  
In particular, we have seen a rise in conditions being imposed upon premises licences by responsible 
authorities, irrespective of the nature of the application being made. For instance, a variation to the plans 
attached to a licence to effect a simple alteration in layout and where there is no change in licensable 
activities, increase in customer area, or removal of internal lobbies, for instance, sometimes result in 
officers seeking to ride on the back of that application to impose conditions that are in no way relevant to it. 
The case of Taylor v Manchester City  
Punch is a business name of Punch Taverns Limited Reg No. 3752645, Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited 
Reg No. 3321199, Punch Partnerships (PGRP) Limited Reg No. 3989664, Punch Taverns (Branston) 
Limited Reg No. 5596581 and Punch Taverns (Services) Limited Reg No. 4221944, each of which is 
registered in England and Wales and has its Registered Office and Jubilee House as below. Tel: 01283 

P
age 94



37 
 

501600 Fax: 01283 501601 Web: www.punchtaverns.com Punch | Jubilee House | Second Avenue | 
Burton upon Trent | Staffordshire | DE14 2WF  
Council makes is clear that any conditions imposed on a premises licence when it is varied must relate to 
that application itself and should not stray into other areas that are not part of the application. It is important 
again that this is referenced in policy in order to prevent unnecessary hearings and often additional 
expense to applicants seeking to make simple changes to their licence but are then held to ransom by 
responsible authorities who know that operators are unlikely to challenge their right to impose such 
conditions where the cost would be send the matter to a hearing.  
We submit that the imposition of large numbers of conditions on a premises licence is self-defeating. 
Premises licences form one part of a significant number of regulatory requirements that must be observed 
by publicans and this is often forgotten by regulators who often only think in terms of their one area of 
expertise. This means that they often do not see the wood for the trees. Policies that set out an expectation 
of long operating schedules or worse, require officers to object to applications unless the applicant applies 
their standard conditions, place an unnecessary burden on operators without necessarily helping to 
promote the licensing objectives. The City of London licensing authority, for instance, will only impose 
conditions if deemed absolutely necessary. It is not unusual to see licences with only a handful of 
conditions.  
The reason for this is that they expect operators to promote the licensing objectives, not go through the 
motions of complying with conditions because they have to. Also, licences grandfathered in 2005 would, 
likely have few or no conditions on them. We have seen no evidence to suggest such premises have 
undermined the licensing objectives more than "conditioned licences."  
We would challenge any authority to suggest that this approach leads to more issues with licence holders 
undermining the objectives. If anything this clarity of approach means that operators are freed up to adapt 
their businesses as the demands of the market change, freeing up officers from having to undertake 
lengthy inspections of licences and then having to send out enforcement letters relating to conditions that 
are breached in the observation without any real evidence that the breaches themselves undermine the 
objectives. This in turn frees up resources for enforcement against poorly behaving premises and dealing 
with unlicensed operators.  
10Appendix B: Framework Hours  
Whilst we appreciate the reasoning behind setting out framework hours, we feel that unless it is clearly 
expressed to be the case in the appendix that such hours are only to be a guideline, they tend to be taken 
as hours an applicant can expect to be granted or hours that a committee are expected to limit applications 

P
age 95



38 
 

to. This can have the effect of dissuading applicants from applying outside of these hours where they would 
otherwise have good reason to do so and where the application would not undermine the licensing 
objectives and may also influence committee members to limit otherwise perfectly legitimate applications.  
Other matters we would ask the committee to consider referencing in the policy  
11On and Off-Sales  
Recently we have become aware that the definition of on and off-sales has caused some confusion. In 
particular there appears to be confusion around whether an off-licence is required for customers to take 
drinks outside a premises, for instance onto the pavement, and consume their drinks there.  
We contend that such a sale is an on-sale. If one considers the nature of the offence of selling alcohol 
without the appropriate licence, it is clear that the intention is that the person making the sale is the one 
who would be charged with the offence, rather than, say, the purchaser. Therefore, in selling a drink in an 
open container for immediate consumption, it cannot be argued that the publican has made anything other 
than an on-sale. It is inconceivable that the law intended that should this person step outside the premises, 
or indeed take that drink away with him, that this would somehow transform that on-sale to an off-sale. The 
terms 'on' and 'off'  
Punch is a business name of Punch Taverns Limited Reg No. 3752645, Punch Partnerships (PML) Limited 
Reg No. 3321199, Punch Partnerships (PGRP) Limited Reg No. 3989664, Punch Taverns (Branston) 
Limited Reg No. 5596581 and Punch Taverns (Services) Limited Reg No. 4221944, each of which is 
registered in England and Wales and has its Registered Office and Jubilee House as below. Tel: 01283 
501600 Fax: 01283 501601 Web: www.punchtaverns.com Punch | Jubilee House | Second Avenue | 
Burton upon Trent | Staffordshire | DE14 2WF  
sales originate from the Licensing Act 1964. Analysis of the legislation (by reference to off-sales) 
demonstrates that all off-sales had to be intended to be sold for consumption away from not only the 
licensed premises but any land associated with that premises or land immediately adjoining it for them to 
be considered an off sale. The intention was to ensure that in a situation where a seller makes an on-sale, 
that on-sale does not become an off-sale simply by means of it being consumed in the immediate 
environment of the premises, such as an unlicensed garden or on the pavement outside the pub.  
As such, we feel that this needs to be clarified in the policy. We would propose a statement along the 
following lines:-  
"On and off-sales are defined by reference to the intention of the seller at the time of sale. A sale in an 
open container for immediate consumption at the premises is an on-sale. This extends to where the person 

P
age 96



39 
 

who has purchased the drink at the bar and then consumes it either in a pub garden or on the pavement 
immediately outside the premises.  
An off-sale is a sale designed for consumption away from the premises and its immediate environs. This 
will usually be in a sealed container such as a bottle or can and the seller when selling that drink had no 
intention for the purchaser to remain at the premises to consume it"  
12Agent of Change  
Whilst we recognise that the principle is currently being debated in terms of planning, it is equally as 
important in licensing. We recommend that the licensing policy expressly recognises that developers of 
new residential developments need to protect their buyers from potential sources of noise disturbance, not 
expect existing licensed premises to have to adapt their offer to accommodate the new development. In 
particular, small pubs often rely on live or recorded music, provision of social events and other community 
based promotions, such as beer festivals, in order to survive and thrive.  
We have, unfortunately, seen a rise in complaints and reviews directed at existing premises that have often 
been at the heart of the community for over a century, from residents moving into new properties nearby. 
Whilst it is incumbent upon licence holders to promote the licensing objectives, it is iniquitous and arguably 
a breach of their Article 1, Protocol 1 human right to peaceful enjoyment of property, which includes their 
premises licence, to have their livelihood threatened and sometimes taken away because of poorly 
designed and constructed residential property built next door.  
13Minor Variations  
The use of minor variations is a very useful tool and we feel that your policy should reflect this. Minor 
variations are there to ensure that cost and time is saved where appropriate for applicants seeking to make 
changes to their licence that would not undermine the objectives. We feel it would assist if you set out in 
your policy those applications that would fall ordinarily within the minor variation class. We would propose 
these are as follows:-  
• Changes to layout that do not increase the customer area (beyond a de-minimis increase of, we would 
suggest, 10%).  
• Amendment and removal of conditions in agreement with responsible authorities.  
• Changes to opening times to allow for earlier opening for premises for non-licensable activities, ie. to 
permit premises to open to serve coffee and/or breakfast.  
• Removal of conditions that are no longer relevant to the operation of the premises or are redundant 
following imposition of new law, such as the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.  
 

P
age 97



40 
 

Submitted for and on behalf of Punch 
 
Comments:  
 
1further reference to other policies that may be of use to applicants etc. can be included  
2further clarification and guidance on the interface between planning and licensing regimes can be 
provided in the appendix 
3Further explanation may be provided to expand on the subject of good management practice, especially 
in relation to smaller licensed premises. 
4Policy to be updated in relation to GDPR and its application to licensed premises 
5The Council cannot dictate what information or evidence organisations and individuals might present in 
cases of contested applications and reviews. It would be in connection with the circumstances of each case 
that any such data and information would have to be tested to give weight to any argument presented by 
any organisation and for the applicant to challenge the use/misuse of such data and information should 
they wish to do so. The promotion of the four licensing objectives is of paramount importance in every case. 
6The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities and responsible authorities, through representations, to 
consider what constitutes public nuisance and what is appropriate to prevent it in terms of conditions 
attached to specific premises licences and club premises certificates. It is therefore important that in 
considering the promotion of this licensing objective, licensing authorities and responsible authorities focus 
on the effect of the licensable activities at the specific premises on persons living and working (including 
those carrying on business) in the area around the premises which may be disproportionate and 
unreasonable. The issues will mainly concern noise nuisance, light pollution, noxious smells and litter. 
Public nuisance is given a statutory meaning in many pieces of legislation. It is however not narrowly 
defined in the 2003 Act and retains its broad common law meaning. It may include in appropriate 
circumstances the reduction of the living and working amenity and environment of other persons living and 
working in the area of the licensed premises. Public nuisance may also arise because of the adverse 
effects of artificial light, dust, odour and insects or where its effect is prejudicial to health. 
Any conditions appropriate to promote the prevention of public nuisance should be tailored to the type, 
nature and characteristics of the specific premises and its licensable activities. Licensing authorities should 
avoid inappropriate or disproportionate measures that could deter events that are valuable to the 
community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for example, are expensive to purchase and install and are 
likely to be a considerable burden for smaller venues. 

P
age 98



41 
 

As with all conditions, those relating to noise nuisance may not be appropriate in certain circumstances 
where provisions in other legislation adequately protect those living near the licensed premises. But as 
stated earlier in this Guidance, the approach of licensing authorities and responsible authorities should be 
one of prevention and when their powers are engaged, licensing authorities should know other legislation 
may not adequately cover concerns raised in relevant representations and additional conditions may be 
appropriate. 
Where applications have given rise to representations, any appropriate conditions should normally focus on 
the most sensitive periods. For example, the most sensitive period for people being disturbed by 
unreasonably loud music is at night and into the early morning when residents in adjacent properties 
may be attempting to go to sleep or are sleeping. Therefore, there is still a need for a licence for 
performances of live music between 11 pm and 8 am. In certain circumstances, conditions relating to noise 
emanating from the premises may also be appropriate to address any disturbance anticipated as 
customers enter and leave. 
7Any existing tables and chairs policy may be referenced. See appendix showing other relevant strategies, 
policies etc. 
8Although the law has put CI on a statutory footing it is not the case that the law requires cumulative Impact 
Assessments every three years (maximum).  
 
A cumulative impact assessment (CIA) may be published by a licensing authority. If a CIA is published, 
then after publishing a CIA, the licensing authority then must, within three years, consider whether it 
remains of the opinion set out in the assessment. 
 
In determining or revising its policy, a licensing authority must have regard to any cumulative impact 
assessments published by it under section 5A. To date we have not published one. If a CIA is carried out 
and evidence for the need for a CIP is found, then the Council may adopt a CIP as part of future policy. 
9The Council will adhere to legislation and statutory guidance in relation to the use of conditions. 
10the purpose, use and interpretation of the framework hours will be clearly stated and explained in the 
policy. 
11The council will apply the provisions of legislation and guidance in relation to both on and off-sales of 
alcohol. Clarification and definition may be provided in the glossary to the policy. 
12Agent of change is principally a planning issue and the Council would expect such considerations to be 
identified, addressed and resolved via the planning process in most circumstances and situations.  

P
age 99



42 
 

13Greater clarification of the minor variation process with examples may be provided in the new policy to 
assist licensees and applicants   

18 Balance 
Consultatio
n 
Response 

Response: Balance welcomes the opportunity to respond to the County Durham Statement of Licensing 
Policy (SLP) consultation and our submission covers a variety of points.  We acknowledge that we have 
been asked to comment on the previous Statement of Licensing Policy and we feel that there are several 
points which should be considered for inclusion in the new document.  
Proposed Amendments and additions 
Para 2.13 – We feel that this paragraph should be revised, as the Government has previously set out a 
commitment to developing a new national alcohol strategy.  In addition, the Government is currently 
developing a ‘Prevention Green Paper’, which may include content around alcohol and supersede any 
plans to launch a dedicated alcohol strategy document.    
Balance was involved in an informal consultation event for the national alcohol strategy, with an indication 
that the document would potentially cover three key themes: 
• Preventing and reducing harmful drinking (preventing dependency, improving pathways into 
treatment, preventing re-offending);  
• Tackling vulnerability (Support individuals who are vulnerable to harm due to their own misuse of 
alcohol); 
• Professionalisation of the licensing regime (provision of good quality training, improving the statutory 
guidance, sharing good practice with local regimes). 
As noted above, we are not entirely sure whether the national alcohol strategy will be finalised and 
launched, or whether the Prevention Green Paper will set the direction of travel for the future.  However, it 
is worth acknowledging that the three themes above are potentially of importance from a national 
perspective and should be considered in redrafting the SLP.  
Para 2.15 – Balance sits on the County Durham Drug and Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy Group.  With 
this in mind, we believe that the paragraph should be replaced with the text below: 
Key objectives within the County Durham Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2015 – 2020 Plan on a Page 
are 
• Prevention and early intervention 
• Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery 
• Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk 
• Strengthening leadership, management and governance 
 

P
age 100



43 
 

We believe that point 6.11 should be amended as follows:  
Alcohol health awareness – A recent report, produced by Balance, entitled “Are we kidding ourselves?” 
showed that around 550,000 North East adults are drinking above the recommended low risk guidelines of 
14 units per week.  In addition, the report concluded that many higher risk drinkers were not aware of the 
health risks associated with alcohol, nor were they accessing the necessary information around units.  Key 
findings were as follows: 
• 89% of people in the North East drink alcohol compared to 78% across the UK. 
• Over one in four NE adults (26%) are drinking above the Chief Medical Officer’s low risk guidelines 
of 14 units a week compared to one in five (20%) across the UK – that’s around 550,000 people in our 
region exceeding the guidelines. 
• Nearly 9/10 North East adults drinking above 14 units a week consider themselves to be either “light 
or moderate” drinkers – that’s around 467,000 people. 
• Nearly one in 10 (8%) NE adults are drinking at over 28 units a week – more than twice the weekly 
low risk guidelines. That’s over 169,000 people putting themselves at greater danger of over 200 alcohol-
linked diseases and injuries. 
• Three out of four people drinking more than 28 units a week believe they are a light or moderate 
drinker – that’s an estimated 123,000 people in the North East. 
[Source: Balance report, “Are we kidding ourselves” – March 2019] 
Taking all of this into account, there is clearly an information deficit when it comes to the Chief Medical 
Officers’ low risk drinking guidelines of 14 units per week.  
Balance believes that responsible licensees can contribute to increasing the health intelligence of the 
population by promoting the Chief Medical Officer’s (CMO) low risk guidelines; and that this could be 
embedded within the SLP.  We would like to see the inclusion of example conditions within the SLP to 
encourage responsible licensees to make a positive contribution to improving alcohol health awareness 
and reducing potential alcohol health harms.  For example, such conditions could ask licensees to ensure 
that:  
• Chief Medical Officer (CMO) low risk guidelines are displayed on at least one prominent point within 
in the premises. (14 Units per week (for both men and women) taken over a number of days) 
• Unit information (and calorie data if available) is displayed on any drinks menu available.  
• Free (tap) water is available and the offer is visible to customers. 
General Comments – Price and Promotion  
 

P
age 101



44 
 

The context in which we consume alcohol has changed significantly over recent years, with massive shifts 
in levels of consumption, availability and pricing.  There are almost 8,000 premises licensed to sell alcohol 
in the North East - giving the region one of the highest outlet densities in the country.   At the same time, 
alcohol has become much more affordable, costing 64% less in real terms than in 1987 .  These shifts have 
contributed to a striking increase in alcohol-related harms across the North East, which suffers from some 
of the highest rates of alcohol-related hospital admissions, mortality and morbidity. 
In the North East and across England as a whole, we are increasingly choosing to drink at home.  This is 
explained, at least in part, by the availability of cheap alcohol via the off-trade; alcohol bought from the off-
trade now costs on average one third of the cost of alcohol bought from the on-trade :   
• Figures released by the British Beer and Pub Association (BBPA) show that of the 44m hectolitres 
(7.74bn pints) of beer sold during 2015 in the UK, 51% was sold by the off-trade, mostly through 
supermarkets . 
• The amount of alcohol sold by the on-trade has dropped by 40% between 2001 and 2008 – alcohol 
duty policies have helped the on trade more than the off-trade. 
• The number of UK off-licenses has increased by 25% in the past 30 years, fuelled by the expansion 
of supermarkets and convenience stores (Tesco Metros etc.)  
• Off-licenses are the predominant direct and indirect source of alcohol for under-18s, with growing 
international evidence linking off-license density with a range of negative alcohol-related consequences.   
All of this is hugely challenging and creates a new environment when it comes to licensing.  Balance 
believes that used creatively, the Statement of Licensing Policy is one of the key tools at our disposal to 
reduce alcohol harms within our communities.  Cheap, strong alcohol is a particular scourge and there is a 
clear correlation between cheap alcohol and harm.  As the price of alcohol increases, consumption and 
harms reduce and several localities have implemented voluntary minimum unit price (MUP) schemes, to 
positive effect.  For example, Newcastle City Council has a MUP condition in its SLP as follows: 
• There is strong evidence that setting a minimum unit price will have an impact on reducing alcohol 
consumption. The Licensing Authority would therefore like to encourage all licensed premises to apply a 
minimum unit price of 50p to all alcohol products sold under their premises licence. Where the premises are 
found to be selling alcohol below this price and there are problems associated with the premises that are 
negatively impacting on the licensing objectives, a responsible authority may bring review proceedings. 
Following the review, the Licensing Committee may decide to impose a condition in relation to the pricing of 
alcohol in order to uphold the licensing objectives. 

P
age 102



45 
 

We hope that County Durham will consider embedding a similar approach to pricing within the new 
Statement of Licensing Policy.  It would also be helpful to include a strong expectation around opening and 
closing times, ideally with the aim of preventing on-trade premises selling alcohol before 10am and closing 
after 2am and restricting trading hours within the off-trade.   
From an advertising perspective, there is overwhelming evidence that alcohol marketing profoundly 
influences children .  It encourages them to drink earlier and once they have started, it encourages them to 
consume more; and it is both the content and volume of advertising and marketing that causes the 
damage.  Similarly to pricing, we believe that the SLP can set out a bold approach to restrict the exposure 
of children and young people to alcohol marketing.  For example, we believe that the document should set 
out an expectation that alcohol should not be advertised within a 400m radius of schools, children’s homes, 
external to petrol stations, within licenced taxi cabs, or in other locations which are likely to be seen by high 
numbers of children and young people.  From a wider perspective, we would encourage the council to 
consider a ban on alcohol advertising on all council owned advertising spaces. 
The impact of alcohol  
Whilst we appreciate that public health is not a licensing objective, Balance believes that public health 
considerations must be placed at the heart of the Statement of Licensing Policy.  Alcohol is a leading cause 
of preventable morbidity and mortality, representing one of the most immediate challenges for County 
Durham. The harm caused by alcohol is immense and, when it comes to health harms, growing:   
• Public Health England data estimates that 1.7% of adults in County Durham are dependent drinkers, 
equating to around 7,000 people. This means that County Durham is ranked in the top 30% of Local 
Authorities with the highest percentage of dependent drinkers.   
• Among those aged 15 to 49 in England, alcohol is now the leading risk factor for ill-health, early 
mortality and disability and more working years of life are lost in England because of alcohol-related deaths 
than from the ten most prevalent cancers combined.   
• Alcohol is a risk factor in over 200 health related conditions, including liver disease, cardiovascular 
disease and at least seven types of cancer.   
• Harmful alcohol consumption costs the NHS an estimated £3.5bn a year.  The North East has the 
highest rate of alcohol related hospital admissions in England, totalling over 71,800 in 2017/18, with costs 
to the NHS estimated to be in excess of £200m.  
• The level of unmet treatment need for alcohol dependence has been increasing since 2013, with an 
estimated 4 in 5 alcohol dependent adults not accessing treatment.    P

age 103



46 
 

Alcohol is also a huge issue for children and young people and Public Health colleagues from County 
Durham council are closely involved in a package of work co-ordinated by Balance, around the promotion 
of an alcohol free childhood.  From a health perspective, the advice for children and young people is clear; 
an alcohol free childhood until the age of 18 is the healthiest and best option.  For young people who do 
drink alcohol, the implications could be life changing. For example: 
 
• Young brains continue to develop and change until the mid-twenties. Drinking alcohol before 
adulthood can change or delay the development of the logical, thoughtful part of the brain.   
• Alcohol can affect a child’s mental health and wellbeing. It is linked to stress, depression and self-
harming behaviour.  
• Children are smaller, which means alcohol’s effects work more quickly. Alcohol poisoning can result 
in young people being admitted to hospital or worse.  
• Alcohol can lead to other risky, impulsive behaviour. Young people, who drink regularly, are four 
times more likely to smoke and three times more likely to take other, illegal drugs. They are more likely to 
get hurt due to an accident or as a result of violence.  
• Children’s bodies are still developing through the teenage years. We know that drinking alcohol can 
affect their liver, bones, hormones and their growth.  
We believe that the council has a responsibility to embed a preventative approach throughout the SLP, 
both to contribute to the prevention of wider alcohol-related health harms (as outlined above) and also to 
protect children from harms associated with alcohol.  The latter is clearly one of the core functions of 
licensing and the SLP could outline a number of expectations which would promote an ‘alcohol free 
childhood’ and support innovative approaches, for example: 
• An expectation that licensees would display point of sale information highlighting CMO guidelines for 
children and young people and pregnant women; 
• An expectation that events aimed primarily at families would not be granted licenses for the sale of 
alcohol, or that alcohol sales would be confined to small areas of the event site;  
• An expectation that licensing applications would not be received for places frequented mainly by 
children and aimed at meeting their needs (e.g. soft play areas); and 
• An expectation that licensed premises would have ‘alcohol free’ spaces set aside for families.   
 
Conclusions 
 

P
age 104



47 
 

Taking all of the factors above into account, Balance believes that improving the public health of the 
population needs to be central to the development of the new Statement of Licensing Policy for County 
Durham.  Whilst we appreciate that the promotion of public health is not a mandated function of the 
document, alcohol causes a raft of health harms across Durham, which can only be addressed through 
concerted, partnership working.  At the same time, the protection of children from harm is a central 
objective of licensing and we believe that the SLP could be a crucial lever when it comes to promoting 
approaches in line with an ‘alcohol free childhood’.  We would urge partners in County Durham to be bold 
and innovative when it comes to redrafting the policy and consider including a range of expectations (such 
as voluntary limits on opening hours, pricing etc.), which would ensure that licensees across the county 
made a positive contribution to preventing alcohol harms. 
  
  CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people. 
  CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people. 
Newbury-Birch et al (2009) Impact of Alcohol Consumption on Young People. A Systematic Review of 
Published Reviews. 
  PHE (2018) Local Alcohol Profiles for England. 
  CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people. NHS 
Digital (2016). Smoking, drinking and drugs use among young people. 
  CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people. 
 
Comments: Although Health is not a licensing objective, the information and date provided in this response 
may be included in the policy documentation for information purposes. See appendix of draft revised policy  

19 City of 
Durham 
Parish 
Council 

Response: 1 Introduction 
The City of Durham Parish Council is pleased to be given this chance to comment on the current operation 
of the 2014 to 2019 Licensing Policy and to suggest amendments for the revised version. 
These comments are based on the Parish Council Licensing Committee's experience of working with 
Durham County Council's Licensing Policy since May 2018. As individuals, Committee members have 
varying degrees of experience over several years of making representations at licensing hearings. 
In considering how far and in what way the current Licensing Policy may require revision or updating the 
City of Durham Parish Council is very conscious of the significant changes taking place in its area due to  
• many new retail and leisure developments including several licensed premises    
• the rapid recent and ongoing expansion in student numbers from 13,250 in 2003 to 21, 500 in 2026 

P
age 105



48 
 

• the building of numerous large Purpose-Built Student Accommodation blocks, each housing several 
hundred young people, located in close proximity to, or in the midst of, well established residential areas 
thereby increasing the likelihood of more early hours disturbance.  
 
2 General statement 
 
 There is a widespread feeling that the current Licensing legislation is no longer fit for purpose in the 
constraints it imposes on local decision making but until change can be progressed at a national level the 
comments below reflect concerns expressed about licensing in the Parish area.  
• The City of Durham Parish Council recognises that whilst many of its younger residents are not 
'children' within the meaning of the Act, many are thousands of miles from home, maybe for the first time, 
living and working in social settings whose expectations they may not be familiar with and subject to 
unsought social and commercial influences. 
 
• The City of Durham Parish Council believes it has a duty to support the health and well being of all 
those it represents. This includes both long standing, permanent residents and those who are only in the 
city for 3 or 4 years.  
 
• The City of Durham Parish Council also has to balance the part played by licensed premises in the 
local economy (particularly the city's tourism goal of increasing the number of overnight stays) with the right 
to a comfortable and healthy life of those living and working in the city. 
 
• In view of the media attention being given to mental health issues the City of Durham Parish Council 
would like much greater involvement of Public Health in Licensing Policy. 
 
• Disappointment has been expressed about the absence of comment on particular alcohol license 
applications from Responsible Authorities and would ask if the new Statement of Policy will have anything 
to say about this part of the decision-making process. Further, with the rapid and massive expansion of the 
University across the County the City of Durham Parish Council requests that they are added to the list of 
Responsible Authorities  
 
3 Comments on the Statement of Licensing Policy 2014 -2019 

P
age 106



49 
 

1 In para 1.01 Introduction the City of Durham Parish Council believes the University of Durham has 
now grown so large - and is still growing - that it warrants a longer and more specific reference than ' a 
historic University'. Taken together the staff and students are virtually a separate community within the city 
and claims are made of its significant economic impact across the County. 
2 The City of Durham Parish Council is pleased that in para 2.5 the Licensing Authority recognises 
that 'residents need to live and work in a safe and healthy environment'. In light of the moves to more early 
hours closing it would like this to be followed by ' and to enjoy their right to a good night's sleep as 
enshrined in the UN's declaration of Human Rights.' 
It is noted that Public Health England's Guidance note - Alcohol Licensing: a guide for public health teams - 
states that 'PHTs make sure that licensing policy and applications consider the health and well being of 
local communities'.  
This is important because in the City of Durham Parish area there is now growing evidence from all sides 
that noise between midnight and 4 am is occurring so regularly that many peoples' health is suffering 
because of disturbed sleep.  
The City of Durham Parish Council believes that the current policy does not give enough weight to the need 
for the negative health impacts on local communities to be assessed by public health teams who have 
access to relevant data and this evidence should be taken into consideration when new premise license 
applications are considered. 
Additionally, it would be helpful if the final words of para 2.5 were plainer e.g. 'and to require licence holders 
to display sensitivity to the impact of their premises on local residents.' 
3 In para 2.7 the list of priorities and plans taken into account could usefully include Durham University 
Policy on Student Alcohol Awareness and Use. 
4 para 2.10 whilst many college bars may have been included individually, the list of bodies consulted 
in determining the statement of policy should include Durham University. Also, those management 
companies running Purpose Built Student Accommodation blocks which have bars. 
5 para 3.3 The City of Durham Parish Council recognises the need to avoid unnecessary duplication 
and feels that planning and licensing procedures would benefit from much closer alignment if not full 
integration. Any proposals brought forward to address this by the House Commons Select Committee on 
Licensing will be most welcome. 
6       para 6.1 sets out the 4 Licensing Objectives.  In the current climate of growing concern about mental 
health, especially among younger people, there is a feeling that the time has come for Legislation to be 
amended to introduce a 5th objective dealing with alcohol related health issues. The City of Durham Parish 

P
age 107



50 
 

Council urges Durham County Council to be at the forefront of any campaign to amend legislation 
accordingly. 
Meanwhile it is hoped the Licensing Authority can find a form of words in para 6.4 to emphasise their 
intention to increase partnership working with Public Health and other relevant organisations on community 
health matters, both when considering revisions to the Policy Statement and considering individual 
licensing applications. 
7 The City of Durham Parish Council is grateful for the policy on 'promoting excellent standards of 
management' in para 6.5 but hope more can be done on reducing the potential for public nuisance outside 
a premise by requiring 'effective design and management of external areas'.  
Also, consideration should be given to the introduction of a general requirement for no bottles, cans or bins 
to be moved between say 11pm and 7am again on grounds of preventing public nuisance. This is an 
increasing problem in the City's narrow streets with more cobbled yards and passageways being used for 
business waste storage. 
8 With patrons now leaving one or another premise until the early hours most nights there is a growing 
problem of noise disturbance across the city. We would like the dispersal policy to be strengthened by 
much earlier reduction of music volume, use of any available screens for announcements about respect for 
neighbours and other residents on the way home etc. It is hoped the revised Statement of Licensing Policy 
can find a way to support the growing campaign around the "Shh 11-7" message being promoted by local 
residents’ groups in conjunction with the University. 
9 The City of Durham Parish Council has expressed a very strong preference for a rolling back of the 
time licences may be granted from 4am to 2am. However, we recognise that the trade will argue margins, 
costs, viability, competition from other areas, preloading on cheap supermarket drinks, student bars etc. 
However, with public nuisance and disturbance continuing to escalate there is a growing risk a) to public 
health and b) to the tourism economy with stagnation in the number of visitors staying overnight.  
10 Anti social behaviour and nuisance are also dealt with in para 6.12. The City of Durham Parish 
Council strongly supports calls for the city centre Public Space Protection Order to be reinstated when it 
expires. In conjunction with the final bullet point a provision being introduced whereby a licence review 
automatically takes place each time a premise changes ownership would be welcome. 
11 The City of Durham Parish Council has no comments to make on Sections 7 and 8 of the current 
policy. In Section 9 para 9.6 it is reassuring to see that means of reducing the potential for a premise to be 
a source of public nuisance should take into account 'the needs of the local community.'   

P
age 108



51 
 

12 In Section 10 Protection of Children from Harm para 10.13 the adequacy of a policy expecting 'at 
least one member of staff for every 50 children present' for a licensed entertainment with no mention of any 
other accompanying adults is questionable as this leaves 49 individuals unsupervised or guided if one 
needs adult attention.  
13  The City of Durham Parish Council applauds the inclusion of Section 11 on Cumulative Impact. In 
view of the steadily increasing number of premises licensed to sell alcohol in the city centre the Licensing 
Authority is urged to proceed with all speed to consult widely and begin to collect the evidence needed for 
the introduction of a Cumulative Impact Policy for the city centre. We appreciate that the issue is complex 
and will require all partners to be fully engaged. 
14 The City of Durham Parish Council favour the introduction of a Late-Night Levy in the City Centre. 
However, we appreciate the implications for all other licensed premises throughout the County.  Should the 
parties named in para 11.17 decide to introduce a LNL the City of Durham Parish Council would support 
work by the Licensing Authority to bring forward proposals for its design and administration.  
15 The City of Durham Parish Council would like the Framework Hours to permit the sale of alcohol no 
later than 2am throughout the County for the reasons set out in para 12.7/12.8 and in conjunction with para 
12.9 - "concerns expressed by residents".   
 
4 Further Comments  
Since its inception in 2018 the City of Durham Parish Licensing Committee has become very aware of the 
hard work done by and the support offered by the Licensing Authorities Officers involved in managing the 
Licensing system.  
The following comments are made in case they can be added into revised Statement of Policy 2019-2024. 
a Applications should be available on line in the same way as planning applications to allow 
 easier public access. If they have to be redacted this should be the responsibility of the  applicant, 
saving Licensing officer time. 
b A register of all licensed premises operating between 12am and 6 am should be readily  available so 
that an informed decision can be made taking into account the number of  licensed premises within a given 
area. 
c Information about TENS should be more widely publicised so the public know how they are 
 operated and for local residents to know when there is likely to be additional late-night  noise. 
d The Glossary could usefully include definitions of student and minimum unit price  P

age 109



52 
 

e An applicant's previous history of running a licensed premise be made available if there was 
evidence of contraventions of the then prevailing licensing objectives. 
f There is an urgent need to review regulation covering alcohol sales at supermarkets and off licences
 which is fuelling preloading and consequent impacts on the operation of other licensed premises. 
5 Concluding statement 
In conclusion the City of Durham Parish Council thanks the County Council's Licensing Authority for 
considering these remarks in response to the consultation on the 2019 revision of the Statement of 
Licensing Policy. 
The overarching theme to the points made above is about delivering a safe and healthy environment for all 
residents in the City, balanced by the legitimate requirements of those involved in running licensed 
premises.  
To achieve this the City of Durham Parish Council  
• believes that, with the extraordinary expansion of Durham University's population and estate, the 
time has come for a differentiated approach to licensing policy - so far as is possible within current 
legislation - between the City of Durham and other towns and villages within the County and 
• hopes that all stakeholders can come together to make this work to everyone's benefit. 
 
Comments:  
1no comments 
2We can encourage the responsible authorities to respond to application etc. however we cannot require 
them or anyone else to respond 
3 1more information about the university could be included. 
3 2reference to declaration of human rights is not part of licensing policy but could be referenced 
No evidence provided to support assertions and licensees cannot be held responsible or accountable for 
noise away from licenced premises however noise from their premises and from patrons on and near are 
matters for consideration under licensing law and policy. Change of sentence proposed. 
3 3relevant university policies could be referenced 
3 4the university has responded to the consultation and the licensed premises are consulted but the list 
may be extended in future however, all premises licence and certificate holders were written to. 
3 5subject to any national legal changes, DCC licensing policies and procedures are and will remain 
distinct and separate from planning. This is fully in accordance with national legislation and current 
guidance. A licensing and development control protocol on the exchange of information already exists 

P
age 110



53 
 

however we will explore opportunities for closer working arrangements and where this is reasonable, 
practical and lawful. See also proposed appendix on planning and development control. 
3 6 opportunities to work closer with public health may be explored 
3 7 non-mandatory general and blanket conditions cannot be applied to premises licences however greater 
emphasis on the noise from premises and waste disposal activities may be included  
3 8 more examples of good practice at reducing noise from premises may be included. 
3 9 the licensing process allows applicants to apply for late licences and for responsible authorities and 
others to object should they consider the licensing objectives may be undermined or to promote the 
objectives.  Framework hours are open to discussion and amendment  
3 10 a PSPO is not part of the licensing policy. 
3.11 A provision being introduced whereby a licence review automatically takes place each time a premise 
changes ownership would be unlawful, and the council would be acting ultra vires if it attempted to 
introduce such a requirement. – reviews must be called for by Responsible authorities or others and cannot 
automatically occur as a matter of policy  
3 12 guidance on matters such as supervision are not set by Licensing but come from experts in the field of 
child protection 
3 13 section 11 sets out what a CIP is. To date there is insufficient evidence to support the need for a CIP 
however a CIA may be carried out and if evidence supporting the need for a CIP is found, a CIP could be 
developed. 
3 14 To date there has not been call for a LNL. However, an assessment may be carried out, possibly as 
part of a CIA and if evidence supporting the need for a LNL is found, a LNL could be developed. 
3 15 the proposal can be considered by Members  
  
4 further comments 
aCurrently all applications are put on the Council website and steps have been taken to add the operating 
schedules. 
Bsuch information may be available following the development of a licensing portal which does not exist 
presently 
c such information may be available following the development of a licensing portal which does not exist 
presently 
dglossary information can include a definition of MUP – which currently does not exist as a national 
requirement in England 

P
age 111



54 
 

esuch information is known to the responsible authorities but in most cases data protection and GDPR 
would exclude such personal information from the public domain 
fno comment 
 
 

20 Amanda 
Healy, 
Director of 
Public 
Health for 
County 
Durham 

Response: The Public Health response to the County Durham Statement of Licensing Policy consultation 
covers a number of points. It identifies the Public Health amendments to the current document to reflect 
updated polices, services and other information that has change since the publication of the previous 
Statement of Licensing Policy.  
It also provides additional Public Health content to be considered for inclusion in the new Statement of 
Licensing Policy. Lastly, we provide evidence of the impact of alcohol on County Durham to support the 
suggested inclusions. This information is all publicly accessible and can be included in the Statement of 
Licensing Policy at your discretion. 
Public Health is assured that responsible authorities in County Durham have robust structures in place to 
respond to their own licensing objectives, (crime and disorder / public safety / public nuisance / protection 
of children from harm), therefore, the Public Health response is focused purely on a population health 
perspective. 
Please note – these amendments and inclusions are based on the current format of the Statement of 
Licensing Policy.  If the format or layout of the new Statement of Licensing Policy is vastly different or 
requires a rewording of the content, then my team is available to you to develop and agree the final 
wording. In this instance please contact Sean Barry, Public Health Practitioner sean.barry@durham.gov.uk 
03000 265 434 
Amendments and additions 
Para 2.12 – Replace County Durham Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2009 – 1012 with County Durham 
Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2015 – 2020 
Para 2.13 – This paragraph needs revising as the government are currently developing a new national 
alcohol strategy.  
From the information we have the key themes for the new national alcohol strategy may cover are: 
• Preventing and reducing harmful drinking (preventing dependency, improving pathways into 
treatment, preventing re-offending);  
• Tackling vulnerability (Support individuals who are vulnerable to harm due to their own misuse of 
alcohol); 

P
age 112



55 
 

• Professionalisation of the licensing regime (provision of good quality training, improving the statutory 
guidance, sharing good practice with local regimes). 
Para 2.14 – The paragraph should be replaced with the text below. 
 
Local and national evidence continues to identify links between the consumption of alcohol and alcohol 
related crime and alcohol related health harm.  
Alcohol is a contributory factor of violent crime, domestic abuse, sexual violence, anti-social behaviour and 
has links to criminal and sexual exploitation.  The main health consequences of alcohol misuse are liver 
disease, cancers (liver, oral, oesophageal, gastric, colon, breast), hypertension, stroke, acute intoxication 
and injuries.  
Up-to-date statistical information for alcohol related harm can be found on Durham Insight 
https://www.durhaminsight.info Durham Insight a publicly accessible website storing a range of shared 
intelligence and population data for County Durham. It provides users with an easy way to access data and 
information for insights about their local area. 
 
In County Durham the numbers of increasing risk and high-risk drinkers are above the national average 
and this contributes to increasing pressure on our emergency services, our hospitals and support services 
such as the County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service. The Licensing Authority recognises the 
impact alcohol can have upon population-level health.  While the protection of public health is not a 
licensing objective we have seen closer working with Public Health colleagues. Coupled with the regulation 
of alcohol licensing and increasing standards of premises which are licensed to sell alcohol, the Local 
Authority Licensing Policy can continue to contribute and reduce alcohol related harm. 
 
Para 2.15 – The paragraph should be replaced with the text below. 
Key objectives within the County Durham Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2015 – 2020 Plan on a Page 
are: 
 
• Prevention and early intervention 
• Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery 
• Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk 
• Strengthening leadership, management and governance 
 

P
age 113



56 
 

Para 2.16 – In respect of health inequality the content of the last sentence of this paragraph can be 
updated with the text below. 
Licensing Services works almost exclusively with, through and for people. It is passionate about promoting 
a just society that gives everyone an equal chance to learn, work and live free from discrimination and 
prejudice. As a service within a Local Authority it is taking action to ensure all aspects of service delivery 
addresses equality and diversity issues. In addition this policy aims to contribute to addressing issues of 
health inequalities and poor outcomes for the people of County Durham. 
 
In addition, we know health inequalities due to alcohol harm in County Durham is significant. Levels of 
alcohol harm are greater in County Durham than the England average. For all six key indicators highlighted 
in the 2018 Local Alcohol Profile County Durham is statistically significantly higher than England. Four out 
of the six indicators are ranked in the worst 30% of all local authorities nationally.  
 
The Licensing Authority recognise this dis-proportionate impact of alcohol harm and will continue to 
promote and support responsible licensees and premises. We will encourage licensing objectives that 
reflect health considerations in this policy and which contribute to reducing health inequalities and poor 
outcomes for the people of County Durham. 
 
Para 3.2 – The content of the paragraph can be updated with the words ‘public health’ in the highlighted 
text below. 
 
Many of their strategies deal in part with the licensing function and the Licensing Authority will, wherever 
appropriate, participate in multi-disciplinary working groups to ensure proper integration of local crime 
prevention, public health, planning, transport, tourism and cultural strategies and also to obtain information 
on the effects of this Policy on local regulated entertainment. 
 
Para 6.10 – The content of the paragraph can be updated with the words ‘health promotion’ in the 
highlighted text below. 
The Licensing Authority will continue to focus on recognised means of public protection including 
education, health promotion, information, enforcement, treatment and prevention in local partnerships 
which have a proven track-record of tackling alcohol related harm and which may be achieved by working 
in partnership with the trade. 

P
age 114



57 
 

Insert new title after Para 6.10 – The new paragraph should be titled alcohol health awareness and contain 
the following text. 
6.11 Alcohol health awareness – Local research from BALANCE – the North East Alcohol Office – shows 
public awareness of the health harms caused by alcohol is generally low. Significant numbers of people in 
County Durham continue to drink at risky levels. There is clearly an information deficit when it comes to the 
Chief Medical Officers’ low risk drinking guidelines.  
Responsible licensees can contribute to increasing the health intelligence of the population by promoting 
the Chief Medical Officer (CMO) guidance. 
The Licensing Authority would see the following steps taken by responsible licensees as a positive 
contribution to improving alcohol health awareness and reducing potential alcohol health harm.  
• Chief Medical Officer (CMO) guidance on alcohol related health is displayed in at least one 
prominent point per floor, in the premises. (14 Units per week (for both men and women) taken over a 
number of days) 
• Unit information (and calorie data if available) is displayed on any drinks menu available.  
• Ensuring free (tap) water is available and the offer is visible to customers. 
 
Para 9.8 – Takeaways and fast-food outlets. A second paragraph to be added as follows  
Obesity levels are rising nationally and locally; without action the health of the population will continue to 
suffer.  Responsible licensees can support the ‘Working toward a healthy weight in County Durham’ goals 
and the Licensing Authority would see the following steps as a contribution to reducing health harms and 
health inequalities. 
• Menu to display calories per portion information for all food offers.  
• Menu to offer at least one clear and stated, 'healthy option' and to be priced competitively.  
• Menu to display recommended daily calorie limits for adults (For women the recommended limit is 
2,000 calories a day for men it’s 2,500).  
• Menu to offer smaller / half portions. 
• Salt and pepper available upon request rather than always on the table 
 
Para 10.4 – The content of the paragraph can be updated with an additional sentence in the highlighted 
text below. 
The Licensing Authority will work closely with the Police and the Council’s Trading Standards service to 
ensure the appropriate enforcement of the law, especially relating to the sale and supply of alcohol to 

P
age 115



58 
 

children. We know alcohol is harmful to the health of children and young people whose minds and bodies 
are still developing. Alcohol must not be served to persons under the age of 18, except in limited 
circumstances allowed by the law, and then only after verifying a person’s proof of age e.g. 16 and 17 year-
olds may drink beer, wine or cider with a table meal in relevant premises, where accompanied by an adult 
aged 18 years or over. The currently accepted verifications for proof of age are a passport, a photo card 
driving licence or a proof of age scheme such as Challenge 25. 
 
Page 48 - Primary Care Trust should be replaced with Public Health Team. Alcohol Harm Reduction Co-
ordinator should be replaced with Director of Public Health.  The address remains the same. 
 
General comments and observations 
Over the last ten years alcohol consumption has changed. We have seen a shift in people drinking alcohol 
in the home ; a decline pubs and clubs; an increase in the purchasing of alcohol from supermarkets and 
shops and an increased knowledge of the health harms associated with alcohol.   
As the Statement of Licensing Policy is about the effective control of alcohol within our communities we 
believe that the Licensing Authority advice in relation to a voluntary minimum unit price of 50p and the 
availability of high strength products (Para 6.7, 6.8) should move to a statement of intent to review in 
appropriate circumstances. An example is provided below, adapted from Newcastle City Council. 
There is strong evidence that setting a minimum unit price will have an impact on reducing alcohol 
consumption. The Licensing Authority would therefore like to encourage all licensed premises to apply a 
minimum unit price of 50p to all alcohol products sold under their premises licence. Where the premises are 
found to be selling alcohol below this price and there are problems associated with the premises that are 
negatively impacting on the licensing objectives, a responsible authority may bring review proceedings. 
Following the review, the Licensing Committee may decide to impose a condition in relation to the pricing of 
alcohol in order to uphold the licensing objectives. 
 
We know that alcohol advertising has significant impacts on young people starting to drink and those who 
do drink drinking more. We believe that there should be some restrictions in the licensing policy on where 
alcohol can be advertised for example not within a 400m radius of schools, external to petrol stations or 
within licenced taxi cabs. 
We believe potential applicants would benefit from a best practice completed application form as a guide 
and this should include specimen conditions and the reason for these conditions. We believe that giving 

P
age 116



59 
 

guidance to applicants about what the Responsible Authorities and the public expect in relation to the sale 
of alcohol (both on and off the premises) and late-night refreshments will improve both the standard of 
applications and the management of new premises.   
This has the possibility of saving time and money that Responsible Authorities spend on challenging and 
negotiating applications for premises licences. We would be happy to provide the Licensing Authority with 
the specimen conditions that we have already developed. 
 
The impact of alcohol on County Durham 
Whilst we appreciate that public health is not a licensing objective we believe that the Statement of 
Licensing Policy needs to be placed in context with the alcohol related harms that are apparent in County 
Durham.  This information is presented below and is publicly accessible and can be included in the 
Statement of Licensing Policy at your discretion. 
It is estimated that 1.7% of adults in County Durham are dependent drinkers; this equates to around 7,000 
people. This means County Durham is ranked in the top 30% of Local Authorities with the highest 
percentage of dependent drinkers.  
Alcohol has a significant impact on a range health conditions and alcohol is seen as a factor in more than 
60 medical conditions. The main health consequences of alcohol misuse are liver disease, cancers (liver, 
oral, oesophageal, gastric, colon, breast), hypertension, stroke, acute intoxication and injuries. 
Alcohol consumption – Alcohol-related harm is determined by the volume of alcohol consumed and the 
frequency of drinking occasion (PHE, 2018). Four years of the Health Survey for England have been 
combined to give robust Local Authority level data for adult consumption (Figure 1).  
Additionally, volume of alcohol sales through the off-trade (supermarkets, convenience store and off-
licenses) has been released as there is an association between these sales and alcohol-specific hospital 
admissions (figure 1).  
All indicators in figure 1 below are statistically significantly worse in County Durham than England. 
   
* = statistically significantly worse than England 
Figure 1: Consumption of Alcohol in County Durham 2011-14. Source: PHE 
 
Treatment – It is estimated that 1.7% of adults in County Durham are dependent drinkers; this equates to 
around 7,000 people.  
 

P
age 117



60 
 

Structured alcohol treatment in County Durham helps people recover from alcohol dependence. When 
engaged in treatment, people use alcohol and illegal drugs less, commit less crime, improve their health, 
and manage their lives better.  
 
Figure 2 provides a summary of the last three years activity for alcohol treatment in County Durham. 
 
 
 
Figure 2: Alcohol treatment in County Durham 2014/15 to 2016/17 
Source: PHE 
 
Local Health Profile – For all of the six key indicators highlighted in the 2018 Local Health Profile County 
Durham is statistically significantly higher than England. Four out of the six indicators are ranked in the 
worst 30% of all local authorities nationally. 
 
  
Figure 3: LAPE 2018 summary for County Durham, key indicator values and national ranking. Source: PHE 
 
 
Cost – In 2015/16 the overall cost of alcohol harm in County Durham was estimated to be £181.6m; this 
equated to £349 per head of population. Figure 4 below shows how this cost is distributed between 
different sectors and how this compares with the other 326 local authority areas. 
 
  
Figure 4: Cost of alcohol harm in County Durham, 2015/16. Source: Balance, 2018. 
 
Pre-birth, children and young people – The Chief Medical Officer advises against pregnant women or 
women trying to conceive, drinking alcohol. The guidelines state that no level of alcohol is safe to drink in 
pregnancy. 
 

P
age 118



61 
 

Similarly, the medical advice for children and young people is clear; an alcohol free childhood until the age 
of 18 is the healthiest and best option.  For young people who do drink alcohol, the implications could be 
life changing. For example: 
 
• Young brains continue to develop and change until the mid-twenties. Drinking alcohol before 
adulthood can change or delay the development of the logical, thoughtful part of the brain.   
 
• Alcohol can affect a child’s mental health and wellbeing. It is linked to stress, depression and self-
harming behaviour.  
 
• Children are smaller, which means alcohol’s effects work more quickly. Alcohol poisoning can result 
in young people being admitted to hospital or worse.  
 
• Alcohol can lead to other risky, impulsive behaviour. Young people who drink regularly are four times 
more likely to smoke and three times more likely to take other, illegal drugs. They are more likely to get hurt 
due to an accident or as a result of violence.  
 
• Children’s bodies are still developing through the teenage years. We know that drinking alcohol can 
affect their liver, bones, hormones and their growth.  
 
Alcohol health awareness – Significant numbers of people in the North East continue to drink at risky 
levels. More worryingly, many of us are drinking above those guidelines consider ourselves to be moderate 
drinkers and remain oblivious to the risks we are taking.  
There is clearly an information deficit within the public when it comes to the Chief Medical Officers’ low risk 
drinking guidelines and the consequences of exceeding them on a weekly basis as detailed in the recent 
‘Alcohol: Are we Kidding Ourselves?’ report from Balance. 
• Over one in four NE adults (26%) are drinking above the Chief Medical Officer’s low risk guidelines 
of 14 units a week compared to one in five (20%) across the UK – that’s around 550,000 people in our 
region exceeding the guidelines. 
• Nearly 9/10 North East adults drinking above 14 units a week consider themselves to be either “light 
or moderate” drinkers – that’s around 467,000 people. P

age 119



62 
 

• Nearly one in 10 (8%) NE adults are drinking at over 28 units a week – more than twice the weekly 
low risk guidelines. That’s over 169,000 people putting themselves at greater danger of over 200 alcohol-
linked diseases and injuries. 
• Three out of four people drinking more than 28 units a week believe they are a light or moderate 
drinker – that’s an estimated 123,000 people in the North East. 
Alcohol: Are we Kidding Ourselves? report from Balance (2019) 
We believe the suggested amendments and additional content proposed for the new Statement of 
Licensing Policy will complement the range of alcohol intervention provided within County Durham.  In 
addition, improving the public alcohol health awareness knowledge can contribute to population level 
behaviour change and reduce some of the significant health issues we face in relation to alcohol 
consumption. 
 
Yours sincerely 
   
 Amanda Healy 
Director of Public Health 
 
Comments: Although Health is not a licensing objective, the information and date provided in this response 
may be included in the policy documentation for information purposes. See appendix of draft revised policy 
 

21 Durham 
Safeguardi
ng Children 
Partnership 

Response: Currently, we assess applications around 4 themes related to this objective 
 
• Challenge 25 Prevention of under-age sales 
• Staff training 
• Maintaining a refusals register 
• Preventing proxy sales  
I’d propose a further 2 aspects be considered as part of the consultation exercise  
 
• A strengthening of guidance in relation to Under 18s attending licensed premises for events e.g. 
18th birthday parties (see guidance attached) 
• Secondly, perhaps more difficult to stipulate/enforce is to put greater responsibility on licensed 
premises to report in concerns within or immediately outside of their premises.  What I’d have in mind is: 

P
age 120



63 
 

Safeguarding is everybody’s responsibility. There is a responsibility on us all to report in concerns that we 
are made aware of. These might also be concerns that occur immediately outside of as well as within your 
premises. Report to Police intelligence – This can be ANYTHING from car details, locations, names, even 
‘rumour’ information Ring Police 101 or Crimestoppers 0800 555 111. Or, if you are concerned about a 
child call First Contact on 03000 26 79 79 
 
Comments: Changes to current policy and proposals included in draft revision.  
 

22 Shan 
Sandanaraj
ah 

Response: I refer to your letter dated 8th February 2019 with regards to Licensing Policy I would like to 
draw your attention. 
 
I do agree with the current policy on all four of your main objectives; Prevention of Crime, Public Safety, 
Prevention of public nuisance, Protection of children from harm. 
 
However, I recommend the council to facilitate retailers for taking part in age restricted sales courses and 
encourage the staff to take active responsibilities in the society. 
 
Responsible retailing is the core for protecting children from harm. 
 
Other councils already provide free courses for Licensed business communities. 
 
Kind Regards 
 
Shan 
 
Comments: The policy supports well trained retailers to know their responsibilities under the act in 
connection with the protection of children from harm. Trading Standards may provide responsible retail 
training and the policy may signpost enquirers to this section of the organisation. 
 

23 Durham 
City 

Response: 
1 P

age 121



64 
 

Chamber 
of Trade 

The Durham City Chamber of Trade was founded in 1913 as the then City of   Durham and District 
Chamber of Trade. The name change was introduced by constitutional amendment in 2003, otherwise the 
Chamber’s written constitution  
and objectives have remained the same.  The primary objective is: 
 
“For the association of traders, professional people, services and other interested people persons to 
consider and promote such lawful measures as may further the trading and commercial interests of the 
members of the Chamber and Durham City and its neighbourhood.” 
 
Application for Membership of the Chamber is open to all individual companies or firms interested in or 
engaged in business in Durham City. It is a “non-trading” entity in its own right, with neither profit objective 
nor any individual business aim.   
 
2    
This is the first occasion in the Chamber’s one hundred and six year history that 
 it has felt compelled to respond formally, to a review of the County Council’s licensing policy. The author is 
a partner in a business that has traded in Durham city centre since 1966.    
   
The Chamber fully supports the submission by the City of Durham Parish Council Licensing Committee in 
its Response to Durham County Council Licensing Policy Review. - Request for Comments; both in  “2 
General Statement” and “3 Comments on the Statement of Licensing Policy 2014 -2019”. 
However, the Chamber of Trade’s principal concern is with afternoon binge drinking. Currently this is 
inadequately monitored, often ineptly managed and mostly ineffectively policed; directly producing public 
nuisance, disorder and anti social behaviour that is drastically bringing about the rapid decline of the 
“daytime” city retail and tourist related city centre economy.  
 
3 
Although licensed premises obviously do produce city centre “footfall” and input substantial commercial 
activity, this should be controlled in some meaningful way. It should not be widespread and indiscriminate 
across Durham City centre as it currently is, and frequently at the expense of the reasonable enjoyment of 
the public realm by the “average, non-intoxicated” member of the public.  
 

P
age 122



65 
 

The yobbish, aggressive, rowdy, noisy and often intimidating behaviour of “afternoon binge drinkers in 
Durham”, is especially off-putting to vulnerable and younger people, parents / guardians and children, or 
visitors to the City who are unprepared for the “wild-west” environment often created by adult drinkers, 
(sometimes quite elderly); often intimidating the public or blocking roads and footpaths, particularly so on 
Saturday afternoons from circa 3.00pm onwards. 
 
The real world consequence of the drive to expand the euphemistically termed “evening economy” is to 
create an anti social environment, shunned both by local people and tourists in ever increasing numbers. 
Consequently this is having a demonstrably negative impact upon Durham city centre trade and 
employment; that is significantly attributable to anti social behaviour in public areas, resulting primarily from 
excessive alcohol consumption. This is particularly exacerbated by alcohol consumption immediately 
outside some poorly managed licensed premises. 
 
 
If invited by the appropriate committee, I should be happy to substantiate the above remarks regarding anti 
social behaviour and public nuisance, with photo and video evidence. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
Peter Jackson 
Acting Secretary 
 
Comments:  
1no comment necessary 
2the 2003 licensing act only came into operation in 2004 
See responses to Parish Council in relation to supported matters. 
3ithis is outside the scope of the Licensing Authority and Licensing policy. A CIA may provide relevant 
information to address these matters. 
3Any evidence of poorly managed premises and resulting problems should be reported to the 
police/licensing authority. A CIA may find any ‘evidence’ useful  
 
 

P
age 123



66 
 

24 British 
Beer & Pub 
Association 
Ground 
Floor 
Brewers' 
Hall 
Aldermanb
ury Square 
London 
EC2V 7HR 

Response: Introduction 
The British Beer & Pub Association is the UK’s leading organisation representing the brewing and pub 
sector. Our members account for 90% of the beer sold in the UK and own around 20,000 of Britain’s pubs. 
The pub plays a vital role in community cohesion and social life in Britain. They remain one of the few 
places where communities can come together to socialise. The British pub has been part of people's lives 
for hundreds of years. First and foremost, they are businesses which serve their local communities and 
contribute much to the social life of each and every community. The pub sector has enormous potential to 
generate economic growth and create jobs. It can also play an important part in local regeneration projects 
and has been at the heart of the regeneration of many of our key towns and cities over the last fifteen 
years. A major study undertaken by Oxford Economics in 2018 clearly identifies the significant local impact 
of brewing and pubs. Currently over £1.5 billion is invested in the pub sector per annum. Indeed, pubs are 
labour-intensive businesses so this investment directly correlates to jobs. Pubs employ 600,000 people 
across the UK, often providing vital work in small towns and villages. Indeed, 45% of those employed in the 
sector are aged 16-24 providing a vital route to work and first career-step for many young people. 
Across Britain, 30 million people visit Britain’s pubs each month, with over 15 million people drinking beer. 
BBPA’s Response to the consultation on the Statement of Licensing Policy (SoLP) for 2020-2025 
We note that: 
• the only document provided for consideration is the existing 2014-2019 Statement of Licensing Policy; 
• no changes are being proposed by the Council as part of this consultation. Instead, the “consultation” 
would appear to be more like a call for evidence, seeking suggestions and evidence from stakeholders for 
possible changes to the SoLP; 
• the intended implementation of the new SoLP from the end of October 2019, but that there are no plans to 
have a further consultation if the Council wishes to make any changes to the current SoLP for the 2020-
2025 version. We would strongly advise that if the Council decides to make any changes to the current 
version, these must be consulted upon before a decision is taken whether or not they are implemented; 
• there are no changes to opening hours guidelines; 
• Section 11.0 of the SoLP includes details of how a Cumulative Impact Policy might be established, and 
how a Late Night Levy might be introduced. We also note that there are no proposals to introduce either. 
We propose that no changes are made to the SoLP other than: 
• the references in paragraph 6.5, 7.5 and 10.4 to the suggested use of Challenge 25 should be changed to 
Challenge 21, which is the widely-used industry standard used by pubs; 
• to update any references to legislation that have been superseded or newly introduced. 

P
age 124



67 
 

 
Comments: Some relevant comments in relation to the use of the challenge 21 scheme which the 
respondent refers to as the industry standard. It is recommended that the policy continues to reference and 
promote the challenge 25 scheme which is supported by the local public and safeguarding of children’s 
board representatives and which offers a high standard of protection for young people who may be under 
the age of 18 and who could attempt to purchase alcohol. 
 
 

25 Durham 
Constabula
ry – Police 
Harm 
Reduction 
Unit 

Response: From: Caroline Dickenson  
Sent: 27 February 2019 11:11 
To: Rachel Stockdale <Rachel.Stockdale@durham.pnn.police.uk> 
Cc: Dean Haythornthwaite <dean.haythornthwaite@durham.pnn.police.uk> 
Subject: Statement of Licensing Policy comments 
 
Hi Rachel 
 
• First point and by far the most important I feel needs addressing at the very start of the policy is what 
happens if people don’t comply with the policy? What are if any the consequences?  - this is a recurring 
question throughout the policy.  The policy often refers to “good practice”… but what happens if people 
aren’t following this practice?  I think this needs to be clear. 
 
• Secondly, it would be useful if the Licensing Authority/Committee  chose to deviate from the policy in 
granting an application that contradicts it eg sits outside framework hours, then there should be some clear 
justification and rationale for this which can be read, for example on the notice of determination.  In the 
absence of this the policy is at risk of becoming meaningless 
 
 
• 7.7 Someone should always be present on premises or at an event during times when licensable 
activities are taking place who can discuss any problems or issues arising from the licensable activities 
offered on the premises with officers from Licensing Authority and Police. The Licensing Authority 
considers it to be good practice if the DPS or Premises Licence Holder is present in the licensed area of the 
premises:  

P
age 125



68 
 

• Between 22:00 hours and closing time, when the premises is one that regularly opens after midnight for 
both regulated entertainment and the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises.  
 
• At all times when the premises is a “vertical drinking establishment” where little or no seating is provided.  
 
• At times where there is a substantial increase in customers i.e. for televised major sporting events etc.  
 
 “Someone” is a little vague – the nature of being open for business means surely there’ll be “someone” 
present and this wording leaves “wriggle room”.  We have seen in other Authorities’ statements that they 
require specifically a “personal licence holder” to be on the premises (for example see 11.5 of the 
Darlington Policy).  We have been on several visits (far too many to count)with the licensing authority 
where the DPS/manager or anyone of any responsibility is absent and we are simply greeted by a “member 
of staff” who cannot answer any questions.  I’ve yet to see any reference by the licensing authority to this 
section of the policy in such circumstances or any action taken.  6.1.3 of the Newcastle City Council states 
that the DPS should be present in excess of 50% of a seven day week, these are clear.  It also prevents 
the same person being DPS at more than one place, it would be physically impossible to adhere to this 
requirement. 
 
• A minor point but in the existing policy there are two 12.10s and two 12.11s 
 
• 12.14 – The framework hours – we use this hours as the basis of our objections and have in the past 
found that licenses are granted beyond these hours.  Its our understanding that stepping outside of the 
policy should be the exception, if the policy is to include hours and remain a meaningful document then 
there should be some clear reasons why a decision has been taken to step outside of this. 
 
• Promoters – Newcastle City Council use the below wording around promoters, we would support 
and suggest that this could be replicated within the Durham Policy:  
 
Licence holders, DPSs and Personal Licence Holders remain responsible for activities taking place on 
premises when promotions take place. Action will be taken against Licence Holders and all other persons 
responsible for the management and operation of the premises in the event that it is required whether or 
not the event in question has been “promoted” and run by another person. In addition the Licensing 

P
age 126



69 
 

Authority will expect Premises Licence Holders to have in place written agreements to ensure that when 
hiring out venues to promoters, the responsibility for the management of the premises is clear. The 
promoter and its employees or agents, shall comply in all respects with all conditions, requirements and 
regulations of the local authority, Licensing Authority, police authority and fire authority. 
 
• Planning vs Licensing – We have discussed this many times in the past but we feel that it is possible 
for the policy to state that planning consent should be obtained and demonstrated prior to a licensing 
application.  Several authorities across the county already include this, see protocol A of the Newcastle City 
Council Statement of licensing policy. 
 
• Takeaway food premises – We would like the policy to address the sale of alcohol within takeaway 
food premises, proposed wording: 
 
“The Licensing Authority considers that it will normally be inappropriate to grant a premises licence 
permitting the sale of alcohol at premises which are principally used for selling hot food for consumption off 
the premises (“takeaway” premises).” 
Justification – Takeaway premises are often open late at night and can be associated with disorder as 
people under the influence of alcohol congregate there after leaving or even being ejected from late night 
licensed premises.  They operate within the night time economy but without the same framework around 
them, e.g. pubwatch, security staff etc.  In addition this alcohol being sold makes its way in to the public 
space, often for immediate consumption without the same controls as a licensed premises.   
 
• Repeat DPS/PLH applications – suggested wording:  Where a person has been refused at 
committee as a DPS or PLH or where they have withdrawn an application after objections have been 
received, they should not apply again to be either a DPS or PLH within a 12 month period. 
 
Comments: Some relevant points made and changes, additions can be made to the current policy to 
address these matters. The Policy sets out a general approach to making licensing decisions. Each 
application will be considered on its own 
individual merits. The discretion of the Licensing Authority in relation to applications is only engaged if 
relevant representations are made. The answer to the question of non-compliance with policy depends on 
whether the premises already has a licence, whether an application has been submitted and is under 

P
age 127



70 
 

consideration and most importantly, whether any of the licensing objectives are being undermined. – further 
information may be included.  
 
The law does not require the DPS or Premises Licence holder to be on the premises at all times, but the 
council may recommend this as good practice 
 
Although we may encourage increased attendance at the premises by the DPS and or Licence Holders, 
because the law does not require this, policy cannot either. There are significant reservations attached to 
using the wording taken from NCC policy – how could it be checked and enforced, many organisations e.g. 
off licence chains use area managers to be the DPS of more than one shop – this would render such DPS 
incapable of conforming with policy if adopted. 
 
The discretion of the Licensing Authority in relation to applications is only engaged if relevant 
representations are made. 
 
Controls are offered when hours later than framework are applied for – can be tested and assessed by RA 
and Committee with clear NOD 
 
If hours are granted outside framework hours reasons may be given 
 
Include information on promotors 
 
it is not possible for the policy to state that planning consent should be obtained and demonstrated prior to 
a licensing application. This would not be lawful.   
 
Newcastle’s policy has several protocols at the back of the policy, but which do not form part of the 
statement of policy – i.e. they are not policy matters but are separate protocols giving advice and 
recommendations. Newcastle in their protocol ‘considers’ that that in most cases all planning permissions, 
consents and certificates should be obtained before any licensing application is made. 
 
It would not be lawful to try to prevent someone applying for a licence under any of the circumstances 
suggested.  

P
age 128



71 
 

 

26 Hannah 
Shepherd 
Community 
Liaison 
Officer 
Durham 
University 

Response: In response to the County Council’s call for comments on its Licensing Policy Review 
(http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19878/Consultation-on-our-Statement-of-Licensing-Policy) we would like 
to offer the following. 
 
The University works closely with local residents through Durham University Residents Forum, the 
Community Engagement Task Force and various working groups and is aware there are community 
concerns that the current licensing policy does not address some of the unique challenges Durham City 
faces, particularly in relation to its night time economy and the impacts on students and residents of the 
intense concentration of licensed premises within the city (exclusive of college bars). 
 
We support the consideration of a differential approach to licensing within Durham City; including the 
provision and development of college café bars and the Students’ Union to further keep students on 
campus, therefore minimising negative impacts associated with Durham City’s high density areas and late 
night noise for local residents. 
 
Governance of University college cafes/bars is currently being reviewed. To improve and share best 
practice for supporting licensing objectives, support for student development and promotion of longer term 
healthy lifestyle choices the University welcomes Durham County Council’s and Durham Constabulary’s 
input into this review. 
 
We would hope to be alerted to and included in the development of any city-specific approaches through 
our membership to Durham City Safety Group. We also remain committed to maintaining our ongoing 
working relationship with local residents groups, through Durham University Residents Forum, to ensure 
that ongoing challenges linked to the use of, and travel to and from licensed premises, by students, are 
understood and considered in our own ongoing development. 
 
Please note that the University’s Deputy Head of Catering (Colleges), Bursarial Lead on Alcohol, and Head 
of Student Wellbeing and Community Engagement were involved in this response. We have also liased 
with Durham Students Union through their Welfare & Liberation Officer and Commercial Manager. I think I 
speak fairly when I say that we would all welcome feedback and engagement from Durham County 
Council, following the consultation closing today, on the ongoing development of the licensing policy. 

P
age 129



72 
 

 
Kind regards, 
 
Hannah Shepherd 
Community Liaison Officer 
 
Comments:  No changes or amendments to policy based on this representation. 
 

27 Durham 
Constabula
ry  

Response: From: Caroline Dickenson  
Sent: 07 May 2019 15:02 
To: Dean Haythornthwaite <dean.haythornthwaite@durham.pnn.police.uk> 
Subject: statement of licencing policy additional information 
 
Hi  Dean  
 
Please see below additional comments which I would like to be considered by DCC for the 2019-2024 
statement of licencing policy 
 
1. Petrol stations and service stations 
 
Applications have been received to licence petrol stations for the sale of alcohol could DCC consider 
adding guidance around this so any Applications relating to Petrol stations and service stations need to 
adhere to the following as “primary use” figures don’t tend to be provided by the applicant 
 
Under section 176 of the Licensing Act 2003, no premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary 
event notice has effect to authorise the sale by retail or supply of alcohol on or from excluded premises. 
“Excluded premises” means a motorway or trunk road service area or premises used primarily as a garage 
or which form part of premises which are primarily so used. 
 
The Licensing Authority will require information from the applicant regarding the primary use of the 
premises prior to the hearing. Trading figures can be used to determine the issue of primary use. 
 

P
age 130



73 
 

If a premises licence is granted, the premises licence holder must ensure that alcohol is not sold or 
supplied at any time when the premises are used primarily as a garage. 
 
2. Temporary Event Notices 
 
 
In relation to TEN’s other please see below which other licencing authorities have adopted within their 
policies especially the part in bold as it does seem the majority of TEN’s received are to extend the existing 
hours of operation and not bona fide community events  
 
The Licensing Act 2003 enables certain organised events for less than 500 people to take place following 
notification to the Licensing Authority, the Police and Environmental Health 
 
Although the statutory legal minimum time required for the notification of a temporary event to the Licensing 
Authority, Police and Environmental Health is 10 working days, or 5 working days for a late temporary 
event, it is essential that proper consideration of the proposed event is given. Statutory guidance allows the 
Licensing Authority to publicise its preferred timescale for notification. 
 
The Licensing Authority will encourage bona fide community events. Applications for TENS at existing 
licensed premises will not be encouraged where the proposal is simply to extend the existing hours of 
operation and applications made in cumulative impact areas will be subject to increased scrutiny. 
 
The Licensing Authority expects those who have given notice of a temporary event to have identified the 
issues having regard to their type of premises and/or activities, and to have in place written policies for 
addressing issues such as drunkenness, crime/disorder and drugs on their premises and for ensuring staff 
are trained on these policies. 
 
Where events qualify for a temporary Event Notice, applicants are encouraged to submit notifications at 
least 4 weeks but not more than 12 weeks before an event where an existing premises licence is in 
operation. For applications where there is not a current premises licence, for example community events, 
15 working days in advance of the event would be encouraged to allow for proper consideration of the 
event. 

P
age 131



74 
 

 
3. Publicly 
 
Durham Constabulary are involved in a number groups within have a vested interest in licencing i.e. parish 
council, university groups and they have voiced to the police they are not made aware of applications both 
new applications, variations and TEN’s.  Other licencing authorities have address this by including in their 
statement of licencing policies additional publicly measures around licencing applications. 
 
Durham Constabulary feel it is important to ensure that everyone likely to be interested in an application is 
aware of it, and would suggest additional measures are taken to notify councillors and neighbours.   
 
1. Councillors  
 
Send details by email to councillors representing the ward in which the premises are situated.  We notify 
them of all applications/new applications. Variations, minor variations, reviews, transfers, interim authority 
notices and temporary event notices. 
 
2. Neighbours 
 
Notify neighbouring residents and businesses who fall within a circle with a radius of 30 meters drawn from 
the point at the centre of the premises of any 
 
Applications for new premises licence 
 
Applications to vary that will result in an increase the hours during which the premises may operate or will 
result in the premises operating later 
 
Applications to vary a licence by including the sale or supply of alcohol 
 
Applications to vary a licence by adding music 
 
Notice will be given by letter 

P
age 132



75 
 

 
Thanks 
 
Caroline  
SGT 484 Dickenson 
 
Comments: 1guidance may be added to the policy or produced as a separate guidance document.  
 
2TENs – guidance may be provided in relation to submission periods for temporary events. However, the 
system of permitted temporary activities is intended as a light touch process, and as such, the carrying on 
of licensable activities does not have to be authorised by the licensing authority on an application. Instead, 
a person wishing to hold an event at which such activities are proposed to be carried on (the “premises 
user”) gives notice to the licensing authority of the event (a “temporary event notice” or “TEN”). The 
legislation and the guidance do not reference Bonafede community events and does not prevent existing 
licensed premises from using TENs. It is uncertain what encouraging Bonafede community events means 
and how such events could be defined. Similarly, the purpose or worth of a policy that does not encourage 
TENs at existing licensed premises is questionable. The reasonableness of expecting written policies to be 
in place that are not required by legislation is doubtful. The very premises that the police do not want to 
encourage to have TENs are more likely to have such written policies whereas the types of events they 
want to encourage are less likely to have or be capable of having written policies. 
 
3. Publicity – the matters raised in this section are associated with licensing processes that are specified in 
legislation and guidance which the Council adheres to. They are not matters of policy but are associated 
with process. Nevertheless, each licensing authority must also provide facilities for making the information 
contained in the entries in its register available for inspection by any person during office hours and without 
payment. We can also on request supply a person with a copy of the information contained in any entry in 
its register. In addition, to meeting these minimum statutory requirements, in accordance with published 
guidance, Durham County Council is currently exploring bringing TENs to the attention of local councillors 
and residents by making their register available online or by including relevant details of a TEN when it is 
received, along with notice of licence applications on the authority's website. Currently, such facilities have 
not been developed and are not yet available to us. 
 

P
age 133



76 
 

Currently all applications including variations are made available to County Councillors  
 
The advertising and publication of applications is specified in legislation and guidance.  
 
If the building is large, 30 meters from the centre point would be within the perimeter of the premises 
themselves. Some premises don’t have premises next to them. Some may only have other commercial and 
licensed premises next to them. Case law regarding writing to neighbours suggests this may not be a good 
idea as some neighbours might get missed and then complain or claim against the council. To identify 
every property around or near every applicant etc. would be difficult, time consuming and expensive in 
terms of the extra work and sending out communications by letter. The costs of licensing that are over and 
above that which the legislation expects would have to be met by the authority and could not be passed on 
to applicants as the fees under the Licensing act 2003 are set by Central Government.  
 
See link below for the Licensing Applications page on our website.  
 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-Act-2003-applications   
 
 
See Westminster City Council and the Albert Court Residents Association Court of appeal (Civil Division) 
13/04/2011 case no. C1/2010/0687 & C1/2010/1083 – Neither the Act nor the regulations impose any duty 
on a licensing authority to advertise such an application or to take any steps to notify anyone affected by it 
that it has been made. The sole duty to advertise and to give notice of the application is placed on the 
person making the application. 
 
Future developments in on-line licensing and IT improvements in connection with public registers will 
enhance the existing application etc. publication and notifications process. These are procedural, process 
related matters, rather than policy matters 
 

28 Single Use 
Plastic 
Task 
Group 

Response: Reference to SUP and seek to influence traders and street operators to seek alternatives to 
single use plastics. 
 

P
age 134

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-Act-2003-applications


77 
 

Comments: Revised draft statement will refer to SUP and put details of protocols and recommendations in 
appendix with links to website and other SUP related information 

 

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



RUNNING HEAD: REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revising the Durham County Council Licensing 

Policy: An Investigation into Good Practice 

associated with the Promotion of the Four 

Licensing Objectives 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 2 

Abstract 

Statements of licensing policies address economic needs of businesses whilst promoting the 

four licensing objectives: Prevention of Crime and Disorder, Public Safety, Prevention of Public 

Nuisance, and Protection of Children from Harm. Prior to revising the Durham County Council 

licensing policy, the level of guidance which the policy provides to applicants of licensed 

premises needs to be investigated. Comparisons were made between the Durham policy and 

six other UK licensing authority areas’ policies. Thematic analyses identified common themes 

within each objective addressed by the policies. It was concluded that good practice 

associated with the licensing objectives involves targeting all these themes, as well as 

considering the issues specific to each local authority area, as this influences the level of focus 

required on each objective. To communicate good practice, it is suggested that the revised 

policy should be structured according to these common themes, and appendices should guide 

applicants on how to ensure they are addressed. Queuing, club-hopping, underage sales and 

binge drinking were identified as central issues within Durham County, thus should be 

highlighted in the policy. These changes will better communicate to policy readers what good 

practice entails. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 138



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 3 

Table of contents 

TITLE PAGE ................................................................................................................. 1 

ABSTRACT .................................................................................................................. 2 

SUMMARY OF SUGGESTED REVISIONS ........................................................................ 4 

GLOSSARY .................................................................................................................. 6 

INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................... 7 

METHOD .................................................................................................................... 9 

RESULTS ................................................................................................................... 11 

LICENSING OBJECTIVE 1: THE PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER ........................................... 11 

LICENSING OBJECTIVE 2: PUBLIC SAFETY .................................................................................................. 13 

LICENSING OBJECTIVE 3: THE PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE .......................................................... 14 

LICENSING OBJECTIVE 4: THE PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM ................................................. 16 

DISCUSSION ............................................................................................................. 17 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................ 23 

REFERENCES ............................................................................................................. 25 

APPENDICES ............................................................................................................. 29 

APPENDIX A: THEMATIC ANALYSIS PROCESS ............................................................................. 29 

         LICENSING OBJECTIVE 1: THE PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER ............................................................... 29 

         LICENSING OBJECTIVE 2: PUBLIC SAFETY ...................................................................................................... 34 

         LICENSING OBJECTIVE 3: THE PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE ..................................................................... 38 

         LICENSING OBJECTIVE 4: THE PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM ............................................................. 43 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 139



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 4 

Summary of suggested revisions 

The following bullet points summarise suggestions to be considered by Durham County 

Council licensing authority when revising the statement of licensing policy for adoption in 

October 2019. It is proposed that by including these revisions, good practice will be more 

effectively communicated to prospective premise licence applicants. The points that are 

outlined will be discussed in more detail further on in the report. 

 

 The authority should address each of the four licensing objectives by breaking them down 

into smaller sub-objectives to ensure all aspects of each objective are addressed 

sufficiently. The policy should be structured in accordance with these sub-objectives. 

Suggested sub-objectives are as follows: 

1. The Prevention of Crime and Disorder: Illegal sales, Drunkenness, Conflict in and 

around the premises, Theft, Drugs, Weapons. 

2. Public safety: Fire, Drinks, Drugs, Over-occupancy, Lack of seating, Arrival and 

dispersal, Construction, Medical emergency. 

3. The Prevention of Public Nuisance: Noise, Waste, Smoking, Visual. 

4. The Protection of Children from Harm: Underage activity, Sexual exploitation, Age 

inappropriate cinema, Unaccompanied children. 

 

 The authority’s minimum expectations of what to include in an application should be 

stated in the main body of the text, and an appendices section should be added, offering 

further suggestions for what applicants should consider including in their application to 

ensure that the objectives are carried out. Examples of suggestions are outlined in the 

results section. 

 

 The policy should contain further details of schemes available in Durham which applicants 

can participate in to assist in carrying out the objectives. Active schemes include the Best 

Bar None scheme, ERASE exploitation, Safe City Watch Radio scheme, and the UK 

Drowning Prevention Strategy. 

 

Page 140



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 5 

 The policy should include a general section informing applicants that they must use their 

initiative to assess whether the premises’ location means that they will face any specific 

issues and whether this will influence the level of focus they may need to place on any of 

the objectives. 

 

 The authority should consider tighter expectations regarding how applicants plan on 

mitigating risks posed by central issues in Durham. These concerns include busy queues, 

club-hopping, binge drinking, and underage sales. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 6 

Glossary 

The first use of the words or phrases defined in the glossary within the body of the report are 

highlighted in boldface. 

 

Applicants – Individuals who are applying to the authority for a premises licence. 

 

Licensing authority – The group responsible for the licensing of alcohol, regulated 

entertainment and late night refreshment. 

 

Licensing authority area – The geographical area where a licensing authority practices its 

functions under the Licensing Act 2003. 

 

Local authority type - Authorities which share similar characteristics, such as size, have similar 

licensing statistics. There are six main local authority types: Unitary Authorities, Metropolitan 

Districts, District Authorities, Welsh Unitary Authorities, London Boroughs, and Unspecified 

(Inner Temple and Middle Temple within Greater London).  

 

Operating Schedule (OS) – A document written by the applicant outlining how the licensed 

premises is proposed to be run, including steps that will be taken to promote the four 

licensing objectives. The operating schedule is submitted to the licensing authority as part of 

a premises licence application, and is used in the decision process. 

 

Premises licences - A licence used for the sale or supply of alcohol, the provision of regulated 

entertainment or late-night refreshment or any combination of these activities. Retail sale of 

alcohol refers to consumption on the premises, off the premises, or both on and off the 

premises.  

 

 

 

 

Page 142



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 7 

Introduction 

Statements of licensing policy are written by licensing authorities, to be used as a 

framework when considering licence applications and provision of these premises licences in 

accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 (Salford City Council, 2019).  Policies involve the 

licensing and regulation of businesses where there is the sale of alcohol, provision of 

regulated entertainment and late-night refreshments (Ealing Council, 2019). 

In order to prevent adverse effects of activities associated with licensed premises, the 

Licensing Act 2003 states that a licensing authority must ensure that all premises are seeking 

to promote the following licensing objectives:  

1. The Prevention of Crime and Disorder; 

2. Public Safety; 

3. The Prevention of Public Nuisance; 

4. The Protection of Children from Harm.  

 

With this in mind, a statement of licensing policy has two main purposes. Firstly, it 

provides a decision-making framework for the licensing authority to use when responding to 

licence applications. Secondly, it advises businesses and the public on the authority’s position 

concerning the Licensing Act 2003, including details of how the licensing objectives should be 

carried out. It guides applicants in how to apply for a licence in accordance with the licensing 

authority’s expectations, and which factors must be considered when drawing up an 

application. Licensing policies aim to balance the legitimate needs of businesses and public 

demand for leisure and cultural activities alongside the need to mitigate against potential 

adverse effects. Failure to achieve the correct balance could lead to a policy being overly 

prescriptive and therefore reducing the freedom permitted to leisure activities. Alternatively, 

the policy could be open to challenge or otherwise unsuccessful in the protection of local 

residents through a failure to promote the licensing objectives effectively. When policies are 

under-prescriptive it can reduce the efficiency of the licensing application process as 

applications for premises can be rejected due to insufficient detail. It is within the interest of 

the applicant and the authority for the policy to be as clear as possible about what should be 

included in an applicants’ operating schedule, and in their application as a whole. Inclusions 

Page 143



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 8 

of suggestions and expectations within a licensing policy for the applicant to follow ensure an 

efficient licensing application process. 

Section 5 of The Licensing Act 2003 states that every “licensing authority [is required] 

to determine and publish a statement of its licensing policy at least once every five years” 

(Home Office, 2018).  The policy must be reviewed and the licensing authority may make 

appropriate revisions to it.  Durham County Council (DCC) adopted the current statement of 

licensing policy on 29th October 2014, thus it must be revised, adopted and published by 

Wednesday 30th October 2019. Part of the reviewing process involves comparing the current 

licensing policy to those written by other licensing authorities in the UK.  

As such, in order to achieve an adequate balance between demands for licensed 

premises and prevention of associated adverse effects, the current project aims to research 

recognised good practice associated with the promotion of the four licensing objectives to 

assist in the development of a revised statement of principles for adoption in October 2019. 

Research will involve reading licensing policy statements from other authorities across the 

United Kingdom, identifying differences in content and level of detail included compared to 

the DCC policy. This research will be used to decide what good practice involves, and what 

changes can be made in the revised statement by the Durham County licensing authority to 

ensure that good practice is communicated to applicants. Suggestions will encompass 

possible structural changes, including the level of detail, as well as highlighting issues 

applicable to Durham County, that should be considered in the revision. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 144



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 9 

Method 

The first stage of the project involved background reading (Chambers & Butterfield, 

2006; Home Office, 2018) to better understand licensing law and provide context to the 

statement of licensing policy. Following this, as the project involved comparing DCC’s policy 

with other licensing authorities, decisions had to be made as to which licensing authorities 

should be selected for this comparison. It was important to select authorities which faced 

similar issues to one another as this influences what needs to be considered within the 

licensing policy. Six notable characteristics were selected and licensing authorities which were 

similar to Durham County in each of these features were chosen. These characteristics were: 

local authority type, heritage, population size, student population, crime rate, and proximity. 

These features were selected as areas varying in these characteristics will have different 

issues to tackle which will effect what should be focused on in a licensing policy. A policy 

covering a licensing authority area with a large population size may have higher numbers of 

residents close to licensed premises, thus will need greater focus on the Prevention of Public 

Nuisance objective than would a licensing authority area with a smaller population size. 

Likewise, a policy for an area with a high crime rate would require greater focus on the 

Prevention of Crime and Disorder objective than a policy covering an area with a low crime 

rate. Moreover, student population size was considered to be an important characteristic to 

include because such a population will influence the nightlife climate in the city centre. 

Student culture is associated with binge drinking (Carpenter et al., 2008; Chambers & 

Butterfield, 2012), as such, licensing policies covering areas with a high student population 

need to focus more on ensuring premises know how they can attempt to best control and 

manage binge drinking in order to ensure that the four licensing objectives are carried out. 

Regarding which licensing policies were selected, Cheshire East was included as, like 

Durham, its local authority type is a unitary authority (Cheshire East Council, 2019; Durham 

City Council, 2019), where one tier of local Government provides all services (Gov.uk, 2019). 

These authorities are categorised together due to holding similar licensing statistics (LG 

Inform, 2019). For heritage, York and Durham are both part of “a collection of unique and 

fascinating historical cities across England” (Heritagecities.com, 2019). Moreover, they are 

both located in North East England, and have a cathedral in the city centre. As such, York was 

Page 145



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 10 

considered to match to Durham in heritage. Sheffield was selected as it has a similar 

population size to that of Durham County, where both populations are just over half a million, 

according to the 2011 national Census of Population (Durham Insight, 2019; Sheffield City 

Council, 2019). Oxford was selected as its student population size of 23,975 (University of 

Oxford, 2019) is comparable to the 18,031 students residing in Durham County in the term 

time (Durham University, 2019). Great Yarmouth was chosen as it had a similar crime rate 

(police recorded crimes per 1,000 population) to Durham County in the year ending 

September 2018, namely 97.84 relative to 96.4 in Durham (Police.UK, 2019). Finally, 

Newcastle was elected due to its close proximity to Durham, therefore they are assumed to 

have a similar night-time and drinking culture to one another.  

Firstly, internet research identified issues central to Durham County which should be 

addressed in the policy. Following this, for the remainder of the process, the four licensing 

objectives were targeted one at a time. To help in deciding what represents good practice, 

and thus provide suggestions for the licensing policy in order to achieve good practice, 

thematic analyses was conducted for each objective (see appendix A for details of the 

analyses processes). Firstly, after reading DCC’s Policy in order to become familiarised with 

the policy, the main points from each objective were summarised, hence making the 

information more accessible to allow easy further interpretation. This same process was 

repeated for all of the policies, summarising the main points from each objective. During this 

step, notes were also made regarding the difference in general structure and level of detail 

within the policies compared to the Durham policy. Following this, upon reading the 

condensed notes, initial codes were identified and sorted according to their overarching 

themes. The most common themes that emerged from the six policies for each objective were 

noted in tables, providing “sub-objectives” within the larger objective.  

The sub-objectives identified by the analyses guided how DCC’s policy could be 

structured. Using the identified themes, each policy was revisited and common suggestions 

for how to address each sub-objective which emerged across the city policies were noted 

down, providing further guidance for what could be included in the Durham policy.  

 Meeting with representatives from the local responsible authorities under the 

Licensing Act 2003, including fire and police departments and the council, provided the 

opportunity to discuss initial ideas of what good practice consists of, specific issues that 

Durham faces, and suggested improvements for the policy. 

Page 146



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 11 

Results 

Focusing on the structure and level of detail within licensing policies, the thematic analyses 

identified different sub-objectives to be addressed within the larger objectives. Common 

suggestions which emerged across the licensing authority policies for how to address each 

sub-objective are outlined.  

 

Licensing Objective 1: The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

Six sub-objectives were identified within the larger objective of Prevention of Crime and 

Disorder, as shown in table 1, and suggestions for how to prevent the specific crime/disorder 

are outlined.  

 

Table 1. The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

Crime/Disorder How to prevent the crime/disorder 

Illegal sales Implement a No ID – No Sale policy and use posters to advertise its use 

Keep staff training records 

Put up posters stating that it is a crime to do proxy sales 

Make a note each time somebody is refused to be served due to being 

underage 

Implement a plan to prevent counterfeit alcohol and tobacco sales 

Drunkenness Have procedures to deal with drunken customers 

Participate in local “Pubwatch” schemes  

Refuse to serve drunk people 

Ensure a Designated Premises Supervisor is on the premises whenever 

alcohol is sold 

Do not have irresponsible promotions 

Plan for caring for intoxicated customers 

Binge drinking reduction plan 

Plans to distribute free drinking water 

Measures to limit alcohol abuse caused by drinking games  especially 

suitable for a student population with a binge drinking culture 

Page 147



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 12 

Conflict in and 

around the 

premises 

Have procedures to deal with drunken anti-social behaviour 

Ensure to do ongoing risk assessments 

Implement a dispersal policy 

Club hopping minimising plan 

Capacity management policy eg head counts 

Have plans to minimise queues 

Layout and lighting designed to minimise opportunities for crime and 

disorder 

Drinking location restrictions 

Drinking display areas to be considered 

Theft Store alcohol away from doors 

Security tag products 

Ensure to have well-lit premises 

Use well managed cloakrooms 

Drugs Conduct searches in public and in view of CCTV  

Devise an effective drugs policy containing details of search procedure 

and storage procedure of confiscated drugs 

Weapons Use drinking vessels which cannot create sharp edges 

Ensure there are no loose items which can be used as weapons eg heavy 

ash trays  

Bottle bans  

Use toughened/safety glass to hold drinks 

Train staff on drugs, knives and weapons 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 13 

Licensing Objective 2: Public Safety 

Eight sub-objectives, in the form of different dangers, were identified within the larger 

objective of Public Safety, as shown in table 2, and suggestions for how to prevent the specific 

danger are outlined.  

 

Table 2. Public Safety 

Danger caused by… How to prevent the danger 

Fire Consider smoke free premises 

Consider the fire risk of special effects 

Have plans for a safe means of evacuation 

Outline electrical installations, training staff in fire safety and visible 

escape routes in the fire risk assessment  

Drinks Implement plans for reducing drink driving 

Have plans to distribute free drinking water 

Do not have irresponsible drink promotions eg women drink for free, 

discount nights for students, pay entry then drink for free until 10pm 

Drugs Train staff in drug awareness 

Use anti drink spiking products 

Report suspected and actual spiking to police 

Over-occupancy Ensure safe construction of premises 

Ensure that Operating Schedule states occupancy of individual floors 

Use measures to count the number of people 

Lack of seating Provide seating in vertical drinking establishments  

Arrival and dispersal  Provide taxi contact information 

Provide adequate lighting in car parks 

Ensure a well-managed door policy and dispersal policy 

Construction Consider safe construction of and within the premises 

Medical emergency Have a First Aid box available and a qualified First Aider 24/7 

Have an accident book to log accidents 

Have a written policy to deal with A&E 

Review the risk assessment every 12 months 

Page 149



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 14 

Licensing Objective 3: The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

Four sub-objectives, in the form of nuisance types, were identified within the larger objective 

of the Prevention of Public Nuisance, as shown in table 3, and suggestions for how to prevent 

the specific nuisance type are outlined.  

 

Table 3. The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

Nuisance type How to prevent the nuisance 

Noise Have sound insulation in place 

Consider car park arrangements and effects on residents 

Consider how much noise air conditioning systems create 

Use a sound limitation device 

Consider how much noise is created by taxis and routes to/from premises 

Carry out regular noise monitoring 

Train staff in reducing noise 

Have a dispersal policy in place  

Have plans of how to limit noise upon leaving premises 

Dispose of bottles during normal working hours 

Locate DJs/speakers away from doors/windows 

Reduce number of people loitering outside off-license shops  

Plan deliveries during normal working hours 

Use door supervisors to reduce noise 

Implement measures to minimise or divert queues away from residential 

areas 

Consider location of the premises - more planning needed if close to 

houses/hospitals/worship places 

Provide locals with the manager number on request and check in on them 

to make sure they are happy 

Waste Ensure to have steps for clearing litter outside takeaway premises 

Provide notices pointing to bins 

Consider other emissions, eg using ventilation systems to reduce odours 

Use ash trays or wall mounted bins to minimise litter 

Page 150



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 15 

Research the Environmental Protection Act 1990 

Devise measures to collect drinking vessels, crockery, cutlery and litter 

Smoking Implement a plan to reduce noise and litter eg using ash trays 

Consider whether there is a need for door supervisors to control 

customers in smoking areas and keep noise down 

Visual Consider the level of light pollution – need to balance causing nuisance 

and safety/preventing crime and disorder 

Ensure plans are in place regarding advertising  fly-posting is illegal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 16 

Licensing Objective 4: Protection of Children from Harm 

Four sub-objectives, in the form of dangers posed to children, were identified within the 

larger objective of the Protection of Children from Harm, as shown in table 4, and suggestions 

for how to protect children from each danger are outlined.  

 

Table 4. The Protection of Children from Harm 

Danger How to protect children against the danger 

Underage activity Comply with the Portman group code 

Use a Proof of age scheme and signpost its use 

Use and maintain a refusals register which can be made available for 

inspection. Records should include the refusal date and time, the 

product attempted to buy, and a physical description of the customer 

Use measures to avoid proxy sales  use CCTV, regular patrols, posters 

stating proxy sales are illegal, posters not obstructing shop windows (so 

that staff can notice proxy sales outside) 

Specify the age limit of gambling 

Locate gambling machines in view of staff 

Have measures to ensure no underage delivery of alcohol 

Follow a code of practice for children living at license premises 

Train staff and maintain training records to ensure that they are 

available upon request 

Sexual exploitation Implement a child sexual exploitation policy and report suspicious 

behaviour 

Have a safeguarder – need a member of staff in charge of welfare 

Train staff to recognise indicators of exploitation 

Age inappropriate 

cinema 

Specify film minimum age and display notices 

Check age at point of sale and prior to entry to screening room 

Unaccompanied 

children 

Ensure under 18 events are ticket-only to prevent children being alone 

on streets if maximum capacity is reached 

Implement procedures for lost and found children at large events 

 

Page 152



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 17 

Discussion 

In order to investigate what good practice associated with the licensing objectives 

involves, and to identify potential changes that could be made in Durham City Council’s 

revised statement of licensing policy, thematic analyses were conducted for each of the four 

licensing objectives. Analysing six city policies identified commonly mentioned themes, 

leading to the conclusion that good practice involves addressing every sub-objective within 

the four licensing objectives, as well as considering the specific issues of the area. These 

analyses assisted in the project aims of providing suggestions for possible structural changes, 

including changes to the level of detail, as well as highlighting issues applicable to County 

Durham that should be considered in the revision. These suggestions will be discussed in turn. 

 

Potential structural changes, including changes to the level of detail 

 The thematic analyses identified sub-objectives within each of the four larger, 

umbrella-term licensing objectives. For example, the Prevention of Crime and Disorder refers 

to a number of different types of crimes. Structuring the policy in regards to each of these 

factors would aid clarity as it would ensure that applicants are aware of the types of crimes 

and disorders which are relevant to their premises and how they can go about preventing 

them. Different types of crimes must be tackled differently, thus separating the objectives 

out into smaller elements would make it easier for all aspects of the objective to be 

approached. The right hand columns of the tables in the results section collate all of the 

suggestions made by the different policies in order to address the sub-objectives, therefore 

the authority should consider their inclusion in the revised statement. 

The project also sought to compare the level of detail in the current Durham policy as 

compared to other cities’ policies. When applications are submitted with little detail, it is likely 

to be due to the applicant being unaware of what is required, or not knowing how to present 

the information. The authority should assume that the applicant has little to no knowledge 

about licensing, thus the policy should educate and guide the applicant, providing clear 

suggestions of what should be considered in the application. Throughout the project it has 

become apparent that DCC’s current policy is less detailed than other cities’ policies that have 

been researched. The policy mainly focuses on the minimum expectations of what to include 

Page 153



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 18 

in an application, without providing much further guidance. Section 18.1 of the County 

Durham premises licence application asks applicants to list the steps they will take to promote 

each of the four licensing objectives (Durham County Council, 2019, p.31). There are no 

indicators as to the level of detail required, thus the licensing policy should specify this. 

However, as mentioned, when creating a licensing policy, or in fact any report, it is important 

to strike a balance between being concise enough to follow and allow flexibility, but detailed 

enough to answer all of the readers’ questions. The Newcastle policy has a similar level of 

detail to Durham’s policy in the main body of text, but also provides appendices containing a 

document named “Good Practice Guidance for Licensed Premises & Protocols”, providing 

clear suggestions of what should be considered by applicants in their operating schedule. The 

main policy outlines the licensing authority’s expectations and requirements, whilst the 

document within the appendices provides further details for consideration. A similar 

structure is found in the Great Yarmouth policy. Separating out the two ensures that the main 

policy is concise, whilst also providing the opportunity for further guidance in a separate 

document if required. The Durham policy provides an appendix containing “guidance for the 

protection of young people under 18 years of age who attend events at licensed premises” 

(Durham County Council, 2014, p.42), however it does not provide guidance to target other 

risks posed to children in the licensed premises, nor does it cover the other three licensing 

objectives. Therefore, the licensing policy should consider the addition of more appendices, 

giving suggestions regarding what should be included in the entirety of the operating 

schedule to ensure the four licensing objectives are addressed in sufficient detail. 

Furthermore, whilst the policy contains a section in the appendices outlining guidance for 

protecting children from harm in licensed premises, the authority could also consider adding 

a regulation already implemented by Oxford City Council whereby under-18 events must be 

ticket-only (Oxford City Council, 2016, p.16). This would avoid the risk posed by “pay-at-the-

door” events where children may be left alone on the street once venue capacity has been 

reached, thus further ensuring that the objective of protecting children from harm is met. 

Still considering the appropriate level of detail, licensed premises have the challenge 

of balancing the economic gain of a licensed premise and delivery of the four licensing 

objectives. Licensed premises are run for the purpose of profit, thus from business owners’ 

perspectives, this is most likely to be the primary concern over ensuring that the objectives 

are met. The policy therefore needs to provide an opportunity for businesses to understand 

Page 154



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 19 

why they should be concerned with the objectives, and provide motivation for ensuring that 

they are carried out. Durham County is involved in the Best Bar None scheme which is 

designed to provide motivation for licensed premises to deliver the Prevention of Crime and 

Disorder and Public Safety objectives, as those who perform well will be accredited and 

awarded. The scheme educates applicants about “how operating more responsibly can 

improve the profitability of an individual business and attractiveness of a general area” (Best 

Bar None, 2019). The Durham policy already briefly outlines that the Best Bar None scheme 

is encouraged, mentioning how it “enables premises to demonstrate good safe operating 

procedures” (Durham County Council, 2014, p.14), however it is suggested that more details 

are required as to what premises will gain from joining onto the scheme in terms of 

accreditation, in order to ensure they are motivated to take part in it. A link to the scheme’s 

website or an appendix section outlining what the scheme entails would allow applicants to 

develop a better understanding of how it works and how the business would benefit from 

being a part of it. 

As well as the Best Bar None scheme, similar to the Sheffield policy which outlines the 

“Crime Reduction Radio Schemes” (Sheffield City Council, 2016, p.14), the authority could 

also consider providing further details of other active schemes running across the county 

within the appendix guidance section. Active schemes within Durham include the “ERASE 

exploitation” scheme which provides information and help regarding child exploitation 

(eraseabuse.org, 2019), the “Safe City Watch Radio scheme” which improves communication 

between door security and university security and the “UK Drowning Prevention Strategy” 

(Durham County Council, 2019). Outlining these schemes would ensure that applicants are 

aware of their existence and their aims, and are thus more likely to be a part of them, aiding 

in the delivery of the four licensing objectives. 

Furthermore, again following the Sheffield policy, it would be useful to have a section 

of the policy referring to general steps that can be taken to promote all of the licensing 

objectives. The Sheffield policy outlines that the following should be considered: “layout of 

the local area”, “proximity to residential premises [and]…where children may congregate”, 

“any risk posed to the local area by the proposed licensable activities” and “any local 

initiatives” (such as crime reduction schemes) which may help to reduce potential risks 

(Sheffield City Council, 2016, p.13). This highlights to applicants that every specific location 

will have its own risks, and as such more weighting may have to be given to one objective 

Page 155



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 20 

over another depending on the premises location. For example, to ensure the Protection of 

Children from Harm, if a licensed premise is likely to have children coming near or onto the 

premises then the applicant’s operating schedule should include a list of potential 

considerations for the premises, such as the immediate vicinity and its impact on nearby 

schools or cinemas, or large scale events having procedures for lost and found children (Great 

Yarmouth Borough Council, 2015). Furthermore, in order to carry out the Public Safety 

objective, if a premises licence is located near a river, then the operating schedule should 

outline steps that will be taken to prevent river-related accidents. In summary, the policy 

should explicitly inform applicants to use their own initiative to consider the issues that their 

proposed premises may face, and adapt the level of detail required in their application for 

each licensing objective depending on these concerns. 

 

Issues applicable to County Durham that should be considered in the revision 

As well as issues specific to the precise location of the licensed premises, different 

local authority areas will have their own priorities. A further aim of the project was to highlight 

the specific issues which County Durham faces and so should be considered to be focused on 

more in the policy revision. The unique characteristics of an area will impact on the focus 

appropriate for each objective. One notable issue for Durham City, within the larger local 

authority area, regards queuing. A relatively recent tragic incident as a result of queuing 

outside of the nightclub “Missoula” has forced Durham into the spotlight (Halliday, 2018), 

with more pressure being placed on queue management to ensure that such a devastating 

event does not happen again, and the Public Safety objective is carried out. Furthermore, the 

Stockton campus of Durham University moving to Durham city has increased numbers of 

students wanting to enter licensed premises, thus greater focus still is needed to maintain the 

safety of club-goers. The authority could consider creating stricter expectations for applicants 

regarding queueing and occupancy plans in order to tackle this prominent issue. 

Another concern focusing on nightlife, raised in the Oxford City Council policy, is “club-

hopping”, whereby multiple nightclubs are visited in one night, noting that “crime, disorder 

and public nuisance in urban centres can be increased by persons moving between venues 

late at night” (Oxford City Council, 2016, p.13). The sunk cost effect explains how if an 

individual invests resources into an action then, to avoid being wasteful, they will likely 

continue this action after this investment is made even if they would prefer not to (Arkes & 

Page 156



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 21 

Blumer, 1985). Based on this theory, it is suggested that an individual is more likely to stay at 

a nightclub which they have paid entry for, even if they believe that another nightclub would 

be more enjoyable, in order to avoid wasting their investment. Whereas, if a club is free, there 

is no economic loss by leaving the club and “hopping” to the next one. Club-hopping is likely 

to occur in Durham County, especially within the city centre where at least two clubs, “Jimmy 

Allens” and “Fabio’s”, have free entry, thus creating more opportunity for both public 

nuisance, and crime and disorder to occur. Crime maps show that antisocial behaviour and 

violent offences frequently occur “on or near Saddler Street” (Police.uk, 2019), which is the 

street linking the two aforementioned nightclubs. Although there is no evidence of club-

hopping directly resulting in a higher number of offences, it can be assumed that it will at 

least increase opportunity for offences. The policy should consider including a statement 

asserting that applicants should include plans for how to mitigate the chances of club-hopping 

in order to ensure that public nuisance, and crime and disorder are adequately prevented. 

Suggested plans could be outlined within the proposed appendices. In line with the sunk cost 

effect, plans could include having an entry fee or having strict last entry times, meaning that 

if club-goers leave one club at a certain time, they will not be able to enter another one. 

As mentioned prior, binge drinking is a prominent issue within Durham; the policy 

already outlines that “in County Durham rates of binge drinking are significantly higher than 

the rest of England and the North East” (Durham County Council, 2016, p.5). However, it 

would be useful if the policy provided guidance regarding how to minimise the likelihood of 

binge drinking within licensed premises. For example, the Newcastle policy contains a list of 

examples of irresponsible drink promotions, such as “women drink for free” (Newcastle City 

Council, 2018, p.84). Reduction of binge drinking would aid in the promotion of all four 

licensing objectives. 

A further ongoing issue within Durham County is that of underage sales. One third of 

test purchases for underage sales of alcohol resulted in failure by retailers in 2016/17 reviews 

(Conner-Hill, 2019). The authority could consider including tighter expectations about the 

level of detail required from applicants regarding steps taken to avoid underage sales. 

Suggestions have been made in other city policies that could also be included in Durham’s 

policy. For example, the Newcastle policy suggests that the view outside of shop premises 

should not been obstructed by posters displayed in windows (Newcastle City Council, 2018, 

p.9), therefore making it easier to notice underage and proxy sales taking place. 

Page 157



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 22 

Taking the above together, good practice associated with the promotion of the 

licensing objectives involves addressing every thread of the four licensing objectives, as well 

as being cognisant of the issues that the licensing authority area faces. Carrying out thematic 

analyses led to the suggestion that the policy should be structured in accordance with the 

individual sub-objectives, outlined in the results section. The analyses also identified a 

number of steps that can be taken by premises in order to carry out each objective. The 

authority may wish to consider adding some of these steps into the policy to aid the applicant 

in ensuring that their premises operates smoothly, as well as a general section informing the 

applicant that they should use their initiative to identify issues specific to their location and 

devise plans to address these issues. It has also been suggested that the statement of licensing 

policy should outline the authority’s minimum expectations in the main policy body, but 

include appendices containing further guidance for the applicant about what they are 

encouraged to consider when writing the operating schedule. This guidance section should 

provide further detail about the Best Bar None scheme and information about other active 

schemes. The policy should also focus on the specific issues that are central to Durham 

County, such as queuing, club-hopping, binge drinking, and underage sales. Providing further 

guidance will educate the applicant about how to best operate their premises.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 23 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

The project has focused on good practice associated with the four licensing objectives. 

Conducting a thematic analysis provided a structured way of analysing information in order 

to recognise what constitutes good practice associated with the four licensing objectives. The 

thematic analysis identified common themes mentioned by policies in regards to each 

objective, aiding in the conclusion that good practice means targeting every aspect, or sub-

objective, within the four licensing objectives, as well as being sensitive to the specific issues 

of the area. Using this conclusion, suggestions for changes to be made in the revised policy 

have been explored in order to communicate good practice to the applicant. These 

suggestions include possible changes to structure and level of detail in order to ensure the 

four objectives are carried out, as well as highlighting to applicants that they must plan how 

to mitigate the effects of the specific issues that Durham faces.  

When revising the policy, it has been mentioned prior that the correct balance needs 

to be attained between ensuring that the licensing objectives are promoted, and the needs 

of the businesses and freedom permitted to leisure activities. The project’s aim was to focus 

more on how to promote the licensing objectives, providing suggestions as to how the 

promotion of these can be communicated to applicants. However, upon considering the 

suggestions, the authority must be sensitive to the business needs as well, and ensure a 

balance between an overly or insufficiently prescriptive policy. As such, the authority may not 

wish to include all of the suggestions that have been made, however they offer a starting 

point for discussion and consideration when revising the licensing policy. 

Furthermore, it must be noted that the report may be limited in the sense that much 

of the focus has been on Durham City, as opposed to the wider local authority area which the 

policy covers. This was due to personal anecdotal experience within the city providing a 

starting point for research of key issues in Durham, for example club-hopping. Whilst 

attempts have been made to ensure that the whole county has been researched, with sources 

showing that underage sales and binge drinking are a county-wide issue (Durham County 

Council, 2016, p.5; Conner-Hill, 2019), the focus has naturally been biased towards the city 

centre. However, statistics obtained from Durham County Council indicate that the density of 

licensed premises within the city centre is higher than that of neighbouring villages and 

Page 159



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 24 

towns. Therefore, a bias in the amount of focus placed on the city centre is not necessarily 

unjust. However, more research is required to assess to what extent club-hopping and poorly 

managed queues are an issue county wide, instead of just in Durham city. How much of an 

issue these factors are will then identify how much focus is needed regarding suggestions for 

minimising these issues by licensed premises when revising the licensing policy. 

In conclusion, the project postulates that good practice associated with the four 

licensing objectives consists of breaking each objective down into smaller sub-objectives 

which can be targeted, as well as considering specific issues facing the premises location. 

Thus, the report has suggested how to ensure the objectives are undertaken: by altering the 

policy structure in accordance with these sub-objectives; increasing the level of detail by 

adding further appendices containing details of active schemes within Durham and clear 

guidance for how to ensure objectives are carried out, to compliment the authority’s 

minimum expectations for an application as outlined in the main body of the licence; and 

increasing the level of focus on the central issues of busy queuing, club-hopping, binge 

drinking and underage sales. The authority should consider these suggestions when revising 

the policy for adoption in October 2019. This would help to ensure that the two main 

purposes of the statement of licensing policy are realised: to inform applicants about the 

licensing authority’s expectations, and to provide a decision-making framework for the 

licensing authority to use when responding to license applications.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 25 

References 

Arkes, H., & Blumer, C. (1985). The psychology of sunk cost. Organizational Behavior And 

Human Decision Processes, 35(1), 124-140. 
 

Carpenter, R., Fishlock, A., Mulroy, A., Oxley, B., Russell, K., & Salter, C. et al. (2008). After 

'Unit 1421': an exploratory study into female students' attitudes and behaviours 

towards binge drinking at Leeds University. Journal Of Public Health, 30(1), 8-13. 

 

Chambers, D., & Butterfield, R. (2006). Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing A Practical Guide. 

Kent: Shaws & Sons. 

 

Cheshire East Council (2014). Cheshire East Council Statement of Licensing Policy (Licensing 

Act 2003) Policy dated January 2014 to January 2019, 1-41. Retrieved from 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/PDF/Statement_of_Licensing_Policy_2014-

2019.pdf. 

 

Cheshire East Council (2019). Cheshire East – the area. Retrieved from 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/about_che

shire_east/about_cheshire_east.aspx 

 

City of York Council (2014). Statement of Licensing Policy 2014 Licensing Act 2003, 1-56. 

Retrieved from 

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=2ahU

KEwjlkb2mtu3hAhULURUIHWv-

D7cQFjAAegQIBRAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.york.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2Fdown

loads%2Fid%2F3102%2Flicensing_policy_2014_to_2019pdf.pdf&usg=AOvVaw1cdsS

BC2Gx53xi7bwzOcch. 

 

Page 161



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 26 

Conner-Hill, R. (2019). Dozens of shops fail underage sales test. Retrieved from 

https://www.thenorthernecho.co.uk/news/15343205.dozens-of-shops-fail-

underage-sales-test/ 

 

Durham County Council (2014). Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Licensing Policy 2014 – 

2019, 1-48.  Retrieved from http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/1050/Licensing-Act-

2003-Statement-of-Licensing-

Policy/pdf/StatementLicensingPolicy.pdf?m=636634554310370000. 

 

Durham City Council (2019). About Us. Retrieved from https://durham.gov.uk/aboutus 

 

Durham County Council (2019). Application for a premises licence from Durham County 

Council. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-licence/premises-

licence/county-durham/apply-1 

 

Durham County Council. (2019). Durham City Safety Group: actions and achievements. 

Retrieved from https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/6231/Durham-City-Safety-

Group-actions-and-achievements 

 

Durham Insight. (2019). InstantAtlas Durham – Population. Retrieved from 

https://www.durhaminsight.info/population/ 

 

Durham University (2019). Summary of Student Numbers. Retrieved from 

https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/student.registry/statistics/summary/1.1summary/

181-1.pdf 

 

Ealing Council (2019). Licensing Policies in Ealing – Statement of Licensing Policy. Retrieved 

from 

https://www.ealing.gov.uk/info/201017/licences_and_street_trading/1007/licensing

_policies_in_ealing/2 

 

 

Page 162

https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/student.registry/statistics/summary/1.1summary/181-1.pdf
https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/student.registry/statistics/summary/1.1summary/181-1.pdf


REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 27 

Eraseabuse.org (2019). Retrieved from http://www.eraseabuse.org/Pages/Home.aspx 

 

Great Yarmouth Borough Council (2015). Licensing Act 2003 Licensing Policy 2016 edition, 1-

35. Retrieved from https://www.great-

yarmouth.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=2661&p=0. 

 

Halliday, J. (2019). Durham student death: witness tells of 'shambles' of nightclub queue. 

Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/education/2018/feb/09/olivia-burt-

durham-student-death-nightclub-queue 

 

Heritagecities.com. (2019). About Us – England's Historic Cities. Retrieved from 

http://www.heritagecities.com/about-us/ 

 

Home Office (2018). Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, 1-

151. 

 

LG Inform (2019). Display and comparison groups. Retrieved from 

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/about-lg-inform/faq/display-and-comparison-groups 

 

Newcastle City Council (2018). Licensing Act 2003 Statement of Licensing Policy 2018 to 2023, 

1-171. Retrieved from 

https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/sites/default/files/wwwfileroot/business/trading-

standards/nccs_licensing_policy_-_16.01.18.pdf. 

 

Oxford City Council (2016). Statement of Licensing Policy Licensing Act 2003 February 2016 – 

February 2021, 1-82. Retrieved from 

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/1303/statement_of_licensing_

policy.pdf. 

 

Piacentini, M., & Banister, E. (2006). Getting hammered?...Students coping with 

alcohol. Journal Of Consumer Behaviour, 5(2), 145-156. 

 

Page 163



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 28 

Police.uk. (2019). Compare Durham City, Durham Constabulary - Police.uk. Retrieved from 

https://www.police.uk/durham/39/performance/compare-your-area/ 

 

Police.uk. (2019) Crime map. Retrieved from https://www.police.uk/durham/39/crime/2019-

01/ 

 

Salford City Council (2019). Statement of Licensing Policy. Retrieved from 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/licensing-and-permits/trading-and-

business/entertainment/alcohol-and-entertainment/statement-of-licensing-policy/ 

 

Sheffield City Council (2016). Sheffield City Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy Under the 

Licensing Act 2003, 1-48. Retrieved from 

https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/content/dam/sheffield/docs/business/licensingandtra

dingstandards/Licensing%20Act%202003%20-

%20Statement%20of%20Licensing%20Policy%202016.pdf. 

 

Sheffield City Council (2019). Sheffield’s Population. Retrieved from 

https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/home/your-city-council/population-in-sheffield.html 

 

University of Oxford (2019). Student numbers | University of Oxford. Retrieved from 

https://www.ox.ac.uk/about/facts-and-figures/student-numbers?wssl=1 

 

Wikipedia (2019). Durham, England. Retrieved from 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Durham,_England 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 164

https://www.police.uk/durham/39/performance/compare-your-area/


REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 29 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Thematic analysis process 

Thematic analyses were conducted to identify the main themes discussed within the policies. 

 

Licensing Objective 1: The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

1. Data familiarisation 

 Topic Details 

Cheshire East Operating Schedule 7.2 Risk assessment should be undertaken by 

application of the likelihood of crime and 

disorder occurring as a result of the 

applicant 

Layout, lighting and fittings 

7.3 

Have these been designed to minimise 

conflict and opportunities for crime and 

disorder 

Door supervision 7.3 TOGETHER with maintenance of 

incidence book 

7.4 SIA supervisors to control numbers or 

deny entry to those appearing drunk, 

disorderly or intent on crime 

CCTV 7.10 Licensing Authority may impose a 

condition of the license requiring CCTV 

installation 

ID scan equipment use  

Drinking vessel 7.4 Must not form a sharp edge when broken 

Drinking location 7.4 Restrict drinking in areas within and outside 

premises 

Safer Clubbing 7.6 Home Office Guidance recommended  

Cinema Exhibitions 7.11 No film shown which will lead to disorder or 

incite hatred towards any person 

Great 

Yarmouth 

Use of appendix for further 

details 

Makes it easier to read, not too much info in 

the main body of text but more details 

available to avoid ambiguity 

Section 17 C & D Act 5.1 Good as same as DCC – states responsibility 

of council 

Risk assessment Appendix 4 CCTV risk assessments  

Drugs storage Details of search procedure and storage 

procedure of confiscated drugs 

Page 165



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 30 

Door supervisors protocols Details of protocols in relation to drugs and 

violent proceedings 

Binge drinking Measures to limit alcohol abuse caused by 

drinking games  especially suitable for a 

student population whereby binge drinking 

is part of the culture 

Bottle bans DCC already covers shatterproof glass, but 

should also focus on bottle bans as these 

can be used as weapons 

Sheffield Radio schemes Have 3 radio schemes in place to aid instant 

communication between police and 

businesses to avoid crime 

ON-GOING risk assessments  

Door supervisors Good as similar to DCC says they need SIA 

training. However they also specify that 

untrained staff cannot be used 

Counterfeit alcohol and 

tobacco 

Contains section about trading standards 

which is very good 

Winding down time Customers can remain in the premises after 

last orders. Applicants should specify how 

they will wind down, eg slower music 

York CCTV Should cover queues outside. Should display 

time/date and be kept for 28 days 

States reasoning at all times Says the point then says reason, relating to 

key objectives 

Section on reducing 

irresponsible drinking 

 

Radio scheme Section on this in order to prevent crime 

Dispersal Premises must have a plan for making 

people leave at the end of the night 

Queuing plan Must have a plan for how to prevent queues 

building up as violence occurs here  

especially suitable for Durham where there 

are often very long queues 

Oxford = not 

separated 

into 4 

objectives 

Club hopping 5.4 Crime increased by club hopping therefore 

last admission one hour before last orders 

Late night refreshment Need a plan for how to reduce ASB 

Other potential weapons Premises should not provide loose items eg 

heavy ash trays which could be used as 

weapons 

Page 166



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 31 

Drinking water Premises should state how free drinking 

water will be given out 

Newcastle Drinking display areas Operating schedule should outline if 

additional displays will occur at Christmas, 

Easter etc 

Voluntary code of good 

practice for reducing binge 

drinking 

Gives examples of drink promotions eg girls 

drink free 

Uses very clear sections 

outlining what aspect of 

crime is trying to be reduced 

Makes it very clear for applicants 

Preventing underage sales No ID – No Sale  posters advertise 

Posters say it is a crime to do proxy sales 

Make a note each time somebody is refused 

to be served due to being underage 

Preventing drunkenness Not having irresponsible promotions 

Refusing to serve drunk people 

Street drinking Restrict access to alcohol 

Preventing conflict around 

and in the premises 

Dispersal policy 

Capacity management policy eg head 

counts 

Reduce queues 

Preventing theft Store alcohol away from doors 

Security tagging 

Well-lit premises 

Well managed cloakrooms 

Preventing drugs Searches in public in view of CCTV 

Effective drugs policy 

 

2. Initial coding of data 

 Risk assessment should be carried out 

 Layout and lighting to be considered 

 Door supervision 

 CCTV 

 ID scan equipment use  plans to prevent underage drinking 

 Drinking vessels to not create sharp edge 

 Drinking location restrictions 

 Safer clubbing HO guidance 

 Cinema exhibitions to not incite hatred 

 Drugs procedure 

Page 167



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 32 

 Binge drinking reduction plan 

 Radio schemes 

 Counterfeit alcohol and tobacco 

 Winding down time 

 Queuing plans 

 Club hopping minimising plan 

 Weapons  do not use heavy ash trays 

 Drinking water 

 Drinking display areas to be considered 

 Drunk people plan  do not serve 

 Preventing conflict in and around premises plan eg dispersal policy and queue 

management 

 Preventing theft plan eg well-lit areas 

 Preventing drugs plan  

 

 

3. Search for themes based on initial coding 

Illegal sales 

 ID scan equipment use  plans to prevent underage drinking 

 Counterfeit alcohol and tobacco 

 

Drunkenness 

 Drinking water 

 Drinking display areas to be considered 

 Drunk people plan  do not serve 

 Drinking location restrictions 

 Binge drinking reduction plan 

 Radio schemes 

 Winding down time 

Conflict in and around the premises 

 Preventing conflict around and in premises plan eg dispersal policy and queue 

management 

 Club hopping minimising plan 

 Queuing plans 

 Risk assessment should be carried out 

 Layout and lighting to be considered 

 Door supervision 

 CCTV 

 Safer clubbing Home Office guidance 

Page 168



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 33 

 

Theft 

 Preventing theft plan eg well-lit areas 

 

Drugs 

 Preventing drugs plan  

 Drugs procedure 

 

Weapons  

 Weapons  do not use heavy ash trays 

 Drinking vessels to not create sharp edge 

 

Cinema exhibitions to not incite hatred 

 

 

 

4. Review and labelling of themes  see pages 9-10: Table 1 

Themes that were selected were those that consistently emerged throughout the policies: 

Illegal sales 

Drunkenness 

Conflict in and around the premises 

Theft 

Drugs 

Weapons 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 169



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 34 

Licensing Objective 2: Public Safety 

1. Data familiarisation 

 Topic Details 

Cheshire East Voluntary activities Same level of health and safety protection 

should be used as if there was an actual 

employer 

Fire safety Consult fire department 

Great 

Yarmouth = 

provides brief 

in body of 

text, then 

guidelines in 

appendix for 

more detail 

Appendix 4 – general for all 

principles 

Specifies what the operating schedule 

should include  provides more detail 

about potential safety issues, all of what is 

in appendix should be included 

BUT should also include about position near 

river = definite safety issue  

Sheffield  Examples of public safety 

when leaving as well as in 

premises 

Providing taxi contact info and adequate 

lighting in car parks 

Examples of how to prevent 

drug use 

 

York = makes 

a statement, 

has a clear 

reason 

underneath 

liking to 

objective 

Section on occupancy Ensures public safety within premises and 

also in the case of evacuation  

Vertical drinking 

establishments 

Ensure there are still seats for people in 

large capacity premises 

Oxford = not 

separated 

into 4 

objectives 

Construction of premises 

also an issue 

2 types of safety – construction of and 

within the premises 

Provides resources to use Eg books etc 

OS must specify 

management structure 

When are staff in, depending on activities 

occurring within premises 

Occupancy Must state occupancy of each floor 

Free drinking water Must state how they will distribute free 

drinking water 

Smoke free premises Must state how they will comply with Health 

Act 2006 without compromising the 

objectives eg nuisance due to noise outside 

Newcastle States a minimum of what 

must be considered 

Eg special effects 

Page 170



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 35 

Capacities Specifies  how many people per m 

squared 

Safeguarding initiatives Eg First Aid 

Risk assessment to be 

reviewed every 12 months 

 

First Aid Have a First Aid box available 

Have a qualified First Aider 24/7 

Accident book to log accidents 

Avoid irresponsible drinking promotions 

Written policy to deal with A&E 

Occupancy Ensure not to exceed capacity 

Have measures to count number of people 

Decide max capacity by fire risk assessment 

and by dividing space by max capacity per 

square metre 

Provide book to use to assist 

Safe arrival and departure Adequate lighting 

Well managed door policy 

Dispersal policy 

Drink driving Publicise designated driver scheme 

Promoting safe transport schemes eg taxi 

ranks, safe waiting areas, night bus 

Fire safety Safe means of evacuation 

Fire risk assessment should consider: 

 Electrical installations 

 Staff trained in fire safety 

 Visible escape routes 

Drink spiking and drugs Staff trained in drug awareness 

Considering anti drink spiking products 

Reporting suspected and actual spiking to 

police 

 

 

2. Initial coding of data 

Voluntary activities 

Fire safety 

Drug use 

Drink spiking 

Safe arrival and departure  dispersal 

Occupancy 

Page 171



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 36 

Vertical drinking establishments  provide seating 

Construction of premises safety 

Resource available to use 

Management structure, staff rota 

Free drinking water 

Smoke free premises 

Special effects 

Risk assessment reviewed every 12 months 

First Aid 

Drink driving 

 

 

3. Search for themes based on initial coding 

Fire 

 Fire safety 

 Special effects 

 Smoke free premises 

 

Drinks 

 Drink spiking 

 Free drinking water 

 Drink driving 

 

Drugs 

 Drug use 

 

Over-occupancy 

 Occupancy 

 Management structure, staff rota 

 

Lack of seating 

 Vertical drinking establishments  provide seating 

 

Arrival and dispersal 

 Safe arrival and departure  dispersal 

 

 

Page 172



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 37 

Construction 

 Construction of premises safety 

Medical emergency 

 First Aid 

 Risk assessment reviewed every 12 months 

 

Voluntary activities 

 

Resources available to use 

 

 

 

4. Review and labelling of themes  see page 11: Table 2 

Themes that were selected were those that consistently emerged throughout the policies: 

Fire 

Drinks 

Drugs 

Over-occupancy 

Lack of seating 

Arrival and dispersal 

Construction 

Medical emergency 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 38 

Licensing Objective 3: The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

1. Data familiarisation 

 Topic Details 

Cheshire East Car parks Car parks  consider arrangement and 

effects on residents 

Environmental Protection 

Act 1990 

Need to consider this  

Operating Schedule 

suggestions 

Soundproofing, air conditioning, acoustic 

lobbies, sound limitation devices or 

locking doors at specified hours 

States what the licensing 

authority will consider 

Whether people standing or sitting 

outside are likely to cause obstruction or 

other nuisance  

Whether premises are under or near 

residential accommodation  

The hours of sale of alcohol in open 

containers or food for consumption 

outside the premises  

Measures to make sure that customers 

move away from outside premises when 

such sales cease  

Measures to collect drinking vessels and 

crockery, cutlery and litter  

 

The extent and location of areas proposed 

to be set aside for the consumption of 

food and alcoholic drink for smoking  

Whether there is a need for door 

supervisors to prevent or to control 

customers congregating in outdoor areas 

to smoke, consume food or drink 

(whether supplied by the premises or 

not), between certain hours or at all 

times.  

 

Page 174



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 39 

Other emissions Litter, smells, fumes, dust, tobacco or 

other smoke, or other emissions 

Queuing  Minimize where possible, or divert away 

from residential areas 

Taxis and routes to/from 

premises 

Consider if these are likely to disturb 

Waste  Consider if this would increase 

CCTV/door staff Are they necessary to prevent nuisance? 

Drugs  Measure to prevent sale 

Great Yarmouth 

= provides brief 

in body of text, 

then guidelines 

in appendix for 

more detail 

Antisocial behaviour  Should be considered 

Queuing  Steps to prevent / divert away from 

residents 

Parking arrangements  

Taxis  Will they disturb? 

Waste  Would this increase? 

Sheffield  Light pollution Told to balance not causing nuisance with 

prevention of crime  lighting reduces 

crime 

Smoking shelters Management plan so not too loud 

Advertising  Plans needed to ensure advertising is not 

annoying 

York = makes a 

statement, has a 

clear reason 

underneath 

liking to 

objective 

Hours of operation States particular plans for reducing 

nuisance should be between 11-7  

Carry out regular noise 

monitoring 

 

Train staff in reducing 

noise 

 

Provide locals with the 

manager number on 

request 

 

Oxford = not 

separated into 4 

objectives 

Fly-posting Considered to be a public nuisance 

Gives alternative for advertising: use 1 or 

7 poster boards 

States that OS should include details of 

how they plan to advertise events 

Newcastle Smoking Ash trays or wall mounted bins = minimise 

litter 

Page 175



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 40 

Specific location Extra consideration needed if near to 

houses or hospitals 

All premises should Liaise with locals to ensure everything is 

okay 

Provide locals with contact number 

Dispose of bottles during normal working 

hours 

On trade premises should Consider getting a noise report done 

Locate DJs/speakers away from doors and 

windows 

Off trade premises should Ensure people don’t hang about outside 

shop 

Plan deliveries in normal working hours 

Ventilation systems To reduce odours 

Ensure they are silent 

External lighting Turn off once premises is shut 

 

 

2. Initial coding of data 

Car parks  arrangements and effects on residents 

Environmental protection act 1990 – consider 

Soundproofing 

AC 

Sound limitation device 

Operating hours – between 1—7 need special pans for reducing nuisance 

Dispersal policy 

Measures to collect drinking vessels 

Door supervisors and CCTV 

Other emissions  ventilation systems to reduce odours 

Queuing – measure to minimize or divert away from residential areas 

Taxis and routes to/from premises – consider if they will disturb 

Waste – consider if it will increase 

Drugs – measure to prevent sale 

Antisocial behaviour – consider 

Light pollution – balance causing nuisance and safety/preventing crime and disorder 

Smoking shelters – management plan to reduce noise and litter – ash trays? 

Advertising/fly-posters  fly-posting is illegal. Need plan for how to advertise. 

Carry out regular noise monitoring 

Train staff in reducing noise 

Page 176



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 41 

Provide locals with the manager number on request and check in on them to make sure they 

are happy 

Consider location – more special plan needed if close to houses/hospitals/worship places 

Dispose of bottles during normal working hours 

Locate DJs/speakers away from doors/windows 

Off-license: ensure people do not loiter outside the shop 

Plan deliveries during normal working hours 

 

 

3. Search for themes based on initial coding 

Noise 

 AC 

 Car parks  arrangements and effects on residents 

 Soundproofing 

 Sound limitation device 

 Dispersal policy 

 Door supervisors and CCTV 

 Operating hours – between 1—7 need special pans for reducing nuisance 

 Queuing – measure to minimize or divert away from residential areas 

 Antisocial behaviour – consider 

 Taxis and routes to/from premises – consider if they will disturb 

 Carry out regular noise monitoring 

 Train staff in reducing noise 

 Provide locals with the manager number on request and check in on them to make 

sure they are happy 

 Consider location – more special plan needed if close to houses/hospitals/worship 

places 

 Dispose of bottles during normal working hours 

 Plan deliveries during normal working hours 

 Off-license: ensure people do not loiter outside the shop 

 Locate DJs/speakers away from doors/windows 

 

Smoking 

 Smoking shelters – management plan to reduce noise and litter – ash trays? 

 

Waste 

 Measures to collect drinking vessels 

 Other emissions  ventilation systems to reduce odours 

 Waste – consider if it will increase 

Page 177



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 42 

Visual 

 Light pollution – balance causing nuisance and safety/preventing crime and disorder 

 Advertising/fly-posters  fly-posting is illegal. Need plan for how to advertise. 

 

Environmental protection act 1990 – consider 

 

Drugs – measure to prevent sale 

 

 

 

 

4. Review and labelling of themes  see page 12-13: Table 3 

Themes that were selected were those that consistently emerged throughout the policies: 

Noise 

Smoking 

Waste 

Visual 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 178



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 43 

Licensing Objective 4: The Protection of Children from Harm 

1. Data familiarisation 

 Topic Details 

Cheshire East Defines Protection of children from harm includes 

protection from premature exposure to 

strong language and sexual expletives 

Serious concerns in specific 

places eg… 

Convictions for underage drinking 

Known association with drugs 

Strong element of gambling 

Sexual entertainment 

Matters considered by the 

authority… 

The likelihood of children being attracted to 

the premises eg entertainment 

Whether there is evidence of binge drinking  

Great 

Yarmouth = 

provides brief 

in body of 

text, then 

guidelines in 

appendix for 

more detail 

Serious concerns in specific 

places eg… 

Convictions for underage drinking 

Known association with drugs 

Strong element of gambling 

Sexual entertainment 

Whether unaccompanied children have 

been let in 

Whether alcohol selling is the primary 

purpose 

OS should state whether 

children are allowed 

If children not allowed then details are not 

necessary in OS 

BUT details are needed if they are allowed 

Consideration should be 

given to 

Staff training to avoid underage sales 

Procedures for lost and found children at 

large scale events 

Compliance with the Portman group code 

Sheffield = 

frequently 

provides 

links/phone 

numbers for 

more detail  

Risk assessment template A risk assessment template is available to 

download at 

www.safeguardingsheffieldchildren.org.uk  

Access for children to 

licensed premises 

A code of practice for children living at 

licensed premises is available to download 

at 

www.safeguardingsheffieldchildren.org.uk  

Proof of age scheme Must be signposted 

Refusals register A refusals register must be maintained and 

made available for inspection at reasonable 

request. Records should include the date 

and time of the refusal, the product the 

Page 179



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 44 

young person attempted to buy or the 

reason for refusal/ejection, a physical 

description of the customer and any other 

significant comments;  

Staff training Records must be maintained and made 

available upon request 

Delivery of alcohol Steps must be taken to prevent sale to 

underage 

‘Underage Sales Group’ Tackles underage sales and contains a 

specific framework of how persistent 

failures of test purchases are dealt with in 

Sheffield 

Responsible retailer scheme Educates staff about underage sales and 

getting into habit of asking for ID 

Child sexual exploitation 

policy needed, regarding 

Train staff to recognise indicators of 

exploitation 

Train staff to ask for ID 

CCTV and patrols 

Report suspicious activity 

Proxy sales Use CCTV and patrols  

Children’s Safeguarder Nominate a safeguarder = shows due 

diligence and is useful where premises have 

a high staff turnover 

York = makes 

a statement, 

has a clear 

reason 

underneath 

liking to 

objective 

Serious concerns in specific 

places eg… 

Convictions for underage drinking 

Known association with drugs 

Strong element of gambling 

Sexual entertainment 

Youths outside shops May ban children altogether if it is an area 

for children to gather outside  disorder 

Films age specification With respect to films with ‘U’ classification, 

which are suitable for audiences aged 4 

years and over, children under 4 may be 

admitted at the discretion of the 

accompanying parent/adult 

Oxford = not 

separated 

into 4 

objectives 

BBFC film classification Appendix specifies classification 

Proof of age documents Appendix specifies accepted docs 

Reputation  When making a decision, the authority can 

consider general rules as well as reputation 

Entertainment for children Need risk assessment for how to ensure safe 

access and egress of children  

Page 180



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 45 

Under 18 events Must be ticket-only. This is because there is 

a risk that when ‘pay-at-the-door’ events 

reach capacity, children will be left alone on 

the street. 

Child performances For licences that include performances by 

children, the Authority will normally expect 

a nominated adult to be responsible for 

such child performers. 

Film classification – films 

without a class 

Submit to the authority 28 days before and 

they will class  authority classification 

overrides any other 

Film – display of notices The Authority will expect applications to 

ensure that appropriate notices are 

displayed about restrictions on admission 

and that performances do not take place in 

areas other than where they can be 

restricted to a particular audience when 

necessary. 

Newcastle Proxy sales Steps must be taken to prevent  trained 

staff 

Delivery of alcohol  staff must be made 

aware that they need to check alcohol is not 

sold to those underage 

 

No ID – No Sale policy eg Challenge 21 

All premises part of False ID Scheme 

Till prompts to remind staff to ask for ID 

Posters put up stating proxy sales are illegal 

Refusals register for refuse customers 

Shops and supermarkets  windows not 

obstructed by posters 

Under 18 events Refer to a document for details 

Designated staff Designated welfare staff, trained first aiders 

and trained staff, to identify vulnerable 

person(s) 

Club Night Quality Mark Developed by Newcastle – must adhere to 

for unaccompanied under 18 events 

Immediate vicinity Considering the impact the operation of 

their premise may have on the immediate 

vicinity, particularly if there are schools, 

cinemas, family restaurants, bowling alleys 

Page 181



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 46 

or other facilities nearby likely to be 

frequented by children and young people. 

Films Check age at point of sale and prior to entry 

to screening room 

Gambling Age restrictions should be signed and in full 

view of staff 

Adult nature entertainment Posters of this nature should not be 

displayed in areas where children might see 

 

 

2. Initial coding of data 

Proof of age scheme – must be signposted 

Need a refusals register 

Delivery of alcohol 

Child sexual exploitation policy  report suspicious behaviour 

Proxy sales  use CCTV and patrols 

Safeguarder – need a member of staff in charge of welfare 

Films age specification and display notices 

Under 18 events = ticket-only to prevent children being alone on streets if max capacity is 

reached 

Gambling – age limit specified and gambling machines in view of staff 

 

 

3. Search for themes based on initial coding 

Underage activity 

 Gambling – age limit specified and gambling machines in view of staff 

 Need a refusals register 

 Proof of age scheme – must be signposted 

 Under 18 events = ticket-only to prevent children being alone on streets if max 

capacity is reached 

 Delivery of alcohol 

 Proxy sales  use CCTV and patrols 

 

Sexual exploitation 

 Child sexual exploitation policy  report suspicious behaviour 

 

Age inappropriate cinema 

 Films age specification and display notices 

Page 182



REVISING THE DCC LICENSING POLICY 47 

 

 

Unaccompanied children 

 Safeguarder – need a member of staff in charge of welfare 

 

 

4. Review and labelling of themes  see page 14: Table 4 

Themes that were selected were those that consistently emerged throughout the policies: 

Underage activity 

Sexual exploitation 

Age inappropriate cinema 

Unaccompanied children 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Licensing Act 2003  
 
 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
 

 

2019 to 2024 
 

  

Page 185



 

2 | P a g e  
 

(i) Forward   
 
This statement of licensing policy has two main purposes. Firstly, it provides a 
decision-making framework for the council to use when responding to licence 
applications. Secondly, it advises businesses and the public on the authority’s 
position concerning the Licensing Act 2003, including details of how the licensing 
objectives should be promoted in County Durham. 
 
This policy guides applicants on how to apply for a licence in accordance with the 
council’s expectations. Importantly, it will help applicants and others to identify 
important factors that should be considered when drawing up an application for 
licensed premises that with operate in County Durham, an area that is diverse 
and contains many different types of premises and localities. 
 
Statements of licensing policies promote the four licensing objectives: Prevention 
of Crime and Disorder, Public Safety, Prevention of Public Nuisance, and 
Protection of Children from Harm. Our licensing policy aims to balance the 
legitimate needs of businesses and public demand for leisure and cultural 
activities alongside the need to mitigate against potential adverse effects. 
 
Durham County Council considers that achieving good practice in connection with 
the licensing objectives involves focusing on these objectives whilst at the same 
time considering the issues specific to different areas of local authority and 
different types of licensed premises. In this way the policy aims to positively 
influence the level of focus required on each objective in each area. 
 
The council’s minimum expectations of what is expected from applicants and 
licence holders is stated within this policy. It offers suggestions, recommendations 
for what applicants should consider including in their application to ensure that the 
objectives are carried out and many examples of good practice are provided for 
consideration. The policy also contains details of schemes available in Durham 
which applicants can participate in to assist in carrying out the objectives.  
 
The council expects all applicants and licence holders to use their initiative to 
assess whether the licensable activities and premises’ location means that they 
will face any specific issues and whether this will influence the level of focus they 
may need to place on any of the objectives. 
 
This is five-year policy, scheduled for revision in 2024. However, in producing this 
Statement of Licensing Policy, the council is aware that Central Government may 
amend certain aspects of the Licensing Act 2003, associated regulations and 
other related legislation. We will keep this policy under review and should changes 
to this legislation take place, we may need to revise and amend this policy prior 
to 2024.  
 
This Licensing Policy is a key tool in ensuring the different circumstances and 
situations within our neighbourhoods and towns are thought through when 
considering licence applications, by all parties. To date the council has made 
attempts to establish appropriate measures consistent with achieving this goal 

Page 186



 

3 | P a g e  
 

without the need for any Special Policies in respect of any specific areas of the 
county.  
 
Important note: possible future changes to licensing policy. - During the 
consultation phase leading up to the revised statement of policy there were calls 
for a special policy from some respondents for a Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP) 
for Durham City. To find out whether a CIP is necessary the council will carry out 
a Cumulative Impact Assessment (CIA). As a result, this interim revised policy 
statement was reported to Council in time for adoption by the end of October 
however, alongside this process a CIA is being undertaken. It was not possible to 
complete the CIA in time to inform the revised policy by October 2019. 
 
If the result of the CIA is that a CIP is needed for Durham City, we will then modify 
this revised version of the policy and take it back to the Council to incorporate a 
CIP. 
 
The council makes it clear in this policy that cumulative impact, in the absence of 
a specific ‘special’ policy, can still be raised in relevant representations and could 
form the basis for legitimate questions by members of the licensing sub-
committee. i.e. the absence of a special policy does not prevent the issue of 
cumulative impact being properly raised, considered and acted upon in the 
interests of promoting the licensing objectives.  
 
Durham County Council aims to promote Durham County as a safe, healthy, 
crime-free environment in which responsible, law abiding licensees provide great 
facilities for the enjoyment of all County’s residents and visitors and where 
children are always protected from harm.  
 
Future revisions or amendments that we make to this policy will be advertised and 
published on the council’s website. Readers of the policy are advised to check on 
the council’s website to ensure they have the latest information. 
 

  

Version 
Date 

Version 
ref 

Revision 
History 

Reviser Approved 
by 

Review Date 

17.06.19 Draft 1.0 First draft CR CR  

    Legal/OC  

    SMT/CMT  

    GLRC LC 07.10.19 

    FC FC 23.10.19 

Page 187



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Licensing Act 2003 - Statement of Licensing Policy 

 

Section Contents Page 

(i) Forward and information on future policy changes 2 

(ii) Contents  3 - 6 

   

1.0 Introduction  7 - 8 

1.1 The legislation  7 

1.2 The council’s role 7 

1.3 Licensing objectives and aims 7 

1.4 The County of Durham 8 

   

2.0 How the council implements licensing policy 9 - 22 

2.1 The purpose of the licensing policy  9 

2.2 Adoption of the licensing policy 10 

2.3 Support for cultural diversity through licensing 10 

2.4 Licensable activities and necessary authorisations 10 

2.5 Integration of licensing with other legislation 10 

2.6 Integration of licensing policy with other strategies, 
policies and plans 

12 

2.7 Licensing and planning integration 13 

2.8 Avoidance of duplication 14 

2.9 Licensing policy development, adoption and review 16 

2.10 Departures from the policy 16 

2.11 Administration and the delegation of functions 17 

2.12 Members of the Council (DCC Councillors) 18 

2.13 The Decision-Making Process 18 

2.14 Making representations 19 

2.15 Conditions attached to authorisations 19 

2.16 Reviews 20 

2.17 Film classifications 21 

   

3.0 General principles, practices and licensing 
processes  

23 - 36 

3.1 The application process 23 

3.2 Advertising and publication of applications 23 

3.3 Consultation on applications 24 

3.4 Minor Variation Applications 24 

3.5 Granting licences - uncontested licence applications 25 

3.6 Consideration of contested applications 25 

3.7 Relevant representations 25 

3.8 Mediated applications 26 

3.9 Appeals  26 

3.10 Review of a premises licence or club premises certificate 26 

3.11 The designated premises supervisor DPS 28 

3.12 Transfer of premises licence 28 

3.13 Lapse of a licence 28 

3.14 Personal licence applications 28 

Page 188



 

5 | P a g e  
 

3.15 Temporary event notices 29 

3.16 Late temporary event notices 30 

3.17 Provisional statements 30 

3.18 Live Music and other de-regulated entertainment 31 

3.19 Reinstatement of conditions relating to live music at 
reviews 

33 

3.20 The need for licensed premises 33 

3.21 The cumulative impact of concentrations of licensed 
premises 

33 

3.22 Other mechanisms for control cumulative impact 34 

3.23 Late Night Levy 35 

3.24 Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs) 35 

3.25 Impacts within the vicinity of licensed premises 35 

   

4.0 How the council applies licensing policy 37 - 40 

4.1 Our aim 37 

4.2 Licensing conditions 37 

4.3 Proposed conditions 38 

4.4  Imposed conditions 39 

4.5 Mandatory conditions and compliance  40 

   

5.0 How the council promotes the licensing objectives  41 - 50 

5.1 Working in partnership 41 

5.2 Communication with residents and businesses 41 

5.3 Pubwatch and similar trade forums 42 

5.4 Best Bar None 42 

5.5 Locality considerations  43 

5.6 Areas with evidence of existing problems 44 

5.7 Proximity to residential areas, businesses and sensitive 
users 

44 

5.8 Licensing hours 45 

5.9 Takeaway premises and late-night refreshment 48 

5.10  Garages, service stations and petrol stations 48 

5.11 Adult and sex related entertainment activities 48 

5.12 Alcohol deliveries  49 

   

6.0  Standards of management and operating practice 50 - 57 

6.1 The Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) 50 

6.2 Self-assessment 51 

6.3 Proper management of licensed premises 51 

6.4 Promoters  51 

6.5 Irresponsible drinks promotions, sales and pricing 53 

6.6 Alcohol health awareness  53 

6.7 Design and layout of premises 54 

6.8 GDPR and the use of CCTV 54 

6.9 Arrival to departure 54 

   

7.0 Promoting the four licensing objectives  57 - 66 

Page 189



 

6 | P a g e  
 

7.1 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 57 

7.2 Public safety 69 

7.3 The prevention of public nuisance 60 

7.4 The protection of children from harm 62 

   

8.0 Licensing of large-scale public events 66 - 67 

8.1 The Safety advisory Group (SAG) 66 

8.2 Events on council land 66 

8.3 National Counter Terrorism Security Office guidance 67 

9.0 Community Premises 68 

10.0 Fees 69 

11.0 Enforcement and monitoring 70 

12.0  Complaints  72 

13.0 Appeals against the decisions of the Licensing 
Authority 

73 

14.0 Glossary  74 

 
Number 

 
Appendices 
 

 
83 - 113 

I Guidance for the Protection of Young People - 
Children and young people under 18 years of age 
who attend events at licensed premises 

 
83 

II Framework Hours (Recommended Framework of 
Terminal Hours for the Sale and Provision of 
Alcohol and Regulated Entertainment) - for different 
types of premises in different locations within the 
County 

 
89 

III Contact Details for DCC Licensing Services and 
Responsible Authorities for County Durham under 
the Licensing Act 2003 

 
90 

IV Important Information for Residents and Other 
Persons – How residents and businesses can have 
their say in respect of licence applications and the 
operation of licensed premises in their area 

 
92 

V Delegation of functions 95 

VI Suggestions, Recommendations and Examples - 
What may be included in applications and operating 
schedules to ensure that the licensing objectives 
are promoted 

 
96 

VII Application Processes 101 

VIII Planning and Development Control Matters 105 

IX Public Health Information 108 

X Links to Other Important and Relevant Strategies 
and Policies - these may be of help/interest and 
contain further details of schemes available in 
Durham which applicants and licensees can 
participate in to assist in carrying out the objectives 

 
113 

 

Page 190



 

7 | P a g e  
 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL - STATEMENT OF LICENSING 
POLICY 

 

 

1.0     Introduction  
  
1.1 The legislation - The Licensing Act 2003 referred to in this policy as the 

2003 Act, its explanatory notes and any statutory instruments made under 
it may be viewed online at www.legislation.gov.uk.  The statutory 
instruments include regulations setting out the content and format of 
application forms and notices. The Home Office has responsibility for the 
2003 Act. The Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) is 
responsible for regulated entertainment, for which there is provision in 
Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act.  
 

 The Act created a system of licensing and regulation for several licensable 
activities in this country. The Act gives local authorities responsibilities for 
licensing premises for the sale and provision of alcohol, regulated forms of 
entertainment and late-night refreshment. 
 

1.2 The council’s role - Our most important role is to actively work to protect 
those who live and work in the County and who visit our area. As part of 
this role, the council licenses certain types of business and commercial 
premises where activities take place that may impact on both individuals 
and the community. The licensing of alcohol, entertainment and late-night 
refreshment under the Licensing Act 2003 (the Act) fall within this role. 

 
 By working together, Durham County Council aims to build a county where 

people are proud to live and work. We have produced this policy statement, 
as required by the Act, having had regard to the statutory guidance, the 
licensing objectives and to the views of those that we have consulted. This 
is a living document and will undoubtedly evolve, change and be subject to 
future revision. 

 
 We intend that this document should provide information and guidance on 

the general approach that we will take to licensing premises and activities 
under the Act in the county. It is intended that this Statement of policy not 
only reflects but aims to support our strategic purposes as set out in the 
Council Plan. 

 
1.3 Licensing objectives and aims - The legislation provides a clear focus 

on the promotion of four statutory objectives which must be addressed 
when licensing functions are undertaken. The licensing objectives are: 
 

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 
 Public safety; 
 The prevention of public nuisance; and 
 The protection of children from harm 

 
Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory 
licensing objectives, so that the promotion of the four objectives is always 
a paramount consideration. 

Page 191

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 

8 | P a g e  
 

However, the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and 
purposes. These are vitally important and should be principal aims for 
everyone involved in licensing work. They include: 
 

 protecting the public and residents from crime, anti-social behaviour 
and noise nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed premises; 

 giving the police and licensing authorities the powers needed to 
effectively manage and police the night-time economy and act 
against those premises that are causing problems; 

 recognising the important role which licensed premises play in our 
local communities by supporting responsible premises; 

 providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the 
needs of local communities  

 encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions 
and giving residents the opportunity to have their say regarding 
licensing decisions that may affect them. 

 
1.4 The County of Durham – the county is in the heart of the North East of 

England. From its western boundary high in the Pennine Hills, to the 
limestone cliffs of its North Sea coastline, County Durham features a rich 
diversity in lifestyle and culture including a historic University, a World 
Heritage Site, Beamish and Bowes Museums, Durham City, Lumley and 
Lambton Castles, designated areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and 
historic villages and market towns. Approximately 4 million visitors are 
attracted to the County each year. 

 
County Durham has 519,700 people, with 60.8% (312,658 people) 
classed as living in rural areas. It varies in character with sparsely 
populated rural areas in the Uplands and Durham Dales, to the larger 
villages located within the former coalfield communities in the centre and 
east. The ethnic minority population of the area accounts for 1.4% of the 
total population (2011 census). Durham University has 16,355 students 
and the area attracts over 4 million visitors per year. For further health 
and deprivation, crime and community safety information about the local 
area visit: https://www.durhaminsight.info/  
 
The City of Durham is a university city. Durham City is the main location of 
the university and contains all the colleges along with most of the academic 
departments. The Durham City estate is spread across several different 
sites. The university and the student’s population of Durham are rooted 
within the local communities. The university makes a positive contribution 
to Durham City, economically, culturally, socially and through their world-
leading research. Their stated aim is to do this in a way that benefits 
everyone in our great city and region. Durham City is home to about 60,000 
people, and the university campus to about 18,000. This number is 
predicted to rise by 4000 by 2027. 

 
 
 
 

Page 192

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


 

9 | P a g e  
 

2.0     How the council implements licensing policy 
 

This statement has been prepared pursuant to Section 5 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 (the Act) by Durham County Council in its capacity 
as the Licensing Authority. The Licensing Authority is referred to as ‘the 
council’ throughout this policy. 

 
2.1 The purpose of the licensing policy is to promote the four licensing 

objectives and to set out the general approach that will be adopted by 
the council when exercising licensing functions under the Licensing Act 
2003 to: 

 
 Reinforce and to remind elected members of the Council’s Licensing 

Committee, and any Sub-Committee, of the boundaries and powers of 
the local authority and to provide them with parameters within which they 
should make their decisions. The Committee for example will be able to 
test an application or an existing licence against information and criteria 
set out in the policy and deal with it appropriately. 
 

 Inform applicants of the Licensing Authority’s expectations and the 
parameters within which the Authority will make decisions and therefore, 
how their premises are likely to be able to operate. If any relevant 
matters included in this policy are not addressed by applicants, it is more 
likely that the council will receive representations. This may then lead to 
a hearing where consideration of these matters by councilors would take 
place. 

 
 The council expects applicants and licencees to properly assess whether 

their premises’ location and any licensable activities are likely to create 
any problems, dangers, difficulties and disturbances to any people at or 
near their premises. In this way, applicants should properly understand 
and appreciate the degree of focus needed to uphold and promote the 
licensing objectives. This assessment should identify necessary 
remedial steps and controls required at the premises in connection with 
the carrying on of any licensable activities. 

 
 In connection with existing authorisations issued by the licensing 

authority, a lack of compliance with policy matters may also lead to 
applications for reviews especially in cases where any one of the 
licensing objectives may be undermined.  

 
 To inform residents and businesses of the parameters within 

which the council will make decisions and how their needs will 
be considered. The licensing function is however only one 
means of securing the delivery of the active promotion of the 
licensing objectives and should not therefore be considered a 
panacea for solving all problems within local communities. The 
licensing process can only seek to control measures within the 
control of a licence holder or potential licence holder. 
 

Page 193



 

10 | P a g e  
 

 Support decisions made by the Licensing Authority when these 
decisions are challenged in a Court of Law. 

 

2.2 Adoption of the licensing policy - The Policy has been written in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and the guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State for the Department of Culture, Media and Sport 
(DCMS). It was adopted by Council on 23rd October 2019 and it 
replaces the previous statement of Licensing Policy adopted by Durham 
County Council on 29th October 2014. 

 
 In adopting this Licensing Policy, the council recognises that residents 
need to live and work in a safe and healthy environment. The council 
also recognises how important it is that licensed premises are safe and 
well run and we understand how they can add to both the local economy 
and vibrancy of the county. The council’s aim is to facilitate well 
managed premises and we will encourage and support all licence 
holders to display sensitivity to the impact of their premises on residents.  

 
2.3     Support for cultural diversity through licensing – The council wishes 

to encourage the provision of a wide range of entertainment activities 
within County Durham and to support live music, dance, theatre, circus 
and street arts etc. for the wider cultural benefit of the community. We 
encourage a diverse range of responsibly run premises in the county. 
We expect all licensed premises to be operated responsibly and all 
licensees to actively support and promote the licensing objectives. 

 
 2.4 Licensable activities and necessary authorisations - The types of 

authorisation considered by this Policy are as follows: 
 

 Personal licence - The licensing of individuals for the retail sale of 
alcohol 

 Premises licence - The licensing of premises for the retail sale of 
alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment or late-night 
refreshment 

 Club premises certificate - The supply of alcohol or the provision 
of regulated entertainment at certain clubs 

 Temporary event notice - The permitting of certain licensable 
activities on a temporary basis 

 
To allow premises to provide any of the above activities, the operator must 
obtain the necessary authorisation from Durham County Council in its role 
as licensing authority. The authorisation needed may be in the form of a 
premises licence, a club remises certificate or a temporary event notice. 

 
2.5 Integration of licensing with other legislation - Many other pieces of 

legislation impact directly or indirectly on the licensing regime. The 
Licensing Authority will have regard to the following matters when it 
discharges its responsibilities under the Licensing Act 2003 and in relation 
to the promotion of the four licensing objectives. The Licensing Authority 

Page 194



 

11 | P a g e  
 

will continue to work in partnership both internally and with other agencies 
to ensure that the licensing objectives are actively promoted. 
 
In formulating this Policy, the Licensing Authority has had regard to the 
provisions of the following legislation: 

 

 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 - requires local authorities and other 
bodies to consider crime and disorder reduction. Section 17 of the Act 
states that it shall be the duty of each authority to exercise its various 
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that is reasonably can to prevent, crime 
and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely 
affecting the local environment).  
 

 The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 - This Act gives 
a wide range of powers to local authorities and the police to tackle incidents 
of crime, disorder and nuisance that may be impacting on residents. The 
Act introduced public spaces protection orders which allows the local 
authority to designate areas in the borough where anti-social behaviour 
such as street drinking will be prohibited. The council may designate areas 
where street drinking is prohibited. The Act also gives powers to the local 
authority and police to close licensed premises where nuisance and anti-
social behaviour is taking place or likely to take place.  
 

 Immigration Act 2016 - Section 36 and Schedule 4 of the Immigration Act 
2016 amended the Licensing Act 2003 and made Home Office Immigration 
Enforcement a Responsible Authority concerned with the licensing 
objective of prevention of crime and disorder. They will exercise their power 
both in respect of being a consultee on new licence applications and having 
right of entry to licensed premises with a view to seeing whether an offence 
under any of the Immigration Acts is being committed on a licensed 
premise. This will primarily involve the detection and prevention of illegal 
working on premises that have an alcohol licence or a late-night 
refreshment licence. The offence of employing people at a licensed 
premise who have no right to work in the UK is also now listed in the 
Secretary of State’s guidance which covers criminal activity deemed to be 
particularly serious and where a licensing authority should consider 
revoking a premises licence even in the first instance.  
 

 Human Rights Act 1998 - The council has a duty, under the European 
Convention on Human Rights, to protect both the rights of a resident to 
privacy and family life (Article 8) and the rights of a licence holder to operate 
their business without undue interference (Article 1 of the First Protocol).  
 

 Equality Act 2010 - The Act places a legal obligation on public authorities 
to have regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, to advance 
equality of opportunity and to foster good relations between persons who 
share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Protected 
characteristics include age, disability, race, religion and sexual orientation.   
 

Page 195



 

12 | P a g e  
 

 Race Relations Act 1976, as amended by the Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000 - places a legal obligation on public authorities to 
have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and to 
promote equality of opportunity and good relations between persons of 
different racial groups. Where applicable the Licensing Authority, in 
determining applications, will have regard to this legislation to avoid any 
possible indirect discriminatory impact on ethnic groups. 
 
Licensing Services work almost exclusively with, through and for people. It 
is passionate about promoting a just society that gives everyone an equal 
chance to learn, work and live free from discrimination and prejudice. As a 
service within a Local Authority, Licensing Services will act to ensure all 
aspects of service delivery addresses equality and diversity issues. 
 

 The European Convention on Human Rights 

 The Crime and Security Act 2010 

 Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

 The Clean Neighborhoods and Environment Act 2005 

 The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 

 The Police & Crime Act 2009 

 The Health Act 2006 

 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

 The Live Music Act 2012 
 

There are also other pieces of legislation that the council will consider that may 
impact on licensed premises, activities and licensed operators. The council will 
consider the following legislation when it decides to discharge its 
responsibilities under the Licensing Act. This list is not exhaustive: 
 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 which deals with noise and nuisance 

 Regulatory Reform Order 2005 which deals with fire safety 

 Highways Act 1980 which deals with pavement café licences 

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and food hygiene regulations 

 Planning legislation (see S2.7) 
 

2.6 Integration of licensing policy with other strategies, policies and plans 
This statement of licensing policy aims to provide clear indications of how the 
council will secure the proper integration of its licensing policy with local crime 
prevention, planning, transport, tourism, equality schemes, cultural strategies 
and any other plans introduced for the management of town centres and the 
night-time economy.  

 
Many of these other strategies are not directly related to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives, but, indirectly, impact upon them. Co-ordination and 
integration of such policies, strategies and initiatives are therefore important. 
The council agrees that such co-ordination and integration is crucial to achieve 
the council’s aims for a safe and vibrant economy. 

 

Page 196



 

13 | P a g e  
 

This Licensing Policy aims to work with and alongside other, shared Council 
priorities and plans.  
 
Alcohol is a contributory factor of violent crime, domestic abuse, sexual 
violence, anti-social behavior and has links to criminal and sexual exploitation.  
The main health consequences of alcohol misuse are liver disease, cancers 
(liver, oral, oesophageal, gastric, colon, breast), hypertension, stroke, acute 
intoxication and injuries.  
 
Up-to-date statistical information for alcohol related harm can be found on 
Durham Insight https://www.durhaminsight.info.  Durham Insight is a publicly 
accessible website storing a range of shared intelligence and population data 
for County Durham. It provides users with an easy way to access data and 
information for insights about their local area. 
 
Key objectives within the County Durham “Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 
2015 – 2020 Plan on a Page” are: 
 
• Prevention and early intervention 
• Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery 
• Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk 
• Strengthening leadership, management and governance 

 
In County Durham the numbers of increasing risk and high-risk drinkers are 
above the national average and this contributes to increasing pressure on our 
emergency services, our hospitals and support services such as the County 
Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service. The Licensing Authority 
recognises the impact alcohol can have upon population-level health. 
 
In addition, we know health inequalities due to alcohol harm in County Durham 
are significant. Levels of alcohol harm are greater in County Durham than the 
England average. For all six key indicators highlighted in the 2018 Local 
Alcohol Profile County Durham is statistically significantly higher than England. 
Four out of the six indicators are ranked in the worst 30% of all local authorities 
nationally.  
 
The council recognises this dis-proportionate impact of alcohol harm and will 
continue to promote and support responsible licensees and premises. We will 
encourage licensing objectives that reflect health considerations in this policy 
and which contribute to reducing health inequalities and poor outcomes for the 
people of County Durham. 

 
  A list of relevant council strategies, policies and plans, together with links to 

other pertinent departments and local organisations, is provided in the 
Appendix X.  Applicants, especially those who are not already established in, 
or familiar with, County Durham may find this section particularly useful. 

 
2.7 Licensing and planning integration - The planning authority of Durham 

County Council is a responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003. It can 

Page 197

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


 

14 | P a g e  
 

make representations on applications or call for reviews of existing licences 
based upon any of the four licensing objectives. 

 
The planning authority have policies that impact on the county’s night time 
economy. The council recognises that licensing applications should not be a 
rerun of the planning application process. The planning authority is directed at 
development of land and the use of premises upon it. The licensing authority is 
directed at the licensable activities and responsible management of said 
premises upon that land. 
 
Whilst there is a clear distinction and separation between the licensing authority 
and planning authority in terms of their remit, there are times when there are 
overlapping considerations. To secure proper integration across the council’s 
range of policies, the licensing authority will expect applicants to demonstrate 
that their proposed use of a premises is lawful in planning terms, including 
complying with any existing conditions and timings that may be imposed upon 
a planning consent when submitting any application under the Licensing Act. 
 
Where the planning authority has granted planning consent to a specific time, 
the licensing authority would expect any applicants under the Licensing Act to 
not exceed that time within any application. 
 
Where the planning authority has granted a planning consent that contains 
conditions which, if not complied with, may undermine the promotion of the 
licensing objectives (such as a restriction in the opening hours based on 
potential public nuisance issues), the licensing authority would expect 
applicants to demonstrate how they will mitigate those issues within any 
application. Failure to do so could lead to representations being made against 
an application. 
 
When licensing applications are determined by officers of the Licensing 
Authority or by the Licensing Sub-Committee, conditions may be imposed upon 
a licence to ensure consistency between the licensing objectives and any 
measures already determined by the planning authority that could impact the 
licensing objectives. 
 

2.8 Avoidance of duplication - There are many stakeholders in the leisure 
industry, covering a wide range of disciplines. Many are involved, directly or 
indirectly, in the promotion of the Licensing Objectives, particularly those 
relating to the prevention of crime and disorder and public nuisance. 

 
Many of their strategies deal in part with the licensing function and the 
Licensing Authority will, wherever appropriate, participate in multi- disciplinary 
working groups to ensure proper integration of local crime prevention, public 
health, planning, transport, tourism and cultural strategies and to obtain 
information on the effects of this Policy on local regulated entertainment. 

 
The Licensing Authority recognises the need to avoid as far as possible 
duplication with other regulatory regimes. Whilst having regard to the planning 

Page 198



 

15 | P a g e  
 

regime, the council recognises that there should be a clear separation of the 
planning and licensing regimes. 

 
The granting of a licence under the Licensing Act does not relieve the applicant 
of the need to apply for Planning Permission or Building Regulation approval 
where appropriate. Nor does the grant qualify as, or remove the need for, any 
form of consent or release, for example, from covenants imposed in the title to 
the property whether such were imposed by the Local Authority. Appendix X 
provides a list of other relevant strategies which applicants may wish to 
consider in addition to the council’s licensing policy. Appendix VIII also provides 
information on planning and development control matters together with the 
links to licensing policy and practice. 

 
There are other council strategies and policies that affect the leisure industry, 
night time economy etc. that fall outside the regulatory licensing regime. For 
example, the council recognises that we all have a role in reducing waste and 
whilst plastic products are an important part of everyday life, there is a growing 
realisation of the inherent wastefulness of those items that are designed to be 
used only once and then thrown away. The council has adopted a County 
Durham pledge to further reduce waste which may be adopted by a wide variety 
of partner organisations from across the public, private and community sector. 
 
The government intends to introduce a ban, with exemptions, on the supply of 
plastic drinking straws to the end user in England by April 2020. There will be 
exemptions designed to cater for medical / accessibility needs: the supply of 
single use plastic straws to the end user will be permitted in registered 
pharmacies (in store and online) and in catering establishments (including 
health, educational and care settings). 
 
In commercial catering establishments, such as pubs and restaurants, there 
will be a ban on actively offering plastic straws to customers.  It will be a 
requirement for plastic straws to be kept behind the counter and be available 
to customers on demand only. 
 
A ban on beverage carton straws will come into force in line with the Single Use 
Plastics Directive implementation timetable; this is to allow the industry time to 
develop and introduce alternatives. 
 
Takeaway boxes and cups made from expanded polystyrene are proposed to 
be banned as the Government targets rarely recycled plastic that ends up in 
incinerators and landfill sites. 
 
The council would encourage the licensed trade to sign up to this pledge and 
take steps to reduce single use plastics. To find out more information about 
Rubbish & Recycling in County Durham go to 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/recycling  
 

2.9 Licensing policy development, consultation and review – Before 
determining its policy, the council must consult the persons listed in section 
5(3) of the 2003 Act. These are:  

Page 199

http://www.durham.gov.uk/recycling


 

16 | P a g e  
 

 

 the chief officer of police for the area  

 the fire and rescue authority for the area  

 each local authority’s Director of Public Health in England (DPH)14 or Local 
Health Board in Wales for an area any part of which is in the licensing 
authority’s area  

 persons/bodies representative of local premises licence holders  

 persons/bodies representative of local club premises certificate holders  

 persons/bodies representative of local personal licence holders; and  

 persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in its area 
 

The Section 82 guidance states: “Licensing authorities should note that the 
terms of the 2003 Act do not prevent them consulting other bodies or persons.”  
In developing and determining this statement of licensing policy, several 
organisations, authorities, bodies and groups were consulted including all of 
those listed in the statutory guidance. 

 
The council is required to prepare and publish its statement of licensing policy 
at least every 5 years. For the purposes of that review it will always undertake 
consultation with residents, businesses and licence holders. In addition to this 
requirement, the policy will be kept under continuous review and where 
revisions (legal, technical or strategic) which support the licensing objectives 
are required, an appropriate level of consultation will be undertaken. See also 

Important note: possible future changes to licensing policy in the ‘Forward’ to 
this policy.  

 
2.10 Departures from the Policy - This Licensing Policy sets out the vision the 

licensing authority has for the regulation of licensed premises throughout 
Durham County and outlines the standards expected to ensure the promotion 
of the licensing objectives in the county. The council may depart from the 
licensing policy if it considers doing so would benefit the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. Under such circumstances, reasons will be given for any 
such departure from the general policy in this statement. 

 
 In relation to applications for licences, certificates, variations etc. while the 

contents of any associated operating schedules are matters for the applicant, 
where objections (referred to as representations) to an operating schedule are 
received that relate to a departure from the policy, at the licensing sub-
committee hearing, the applicant submitting the contested application will be 
expected to provide full and good reasoning for the appropriateness of such a 
departure. Under these circumstances, unless compelling reasons are 
provided the committee will not deviate from, or make any exceptions to, the 
policy. 

 
 Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial review, 

and the reasons given will then be a key consideration for the courts when 
considering the lawfulness and merits of any decision taken. 

 
 Important note: The council will not ‘step-outside’ the policy unless there 

are good and justifiable reasons for doing so. 

Page 200



 

17 | P a g e  
 

2.11 Administration and the delegation of functions - Applicants are advised to 
contact DCC Licensing Services before preparing and submitting their 
applications for licences and other authorisations should they be unfamiliar with 
the application process. Any application not properly made will be returned to 
the applicant and the timescales contained in the Act will not begin until a 
properly-made application is received. 

 
 Nothing in this policy will prevent the council from making applications in its 

own name for the grant of licences. The council will, before any such licence is 
granted, be subject to the same considerations and application of the same 
scrutiny as any other applicant. 

 
 All relevant representations, either opposing or supporting an application, will 

be considered during the decision-making process. Guidance relating to the 
submission of representations will be made available on the council’s website. 
Any subsequent licensing hearings will be conducted in accordance with the 
council’s procedure for licensing hearings which is also available on the council 
website. 

 
 The council will be involved in a wide range of licensing decisions and functions 

and has established a Licensing Committee to administer them. Decisions and 
functions will therefore be taken or carried out by the Licensing Committee, 
Licensing Sub-Committees or officers of the council in accordance with an 
approved scheme of delegation. The form of delegations is without prejudice 
to officers referring an application to a Sub-Committee, or a Sub-Committee to 
Full Committee, if considered appropriate in the circumstances of any case or 
where required by law. 

 
 Participation on the Licensing Committee by elected council members will be 

in accordance with the council’s Code of Conduct for Elected Members. 
 
 The Committee and Sub-Committees will determine each case before it on its 

merits. Blanket or standard conditions (other than mandatory conditions) will 
not be imposed under the Act. Conditions will not be attached to licences unless 
they have been either volunteered by the applicant or are determined, by the 
council, as appropriate following a licensing hearing. Although the council is 
required to have regard to the Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
(DCMS) guidance it may, if it considers it appropriate, deviate from the 
guidance where there are good reasons which can be justified. 

 
2.12 Members of the Council (DCC Councillors) – The council recognises that 

County Councillors play an important role in the local community. If specifically 
asked to do so, Councillors may make representations in writing and speak at 
the hearing on behalf of any other person such as a local resident or business. 
They can also make representations if they have concerns about premises. 
They may also apply for a review of a licence or certificate. 

 
Where a resident or business seeks the assistance of a County Councillor, it is 
advantageous if they can provide evidence that a premise is causing a problem 
or is likely to do so. It is also helpful for any resident or business making a 

Page 201



 

18 | P a g e  
 

representation in respect of an application to send a copy of their 
representation to the relevant County Councillor. 
 
County Councillors may attend hearings of licensing sub-committees 
considering applications and speak on behalf of residents and businesses, but 
only if: 
 

 they have made a personal representation 

 they have made a representation on behalf of residents or business as 
‘community advocates’ 

 they have been nominated by a person making a relevant representation 
who cannot attend the hearing or prefers to be represented at the hearing 

 
2.13 The Decision-Making Process - Where no relevant representations are 

received, providing the application has been correctly made and advertised (as 
required by the Act), the council must grant the application in line with the 
proposed operating schedule. The only conditions that can be imposed are the 
mandatory conditions and those conditions that are consistent with the 
operating schedule.  Anonymous representations will not be accepted by the 
Licensing Authority. 

 
Apart from the mandatory conditions, there is no discretion under The Act to 
impose any other condition in cases where no relevant representations are 
received. 
 
Where relevant representations are made the application must be determined 
by either the full Licensing Committee or one of its duly authorised sub-
committees. In County Durham, it is usually a sub- committee that determines 
such applications and this determination will usually take place at a hearing. 
 
The sub−committee in such cases has full discretion to take such steps 
as it considers appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. These steps 
may include modifying the conditions that are in line with those proposed in the 
operating schedule and/or rejecting the application in part, and/or excluding a 
licensable activity; or wholly rejecting the application. 
 
In exercising its discretion, the licensing sub−committee must have regard 
(amongst other things) to this licensing policy. Therefore, in drawing up their 
operating schedule, applicants are strongly advised to read and take note of 
the content of this policy. 
 
If all parties state in writing that they consider a hearing can be dispensed with, 
then the Sub-Committee has a discretion (which cannot lawfully be delegated 
to officers) to dispense with a hearing.  In deciding whether or not to dispense 
with a hearing the sub-committee is exercising a licensing function.  As such it 
is required to have regard to any relevant guidance, as well as to this policy, 
and it must act with a view to promoting the licensing objectives. 

 
2.14 Making representations – The responsible authorities and any other person 

may make representations in connection with applications for licences, 

Page 202



 

19 | P a g e  
 

certificates, full variations and reviews of premises. Whilst any of these persons 
may act, they may also request that a representative makes the representation 
to the council on their behalf. A representative may include a legal 
representative, a friend, a Member of Parliament, or a local ward or parish 
councilor who can all act in such a capacity. 

 
Copies of all representations will be forwarded to the applicant. Anonymous 
representations will not be accepted by the council. Only under exceptional 
circumstances will the council not disclose ANY personal details. This means 
that names, as a minimum, will be made public and in some instances the street 
name. References to the house number, telephone numbers and email 
addresses will be removed. 
 
Those making a representation should be aware that they will be invited to 
attend in person to a hearing should the licence application have to be 
determined by the Council's Licensing Sub-Committee. The representations 
will also be included in the papers presented to the committee and therefore 
will pass into the public domain. It is therefore possible that details of 
representations may be picked up by journalists. 

 
2.15 Conditions attached to authorisations - All applications for new 

authorisations or for variations of existing ones should be supported by an 
operating schedule. The schedule should specify (among other things) the 
steps the applicant proposes to promote each licensing objective. 

 
Again, where no relevant representations are received, providing the 
application has been correctly made and advertised (as required by the Act), 
the council must grant the application in line with the proposed operating 
schedule. The only conditions that can be imposed are the mandatory 
conditions and those conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule. 
 
Apart from the mandatory conditions there is no discretion under The Act to 
impose any other condition in cases where no relevant representations are 
received. 
 
Any conditions attached to licences following relevant representations will 
focus on matters within the control of the premises licence holder or club 
management committees. They will be used to ensure the premises are safe 
and do not create a nuisance. They will address matters which have a direct 
impact on those living, working or engaged in normal activities in the vicinity. 
 
Conditions will not be used as a means of attempting to attach responsibility to 
premises licence holders or club management committees for matters outside 
their reasonable control, such as anti- social behaviour once away from the 
premises or a non-licensable activity, unless information to the contrary is 
available to the licensing authority. 
 
Conditions on premises licences and club certificates are determined by: 
 

 The measures put forward on the operating schedule 

Page 203



 

20 | P a g e  
 

 Mandatory conditions within the Act 

 Measures decided at a hearing by the Licensing Sub-Committee 
 

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the application of conditions in line 
with operating schedules may be subjective and that the content of operating 
schedules can be open to interpretation. Consequently, the council will often 
apply a standard interpretation in respect of more commonly offered conditions. 
A set of specimen conditions will be developed which can be used in the 
production of licences where, applicants offer conditions to be included in their 
licence. For example, around CCTV, noise control and age verification 
schemes. 
 

2.16    Reviews - The Licensing Act provides a mechanism for reviewing premises 
licences and Club Premises Certificates where problems associated with 
premises undermine the licensing objectives following grant or variation. The 
procedure for reviewing premises licences and club premises certificates 
represents a key protection for the community where there is evidence to show 
that a specific concern exists relating to one or more of the licensing objectives. 

 
The proceedings set out in the Act for reviewing premises licences and club 
premises certificates represent a key protection for the community. Unless an 
application is withdrawn, deemed to be frivolous, vexatious or repetitious or 
does not relate to the licensing objectives, the council will hold a hearing and 
take any necessary steps to promote the licensing objectives.  
 
If a request for a review of the premises licence is made, they are required to 
notify the holder of the premises licence or club premises certificate and the 
“responsible authorities”, by sending them a copy of the request, together with 
any accompanying documents, on the same day as the request is given to the 
council. The council will advertise the review to enable others (responsible 
authorities or other persons) to comment on it. Responsible authorities have 
the option, if they wish, to comment on any application for a review. 
 
A licensing authority must act on requests for review unless they consider the 
request to be irrelevant, repetitive, frivolous or vexatious. Frivolous 
representations would concern minor issues which the licensing authority could 
not reasonably be required to take any action to remedy. Representations may 
be considered vexatious if they appear to be intended to cause aggravation or 
annoyance without reasonable cause. 
 
The council will advertise the fact that a request for review of the licence has 
been received and allow a period of 28 days for other persons to make 
representations to it (such representations can be for or against the activities 
at the premises in question). 
 
After the period for making representations has expired, the licensing authority 
will hold a hearing to consider the request unless the request for review or the 
application has been withdrawn. The request will in most cases be considered 
by the licensing sub‐committee who will hear representations from all parties 
involved. If you make a representation, the council will invite you to attend the 

Page 204



 

21 | P a g e  
 

hearing. You will also be given the opportunity to address the licensing sub‐
committee in support of the request for review. 
 
You must give the authority at least 5 working days’ notice (prior to the start of 
the hearing, advising: 
 

 If you will attend the hearing in person 

 Whether you will be represented by someone else (e.g. councillor / MP 
/ lawyer / residents’ association representative / friend) 

 If you think that a hearing is unnecessary (if, for example, the parties 
have come to an agreement before the formal hearing), or 

 You may also request permission for another person to attend the 
hearing, and must advise the licensing authority how that person may 
be able to assist the authority in relation to the request for review 

 
Important note: All parties submitting any written documents they wish 
to rely on at a hearing, should provide them to DCC Licensing Services 
within five working days of the hearing.  
 
Once the sub‐committee has listened to and considered all views and 
evidence, it will decide what (if any) action is appropriate to promote 
the licensing objectives. Actions can include: 
 

 No action 

 Modifying the conditions of the licence (change, add or remove 
conditions – including operating hours) 

 Excluding a licensable activity from the licence, 

 Removing the designated premises supervisor 

 Suspend the licence for a period (not exceeding 3 months), and 

 Revoke the licence 
 
Important note: The council will not expect a premises licence to be 
reviewed more than once within any 12-month period on similar grounds, 
except in exceptional circumstances or where it arises following a 
Closure Order. 
 

2.17 Film classifications - In general, other than in the context of film classification 
for film exhibitions, the council shall not use powers under the 2003 Act to seek 
to impose conditions which censor the content of any form of regulated 
entertainment. This is not a proper function of licensing law and cannot be 
properly related to the licensing objectives. The content of regulated 
entertainment is a matter which is addressed by existing laws governing 
indecency and obscenity. Where the concern is about protecting children, their 
access should be restricted where appropriate. But no other limitation should 
normally be imposed.  

 
The 2003 Act provides that where a premises licence or club premises 
certificate authorises the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition 
requiring the admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance with 
recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4 of the 

Page 205



 

22 | P a g e  
 

Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (currently only the British 
Board of Film Classification (BBFC)) or by the council itself. The effect of 
paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act is to exempt adverts from the 
definition of regulated entertainment, but not exempt them from the definition 
of exhibition of a film. Since the above mandatory condition applies to ‘any film’, 
it is therefore applicable to the exhibition of adverts.  
 
In accordance with the guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 
2003, the council shall concern itself primarily with the protection of children 
from harm when classifying films. It will not use its powers to censor films save 
where there is clear cause to believe this is required to promote the licensing 
objectives. 
 
The council considers the classification system used by the BBFC to be 
understood and accepted nationally. We will, therefore, use this system as a 
reference point for determining its recommendation(s) on the restriction of 
access of children to the film(s). However, it should be noted that the council is 
not obliged to follow these guidelines. 
 
Requests for certification by the licensing authority should be made at least 28 
days in advance of the proposed screening date and submitted to the Licensing 
Unit. Requests should include: 
 

 A DVD copy of the film 

 Details of any existing classification issued by an existing classification 
body, whether within or outside the UK 

 A synopsis identifying the material within the film considered by the 
exhibitor to be likely to have a bearing on the age limit for the audience 
for exhibition of the film 

 Such recommendation as may have been made by the film-maker upon 
age limit for the intended audience for exhibition of the film 

 Proposal of age restriction by the applicant.   

Page 206



 

23 | P a g e  
 

3.0 General principles, practices and licensing processes 
 
3.1 The application process - All licensing applications for new premises licences 

or club premises certificates, or variations of existing licences or certificates 
must be served on the licensing authority. Applications can be served 
electronically or via hardcopy. All applications must be accompanied by a plan 
of the premises which shows the licensable area, an immigration document 
demonstrating that the licence holder has the right to live and work in the UK 
and the correct fee. Failure to provide the correct documentation or fee will 
result in the application being returned to the applicant as invalid. 

 
 Any applicant that proposes to serve an application in hardcopy must ensure 

that the application is served on all the responsible authorities stated in the 
Licensing Act 2003. Contact details for the responsible authorities are provided 
in Appendix IV to this policy. 

 
 Where applications for the grant or full variation of a premises licence are for a 

boat, a copy of the application must be served on the Navigation authority; the 
Environment Agency; The Canal and River Trust and the Secretary of State. 

 
3.2 Advertising and publication of applications - There is a public consultation 

period lasting for 28-days beginning on the first day after the application was 
received by the licensing authority. During this period, the application must be 
advertised by the applicant and any person or responsible authority may make 
written representations in respect of the application. 

 
 It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that any application for the grant 

or full variation of a licence advertises the application in accordance with the 
relevant Licensing regulations. A blue notice should be placed on, at or near 
the premises to advertise the application for 28-days starting with the day after 
the application is served. A newspaper advert doing the same must be placed 
in a newspaper circulating in the County of Durham within 10 working days. 
Failure to do either of these things, or to put inaccurate information in them, will 
invalidate an application. 

 
 The Licensing Authority will publish any valid applications on the council’s 

website for the same period of 28-days starting with the day after the 
application being received. See link for the Licensing Applications page on our 
website. http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-Act-2003-
applications  

 
 Every licensing authority must provide facilities for making the information, 

contained in the entries in its public register, available for inspection by any 
person during office hours and without payment. 

 
 On request we will also supply any person with a copy of the information 

contained in any entry in its register.  
 All licensing applications for new premises licences and club premises 

certificates, variations of existing licences and certificates are made available 
to all county councillors, and to parish councillors and local MPs on request. 

Page 207

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-Act-2003-applications
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-Act-2003-applications


 

24 | P a g e  
 

3.3 Consultation on applications - During the 28-day consultation period, the 
authorities can judge whether it undermines the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. The application will be made available to any person, upon request.  
As per Section 18 (6) of the Licensing Act 2003, consideration will be given as 
to the likely effect of granting any licence on the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. The council will expect all applicants to have considered the 
Secretary of State’s Guidance, local strategies and initiatives, this policy and 
any other known local issues before submitting their application and that these 
matters are addressed within the operating schedule of the application.  

 
 The application will consist of an operating schedule, which details the 

licensable activities applied for as well as specifying during which times and on 
which days they would be conducted. In the operating schedule, the applicant 
also sets out any steps they propose to take to address the four licensing 
objectives, and these can be converted into conditions on any licence granted. 

 
 Whilst many applications will be resolved without the need for a committee 

hearing, any matters or representations that are not resolved will trigger a 
hearing before the properly constituted Licensing Sub-Committee for 
determination by elected members (County Councillors sitting as members of 
the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee). 

 
3.4 Minor Variation Applications – there is a simplified process to make minor 

variations to licences. These kinds of variations will be ones that are considered 
to have no adverse impact on the promotion of the four licensing objectives. 
These applications will be considered by duly authorised officers of the 
Licensing Authority. 

 
  Minor Variations can be used to: 
 

a) make minor changes to the structure or layout of a premises 
b) make small adjustments to the licensing hours 
c) remove out of date, irrelevant or unenforceable conditions 
d) add or remove licensable activities (not the sale of alcohol) 
e) add conditions that may have been agreed with a responsible authority 

 
 Minor Variations cannot be used to: 
 

a) extend the period for which the licence or certificate has effect 
b) specify within a premises licence, a new DPS 
c) add the sale or supply of alcohol as a licensable activity 
d) authorise an extension to hours alcohol is sold 
e) vary substantially the layout, activities or conditions of a licence 
f) authorise an individual to supply alcohol at a community premises 

 
Under the Minor Variation application process, the applicant only needs to send 
the application to the council’s licensing section. The applicant must also display 
a white notice on, at or near the premises which advertises the proposed changes 
for a period of ten working days beginning with the day after the application was 

Page 208



 

25 | P a g e  
 

received by the authority. There is no requirement to advertise this application in 
the newspaper. 
 
The council, upon receipt of a valid application, will determine the application in 
relation to its impact on the four licensing objectives and consult any Responsible 
Authority it wishes. The authority may reject the application if it believes the 
licensing objectives will be undermined by granting it. The authority can reject the 
application even if it receives no representations against it. If the authority fails to 
decide within five working days, after the ten working day consultation period, then 
the application will be deemed refused and the fee shall be returned to the 
applicant. 
 
This policy does not seek to undermine the rights of any person to apply under 
the Act for a variety of permissions, or to have their application considered on its 
individual merits. Nor does the policy override the rights of any person making 
representations on any application or seeking a review of a licence where they 
are permitted to do so under the Act. The Licensing Authority will only depart from 
the policy if the individual circumstances of any case merit such a decision in the 
interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives – see 2.10. 
 

3.5 Granting licences: uncontested licence applications - As stated above, all 
licence applications will be considered on their own merits in the context of the 
four licensing objectives. 

 
 Important note: Under the provisions of the Act, if an application for a 

premises licence or club premises certificate has been lawfully made and 
there has been no objection (known as a ‘relevant representation’) from any 
person or responsible authority, then the licensing authority must grant the 
application, subject only to conditions that are consistent with the operating 
schedule and relevant mandatory conditions. 

 
3.6 Consideration of contested applications - Where a relevant representation is 

received in respect of an application, it will be determined at a hearing by a Sub-
Committee of three members from the council’s licensing sub-committee  

 
3.7 Relevant representations - For the views of any party to be considered in 

respect of an application, they must qualify as ‘relevant’, which means 
representations: 

 
a) That are made by any person or responsible authority 
b) That are made in writing to the licensing authority 
c) That are received by the licensing authority no later than 28 days after the 

date the application was made (ten working days for a minor variation) 
d) Must relate to the likely effect of the granting of the application upon one 

or more of the licensing objectives 
e) Must not (in the case of any person who is not a responsible authority) be 

considered by the licensing authority as frivolous or vexatious  
 

Page 209



 

26 | P a g e  
 

 The grounds for any representation will be stronger if they have an evidential basis 
and link to the applicant’s premises. Any conditions or restrictions should only be 
proposed that address identified risks to the licensing objectives. 

 All persons, including responsible authorities, are encouraged to take into 
consideration all relevant sections of the policy, the relevant factors and the 
various standards set out at Sections 5.0, 6.0 and 7.0 when they are assessing 
applications and deciding whether to make a representation on an application. 

 
 Further information on making a representation can be found in Appendix IV. 
 
3.8 Mediated applications - In many cases, through discussion, all parties may 

reach a compromise to resolve the concerns that originally led to the objection 
being made. For example, reducing the hours for proposed activities, adding extra 
conditions, or removing proposed activities entirely may address any concerns an 
objector had. In such circumstances, the applicant may request the licensing 
authority grant the application subject to any conditions agreed between the 
parties. 

 
 At a hearing all applications will be considered on their own merit. Following such 

a hearing, the Licensing Sub-Committee can: 
 

a) Grant the application as applied for; or 
b) Grant the application with restricted licensable activities/hours than 

those applied for and/or impose additional conditions, where 
considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 
or 

c) Refuse the application 
 

3.9 Appeals - There is a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against the 
decision of the Licensing Sub-Committee by any party to the original hearing. 
If an applicant is aggrieved by a decision of the Licensing Authority, an appeal 
may be lodged with the Magistrates Court for the area. The council will be the 
respondent to such an appeal. 
 

3.10 Review of a premises licence or club premises certificate - At any stage 
during the life of an authorisation, any premises that has a premises licence or 
club premises certificate may have that licence reviewed by any of the named 
responsible authorities or by a person defined in the Act as ‘any other person’ e.g. 
residents, councilors, MPs etc. At any time following the grant of a licence or Club 
Premises Certificate, any person or responsible authority may apply for a review 
of it. 

 
 The Police may also submit a summary review if there is a premises associated 

with serious crime and disorder. When the council instigates a review, it will 
ensure that there is a clear separation of functions between the officer acting as 
the licensing authority and the officer acting as a responsible authority. 

 
 Applications for review must relate to one or more of the licensing objectives and 

must not (where the review is submitted by any person who is not a responsible 
authority) be considered as frivolous, vexatious or repetitious by the licensing 
authority. Where an application for a review is frivolous vexatious or repetitious, 

Page 210



 

27 | P a g e  
 

or where an application for a review is considered not relevant to the licensing 
objectives, the council will reject it.  

 
The council expects responsible authorities and other parties to give early notice 
to licence holders of any concerns about issues identified at premises and of the 
need for improvement. It is expected that requests for a review of any licence will 
be sought only if such notice has failed to resolve the matter or problem. It is 
always worth considering other options before requesting a review of a licence, 
including: 
 

 Talking to those who manage the premises to let them know about the 
problem and give them the opportunity to address the issues; 

 
 Asking DCC Licensing Services to talk to those who manage the premises 

on your behalf; or 
 

 Talking to the relevant “responsible authority” e.g. environmental health in 
relation to noise nuisance, or the police in relation to crime and disorder, 
about the problem. 

 
A review application is also subject to a similar consultation period to that of a new 
licence or variation, during which relevant representations may be submitted. The 
Act provides strict guidelines, timescales and procedures for review applications 
and hearings and the council will deal with every review application in accordance 
with these rules. Further details on review applications can be found in Appendix 
IV of this policy. 
 
At a review, the council may take the following steps (if any) where such steps are 
considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives: 

 
a) Modify the conditions of the licence 
b) Exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence 
c) Remove the designated premises supervisor 
d) Suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months 
e) Revoke the licence.  

 
In cases where there is evidence that the crime prevention objective is being 
undermined, revocation of the licence will be seriously considered by the 
authority, even in the first instance. 

 
There is a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against the decision of the 
licensing sub-committee, and if an appeal is lodged by the licence-holder, the 
original decision of the licensing authority will not take effect until the appeal is 
determined or withdrawn. There is an exception to this in the case of a summary 
review brought only by the police. 

 
3.11 The designated premises supervisor (DPS) - This person must hold a personal 

licence and be in general day-to-day control of the premises. No alcohol may be 
sold or supplied from a licensed premise unless it is sold by a personal licence 
holder or a personal licence has authorised others to sell alcohol in their absence.  
This is mandatory.  

Page 211



 

28 | P a g e  
 

 In 2009, the Government empowered licensing authorities, on the application of 
a management committee of a community premises, not to apply the normal 
mandatory conditions in relation to the sale of alcohol. Instead the council can 
impose a condition rendering the management committee responsible for the 
supervision and authorisation of all alcohol sales made pursuant to the licence. 

 
 Any application for a change of the DPS must be made to the council either 

electronically, via gov.uk, or in hardcopy.  Any hardcopy applications must also 
be served on the Police. An application form completed by the premises licence 
holder, a consent form signed by the prospective DPS, the premises licence and 
the appropriate fee must be submitted. 
 
Where an objection is received by the council from the Police in respect of the 
proposed DPS, the council is required to hold a hearing before the Licensing Sub-
Committee within the timescales set out in the Act and accompanying regulations. 

 
3.12 Transfer of premises licence - where a licence holder wishes to transfer their 

premises licence to another person or body, then an application shall be made to 
the council to do so. An application form completed by the proposed new owner, 
a consent form giving permission for the transfer from the previous owner, the 
premises licence and the appropriate fee must be submitted either electronically 
or in hardcopy. All hardcopy applications must also be served on the Police. 

 
 If the authority receives a representation in relation to any proposed transfer, then 

it must hold a hearing in the required timescales. 
 
 A club premises certificate cannot be transferred and will cease to exist if it does 

not meet the criteria laid out in the Licensing Act 2003.  
 
3.13 Lapse of a licence - A licence will lapse if the licence holder dies, becomes 

incapacitated, becomes insolvent or has their company dissolved. Under these 
circumstances, no licensable activity may take place at the premises unless a 
transfer application is received within 28 days. 

 
A licence will also lapse if the holder of the licence no longer has the right to work 
in the UK. Should this happen, then a new licence will have to be applied for from 
someone who does have the right to work in the UK. 

 
3.14 Personal licence applications - under the Act, the council will automatically 

grant applications for personal licences so long as they meet the application 
criteria outlined in the Act. If an applicant has been convicted of a relevant offence 
or has been subjected to an immigration penalty that may undermine the 
prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective, the Police or Home Office 
Immigration may make representations against the grant of the application. 
Where relevant representations are received, the council will hold a 
hearing in accordance with the regulations and timescales outlined in the Act. The 
licensing sub-committee will then decide on the application considering the 
relevant representations received. 
 
When a personal licence holder moves address they must notify the authority that 
issued their licence. Failure to do so is an offence under the Licensing Act 2003. 
When a Personal Licence holder is convicted of a relevant offence or has paid an 

Page 212



 

29 | P a g e  
 

immigration penalty, they must notify the authority who issued their personal 
licence so that their licence can be endorsed to that effect. Failure to do this is 
also an offence under the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
Where a Personal Licence holder is convicted of a relevant offence or has paid 
an immigration penalty, then the licensing authority may look to suspend the 
personal licence for a period of up to six months or revoke it. This is as per Section 
132A of the Licensing Act 2003. If the Licensing Authority decided to take this 
action, then it will allow the licence holder to make representations which will be 
considered at a hearing before the licensing sub-committee. 

 
3.15 Temporary Event Notices – The system of permitted temporary activities is 

intended as a light touch process, and as such, the carrying on of licensable 
activities does not have to be authorised by the licensing authority on an 
application. Instead, a person wishing to hold an event at which such activities are 
proposed to be carried on (the “premises user”) gives notice to the licensing 
authority of the event (a “temporary event notice” or “TEN”). The Licensing Act 
2003 enables certain organised events for less than 500 people to take place 
following notification to the Licensing Authority, the Police and Environmental 
Health 

 
An event organiser who wishes to arrange a one-off event or extend the hours for 
licensable activities at a premises, may notify the council of the proposed event. 
The application (or notice) needs to be submitted to the Licensing Authority with 
the appropriate fee. The application must be submitted electronically via the 
gov.uk portal or via hardcopy. If submitted via hardcopy then it must also be sent 
to the Police and the council’s Environmental Health section for consideration. 

 
A temporary event notice must be submitted to the authority at least ten clear 
working days before any event. This does not include the day of the application, 
the date the application is submitted, weekends or bank holidays. Failure to 
adhere to these timescales may invalidate the application. 
 
An applicant who also holds a Personal Licence may apply to hold 50 events per 
year. An applicant who does not hold a Personal licence may only apply for 5 
events.  
 
Each Temporary Event may last for up to 168 hours and an individual premises 
may hold up to 15 events totaling 21 days. There must be a gap of 24 hours 
between the end of one temporary event and the start of another one. 
 
If the Police or the Environmental Health team, make a representation regarding 
a temporary event notice then the Licensing Authority will arrange a hearing 
before the licensing sub-committee in the required timescales. 
 
Applicants are encouraged to submit temporary event notices as far in advance 
as possible to allow issues to be worked out and for any required hearing to be 
held in good time before any proposed event. Although the statutory legal 
minimum time required for the notification of a temporary event to the Licensing 
Authority, Police and Environmental Health is 10 working days, or 5 working days 
for a late temporary event, it is essential that proper consideration of the proposed 
event is given. 

Page 213



 

30 | P a g e  
 

Statutory guidance allows the Licensing Authority to publicise its preferred 
timescale for notification. Applicants are encouraged to submit notifications at 
least 4 weeks but not more than 12 weeks before an event where an existing 
premises licence is in operation. For applications where there is not a current 
premises licence, for example community events, 15 working days in advance of 
the event would be encouraged to allow for proper consideration of the event.  

 
3.16 Late Temporary Event Notices - late notices can be given no later than five 

working days before an event but no earlier than nine working days before an 
event. If there is an objection to the proposed event from either the Police or the 
council’s Environmental Health team then the authority will issue a counter notice. 
This means that the event will not be permitted to go ahead. 

 
The number of late notices that can be given in any one calendar year is limited 
to ten for personal licence holders and two for non-personal licence holders. Late 
notices count toward the total for the number of events per year held at a single 
premise and for the number of events per year applied for by the applicant. 
 

3.17 Provisional statements - Where premises are being or are about to be 
constructed, extended or otherwise altered to be used for one or more licensable 
activities, investors may be unwilling to commit funds unless they have some 
assurance that a premises licence covering the desired licensable activities would 
be granted for the premises when the building work is completed. 

 
 Any person falling within section 16 of the 2003 Act can apply for a premises 

licence before new premises are constructed, extended or changed. This would 
be possible where clear plans of the proposed structure exist, and the applicant 
is able to complete an operating schedule including details of: 

 
 the activities to take place there 
 the time at which such activities will take place 
 the proposed hours of opening 
 where the applicant wishes the licence to have effect for a limited period, 

that period 
 the steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives; and 
 where the sale of alcohol is involved, whether supplies are proposed to be 

for consumption on or off the premises (or both) and the name of the 
designated premises supervisor the applicant wishes to specify 

In such cases, the council will include in the licence the date upon which it would 
come into effect. A provisional statement will normally only be required when the 
information above is not available.  Someone aged 18 or over, who has an interest 
in the premises may apply for a “provisional statement”. This will not be time 
limited, but the longer the delay before an application for a premises licence is 
made, the more likely it is that there will be material changes and that the council 
will accept representations. “Person” in this context includes a business. 
 
If the council’s discretion is engaged, the council will decide whether, if the 
premises were constructed or altered in the way proposed in the schedule of 
works and if a premises licence was sought for those premises, it would consider 
it appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives to: 
 

 attach conditions to the licence 

Page 214



 

31 | P a g e  
 

 rule out any of the licensable activities applied for 
 refuse to specify the person nominated as premises supervisor; or 
 reject the application 

 
It will then issue the applicant with a provisional statement setting out the details 
of that decision together with its reasons.  
 
For applications for a premises licence in respect of premises (or part of the 
premises or premises which are substantially the same) for which a provisional 
statement has been made, representations by responsible authorities and other 
persons will be excluded in certain circumstances. These are where: 
 

 the application for a licence is in the same form as the licence described in 
the provisional statement 

 the work in the schedule of works has been satisfactorily completed 
 given the information provided in the application for a provisional 

statement, the responsible authority or other person could have made the 
same, or substantially the same, representations about the application then 
but failed to do so without reasonable excuse; and 

 there has been no material change in the circumstances relating either to 
the premises or to the area in the proximity of those premises since the 
provisional statement was made 

 
Important note: Any decision of the council on an application for a 
provisional statement will not relieve an applicant of the need to apply for 
planning permission, building control approval of the building work, or in 
some cases both planning permission and building control. 

 
3.18 Live Music and other de-regulated entertainment - The Legislative Reform 

(Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014 came into force on 6 April 2015 with the 
effect that the following forms of entertainment are no longer licensable: 

 
 Performances of plays between 8am and 11pm, provided that the audience 

does not exceed 500 
 Performances of dance between 8am and 11pm, provided that the 

audience does not exceed 500 
 ‘Not-for-profit’ film exhibitions held in community premises between 8am 

and 11pm, provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the 
organiser (a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is 
responsible for the premises, and (b) ensures that each such screening 
abides by age classification ratings 

 Indoor sporting events between 8am and 11pm, if those present do not 
exceed 1,000 

 Any contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling or freestyle 
wrestling between 8am and 11pm, provided that the audience does not 
exceed 1,000 

 Performances of unamplified live music between 8am and 11pm, on any 
premises 

 
- Also, performances of amplified live music between 8am and 11pm: 

 

Page 215



 

32 | P a g e  
 

 On premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, 
provided that the audience does not exceed 500 

 In a workplace that is not licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, 
provided that the audience does not exceed 500 

 In a church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community 
premises that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided 
that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets 
consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for the 
premises 

 At the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or 
(iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) 
the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises 
from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health 
care provider for the hospital. 

 
- Also, playing of recorded music between 8am and 11pm: 

 
 On premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, 

provided that the audience does not exceed 500 
 In a church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community 

premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, 
provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser 
gets consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for the 
premises 

 At the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or 
(iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) 
the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises 
from (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the 
health care provider for the hospital 

 
- Also, any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority 

between 8am and 11pm, with no limit on audience size, where the 
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority. 
 

- Also, any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health 
care provider between 8am and 11pm, with no limit on audience size, 
where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care 
provider. 
 

- Also, any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school 
between 8am and 11pm, with no limit on audience size, where the 
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor. 
 

- Also, any entertainment (excluding films and boxing or wrestling 
entertainment) taking place at a travelling circus between 8am and 11pm, 
with no limit on audience size, provided that (a) it takes place within a 
moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and (b) the travelling 
circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive 
days. 

 
3.19 Reinstatement of conditions relating to live music upon review - the 

licensing authority may reinstate or impose conditions about live music following 
a review of a premises licence or Club Premises Certificate (relating to premises 

Page 216



 

33 | P a g e  
 

authorised to supply alcohol for consumption on the premises) where it can be 
demonstrated that live music has undermined the promotion of the licensing 
objectives and such action is appropriate. 

 
3.20 The need for licensed premises - The council shall not consider ‘need’ or 

commercial demand when exercising any licensing function. 
 
3.21 The cumulative impact of concentrations of licensed premises – The 

council recognises that the cumulative effect of the number, type and density of 
licensed premises (premises selling alcohol for consumption on or off the 
premises and premises licensed for the provision of late-night refreshment) in a 
given area may cause serious problems of nuisance and disorder outside or 
some distance from licensed premises. 

 
‘Cumulative impact assessments’ were introduced in the 2003 Act by the 
Policing and Crime Act 2017, with effect from 6 April 2018. Cumulative impact is 
the potential impact, on the promotion of the licensing objectives, of several 
licensed premises concentrated in one area. 
 
In some areas where the number, type or density of licensed premises, such as 
those selling alcohol or providing late night refreshment, is high or exceptional, 
serious problems of nuisance and disorder may arise outside or some distance 
from those premises. Such problems generally occur due to a large numbers of 
drinkers being concentrated in an area, for example when leaving premises at 
peak times or when queuing at fast food outlets or for public transport. 
 
Queuing may lead to conflict, disorder and anti-social behaviour. Moreover, large 
concentrations of people may also attract criminal activities such as drug 
dealing, pick pocketing and street robbery. Local services such as public 
transport, public lavatory provision and street cleaning may not be able to meet 
the demand, posed by such concentrations of drinkers, leading to issues such 
as street fouling, littering, traffic and public nuisance caused by concentrations 
of people who cannot be effectively dispersed quickly. 
 
Variable licensing hours may facilitate a more gradual dispersal of customers 
from premises. However, in some cases, the impact on surrounding areas of the 
behaviour of the customers of all premises taken together will be greater than 
the impact of customers of individual premises. These conditions are more likely 
to arise in town and city centres but may also arise in other urban centres.  
 
The cumulative impact of premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives 
of a concentration of licensed premises by number, type or density in an area is 
therefore a matter that the council will consider. Where there is good evidence 
that crime and disorder or public nuisance are happening and are caused by 
customers of licensed premises located in such an area, consideration will be 
given to adopting a special policy to help address such issues. 

 
 Such a special policy will be implemented if the authority is satisfied that there is 

enough evidence to support such a decision, and that it is proportionate and the 
most effective measure to address the problems identified. 

 

Page 217



 

34 | P a g e  
 

 Types of evidence the licensing authority will take into consideration when 
considering whether to implement such a special policy include: 

 
- Local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of crime 

and crime hotspots  
- Statistics on local antisocial behaviour offences 
- Health-related statistics such as alcohol-related emergency attendances and 

admissions 
- Environmental health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and noise 

complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints by 
residents or residents’ associations 

- Residents’ questionnaires  
- Evidence from local councillors 
- Evidence obtained through local consultation 
 

The licensing authority will consider: 
 
- The number, type and density of licensed premises and the hours and activities 
 `they are licensed for 
- Trends in licence applications, particularly trends in applications by types of 

premises and terminal hours 
- Changes in the terminal hours of premises 
- Premises’ capacities at different times of night and the expected concentrations 

of drinkers who will be expected to be leaving premises at different times 
- Residential density 
- The number of consumers attracted to the area and the availability of public 

transport 
 
3.22 Other mechanisms for control cumulative impact - Once away from the 

licensed premises, a minority of consumers will behave badly. There are other 
mechanisms, both within and outside the licensing regime, that are available for 
addressing such issues. The council recognises there are several existing 
measures available that are relevant to tackling unlawful and antisocial behaviour 
associated with licensed premises, including: 
 

- Planning controls 
- Positive measures to create a safe and clean city centre, district or neighbourhood 

centre environment in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and 
other departments of the local authority 

- The provision of CCTV surveillance, taxi ranks, provision of public conveniences 
open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols 

- Powers of local authorities to designate areas as places where alcohol may not 
be consumed publicly 

- The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas 
- Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and antisocial 

behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices 
- Prosecution for the offence of selling alcohol to a person who is drunk (or allowing 

such a sale) 
- Police powers to close instantly for up to 24 hours (extendable to 48 hours) any 

licensed premises or temporary event on grounds of disorder, in the likelihood of 
disorder, or noise emanating from the premises causing a nuisance 

Page 218



 

35 | P a g e  
 

- The power of the police, other responsible authorities or any person to seek a 
review of the licence or certificate in question  

- Raising a contribution to policing the late-night economy through the Late-Night 
Levy 

- Early Morning Restriction Orders 
- Other local initiatives that similarly address these problems 
 

Should a special policy on cumulative impact be warranted at any time, it will not 
impose quotas on either the number of premises or the capacity of those premises 
nor will it restrict the consideration of any application on its individual merits. 
 
Important note: The absence of a special policy on cumulative Impact does 
not prevent any responsible authority or interested party making 
representations on a new application for the grant or variation of a licence, 
claiming the premises will give rise to a negative or adverse cumulative 
impact on one or more of the Licensing Objectives.  
 

3.23 Late Night Levy - The Late-Night Levy (the levy) is a power conferred on licensing 
authorities by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which 
enables licensing authorities to charge a levy to persons who are licensed to sell 
alcohol late at night in the authority’s area, as a means of raising a contribution 
towards the costs of policing the late-night economy. 

 
The levy will be payable by the holders of any premises licence or Club Premises 
Certificate, in relation to premises in the authority’s area, which authorise the sale 
or supply of alcohol on any days during a period (the ‘late-night supply period’) 
beginning at or after midnight and ending at or before 6am. 

 
The decision to introduce, vary or end the requirement for the levy must be made 
by the full council. The authority will consider the appropriateness of the levy as 
well as its design, prior to any decision to consult on its implementation. 

 
When considering whether to introduce a levy, any financial risk (for example, 
lower than expected revenue) rests at a local level and so will be fully considered 
prior to implementation. Currently, there is no Late-Night Levy in County Durham. 

 
3.24 Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs) - Introduced by the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibility Act 2011, Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs) 
enable an authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a specified time between the 
hours of 12 midnight and 6am in the whole or part of its area if it deems it 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  

 
EMROs are designed to address recurring problems, such as high levels of 
alcohol-related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times, serious 
public nuisance, and other instances of alcohol-related antisocial behaviour not 
directly attributable to specific premises. There currently are no Early Morning 
Restriction Orders in County Durham. 

 
3.25 Impacts within the vicinity of licensed premises - While the licensing authority 

will seek to ensure the promotion of the four licensing objectives by licensed 

Page 219



 

36 | P a g e  
 

premises in County Durham, it is acknowledged that conditions can only be 
imposed that seek to manage the behaviour of customers that fall within the 
control of the licensee.  

 
Important note: Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general 
control of nuisance and antisocial behaviour by individuals once they are 
away from the licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control 
of the individual, club or business holding the licence, certificate or 
authorisation concerned. Nevertheless, it is a key aspect of such control, 
and licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to the 
management of the evening and night-time economy. 
 
  

Page 220



 

37 | P a g e  
 

4.0 How the council applies licensing policy 
 
4.1 Our aim - Durham County Council want to promote the county as a safe and 

healthy environment where responsible law-abiding operators are encouraged 
and supported to provide great facilities for the entertainment and enjoyment of 
residents and visitors. We wish to encourage an ‘inclusive’ daytime, evening and 
night-time economy throughout the county to ensure people of all ages can 
participate in and enjoy a range of activities through a diverse array of licensed 
premises, not simply focused on the consumption of alcohol. 

 
 To realise our aim the council will encourage: 
 

 licensed premises that will facilitate and strengthen the diversity of 
entertainment and attract a wider range of participants 

 

 live music, especially original material, which will provide a range of live 
performances and styles of music, provided that such entertainment does 
not undermine the licensing objectives 

 

 national cultural institutions, global sports events and cultural festivals 
 

 non-drink-led premises, including restaurants, cafes, theatres and cinemas 
 
4.2 Licensing conditions - Every application will be treated in accordance with the 

Act, the Section 182 Guidance and this Licensing Policy. The applicant is 
expected to consider all relevant sections of the Policy and the potential impact 
upon the licensing objectives relevant to them. The Licensing Policy is applicable 
to all premises providing any licensable activity and it is important that all premises 
have regard to it. All applications for a new premises licence or variations need to 
be supported by an operating schedule. The schedule must specify (amongst 
other things) the steps the applicant proposes to take to promote each of the 
licensing objectives. 

 
 The operating schedule within an application should contain an assessment, from 

the proposed licence holder, of what they believe are appropriate and 
proportionate measures to enable them to carry out their proposed licensable 
activities. This assessment should be arrived at by taking cognisance of this policy 
and the Secretary of State’s guidance, which outlines the matters that an applicant 
should consider, such as issues in the locality and why their proposed measures 
are suitable for their proposed operation. 

 
 There are three types of condition that may be attached to a licence or certificate: 
 

 Proposed 

 Imposed  

 Mandatory 
 

Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate 
and essentially are the steps or actions that the holder of the premises licence or 

Page 221



 

38 | P a g e  
 

the club premises certificate will be required to take, or refrain from taking, in 
relation to the carrying on of licensable activities at the premises in question. 
Failure to comply with any condition attached to a licence or certificate is a criminal 
offence, which on conviction is punishable by an unlimited fine or up to six months’ 
imprisonment. 
 

4.3 Proposed conditions - the conditions that are appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives should emerge initially from the risk assessment, carried 
out by a prospective licence or certificate holder, which they should carry out 
before making their application. This would be translated into the steps recorded 
in the operating schedule, which must also set out the proposed hours during 
which licensable activities will be conducted and any other hours during which the 
premises will be open to the public. 
 
If an application receives no representations from Responsible Authorities or any 
other persons, then the licensing authority must grant that licence. The licence 
would therefore be granted with conditions that are contained within the operating 
schedule. The council does not have the power to impose conditions on a 
premises licence or club premises certificate unless it is in receipt of a 
relevant representation and considers that conditions are appropriate and 
proportionate to promote the four licensing objectives. 

 
 If a responsible authority or other person lodges a relevant representation against 

an application, then a hearing before a licensing Sub-Committee will normally 
follow. In exercising its discretion, the licensing Sub-Committee will have regard 
(amongst other things) to this policy. Applicants are expected to carefully take this 
licensing policy into account when preparing their operating schedule. 

 
If an operating schedule complies with the policy it is generally less likely that a 
responsible authority or other person will object to it, or that any objection will 
succeed. Therefore, compliance with the Policy is likely to assist the applicant to 
avoid the delay and expense of a contested licensing hearing, and the risk of a 
refusal or the addition of unwanted licence conditions.  
 
An opposed application that complies with the Policy will not necessarily be 
granted and an opposed application that does not comply with it will not 
necessarily be refused. Where there have been relevant representations, the 
licensing authority will always consider the merits of the case. Modifications of the 
operating schedule and the extent of any such modifications will only occur when 
deemed appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. We will not 
apply blanket or standard conditions and will always give proper regard to the 
merits of each individual case.  
 
Important note: This policy contains several references to the council’s 
expectations of applicants and applications. The policy is only engaged 
where the licensing authority has a discretion following the receipt of 
objections. In such cases, the licensing authority will not apply the policy 
rigidly. We will always have regard to the merits of the case with a view to 
promoting the licensing objectives. 
 

Page 222



 

39 | P a g e  
 

The council will seek to apply this policy when exercising its various licensing 
functions.  
 

4.4 Imposed conditions - The licensing authority may not impose any conditions 
unless its discretion has been exercised following receipt of relevant 
representations and it is satisfied because of a hearing (unless all parties agree a 
hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate to impose conditions to promote 
one or more of the four licensing objectives.  

 
Conditions imposed upon a premises licence or club premises certificate will be 
tailored to that type of premises and the style of operation. Consideration will be 
given to the character and nature of the locality of the premises, problems and 
sensitivities in the locality, the matters set out in the Guidance and any policy, 
initiative or other matter the licensing authority wishes to consider for promoting 
the four licensing objectives. 

 
 The council will avoid attaching conditions which duplicate other legislation. 

However, some crossover may occur if the council believes that additional 
measures to control licensable activity are required to promote the four licensing 
objectives. 

 
 The council may produce model conditions to provide a consistent approach for 

all parties by specifying appropriate conditions that could be included on any 
licence or certificate granted. Once produced, these may prove useful to 
applicants for designing the operating schedule, for other parties, in seeking to 
address concerns associated with the application and by the council when 
imposing conditions considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  

 
 Any model conditions produced will not be intended to be an exhaustive list and 

they will not restrict the ability of any party to suggest, or the committee to impose, 
any condition they consider appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, provided they are in accordance with the following principles: 

 
 Licence conditions will be: 
 

 appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives 

 precise and enforceable 

 unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve 

 tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises 
and events concerned 

 proportionate, justifiable and capable of being met 
 

Licence conditions will not: 
 

 be standardised 

 replicate offences set out in the Licensing Act 2003 or other legislation 

 duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities 
placed on the employer by other legislation 

Page 223



 

40 | P a g e  
 

 seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the 
direct management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on 
the behaviour of customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as 
they enter or leave 

 require the admission of children to any premises 
 

Where, following relevant representations and a hearing, the council is not 
satisfied that the imposition of conditions is appropriate and sufficient for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives, the authority can restrict licensable activities 
and/or hours. The council may also refuse to specify the person nominated as 
designated premises supervisor.  Where all the above steps are not considered 
appropriate and not enough to promote the licensing objectives, our policy is to 
refuse the application 

 
4.5 Mandatory conditions – certain specified conditions that are imposed on all 

premises licences and club premises certificates. These are mandatory conditions 
and will apply to all licences and certificates that authorise the sale or supply of 
alcohol. These conditions will apply even if they are not contained on the physical 
copy of any licence.  

 
  

 
  

Page 224



 

41 | P a g e  
 

5.0 How the council promotes the licensing objectives 
  

Licensing law is only one means of securing the delivery of the licensing 
objectives and should not therefore be a means of solving all problems within the 
community or night time economy. However, it is a key means of control and is 
viewed by the council as an integral part of a holistic approach to the management 
of the evening and night time economy. 

 
5.1 Working in partnership - The council will work in partnership with, amongst 

others, neighbouring local authorities, the Police, local businesses and people in 
pursuit of the promotion of the licensing objectives. The council is keen to promote 
partnership-working between agencies and the licensed trade.  

 
A range of initiatives can be delivered aimed at ensuring the promotion of the 
licensing objectives throughout County Durham including: 
 

 Multi-agency enforcement, including proactive monitoring and inspections 
of licensed premises as well as test purchase (‘mystery shopper’) 
operations 

 

 Joint-agency action planning with problem premises 
 

 Joint consideration of licence applications to ensure a consistent and 
holistic approach that is agreed between all agencies 

 

 Introduction of voluntary trade schemes such as ‘Reduce the Strength’ 
 

 Conducting training in responsible alcohol service, safeguarding and 
awareness of child sexual exploitation 

 

 Attendance and participation in local community meetings and workshops. 
  
5.2 Communication with residents and businesses - Durham County Council 

considers it extremely important that licensed premises behave as good 
neighbours within their community. Licensees are encouraged to consult with 
local residents, businesses and local councillors prior to submitting an application 
for a new licence or variation of an existing licence to ensure the promotion of the 
licensing objectives and ensure that any issues that may arise in respect of the 
proposed operation of the premises can be addressed at the earliest possible 
stage. 

 
 Licence holders and DPS’s are expected to communicate to address and resolve 

relevant problems. This could include giving contact telephone numbers to 
residents, so they can report any issues to the premises for them to address. It is 
expected that contacts at the premises would be persons in a position of 
responsibility who are contactable whenever the premises are open to the public 
so that any issues can be addressed without delay. Licensees could also arrange 
regular meetings with neighbours to ensure good relations. 

Page 225



 

42 | P a g e  
 

5.3 Pubwatch and similar trade forums - such schemes, are where members may 
regularly exchange information about incidents, known troublemakers, and crime 
prevention advice through official data protection agreements. The operation of 
collective banning policies and the enforcement of exclusion orders are also seen 
to be essential parts of crime prevention in an area or neighbourhood. 

 
 Active participation in such schemes demonstrates good practice by the licensed 

trade and the licensing authority encourages licensees to take part in existing 
schemes or seek to establish new ones where none currently exist. In turn, we 
will provide as much support as possible. For further details of any of the schemes 
operating in County Durham, or if you have an interest in developing a brand-new 
scheme, contact the council’s Licensing Services section. 

 
5.4 Best Bar None - Best Bar None strives to make our city a safe and vibrant place 

to go at night. Best Bar None is a National Award Scheme supported by the Home 
Office. It is aimed at promoting responsible management and operation of alcohol-
licensed premises. 

 
 Best Bar None was launched in Durham City in 2008. Since its launch, businesses 

have reported increases in sales and footfall, as well as significant decreases in 
violent crime in the city centre. Evaluation of the scheme in 2018 showed some 
licensees reporting more than 25% increase in turnover, and a 15% increase in 
footfall (in comparison with 2008), and a yearly decrease in violence. 

 
 Our objectives of running the Best Bar None scheme in Durham City are to: 
 

a) Reduce the risk of alcohol-related harm, disorder and crime 
b) Establish a standard of good practice in licensed bars, pubs, nightclubs 

and restaurants 
c) Identify and reward responsible managers and share good practice with 

others 
d) Ensure that accredited premises manage their venue with the 

management standards that must be in place, to be legally operating, to 
meet the objectives of the 2003 Licensing Act 

e) Improve knowledge and skills of enforcement and regulation agencies (for 
example, the police and fire services, licensing, environmental health, 
trading standards), licensees and bar staff to help them responsibly 
manage licensed premises, and understand how this can reduce alcohol-
related crime and disorder 

f) minimise the harmful effects of binge drinking 
g) improve profitability of premises and the attractiveness of our city centre 
h) Raise public awareness of the benefits of choosing to visit a well-run 

licensed premise 
i) Work positively and in partnership with our licensees and the police 
j) Improve the attractiveness and appeal of socialising in Durham City 

 
5.5 Locality considerations - licensed premises and activities can play an important 

role in ensuring the vitality and prosperity of the county in terms of economic 
growth, additional employment opportunities and improved physical 
environments. However, if not managed carefully, negative impacts can arise. 

Page 226



 

43 | P a g e  
 

 Applicants and licensees are expected to obtain enough information to enable 
them to demonstrate that they understand: 

 

 The layout of the local area and physical environment, including crime and 
disorder hotspots, proximity to residential premises, and proximity to areas 
where children may congregate 

 Any risk posed to the local area by the applicant’s proposed licensable 
activities 

 Any local initiatives (for example, local crime-reduction initiatives or 
voluntary schemes, including any local taxi control schemes, street 
pastors, pubwatch etc.) that may help to mitigate potential risks 

 
Public sources of information that may be of use in understanding the local risks 
include: 
 

 The Crime Mapping websites 

 Our website  

 Local councillors 

 Responsible authorities 

 For further health and deprivation, crime and community safety information 
about the local area, visit: https://www.durhaminsight.info/  

 
All applicants are expected to consider the individual characteristics of the 
premises and locality when preparing their operating schedule, particularly when 
considering appropriate activities, hours and operating standards for the 
premises. It is expected that these would be assessed against the likely impact 
on the promotion of the licensing objectives by their premises. Applicants are 
encouraged to identify relevant factors through risk assessment of the local area 
for their premises before making the application. 

 
 Applicants are expected to address any local factors relevant to their premises. 

The matters identified are not exhaustive and, where its discretion is engaged, the 
licensing authority will have regard to any relevant matters raised in any 
representation that may fall outside those factors.  Some of these can be 
controlled by licensed premises, whilst others are clearly external, e.g. pre-loading 
by customers, and have an impact on the premises’ operation of the licensing 
objectives. Relevant factors include: 

 

 Physical design of the premises 

 Activities at the premises 

 Style of operation, particularly related to the likelihood of alcohol 
consumption 

 Characteristics of likely patrons e.g. age, gender, potential for pre-loading 
etc. 

 Staffing of the local public realm, including policing, wardens 

 Public CCTV coverage 

 Pedestrian and vehicular pathways likely to be used by customers when 
leaving the premises late at night   

Page 227

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


 

44 | P a g e  
 

5.6 Areas with evidence of existing problems - Where its discretion is engaged, 
and a hearing takes place, the council will consider such risk factors when 
assessing the relevance of operating measures appropriate to promote the 
licensing objectives. The council will consider the general character of the 
surrounding area, including crime and antisocial behaviour (ASB) levels, litter 
problems, issues regarding underage or proxy sales, and noise complaints.  

 
Where there are demonstrable problems linked to the operation of licensed 
premises in the area and the evidence demonstrates problems with licensed 
premises in the area, the licensing authority will (in exercising its discretion) take 
this into consideration when deciding what, if any, steps are appropriate and 
proportionate in the individual case. 

 
5.7 Proximity to residential areas, businesses and sensitive users – When 

dealing with applications and issuing licences, the council (when their discretion 
is engaged) is more likely to impose stricter conditions on premises operating in 
residential areas. This is for the promotion of the prevention of public nuisance 
licensing objective and will apply to all premises.  

 
Proper consideration should be given to the proximity of licensed premises not 
only to residents and businesses, but also in relation to other sensitive premises, 
to ensure they are in a position that does not adversely affect their ability to ensure 
the promotion of the licensing objectives. Where premises are close to local 
residential properties, and where its discretion is engaged, the authority will 
consider measures proposed in the application, in relation to preventing nuisance, 
such as: 

 

 Prevention of noise or vibration escaping from the premises due to volume 
of music or plant and machinery noise 

 Prevention of noise disturbance from people entering and leaving the 
premises (e.g. queue management, dispersal policy) 

 Prevention of disturbance by people outside the premises (e.g. smoking 
areas) 

 Litter from the premises (This issue is considered particularly relevant in 
respect of late-night takeaways and smoking-related litter outside licensed 
premises) 

 Disturbance caused by deliveries associated with licensable activities, 
including waste collection  

 
In general, any licensees wishing to open their premises past 11pm (2300hrs) in 
a residential area will need to demonstrate clearly, in their operating schedule, 
that public nuisance will not result from later operation. As part of the operating 
schedule, applicants should read the Secretary of State’s Guidance, this policy 
and any other relevant documents to ensure that robust measures are included in 
any application.  
 
Premises providing regulated entertainment may be subject to additional 
conditions to ensure that residents are not disturbed. This may include the use of 
sound limiters, keeping doors and windows closed and restricting the hours that 
music is played. Premises with outdoor areas, such as beer gardens and smoking 

Page 228



 

45 | P a g e  
 

areas, may also be subject to further restrictions regarding their operation and 
use.  
 
Premises applying for early morning daytime hours to sell alcohol will be given 
particular consideration in relation to their proximity to schools, play areas, 
nurseries, children’s centres and other youth amenities to protect children from 
harm.  This may include other groups (such as persons who are alcohol-
dependent) who could become more vulnerable or present a greater risk of crime, 
disorder and public safety issues as a result of excessive alcohol consumption or 
who may be drawn to particular premises if they are licensed to sell alcohol at 
earlier times. 

 
5.8 Licensing hours – In 2003 the Government expressed a view that “more flexible 

opening will help address the issue of large numbers of patrons leaving at the 
same fixed time and as such will reduce disorder and disturbance whilst helping 
promote business and cultural development”. The Government also wishes to 
ensure that licensing hours should not inhibit the development of thriving and safe 
evening and night-time local economies which are important for investment and 
local employment and attractive to domestic and international tourists. 

 
The council acknowledges these principles but believes that full consideration 
should be given to the risk of disturbance to residents and possibly to businesses 
when licensable activities continue late at night and into the early hours of the 
morning. Whilst the Act removed set permitted hours for on-sales and leaves 
applicants to decide what is appropriate to include in the operating schedule, the 
council recognises the impact licensing hours have in an area.  

 
Important note: The council will make appropriate decisions on licensing 
hours for the locality of each premises.  

 
 As part of their operating schedule submitted with any application, the applicant 

is expected to consider the statutory guidance, this policy and any other available 
data relevant to their prospective locality and the potential impact their operation 
may have on that area. 

 
 Where it is appropriate and proportionate to do so, the council may seek to reduce 

the hours for licensable activities to promote an orderly and gradual dispersal from 
a certain area or certain premises.  

 
 All applicants and existing licence holders are expected to achieve and to adhere 

to any relevant planning permissions, including hours of operation. Applicants are 
encouraged to secure any necessary planning permissions before applying for 
any licence. Where the planning authority has set a terminal hour on a premises’ 
planning permission, the licensing authority may only grant a licence to that hour 
should that be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Efforts will 
be made to ensure consistency and integration between licensing and planning 
policy as detailed in Point 2.7 of this policy. 

 
 The hours granted to premises refer to the hours during which licensable activities 

may take place. In the absence of reasonable and extenuating circumstances, the 

Page 229



 

46 | P a g e  
 

council would normally expect the premises to close within a reasonable time after 
the terminal hour for licensable activities. 

 
 Important note: Policy recommended ‘framework’ hours (see Appendix II) 

are intended to guide applicants when preparing their operating schedules. 
These are the council’s general recommendations. It must be emphasised 
that where no relevant representations are received, an application must be 
granted in accordance with the hours included in the application. 

 
 There will be a general presumption that licensed premises in residential and 

mixed residential/commercial areas will have a greater potential to undermine the 
public nuisance licensing objective. For this reason, applicants and existing 
licence holders may expect greater scrutiny of applications and operations in 
connection with their licensed premises and associated activities.   
 
When its discretion is enabled, the council will consider the possibility of 
disturbance to businesses and residents late at night and in the early hours of the 
morning, and the detrimental effects that any such disturbance may give rise to. 
These are important matters to be considered when addressing the hours during 
which licensable activities may be undertaken. 

 
 The council has considered the Secretary of State’s Guidance in determining this 

policy. The specified framework hours on any given day is not (and should not be 
regarded as) the ‘usual’ or ‘normal’ terminal hour for licensable activities in the 
County. Instead, the ‘framework hours’ serve to identify those types of premises 
where the council will pay particular regard to local factors and the likely effect on 
the local neighbourhood of carrying out the proposed licensable activities 
(sale/supply of alcohol and the provision of late-night refreshment). 

 
 In considering appropriate times for policy framework hours, the council has had 

regard to concerns expressed by residents, the licensed trade and the responsible 
authorities including Durham Constabulary. The council acknowledges that in 
addition to location and other factors, risks differ depending on whether premises 
are licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on or off the premises and for 
premises licensed only for regulated entertainment or late-night refreshment. 

 
 The council expects that, where applications to provide licensable activities 

outside these framework hours are made, applicants will volunteer particularly 
robust conditions in their operating schedules in respect of all the licensing 
objectives. In preparing the operating schedule, applicants who wish to provide 
licensable activities outside the Framework Hours should have regard to: 

 

 The location of the premises and the character of the area in which they 
are situated  

 The proposed hours during which licensable activities will take place and 
the proposed hours during which customers will be permitted to remain on 
the premises  

 The adequacy of their proposed measures to promote the licensing 
objectives  

Page 230



 

47 | P a g e  
 

 In the case of a premises having been previously licensed, any relevant 
issues relating to the previous licence  

 Whether customers have access to public transport when leaving the 
premises at night-time and in the early hours of the morning  

 The proximity of the premises to other licensed premises in the immediate 
and local area and the hours of operation of those other premises  

 Policies and proposals for the timely and orderly dispersal of customers  
 

The council also expects applicants to provide particularly robust conditions in 
their operating schedules to promote the prevention of public nuisance in cases 
where outside areas (such as beer gardens, patios and marquees) will be used 
by customers after 21.00 hours any night of the week. 
 
Important note:  
 

 There must be no presumption that an application made for timings 
within the framework hours will be automatically granted 

 Where relevant representations are made, each case will be 
considered on its merits  

 
The following should be considered when deciding on the hours applied for:  
 

 Applicants should limit their applications to the hours they genuinely intend 
and reasonably expect to operate  

 When completing the Operating Schedule, applicants should consider all 
the Licensing Objectives. (Representations are more likely to result from 
inadequately considered Operating Schedules)  

 Where relevant representations are made, the Licensing Committee shall 
determine whether the proposed measures in the Operating Schedule 
address the issues underpinning the framework hours policy.  As each 
application will be determined on its own merits, the individual 
circumstances will vary between each application 

 Although this policy applies to all licensable activities, the Licensing 
Authority will have regard to the proposed use of the premises when 
considering whether and how this policy should apply in any given case  

 
The following types of premises, where licensable activities are authorised, are 
not considered to make a significant contribution to the problems of late-night 
crime and disorder and anti-social behaviour and, as such, these premises will 
generally have greater freedom to operate outside framework hours: 
 

 Theatres 

 Cinemas 

 Hotels 

 Large supermarkets 
 

5.9 Takeaway premises and late-night refreshment - there are often concerns 
about noise, nuisance, crime and disorder and anti-social behaviour in respect of 
premises open late and providing hot food and drink. Applicants and licensees of 

Page 231



 

48 | P a g e  
 

late-night refreshment premises wishing to open past 23.00 will need to 
demonstrate that there are suitable steps in place to mitigate any undermining of 
the licensing objectives from their operation. 

 
When the council’s discretion is engaged, if suitable practices are not put in place 
and it is the belief of the council that crime and disorder and/or a public nuisance 
is likely to occur due to the late operation of late-night refreshment premises, then 
the council will look at reducing the hours and/or (subject to any relevant 
representations being received) removing late night refreshment from a licence. 
 
Important note: When representations have been received and a hearing 
takes place, the council will refuse to grant a licence either at all or outside 
framework hours to any premises if it believes adequate controls cannot be 
applied and it will undermine the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

  
5.10 Garages, service stations and petrol stations - Under section 176 of the 

Licensing Act 2003, no premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary 
event notice has effect to authorise the sale by retail or supply of alcohol on or 
from excluded premises. “Excluded premises” means a motorway or trunk road 
service area or premises used primarily as a garage or which form part of 
premises which are primarily so used. 

 
The council will require information from the applicant regarding the primary use 
of the premises prior to the hearing. Trading figures can be used to determine the 
issue of primary use. If a premises licence is granted, the premises licence holder 
must ensure that alcohol is not sold or supplied at any time when the premises 
are used primarily as a garage. 
 

5.11 Adult and sex related entertainment activities – The Licensing Act makes no 
specific provision with respect to certain activities such as “lap”, “table” and “pole” 
dancing. These, and similar forms of sexual entertainment, are not themselves 
designated as licensable activities under the Act. 

 
Because such entertainment is expressly excluded from the definition of regulated 
entertainment found in the Licensing Act 2003, premises for which a sexual 
entertainment venue licence is held do not require a premises licence, club 
premises certificate or temporary events notice to provide adult or sexual 
entertainment. However, if the premises also carry on other licensable activities 
(e.g. the sale of alcohol or the provision of regulated entertainment that is not 
sexual entertainment), they will require a premises licence, club premises 
certificate or temporary events notice under the Licensing Act for those other 
activities. 

 
The Policing & Crime Act 2009 brought certain premises offering entertainment of 
a sexual nature under the controls of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982. Sexual entertainment, held on an infrequent basis, can fall 
outside this legislation and such infrequent entertainment will be considered under 
the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
When representations are received, the council will have regard to the following 

Page 232



 

49 | P a g e  
 

additional matters in respect of applications to provide adult entertainment, 
including entertainment of a sexual nature, e.g. nudity, striptease and lap dancing. 
The council will also consider the location of the premises in relation to their 
proximity to the following sensitive uses: 

 

 Housing and residential accommodation 

 Schools, play areas, nurseries, children’s centres and other educational 
establishments 

 Family shopping and leisure areas 

 Places of worship 

 hospitals 

 Historic buildings and tourist attractions 

 Other places where entertainment of a similar type is operated 

 Other places where significant numbers of children are likely to attend or 
congregate 

 
The council will impose conditions designed to ensure that children are not 
admitted to and cannot witness these activities, and to control crime and disorder 
problems. The supports the licensing objective of protecting children by 
preventing them being exposed to unsuitable material or acts, and for the 
protection of performers from risk of assault. 
 

5.12 Alcohol deliveries – Particular risks exist in connection with delivery services for 
alcohol. The council expects applicants and licencees to take measures to 
properly identify, assess and control such risks. Measures to promote the 
protection of children licensing objective must be clear and robust.  
 
The council expects operators to implement age-verification procedures at both 
the point of sale and delivery stages, with a Challenge 25 policy implemented at 
the point of delivery. The receipt of orders that contain alcohol must be by an 
adult. Retailers should ensure that delivery staff have been given appropriate 
training in procedures relating to requesting and identifying proof of age and 
implement these procedures as standard. 
 
Operators are expected to use their discretion to ensure that deliveries are 
refused in situations associated with alcohol-related nuisance or disorder and to 
ensure that alcohol is not given to persons who appear drunk. 
 
Any promotional material, including the name of the business and website, should 
be consistent with the responsible sale of alcohol. Additionally, any website URL 
or telephone number, to be used for orders, is expected to be given to the council. 
Where the authority’s discretion is engaged following relevant representations, 
conditions restricting the operation of alcohol delivery services may be imposed 
by the authority where appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
  

Page 233



 

50 | P a g e  
 

6.0 Standards of management and operating practice 
 
 This policy seeks to promote not only the licensing objectives but also excellent 

standards of premises management, covering the arrival of customers all the way 
through to their departure. Within all licensed premises, whether or not alcohol is 
to be sold, the council will expect proper management arrangements in place 
which will ensure that there is an appropriate number of responsible, 
trained/instructed persons at the premises to ensure the proper management of 
the premises and of the activities taking place, as well as adherence to all statutory 
duties and the terms and conditions of the authorisation. 

 
6.1 The designated premises supervisor (DPS) - The application for a premises 

licence must identify a designated premises supervisor (DPS) who must also hold 
a personal licence. It is important that the DPS is an accountable, responsible 
person present when alcohol is being sold or supplied to ensure, for example, that 
alcohol is not sold to persons who have had too much to drink, or to those under 
the age of 18 years. 

 
Most premises, where alcohol is sold under a premises licence, must have a 
designated premise supervisor (DPS). The DPS will be named in the premises 
licence, a summary of which must be displayed on the premises. A DPS must be 
a personal licence holder. Every sale of alcohol must be made or authorised by a 
person who holds a personal licence (or must be made or authorised by the 
management committee in the case of community premises). 

 
 The Licensing Act 2003 does not require a DPS, or any other personal licence 

holder, to always be present on the premises when alcohol is sold. However, DPS 
and the premises licence holder always remain responsible for the premises. The 
premises licence holder will be expected to ensure that the DPS has experience 
commensurate with the size, capacity, nature and style of the premises and 
licensable activities to be provided. 

 
The DPS is the person who has day-to-day responsibility for the running of the 
business associated with the retail sale of alcohol. All businesses and 
organisations selling or supplying alcohol, except members’ clubs and certain 
community premises must have a designated premises supervisor. Whoever 
holds this role must be named in the operating schedule, which you will need to 
complete as part of the application process, when you apply for a premises 
licence. 
 
The person chosen to be the DPS will act as primary contact for the council and 
the Police. They must understand the social and local issues and potential 
problems associated with the sale of alcohol and have a good understanding of 
the business itself. 
 
If the police or authorised council officers have any questions or concerns about 
the business, they will expect to be able to reach the DPS. Each business may 
have only one supervisor selected for this role, but the same person may act as 
the DPS at more than one business. 

Page 234



 

51 | P a g e  
 

The Licensing Act requires the DPS and personal licence holders to take 
responsibility for the sale and supply of alcohol. This is because of the impact 
alcohol has on the wider community, on crime and disorder and antisocial 
behaviour. Because of these issues, selling alcohol carries greater responsibility 
than licensing regulated entertainment and late-night sales of food and non-
alcoholic drinks. 
 
The council will expect the DPS to have been given the day-to-day responsibility 
for running the premises and as such it is expected that normally the DPS would 
be present at the licensed premises most of the time. To put it another way, the 
council will be concerned if the DPS is regularly absent from the premises and if 
difficulties are encountered when trying to contact a DPS. Such concerns will be 
magnified should there be any licensing related problems associated with the 
premises. 
 

6.2 Self-assessment - the council recognises that individual premises will all need to 
assess their own management needs to establish operational best practice. 
Therefore, what would be good practice at one premises may be unnecessary or 
overly burdensome in others. The examples of good practice provided in this 
policy are indicative of different measures that applicants, including licence 
holders, managers, club committees and club secretaries, DPS’s and personal 
licence holders, may wish to consider. 

 
The examples are not exhaustive and are aimed at assisting people to identify 
and improve management standards at licensed premises. Higher expectations 
are held by the council in relation to how applicants will plan to mitigate risks posed 
by premises in sensitive locations such as residential areas.  
 

6.3 Proper management of licensed premises – In promoting the licensing 
objectives and excellent standards of premises management, the council expects 
applicants and licensees to have the correct organisation and arrangements in 
place covering the arrival of customers, on-site activities, occupancy and use all 
the way through to their exit and departure. 

 
Within all licensed premises, whether or not alcohol is to be sold, the council 
expects there to be proper management arrangements in place which will ensure 
that there will always be an appropriate number of responsible, trained and 
suitably-instructed persons at the premises necessary to ensure the proper 
management and operation of the premises and that the activities taking place 
are in full adherence to all statutory duties and the terms and conditions of the 
authorisation. 
 

6.4 Promoters – Events held on licensed premises may be organised and promoted 
by persons other than the premises licence holder. Licence holders, DPSs and 
personal licence holders remain responsible for activities taking place on 
premises when promotions take place. Action will be taken against licence holders 
and all other persons responsible for the management and operation of the 
premises if required whether the event in question has been “promoted” and run 
by another person or not. In addition, the council will expect premises licence 
holders to have in place written agreements to ensure that when hiring out venues 

Page 235



 

52 | P a g e  
 

to promoters, the responsibility for the management of the premises is clear. The 
promoter and its employees or agents shall comply in all respects with all 
conditions, requirements and regulations of the local council, police and fire 
authority and have regard to this policy and relevant good practice for licensed 
premises and activities. 

 
6.5   Irresponsible drinks promotions, sales and pricing - There is a relationship 

between the pricing of alcoholic beverages, the consumption of alcoholic drinks 
and resultant issues associated with crime and disorder. When alcoholic drinks 
are offered and sold at low prices e.g. at or below cost prices from both ‘on’ and 
‘off’-trade premises, alcohol consumption can increase leading to adverse effects 
on all four licensing objectives. Cheap and readily available alcohol can contribute 
significantly to antisocial behaviour, drunkenness, disorder and other criminal 
behaviours that can blight areas, damage communities and place people at risk 
of harm. 

 
Central Government has a major role to play in dealing with alcohol pricing and 
its availability nationwide. At a local level, the council through this policy sets out 
its own role and responsibilities in relation to influencing and where appropriate, 
controlling the sale, promotion and availability of alcohol. 

 
The council’s aim is to support and encourage responsibility in the sale, supply 
and consumption of alcohol within the county. We will not seek to impose 
generalist or blanket conditions across all licences however, where evidence 
exists that the licensing objectives are being compromised or are likely to be 
adversely affected in an area, consideration may be given to the imposition of 
appropriate licensing controls on specific premises e.g. alcoholic drinks 
promotions and other sales techniques to deal with localised problems. For 
example, controls could include evidenced-based and tailored restrictions for 
specific premises on the sale of high-strength alcoholic drinks, requirements 
relating to the minimum cost of beverages etc, invariably as part of several control 
measures designed to deal effectively with any specific and identifiable problems. 

 
There is strong evidence that setting a minimum unit price will have an impact on 
reducing alcohol consumption. The council would therefore like to encourage all 
licensed premises to apply a minimum unit price of 50p to all alcoholic products 
sold under their premises licence. Where the premises are found to be selling 
alcohol below this price and there are problems associated with the premises that 
are negatively impacting on the licensing objectives, a responsible authority may 
bring review proceedings. Following the review, the Licensing Sub-Committee 
may decide to impose a condition in relation to the pricing of alcohol to uphold the 
licensing objectives. 

 
We also remind licence holders (and all relevant personnel working at licensed 
premises) of the mandatory conditions relating to drinks promotions. These 
conditions prevent drinking games and the provision of unlimited or unspecified 
quantities of alcohol for free or for a fixed or discounted price.  

 
The council will continue to focus on recognised means of public protection, 
including education, health promotion, information, enforcement, treatment and 

Page 236



 

53 | P a g e  
 

prevention in local partnerships, which have a proven track-record of tackling 
alcohol related harm and which may be achieved by working in partnership with 
the trade. 
 
The Government has established ‘cost’ as the amount of ‘duty plus VAT’, defined 
as the level of alcohol duty (‘duty’) for a product plus value added tax (‘VAT’) 
payable on the duty element of the product price. In February 2019 they produced 
Guidance on banning the sale of alcohol below the cost of duty plus VAT aimed 
at suppliers of alcohol and enforcement authorities in England and Wales 
 
This guidance provides a single point of reference for suppliers of alcohol and 
local authorities in England and Wales for banning the sale of alcohol below the 
cost of duty plus VAT. The document also provides comprehensive information 
regarding implementation of the relevant legislation, methods of calculating the 
amount of duty plus VAT (referred to in legislation as “the permitted price”) and 
effective enforcement of the ban. The legislation came into force on 28 May 2014. 
 
The ban prevents businesses from selling alcohol at heavily discounted prices 
and aims to reduce excessive alcohol consumption and its associated impact on 
alcohol-related crime and health harms. The ban is a new licensing condition of 
the Mandatory Code of Practice. The Mandatory Code of Practice applies to all 
licensed premises, including those with club premises certificates, in England and 
Wales. More information including how to calculate the permitted price of duty 
plus VAT plus worked examples is provided in Appendix IV. 

 
6.6 Alcohol health awareness – Local research from BALANCE – the North East 

Alcohol Office – shows public awareness of the health harms caused by alcohol 
is generally low. Significant numbers of people in County Durham continue to 
drink at risky levels. There is clearly an information deficit when it comes to the 
Chief Medical Officers’ low risk drinking guidelines.  

 
Responsible licensees can contribute to increasing the health intelligence of the 
population by promoting the Chief Medical Officer (CMO) guidance. The council 
would see the following steps taken by responsible licensees as a positive 
contribution to improving alcohol health awareness and reducing potential alcohol 
health harm: 

  

 Chief Medical Officer (CMO) guidance on alcohol related health is 
displayed in at least one prominent point per floor, in the premises. (14 
Units per week (for both men and women) taken over several days) 

 Unit information (and calorie data if available) is displayed on any drink’s 
menu available.  

 Ensuring free (tap) water is available and the offer is visible to customers. 
 
6.7 Design and layout of premises - The council expects all applicants to 

consider and address any potentially adverse effects on the licensing objectives 
related to the design and layout of their premises. We encourage consideration, 
particularly at the design stage, to best-practice advice such as the ‘Licensed 
Property: Security by Design’(BBPA) or that found at www.securedbydesign.com 
(ACPO). 

Page 237

http://www.securedbydesign.com/


 

54 | P a g e  
 

 
 Applicants should clearly set out the relevant steps which they propose to take 

to promote the licensing objectives in the operating schedule including matters 
of design and layout. It will be for the applicant to determine exactly what steps 
should be taken in every case and what will be appropriate will depend on the 
size, characteristics and nature of the individual premises concerned. For 
example, what might be appropriate for large chain stores such as supermarkets 
might not be appropriate for smaller individual shop units. 

 
Taking into consideration these matters, the council encourages applicants to 
identify and detail appropriate steps relating to layout and operational matters in 
the operating schedule. These may include the following: 

 

 Security measures and CCTV – An applicant should identify relevant 
security measures, supervision by staff, and/or CCTV that will be in place 
to promote the licensing objectives. 

 

 Display Areas – An applicant should identify the specified areas where 
alcohol will be displayed. Plans should be attached to the Operating 
Schedule identifying such areas. If the specified display areas are to be 
moved or altered significantly from time to time, the operating schedule 
should also specify the nature of any such changes. The Licensing 
Authority recommends that displays of alcoholic drinks should not 
normally be located at the entrance/exit points of the premises; in aisles 
which interfere with customer flow or at or near check-outs. 

 
6.8 GDPR and the use of CCTV - If you use CCTV in and around your premises 

you will need to comply with the General Data Protection Regulations. CCTV 
cameras capture images that allow you to identify individuals, which means that 
these images fall within the GDPR’s definition of personal data. You need to 
make sure you have appropriate signage in place to inform people that CCTV is 
in operation and why you are using it. 

 
This isn’t a new requirement and you should already be providing this information 
under the Data Protection Act 1998. However, the GDPR is more prescriptive 
and you should make sure that people are provided with all the privacy 
information required under the GDPR, possibly on your website or elsewhere on 
the premises. A guide to data protection and advice on the information you need 
to provide in privacy notices, including CCTV signage as well as important 
information concerning the control of data, can be found in the Information 
Commissioners website at  https://ico.org.uk/  

 
6.9 Arrival to departure – the council encourages a systematic and logical approach 

to the identification of problems, dangers and hazards along with the realistic 
estimation of likelihoods of adverse occurrences and the estimation of risk. 
Understanding the type and location of premises, its use and the nature and 
characteristics of customers will help to identify areas needing control and 
appropriate means of safeguarding people. In this manner the promotion of the 
objectives will be revealed. 

 

Page 238

https://ico.org.uk/


 

55 | P a g e  
 

Here are some brief examples of measures that may be considered to control 
and minimise risks: 

 

 On Arrival at premises the following example of controls may be 
appropriate: The implementation of practices such as queue management 
techniques, using appropriate barriers, trained door supervisors, the use 
of metal detectors and search wands, search policies for drug and weapon 
detection and confiscation, Challenge 25/PASS card schemes, last time 
of entry policies etc. 

 

 At the Premises: designing out crime risk through assessment, notifying 
the police of promoted events, maintaining staff training records, internal 
patrols to ensure safe capacities to reduce noise leakage. The introduction 
of anti-spiking measures, designated driver schemes, the creation and 
maintenance of incident logs and refusal registers. The use of 
polycarbonates rather than glass for use both inside and outside the 
premises. 

 

 Outside the premises: Through effective management of external areas 
such as beer gardens, forecourts, marquees and smoking areas. The use 
of CCTV and door supervisors and regular glass collection and disposal. 
 

 Leaving the premises: By means of a clear dispersal policy including 
neighbour courtesy and, get home safely posters, winding down periods, 
access to taxi services, door supervision.  Maintenance of a robust 
dispersal policy. 
 
Licensed premises in residential areas, or within any area subject to 
cumulative impact, are also expected to outline measures such as a 
suitable wind-down time where licensable activities will come to a gradual 
conclusion before closing time, to allow for a gradual and orderly dispersal 
from the premises and area. It is expected that all staff will be aware of 
any dispersal policy and wind-down times to ensure that customers 
actively leave the premises and area within permitted hours and with the 
minimum of disturbance to residents. 
 
The council expects licence holders and designated premises supervisors 
and operators of nightclubs, dance venues and similar premises, to 
operate a wind-down time at least thirty minutes before closing time. 
During this time, the pace, volume and type of music played should be 
slowed down and reduced to background levels. The sale of alcohol 
should also cease, and staff should be available to assist in the gradual 
dispersal of patrons from the premises and the immediate area. It is 
expected that door supervisors should also assist with the gradual 
dispersal of patrons from the premises (and the area) and direct people to 
public transport if appropriate. 
 

 Promotion and support of other initiatives: Such as, Purple Flag, 
Cardiff model (for violence prevention), Best Bar None, Pub Watch, Street 

Page 239



 

56 | P a g e  
 

Pastors, Community Wardens, Taxi Marshals, Refuges and Safe 
Transport corridors. 
 

 Safeguarding is everybody’s responsibility. There is a responsibility 
on us all to report on concerns that we are made aware of. These might 
also be concerns that occur immediately outside of, as well as within, a 
premises. Report to Police intelligence – This can be ANYTHING from car 
details, locations, names, even ‘rumour’ information.  Ring Police 101 or 
Crimestoppers 0800 555 111.  If you are concerned about a child call First 
Contact on 03000 267979. 
 

  

Page 240



 

57 | P a g e  
 

7.0 Promoting the four licensing objectives 
 
7.1 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder - Licensed premises, especially those 

offering late night / early morning entertainment, alcohol and refreshment can, if 
not properly managed, become a source of public nuisance, generating crime 
and disorder problems. The council expects all licensed premises to be properly 
managed at all times to prevent this from happening and will focus attention on 
standards of management practice at licensed premises when carrying out its 
administrative and enforcement functions. 

 
The council encourages, and will look positively on, the provision by 
licensees of comprehensive and documented staff training. Documented staff 
training conducted in respect of: 
 

 Preventing underage sales 

 Minimising drunkenness 

 Managing and resolving conflict 

 Emergency procedures 

 Compliance with the licence conditions 

 Relevant obligations and offences under the Licensing Act, particularly 
those associated with the sale of alcohol 

 Identification and refusal of underage sales 

 Use of accredited training courses and recognised industry qualifications 
(e.g. BII) 

 
The council expects every holder of a premises licence, club premises 
certificate or temporary event notice to be responsible for minimising the impact 
of crime, disorder and anti-social behaviour by their patrons both on and within 
the immediate vicinity of their premises, including for example on the pavement, 
in a beer garden, a marquee, in a smoking shelter etc. 
 
The council expects all applicants to demonstrate, in their operating schedules, 
that suitable and sufficient measures, ranging from the design and layout of the 
premises through to the daily operation of the business, have been identified and 
will be implemented and maintained with the intention of preventing crime and 
disorder. 
 
The council recommends that procedures to deal with drunken customers, 
violence and anti-social behaviour, in and outside premises, and the provision of 
closed-circuit television in certain premises should be considered by applicants, 
licencees and event organisers when addressing this issue. 
 
The council encourages personal licence holders to actively participate in 
established “Pubwatch” schemes, where issues relating to crime and disorder 
can be addressed. The council encourages involvement in the “Best Bar None” 
initiative which enables premises to demonstrate good safe operating 
procedures. Such schemes have been very successful in reducing the negative 
impact of alcohol across a range of circumstances. 
 

Page 241



 

58 | P a g e  
 

The council recognises and promotes effective and responsible management 
of all licensed and authorised premises through competent, efficient and regular 
instruction, recorded training, supervision of staff and the adoption of good 
practice, such as ‘Challenge 25’. These are amongst the most important control 
measures for the achievement of all Licensing Objectives. 
  
The council will take a positive view of anyone who invests in appropriate 
training, and nationally accredited qualifications tailored to the licensing sector. 
Training records should be kept available for inspection by relevant enforcement 
agencies as a matter of good practice.  
 
It is important that qualified and competent people are present who can discuss 
any problems or matters of concern arising from the licensable activities at or 
near to the premises with officers from DCC Licensing Services and Police.  
 
The council also considers it to be good practice if the DPS or premises 
licence holder is present in the licensed area of the premises: 

 

 Between 22:00 hours and closing time, when the premises is one that 
regularly opens after midnight for both regulated entertainment and the 
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises 
 

 At all times when the premises are a “vertical drinking establishment” 
where little or no seating is provided 
 

 At times where there is a substantial increase in customers i.e. for 
televised major sporting events etc. 
 

Maximum occupancy: When its discretion is invoked, the council will only 
impose a maximum number of people that can attend premises or an event where 
there is a clear and justifiable need in respect of that premises or event. Any such 
decision will be based on the nature and style of the operation. 
 
The council will consider information provided by the applicant and any other 
body (the Council’s Building Control Section, Environmental Health Section and 
the Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service) before setting a maximum 
number. Applicants will be expected to detail the arrangements that would be put 
in place e.g. provision of door staff to ensure that the permitted number of people 
attending the premises or event will not be exceeded. 
  
Security: Whenever security operatives/door supervisors are employed at 
licensed premises to carry out security functions they must be licensed by the 
Security Industry Authority (SIA). If a licensee directly employs security 
operatives, they will need to be licensed by the SIA as a supervisor/manager. 
The numbers of licensed door supervisors, both male and female, required at 
any premises will be dependent upon the nature of the activities licensed and the 
characteristics and capacity of the establishment as well as the hours of trading. 
 
Toughened/Safety Glass: Licensed venues that provide the sale or supply of 
alcohol for consumption on the premises should consider the introduction of 

Page 242



 

59 | P a g e  
 

toughened/safety glass.  This policy expectation applies especially to any 
premises associated with a higher risk for potential crime and disorder. This will 
be particularly relevant for high-volume vertical drinking establishments and 
those premises open beyond midnight in areas where there is a high 
concentration of venues. 
 
The council and several of its partners have signed a collective new pledge as 
part of an ongoing campaign to eradicate single use plastics. The agreement 
commits all signatories to significantly reduce, and work towards ultimately 
removing, the use of unnecessary single use plastics from their operations. If 
alternatives to normal glass are used, the use of suitable alternatives, including 
non-single use plastics, is encouraged.  
 
Drugs/Knives/Weapons: The council will expect licensees to take all 
reasonable steps to prevent the presence of drugs on licensed premises and to 
take appropriate steps to prevent drugs changing hands or consumed within the 
premises to prevent tragedies and harm because of drug misuse. 
 
The council will expect licensees to be familiar with the Home Office Drug 
Strategy booklet entitled Safer Clubbing (ISBN 1840827807) or other subsequent 
editions. The council also expects that licence holders will also take steps to 
prevent the presence of knives and other weapons on their premises and that a 
log be kept of all drug, knife and weapon incidents. Licence holders should also 
consider arranging training for their staff on drugs, knives and weapons and to 
have policies for dealing with the possession of drugs, knives and weapons and 
the supply of drugs. 
 
In addition to the information provided above, Table 1 in Appendix VI provides 
recommendations, suggestions and examples for how to prevent the specific 
crime/disorder outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant must 
consider the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with their 
premises, activities, clientele and workforce when identifying hazards, assessing 
risks and identifying controls. 
 

7.2 Public Safety - The Act covers a wide range of premises that require licensing. 
Each of these types of premises presents a mixture of risks, with many common 
to most premises, and others unique to specific operations. It is essential that 
applicants acknowledge these risks and that premises are constructed or 
adapted and operated to safeguard occupants and people in the immediate 
vicinity who may be affected by the premises and activities taking place therein. 

 
Applicants are advised to seek advice on such matters from the council’s 
occupational health and safety team, Health and Safety Executive, Durham 
Constabulary and the Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service. They 
should incorporate any recommendations from these responsible authorities in 
their Operating Schedule before submitting their applications. Matters for 
consideration include: 

 
 First Aid 

 Public security 

Page 243



 

60 | P a g e  
 

 Event control 

 Polycarbonate Glass 

 Fire Safety 
 Electrical safety 

 Building safety 

 Transport 

 Drink driving issues 

 Occupancy levels 
 

In addition to the information provided above, Table 2 in Appendix VI provides 
recommendations, suggestions and examples of how to prevent the specific 
dangers outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant must consider 
the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with their premises, 
activities, clientele and workforce when identifying hazards, assessing risks and 
identifying controls. 
 
7.3 Prevention of Public Nuisance - Licensed premises, especially those 
operating late at night and in the early hours of the morning, can cause a range 
of nuisances impacting on people living, working or sleeping near the premises.  
 
The concerns relate, amongst other things, to litter, light pollution, noxious 
odours and noise nuisance resulting from music, human voices, ventilation 
equipment and vehicles. The council will expect applicants to demonstrate 
that suitable and sufficient measures have been identified, and will be 
implemented and maintained, with the intention of preventing public nuisance 
relevant to the individual style, location and characteristics of the premises 
and events. 
 
If an external structure or area is to be used by customers, whether for 
consumption of alcohol or for smoking, the applicant will be expected to offer 
measures designed to minimise its impact on residents in respect of both 
public nuisance and crime and disorder. These measures may include a 
restriction on hours that areas / structures will be used or appropriate signage 
requesting customers to consider residents and monitoring of such areas by 
staff. 
 
The placement of tables and chairs outside of licensed premises may give rise 
to public nuisance including noise and litter. When tables and chairs are 
situated on the public highway, relevant authorisations will often be required 
from the Highways Authority.  Enquiries concerning such consents should be 
made to the Council’s Highway’s Section (see Appendix III). In predominantly 
commercial areas, such as shopping centres, the use of tables and chairs 
outside may be allowed however, the council will normally expect them to 
be removed before the premises close, and any resulting litter/debris cleared 
away. 
 
Applicants should consider reducing potential noise nuisance by, for 
example (this list is not exhaustive): 
 

 Assessment of likely noise levels in the premises 

Page 244



 

61 | P a g e  
 

 Assessment of likely noise levels if outdoor drinking is allowed 
 The sound insulation the building would provide (e.g. double glazing, 

double doors / lobbies to entrances, windows used for ventilation) 
 The distance and direction to the nearest noise sensitive premises. 
 Likely noise sources outside of the premises (e.g. emptying bottle bins, 

taxis, unruly customers leaving the premises) 
 Dispersal of patrons – where necessary the council will expect a dispersal 

policy for patrons at the end of the evening. The policy will specify such 
issues as alterations to the style and volume of music played, public 
address announcements and use of appropriate signage at exits 

 Ways to limit noise / disorder from patrons leaving the premises 
 
The extent to which the above matters will need to be addressed will be 
dependent on the nature of the area where the premises are situated, the type 
of premises concerned, the licensable activities to be provided, operational 
procedures and the needs of the local community. 
 
Applicants are advised to seek advice from Durham County Council’s 
Environmental Health team and incorporate any recommendations in their 
operating schedule before submitting their applications. 

 
Takeaways and fast-food outlets - The council expects takeaways and 
late-night refreshment premises to take reasonable steps in clearing litter 
from outside their premises and along the pavement in either direction as 
necessary, whilst the premises are open and at the end of the working day. 
These premises should maintain clean, dirt or grease free frontages. Such 
premises should also display notices advising customers of the location of 
bins and patrons should be encouraged to use the bins made available. 
 
Important note: The council considers that it will be inappropriate to 
grant a premises licence permitting the sale of alcohol at premises 
which are principally used for selling hot food for consumption off the 
premises (“takeaway” premises). 
 
Takeaway premises are often open late at night and in the early hours of the 
morning. They can be associated with disorder as people under the influence 
of alcohol may congregate outside takeaways after leaving or in some cases 
having been ejected from late-night licensed premises.   
 
Takeaways operate within the night time economy but without the same 
framework around them, e.g. pubwatch, use of security staff etc.  In addition, 
alcohol sold from takeaways could readily be consumed in public spaces and 
may not be subject to the same controls associated with other types of 
licensed premises. 
 
From a health perspective, obesity levels are rising nationally and locally; 
without action the health of the population will continue to suffer.  
Responsible licensees can support the ‘Working toward a healthy weight in 
County Durham’ goals and the council would see the following steps as a 
contribution to reducing health harms and health inequalities: 
 

Page 245



 

62 | P a g e  
 

 Menu to display calories per portion information for all food offers.  

 Menu to offer at least one clear and stated, 'healthy option' and to be priced 

competitively.  

 Menu to display recommended daily calorie limits for adults (For women 

the recommended limit is 2,000 calories a day for men it’s 2,500).  

 Menu to offer smaller / half portions. 

 Salt and pepper available upon request rather than always on the table 

 
In addition to the information provided above, Table 3 in Appendix IV provides 
recommendations, suggestions and examples of how to prevent the specific 
nuisance type outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant must 
consider the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with their 

premises, activities, clientele and workforce when identifying hazards, assessing 
risks and identifying controls. 

 
7.4 Protection of Children from Harm - the protection of children from harm includes 

the protection of children from moral, psychological and physical harm. This 
includes not only protecting children from the harms associated directly with 
alcohol consumption but also wider harms such as exposure to strong language 
and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of exposure to certain films or 
adult entertainment). The Secretary of State’s Guidance to the Licensing Act 2003 
also makes clear that the authority must also consider the need to protect children 
from sexual exploitation when undertaking licensing functions. 

 
While the Act does not prohibit children from having free access to any licensed 
premises, the council recognises that limitations may have to be considered 
where it appears necessary to protect children from physical, moral or 
psychological harm and the effects of alcohol on parenting. Applicants must be 
clear in their operating schedules about the activities and times at which the 
events would take place to help determine when it is not appropriate for children 
to enter the premises. 
 
Consideration should also be given to the proximity of premises to schools and 
youth clubs so that applicants take appropriate steps to ensure that advertising 
relating to their premises or relating to events at their premises, is not displayed 
at a time when children are likely to be near the premises. 
 
The council will expect applicants, when preparing an operating schedule or 
club operating schedule, to set out the steps to be taken to protect children from 
harm when on the premises. The council will also expect any licence holder 
who wishes to hold events for children to provide it, and the Police, with a detailed 
risk assessment of that event including how the event will be managed, staffing 
levels for the event and how any child will be prevented from being exposed to 
any harm. 
 
The council will give considerable weight to representations about child 
protection matters particularly from the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board who 
act as the responsible authority under the Act for matters relating to child 
protection. In addition to the responsible authority whose functions relate directly 

Page 246



 

63 | P a g e  
 

to child protection, the Director of Public Health may also have access to relevant 
evidence to inform such representations. 
 
These representations may include, amongst other things, the use of health data 
about the harms that alcohol can cause to underage drinkers. Where a 
responsible authority, or other person, presents evidence to the council, linking 
specific premises with harms to children (such as ambulance data or emergency 
department attendances by persons under 18 years old with alcohol- related 
illnesses or injuries), this evidence will be considered. The council will also 
consider what action is appropriate to ensure this licensing objective is effectively 
enforced. 
 
In relation to applications for the grant of a licence in areas where evidence is 
presented, on high levels of alcohol-related harms in persons aged under 18, the 
council will also consider what conditions may be appropriate to ensure that this 
objective is promoted effectively. 
 
The council will judge the merits of each separate application before deciding 
whether to impose conditions limiting the access of children to individual 
premises where it is necessary to prevent physical, moral or psychological 
harm. 
 
The council will expect all licence holders or premises, that wish to allow 
children on to their premises, to ensure that access is restricted where 
appropriate. This could include ensuring that all children are accompanied 
and that they do not have access to, or sight of, alcohol. The council will 
consider the following when dealing with a licence application where children 
may have limited access: 
 

 Limitations on the hours when children may be present. 

 Limitations or exclusion when certain activities are taking place. 

 Requirements for an accompanying adult to be present. 

 Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when certain 
licensable activities are taking place (e.g. entertainment of a sexual 
nature). 

 Limitations on the parts of premises to which children might be given 
access. 

 Any other limitations appropriate to the application and according with 
the four licensing objectives. 

 
The council recommends that retailers of alcohol ensure that their staff are 
properly trained in all aspects of responsible retailing, including the sale of alcohol 
and age restricted sales. The Council fully endorses and promotes knowledge of 
and adherence to Challenge 25 within the retail business sector.  
 
Further advice and information on age restricted sales and training can be found 
by contacting Durham County Council’s Trading Standards service at 
trading.standards@durham.gov.uk   
 
The council will work closely with the Police and the Council’s Trading Standards 
service to ensure the appropriate enforcement of the law, especially relating to 

Page 247

mailto:trading.standards@durham.gov.uk


 

64 | P a g e  
 

the sale and supply of alcohol to children. We know alcohol is harmful to the health 
of children and young people whose minds and bodies are still developing.  
 
Alcohol must not be served to persons under the age of 18, except in limited 
circumstances allowed by the law, and then only after verifying a person’s proof 
of age e.g. 16 and 17-year-olds may drink beer, wine or cider with a table meal in 
relevant premises, where accompanied by an adult aged 18 years or over. The 
currently accepted verifications for proof of age are a passport, a photo card 
driving licence or a proof of age scheme such as Challenge 25. 
 
The council is aware of a young person’s vulnerability to alcohol and events, 
which are aimed at children under the age of 18 years on licensed premises, will 
not be supported by the council unless the applicant can demonstrate that all 
safeguards for children have been addressed (such as the removal of alcohol 
advertising). 
 
The council, Durham Constabulary Harm Reduction Unit and the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board have produced a “good practice guide” for an event 
catering for under-18’s and mixed events of under and over 18’s. This guide is 
highly recommended by the council and should be adhered to by licence holders 
and event organisers. The guide is reproduced in Appendix I. 
 
Recorded staff training programs, the use of a refusals register, in-store signage 
and limited access to alcoholic drink can all reduce the likelihood of illegal sales 
and proxy sales and are encouraged by the council. 
 
Access to Cinemas: The 2003 Act requires that any premises showing films 
must ensure that children are not able to view age restricted films (as classified 
by the British Board of Film Classification). The council will expect any licence 
holder or applicant who intends to show films to outline suitably robust measures 
on how they will protect children from exposure to this potential harm. The 
authority may impose suitable conditions if it believes it is required for 
the promotion of the four licensing objectives. 
 
The Act provides that it is mandatory for Licensing Authorities to include a 
condition in all premises licences and club certificates authorising the exhibition 
of film, for the admission of children to the exhibition of any film to be restricted in 
accordance with the recommendations given to films either by the British Board 
of Film Classification or by the council itself. 
 
Should the council need to adopt its own system of film classification the 
information regarding such classifications will be published on the council’s 
website. 
 
Children and Public Entertainment: Many children go to see and/or take part in 
entertainment arranged especially for them. For example, children’s film shows 
and dance or drama school productions, and additional arrangements may be 
required to safeguard them while at the premises. Where many children are likely 
to be present on any licensed premises, for example a children’s pantomime, 
disco/rave or similar event, the authority expects all children to be supervised by 
an appropriate number of adults and to ensure that the venues 
put measures in place to prevent any child being exposed to harm. 

Page 248



 

65 | P a g e  
 

 
Where entertainment requiring a licence is specifically presented for children, the 
council will normally expect the presence of at least one member of staff from the 
Licensed premises for every 50 children present to ensure their safety and 
protection from harm and to control their access and egress from the premises. 
The council will require those caring for or supervising children to have undergone 
an appropriate criminal record check with the Disclosure and Barring Service. 
 
Venue operators may also apply their own admissions policy to their premises. If 
a venue has carried out a risk assessment that deems it appropriate to exclude 
children or young persons from their premises, then that is a matter for them. 
 
The council will expect all venue operators to risk assess their venues 
accordingly against the nature of the licensable activities they intend to carry out. 
This could include, for example, allowing accompanied children into a premise up 
until a certain time and then excluding them for the rest of the time the premises 
are open. 
 
Regarding this licensing objective, the council considers Durham County Council 
Safeguarding Children Board to be the competent authority for matters relating to 
the protection of children from harm. A protocol exists between Durham Local 
Safeguarding Children Board and Durham Constabulary. All safeguarding 
concerns identified because of premises, personal applications and all variations 
to licences are covered by this protocol. 
 
Applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board and incorporate any recommendations in their Operating Schedule before 
submitting their applications. 
 

The council strongly recommends that events, involving persons under the age 
of 18 years and persons over 18 years, do not take place unless there are 
sufficient and robust control measures in place. Experience has shown that mixed 
age events are extremely difficult to control and manage and they have led to 
persons under the age of 18 being exposed to alcohol and entertainment late into 
the night. 
 
It is the council’s view that mixed age events should not take place within the late-
night economy, particularly at venues that are alcohol and entertainment-led and 
which are operating late at night. It is the council’s view that these mixed aged 
events can have an adverse impact on a young persons wellbeing as well 
exposing them to unacceptable levels of harms associated with the night time 
economy. 
 

 

In addition to the information above, Table 4 in Appendix VI provides 
recommendations, suggestions and examples of how to protect children from 
each of the dangers outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant 
must consider the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with 
their premises, activities, cliental and workforce when identifying hazards, 
assessing risks and identifying controls. 
 

Page 249



 

66 | P a g e  
 

8.0 Licensing of largescale public events 
 

Specific risks are associated with largescale public events, such as concerts and 
festivals. The council has expectations concerning how such events are 
expected to be managed. This policy does not define what constitutes large 
scale public events. Advice may be sought from DCC Licensing Services and 
from the Safety Advisory Group. If you wish to hold an event in a public space, 
in County Durham, it is strongly recommended that you contact them in the first 
instance. 

 
8.1 The Safety Advisory Group (SAG) – The SAG is made up of members from 

Durham County Council, the police, the fire and rescue service and the 
ambulance service. SAG's role is to promote and encourage high standards of 
public safety and wellbeing at events held in County Durham. 

 
If you notify the council of your proposed event, the SAG will provide relevant 
guidance and feedback. For larger events (more than 500 people), please 
contact the SAG with your event details at least six months before the event 
takes place. For smaller events (less than 500 people), this should be at least 
three months before the event takes place. 

 
 In considering applications for such events, the council will have regard to any 

track record of the event organiser as well as the comprehensiveness of the 
event arrangements. Licensees are expected to have high regard to the 
management standards including the following matters (this list is not 
exhaustive): 
 

 Setting up a management group for the event comprising relevant 
agencies, including but not limited to all responsible authorities 

 Overall event safety control 

 Production details 

 Medical and first aid provision 

 Site management and the structural integrity of all temporary structures 

 Crowd management, stewarding, security and queuing control  

 Fire safety and control 

 Configuration and control of sound systems 

 Management of any on-site and off-site car parking 

 Management of concessions and franchises 

 Provision and maintenance of water supplies 

 Welfare and provision of information 

 Provision and maintenance of sanitary facilities 

 Reception, collection and removal of litter and other waste 

 Liaison with residents and businesses 
 

8.2 Events on council land - If your event is to be held on council land you must 
contact DCC Asset Management and they will assist you in gaining permission. 
A minimum of six weeks’ notice is required to arrange a licence to occupy land 
and a fee will be charged to cover some of the cost in producing this. The 
application can only be processed following Health and Safety approval. 

Page 250



 

67 | P a g e  
 

8.3 National Counter Terrorism Security Office guidance - As part of organising 
your event it's important to consider security. To help event/ security managers, 
the National Counter Terrorism Security Office have issued guidance on 
increasing the protection of crowded places from a terrorist attack: 

 
Gov.uk: national counter terrorism security office  
Gov.uk: crowded places guidance 
Gov.uk: travel industry training staff to deal with terrorist incidents 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 251



 

68 | P a g e  
 

9.0   Community Premises 
 

Persons in control of premises, such as church or chapel halls, village or parish 
halls, community halls and buildings of a similar nature, may find the permitted 
annual number of Temporary Event Notices too restrictive. They should 
consider whether applying for a Premises Licence would be more beneficial.  If 
premises such as this do make an application for a Premises Licence they may, 
at the same time, make an application for the disapplication of the mandatory 
condition relating to Designated Premises Supervisors. 

 
The Legislative Reform (Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village 
Halls & c.) Order 2009 created an exemption for the requirement of a 
Designated Premises Supervisor for community premises, who may make 
application to the Licensing Authority to apply the alternative mandatory 
condition to their licence. 
 
The alternative mandatory condition is that every supply of alcohol under the 
Premises Licence must be made, or authorised by, a Management Committee. 
 
Where there is doubt as to whether premises are a community premises, the 
Licensing Authority will consider each case on its merits, with primary 
consideration being given as to how the premises are predominantly used. 
 
The fact that a school or private hall is made available for hire by the community 
would not in itself be enough to qualify the premises as “community premises”. 
Though this may be provision of a service to the community, the Licensing 
Authority will consider whether halls, used largely for private hire by individuals 
or private entities, are genuinely by their nature “community premises”. The 
statutory test is directed at the nature of the premises themselves, as reflected 
in their predominant use and not only at the usefulness of the premises for 
members of the community for private purposes. 
 
The Licensing Authority expects the management committee to be a formally 
constituted, transparent and accountable body. The committee should provide 
enough oversight of the premises to minimise any risk to the licensing 
objectives. This could include management committees, executive committees 
and boards of trustees. The application form requires the applicants to provide 
the names of the management committee’s key officers e.g. the Chair, 
Secretary, Treasurer. 
 

  

Page 252



 

69 | P a g e  
 

10.0  Fees 
 

The Act requires the council to suspend a premises licence or club premises 
certificate if the holder fails to pay the annual licence fee in accordance with the 
invoice. Where the licence or certificate holder fails to pay the annual fee, when 
due, the council will notify the licence or certificate holder in writing specifying 
the date on which the suspension takes effect. This date will be 7 days after the 
day the Licensing Authority has given the licence or certificate holder such 
notice. 

 
A premises licence or certificate that has been suspended does not have effect 
to authorise licensable activities. If licensable activities take place at premises 
where the licence or certificate has been suspended, an offence will have taken 
place. However, it can, for example, be subject to a hearing or, in the case of a 
premises licence, an application for transfer. The licence will nevertheless only 
be reinstated when the outstanding fee has been paid. In the case of a licence 
or certificate, where more than one payment year has been missed, payment of 
the outstanding fee in relation to each year will be required to reinstate the 
licence. 
 
The council will work with Durham Constabulary and appropriate enforcement 
action will be taken where premises continue trading whilst suspended. 
 
Where the licence or certificate holder has paid the annual fee, the council will 
lift the suspension and inform Durham Constabulary accordingly.  
 
 
  

Page 253



 

70 | P a g e  
 

11.0  Enforcement and monitoring 
 

The council will employ officers and authorise them to carry out functions under 
the Licensing Act 2003 and will use the full range of enforcement actions, 
including the use of statutory powers if necessary. Where there is evidence to 
suggest that the licensing objectives are being undermined, enforcement action 
will be taken in accordance with the departmental enforcement policy. 

 
This policy has been prepared having regard to Section 21 of the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006 and to the Gov.uk: Regulators' Code produced by 
the Better Regulation Delivery Office (BRDO). It sets out the key principles under 
which officers will seek to achieve compliance with the legislation enforced by 
these services.  In carrying out their duty’s officers will adhere to the principles 
of good enforcement set out in this document and in the Gov.uk: Regulators' 
Code. We will work to ensure compliance with the law by: 

 

 Targeting and focusing resources and regulatory activities during the 
service planning process; 

 Helping and encouraging businesses and individuals to understand their 
responsibilities by providing the necessary advice and guidance to allow 
them to comply with the law; and 

 Responding proportionately and fairly to breaches of the law 
 
Generally, a more informal approach will be used in less serious cases and 
partnership working is promoted to prevent problems arising. 
 
If the formal enforcement action being considered is a prosecution we will also 
consider several additional factors in line with the Code for Crown Prosecutors 
and any other nationally recognised guidance 

 
Although outside the immediate scope and remit of this policy, further information 
relating to the work of the Council and our partners which seeks to reduce the 
harm caused to communities by tackling alcohol related crime and disorder can 
be found in the County Durham Harm Reduction Strategy: 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3119/County-Durham-Alcohol-Harm-
Reduction-Strategy-2015-2020    
 
And the Safe Durham Partnership oversees the strategic delivery of the 
'Altogether Safer' theme as part of the County Durham Partnership. It is also the 
local Community Safety Partnership (CSP) for County Durham as prescribed in 
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and subsequent legislation: 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8553/About-Us   
 
Once licensed, it is essential that premises are managed, maintained and 
operated to ensure the continued promotion of the licensing objectives and 
compliance with the Act. To ensure that licensable activities are carried out in 
accordance with licence conditions and therefore promote the licensing 
objectives, authorised council officers will carry out appropriate monitoring at 
licensed premises and activities. Appointed officers will investigate complaints 
and allegations of unlicensed activities and ensure that relevant conditions are 

Page 254

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3119/County-Durham-Alcohol-Harm-Reduction-Strategy-2015-2020
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3119/County-Durham-Alcohol-Harm-Reduction-Strategy-2015-2020
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8553/About-Us


 

71 | P a g e  
 

complied with. They will seek to actively work with Durham Constabulary and 
other responsible authorities in enforcing licensing legislation. 
 
The council monitors compliance with the licensing objectives through 
programmed inspections and visits. Proactive visits are made to those premises 
where concerns have been raised relating to the licensing objectives. 
Inspections of premises will be carried out when and if they are justified with 
resources being directed towards high risk, poorly run premises as opposed to 
lower risk, well – run premises.  
 
In cases where the Licensing Authority and another enforcement agency both 
have the power to prosecute, officers of the Licensing Authority will liaise with 
that other body to avoid inconsistencies with the policies and actions of the other 
agency and to ensure that any proceedings instituted are for the most 
appropriate offence. 
 
The council expects that where enforcement action relates to a breach of one or 
more of the licensing objectives, one of the responsible authorities will consider 
making an application to the council to review the premises licence. 
 
  

Page 255



 

72 | P a g e  
 

12.0  Complaints 
 

Where the council receives complaints regarding licensed premises, 
complainants may be advised in the first instance, whenever possible, to raise 
their complaint directly with the licensee to resolve the matter. The council does 
however, recognise that it is not always possible or practical for the public to raise 
complaints directly with the licensed premises. In such circumstances complaints 
in the first instance should be addressed to: 
 

Licensing Enforcement 
Durham County Council 
PO Box 617 
DH1 9HZ 
 
or e-mailed to licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk   
  

Complaints will be dealt with in a timely and efficient manner. However, it is 
expected that noise-related complaints will initially be raised with the Council’s 
Noise Pollution Team. Complaints regarding unlicensed activities, and other 
breaches of licence conditions and premises/events operating outside the 
permitted hours, are directed to the DCC Licensing Services or the Police Harm 
Reduction Unit. 
 
On receipt of a licensing-related complaint, a Licensing Enforcement Officer will 
investigate the circumstances, and if a complaint is validated, the council may 
seek a resolution through informal means prior to taking any formal sanction. 
 
With complaints of a serious nature, the Licensing Manager and Licensing 
Enforcement Officers shall ensure that it is properly investigated, and that 
appropriate enforcement action taken. 
 
The enforcement policy can be viewed on the Council’s web site. 
 
  

Page 256

mailto:licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk


 

73 | P a g e  
 

13.0  Appeals against the decisions of the Licensing Authority 
 

There is a right of appeal for all parties concerned with the request for a review 
of a licensing decision (i.e. the applicant for the review, the premises licence 
holder or any other person who made relevant representations in relation to the 
application). This means that they can appeal to the magistrates’ court if they are 
not happy with the decision of the licensing authority. 

 
If there is an appeal against a licensing authority’s decision, and you are 
unsuccessful, the magistrates’ court can award costs against the appellant if it 
sees fit. This would mean that they would have to pay other parties’ legal costs 
as well as your own.  
 
If the licence holder appeals against the licensing authority’s decision, the appeal 
will be heard by the magistrates’ court. The council will be the respondent to the 
appeal and may call the person who brought the review (and any other person or 
responsible authority) as a witness in support of its case. The decision of the 
licensing authority in relation to the review will be suspended until the appeal is 
determined. 
 
An application to appeal the decision must be made within 21 days of the notice 
of decision. 
 
In hearing an appeal against the Licensing Authority’s decision, the court will have 
regard to this policy and the guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003. However, the court would be entitled to depart from both documents if 
it considers it justified so to do. 
 
In respect of personal licences, appeals must be made to the Magistrates’ Court 
in the area where the licence was issued. Appeals in relation to all other 
authorisations must be made to the Magistrates’ Court where the premises or 
event is situated.

Page 257



 

74 | P a g e  
 

14.0  Glossary 

 

This section explains the key terms used in the policy statement. These terms are 
all defined in the Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’) and Guidance. 

This glossary is only intended to clarify the general meaning of each of the terms. 
The list is not exhaustive nor are the definitions legally comprehensive. 

 
ACPO – Association of Chief Police Officers (see www.acpo.police.uk) 

 
Appeals – Appeals where the magistrates’ court notified parties of its decision 
in the period specified. This includes the number of appeals against application 
decision and separately appeals against the licence review decision. 

 
Applicant – A person making an application for a premises licence or club 
premises certificate 

 
Application to vary a Premises Licence – Where a premises licence holder 
wishes to amend the licence the Act allows, in most cases, for an application to 
vary to be made rather than requiring an application for a new premises licence 

 
ASB – Antisocial behavior 

 
BBFC – British Board of Film Classification: the national body responsible for 
the classification of cinema films and videos 

 
BBPA – British Beer and Pub Association (see www.beerandpub.com) 

 
CCTV – Closed Circuit Television 

 
Closure notice (premises licence) – Where a premise was prohibited from 
selling alcohol for not more than 48 hours following a notice under s.169A. 

 
Club premises certificate – Club Premises Certificates are authorisations 
needed by clubs to carry on certain activities (e.g. selling alcohol to members and 
their guests). They may be granted to clubs that meet the special requirements 
set out in Part 4 of the 2003 Act (regarding membership, that the club is 
established and conducted in good faith and special conditions where the club 
supplies alcohol to its members). These commonly include ex-services clubs such 
as the Royal British Legion, Conservative, Labour and Liberal clubs, working 
men’s clubs, miners’ welfare institutions and sports and social clubs. The 
application process is like that for a premises licence; for example, there are 
similar provisions about advertising applications and making representations. 
However, a key difference is that, unlike a premises licence, there is no 
requirement to identify a designated premises supervisor to allow the supply of 
alcohol under a Club Premises Certificate. 

 
Completed reviews – Reviews where the licensing authority notified parties 
of its decision in the time specified. Excludes applications for a review that 
were withdrawn or did not go to a hearing. Includes completed reviews of 

Page 258

http://www.acpo/
http://www.beerandpub/


 

75 | P a g e  
 

premises licences, following an application for the review under s.51 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 or following an application for an expedited/summary 
review under s.53A (which is instigated by the police) and reviews following 
closure under s.161 (which would also be instigated by the police). 

 
Conditions – Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a 
licence or certificate and essentially, they are the steps or actions the holder of 
the premises licence or the Club Premises Certificate will always be required to 
take or refrain from taking when licensable activities are taking place at the 
premises in question. The licensing authority may not impose any conditions 
unless its discretion has been engaged following receipt of relevant 
representations and it has been satisfied at a hearing that is appropriate and 
proportionate to impose conditions. It may then only impose conditions that are 
appropriate to promote one or more of the four licensing objectives. Such 
conditions must also be expressed in unequivocal and unambiguous terms to 
avoid legal dispute. 

 
Conditions consistent with the operating schedule – Conditions include any 
limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate and essentially, they 
are the steps or actions the holder of the premises licence or the club premises 
certificate will always be required to take or refrain from taking when licensable 
activities are taking place at the premises in question. 

 
Councillor – An elected member of the Council 

 
Cumulative impact area – Area that the licensing authority has identified in 
their licensing policy statement where there is a saturation of licensed premises 
and the ‘cumulative impact’ of any additional licensed premises could affect the 
licensing objectives. Further information on cumulative impact areas is available 
in the Amended Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 
on the Home Office website  
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/alcohol- drugs/alcohol/guidance-
section-182-licensing?view=Binary). 

 

CSE - Child Sexual Exploitation 

 

Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) – The designated premises 
supervisor (DPS) is a personal licence holder specified in the premises licence. 
All premises licensed to sell alcohol will have an identified personal licence 
holder, known as the DPS. The purpose of the DPS is to ensure there is always 
one specified individual who can be identified as a person in a position of 
authority on the premises. 

 

Designated Public Place Order (DPPO)/Public Space Protection Order 
(PSPO) - Designated Public Place Orders are used by local authorities to deal 
with the problems of antisocial alcohol drinking in public places. Once a DPPO 
is in place the police can use their confiscation powers to enforce the 
restriction. It is not an offence to consume alcohol within a designated area, 
but failure to comply with an officer’s requests to stop drinking and surrender 
alcohol without reasonable excuse is. This power has been replaced by Public 

Page 259

http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/alcohol-
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/alcohol-drugs/alcohol/guidance-section-182-licensing?view=Binary
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/alcohol-drugs/alcohol/guidance-section-182-licensing?view=Binary


 

76 | P a g e  
 

Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs), which were brought in under the 
Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. PSPOs specify an area 
where activities are taking place that are or may likely be detrimental to the 
local community’s quality of life. PSPOs impose conditions or restrictions on 

people using that area. 
 

Door supervisors - Door supervisors are responsible for the safety and security 
of customers and staff in venues such as pubs, bars, nightclubs and other 
licensed premises or at public events. 

 
Expedited/summary review – A chief officer of police can apply for an 
expedited/summary review of a premises licence because of serious crime 
and/or serious disorder under s.53A of the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
Family-friendly venues - Places that people with children can attend. These 
need not necessarily be places specifically aimed at children but could be 
premises appealing to adults that also provide for children. 

 
Fee bands – In determining the amount of the licence fee for applications for 
new premises licences and club premises certificates, and full variations to 
licences or certificates, each premises falls into a band based on its non-
domestic rateable value. All premises licences and club premises certificates 
have a fee band, regardless of whether they pay a fee or not. For 2011/12, the 
application fees associated with each band for a new licence or certificate are 
as follows: Band A (£100); Band B (£190); Band C (£315); Band D [no multiplier] 
(£450); Band D with multiplier (£900); Band E [no multiplier] (£635); Band E with 
multiplier (£1,905). The subsequent annual fees associated with each licence or 
certificate are as follows: Band A (£70); Band B (£180); Band C (£295); Band D 
[no multiplier] (£320); Band D with multiplier (£640); Band E [no multiplier] 
(£350); Band E with multiplier (£1,050). 

 
Forfeited (personal licence) – Suspension following a court order under s.129 
of the Licensing Act 2003 specified (and where that order has not been 
suspended, pending an appeal under s.129(4) or 130 of the Act). 

 
Guidance - Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 provides that the Secretary 
of State must issue, and from time to time may revise, guidance to licensing 
authorities on the discharge of their functions under the 2003 Act. The 
Guidance is provided for licensing authorities carrying out their functions. It 
also provides information for magistrates hearing appeals against licensing 
decisions and has been made widely available for the benefit of operators of 
licensed premises, their legal advisers and the public. It is a key mechanism for 
promoting best practice, ensuring consistent application of licensing powers 
across the country and for promoting fairness, equal treatment and 
proportionality. 

 
Hearing – Used in the context of applications for a premises licence or club 
premises certificate that go to a hearing for determining applications for a 
premises licence, for provisional statements, to vary a premises licence, for club 
premises certificates, and to vary club premises certificates. The hearings figures 

Page 260



 

77 | P a g e  
 

in this release exclude applications for a change to DPS, transfer of premises 
licence, review, or cancellation of interim authority notices following police 
objections that went to a hearing. 

 
In the vicinity - Whether somebody lives or works ‘in the vicinity’ of a premise is 
a matter that will be decided by the relevant licensing authority. The word has no 
technical meaning and in licensing matters should be interpreted as an ordinary 
English word and in a commonsense fashion. In doing this, licensing authorities 
might consider whether the party is likely to be affected by any disorder or 
disturbance occurring or potentially occurring at those premises. 

 
Irresponsible promotions - An irresponsible promotion is one that encourages 
the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises and carries a 
significant risk of leading or contributing to crime and disorder, prejudice to public 
safety, public nuisance or harm to children. 

 
Judicial review – includes only those where the High Court notified parties 
of its decision in the time period specified. 

 
Lapsed (club certificate) – Where a club premises certificate has lapsed 
because it had effect for a limited period, but that period has since expired. 

 
Lapsed (premises licence) – Where a premises licence has lapsed due to 
the death, incapacity, insolvency etc. of the licence holder, as set out under 
s.27 of the Licensing Act 2003. Excludes instances where a premises licence 
was in effect for a limited period, but the period has since expired (e.g. one-
off events). 

 
Late night refreshment – The provision of late-night refreshment means the 
supply of hot food or hot drink to the public, for consumption on or off the 
premises, between 11pm and 5am, or the supply of hot food or hot drink to 
anyone between 11pm and 5am, on or from premises to which the public has 
access. However, there are several exemptions in Schedule 2 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 (e.g. vending machines in certain circumstances, where the hot food or 
hot drink is supplied free of charge, or where it is supplied by a registered charity). 

 
Licensable activities - Licensable activities are the sale of alcohol, the supply of 
alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club, the 
provision of regulated entertainment and the provision of late-night refreshment. 
If you carry on any of these activities, you are likely to need an authorisation (a 
premises licence, a club premises certificate or a temporary event notice). 

 
Licensee - Generally refers to the holder of a premises licence but also includes 
in this policy an applicant for a premises licence or applicant for a provisional 
statement unless otherwise stated. 
 
Licensing Act 2003 – The Licensing Act 2003 became law on 24 November 
2005. The Licensing Act 2003 (the Act) introduced a single licence scheme for 
licensing premises that: 
 

Page 261



 

78 | P a g e  
 

 Supply alcohol 

 Provide regulated entertainment 

 Provide late-night refreshment 
 

Licensing authority – The licensing authority is responsible for the licensing 
of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late-night refreshment. Durham County 
Council 

 
Licensing authority area – The geographical area where a licensing authority 
exercises its functions under the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
Licensing objectives - Licensing authorities must carry out their functions with 
a view to promoting four licensing objectives. These are: 
 

 The prevention of crime and disorder 

 Public safety 

 The prevention of public nuisance 

 The protection of children from harm 
 

Licensing authorities must decide applications in connection with premises 
licences and club premises certificates on the basis of the steps it considers 
appropriate to promote these objectives. Each objective is of equal importance. 

 
Licensing Policy - See Statement of Licensing Policy 

 
Licensing register - Licensing authorities are required to keep a register 
containing a record of all premises licences, club premises certificates and 
personal licences issued by it and temporary event notices received by it, as well 
as various other matters set out in Schedule 3 to the 2003 Act. Full details of the 
information that must be contained in the licensing authority register can be found 
on the DCMS website. You can inspect the licensing authority’s register of 
licences during office hours without charge. 

 
Licensing subcommittee - Full licensing committees delegate a number of their 
functions to one or more ‘licensing subcommittees’. These are made up of three 
members of the full licensing committee. 

 
Local authority (LA) type – There are six main LA types which share similar 
characteristics such as size and therefore they hold similar licensing statistics: 
Unitary Authorities; Metropolitan Districts; District Authorities; Welsh Unitary 
Authorities; London Boroughs and Unspecified (Inner Temple and Middle Temple 
within Greater London). 

 
Mandatory Conditions - The 2003 Act provides for Mandatory Conditions to be 
included in every licence and/or club premises certificate. See Mandatory 
Condition section for conditions. 

 
Minor variation (to licence or certificate) – Small variations that will not impact 
adversely on the licensing objectives are subject to a simplified ‘minor variations’ 
process. Variations to: 

Page 262



 

79 | P a g e  
 

 extend licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption 
on or off the premises between the hours of 11pm and 7am; or 

 increase the amount of time on any day during which alcohol may be 
sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises are excluded 
from the minor variations process and must be treated as full variations 
in all cases. 

 
Multiplier – Multipliers are applied to premises used exclusively or primarily for the 
supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises under the authorisation of a 
premises licence (fee bands D and E only). 
 
Off-sales – The sale by retail of alcohol for consumption off the premises. 
 
On-sales – The sale by retail of alcohol and the supply of alcohol (by clubs) for 
consumption on the premises. 
 
Operating schedule - The operating schedule is the part of the application form 
for a premises licence or club premises certificate where the applicant sets out 
various details about how they propose to operate the premises when carrying 
on licensable activities. Among other things, it must include a description of the 
proposed licensable activities, proposed opening hours and times for licensable 
activities, proposed duration of the licence or certificate, and a statement of the 
steps the applicant proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives (for 
example, arrangements for door security to prevent crime and disorder). The 
significance of the operating schedule is that if the application for the premises 
licence or club premises certificate is granted, it will be incorporated into the 
licence or certificate itself and will set out the permitted activities and the 
limitations on them. 
 
Personal licence – Personal licences authorise an individual to supply alcohol, or 
authorise the supply of alcohol in accordance with a premises licence or a 
temporary event notice. Not everybody who works in any licensed premises will 
need to hold a personal licence; however, all premises licensed to sell alcohol will 
have an identified personal licence holder, known as the designated premises. In 
addition, all supplies of alcohol under a premises licence must be made or 
authorised by a person who holds a personal licence. 
 
Premises licence – Authorising a premises to be used for the sale or supply of 
alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment or the provision of late night 
refreshment, under the Licensing Act 2003. This includes time-limited premises 
licences. A premises licence fee is based on its non-domestic rateable value.  
 
Provisional statement - This ‘statement’ can be applied for where premises are 
being or about to be constructed for licensable activities. This will give the owner 
some reassurance about whether a licence would be granted if the premises were 
built as set out in the application for the provisional statement. However, a 
provisional statement is not an authorisation, so the relevant permission 
must still be obtained to carry on licensable activities. 
 

Page 263



 

80 | P a g e  
 

Qualifying club – Qualifying clubs are those clubs that meet the special 
requirements set out in Part 4 of the 2003 Act (regarding membership, that the club 
is established and conducted in good faith, and special conditions where the club 
supplies alcohol to its members). These are clubs where members join for a social, 
sporting or political purpose and then combine to purchase alcohol in bulk for its 
members (see examples under ‘Club Premises Certificate’ above). Such clubs 
carry on activities from premises to which public access is restricted and where 
alcohol is supplied other than for profit. 
 
Region – Licensing authority data, presented as a supplementary table to this 
release, are also grouped into regions. Formerly covered by the Government Office 
Regions until they closed on 31 March 2011, there are nine regions in England: 
North East; North West; Yorkshire and the Humber; East Midlands; West Midlands; 
East of England; London; South East; South West. The Welsh licensing authorities 
are not regionalised in the tables. 
 
Regulated entertainment - Generally speaking, the provision of regulated 
entertainment means the commercial or public provision of entertainment facilities 
or the commercial or public provision of any of the following sorts of entertainment: 
 

 The performance of a play 

 An exhibition of a film 

 An indoor sporting events 

 Boxing or wrestling entertainment 

 A performance of live music 

 Any playing of recorded music 

 A performance of dance 

 Entertainment of a similar description to live music, recorded music or dance. 
 
Schedule 1 of the Licensing Act 2003 contains further specific rules about 
where the definition of ‘regulated entertainment’ applies. These rules 
concern the intended audience and whether the regulated entertainment is 
for profit. 
 
See the policy for details of which entertainment is deregulated and, therefore, not 
licensable. 
 
Relevant representation - These are written representations about the likely effect 
of the grant of an application for or variation to a premises licence or club premises 
certificate, on the promotion of the licensing objectives. Any persons, such as 
residents, or businesses and responsible authorities, such as Environmental 
Health, can make representations. The term ‘relevant’ refers to representations that 
are considered ‘valid’ by the licensing authority. The representations must be made 
within 28 days after the day on which the application is given and if made by a 
person other than a responsible authority must be made seriously (i.e. must not be 
frivolous or vexatious). Representations can also be made in relation to an 
application for the review of a premises licence or club premises certificate. 
 
Representation - Submission made to the licensing authority in respect of an 
application. Representations can be in support or against an application. 

Page 264



 

81 | P a g e  
 

Revoked (personal licence) – If the holder of a personal licence is convicted of an 
offence during the application period for the licence, the licence may be revoked 
under s.124 of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
Responsible Authorities - Responsible authorities include public bodies that must 
be notified of applications and are entitled to make representations to the licensing 
authority in relation to the application for the grant, variation or review of a 
premises licence or club premises certificate. Any representations must be 
about the likely effect of granting the application on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 
 
Review - Interested parties including residents can also request a review of a 
premises licence when problems occur that are related to the licensing objectives. 
Following the review, the licensing authority can consider a range of responses 
such as suspending or revoking the licences, excluding certain licensable activities 
or changing conditions attached to a licence. However, it can only take these 
actions where they are appropriate to address the problem and promote one or 
more of the four licensing objectives. 
 
Risk assessment - The overall process of identifying all the risks to and from an 
activity and assessing the potential impact of each risk. 
 
Statement of licensing policy - Every licensing authority will publish a ‘statement 
of licensing policy’ at least every five years. This will set out the general approach 
the licensing authority will take when making licensing decisions. 
 
Surrender (of licence) – If the holder of a licence wishes to surrender it, it is done 
according to the provisions under section 28 (for a 
premises licence), section 81 (for a club certificate) and section 116 (for a personal 
licence). 
 
Suspended by the court (premises licence) – A power under s.147 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 (as amended by the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006) to 
suspend a license for the sale or supply of alcohol, following an offence of 
persistently selling to underage children. 
 
Suspended by the court (personal licence) – Suspension following a court order 
under s.129 of the Licensing Act 2003 specified (and where that order has not been 
suspended, pending an appeal under s.129(4) or 130 of the Act). 
 
Temporary event notice (TEN) – This is the notice that organisers’ of small-scale 
temporary events must give to make it a ‘permitted temporary activity’. This notice 
must be in a prescribed form. There are certain limitations imposed on this system. 
 
Types of Licence: 
 

 Premises licences - A premises licence can be used for the sale or supply of 
alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment or the provision of late-night 
refreshment or any combination of these activities. Its use for retail sale of alcohol 

Page 265



 

82 | P a g e  
 

is for consumption on the premises, off the premises, or both on and off the 
premises. 

 

 Club premises certificates - A club premises certificate authorises a ‘qualifying 
club’ to carry out ‘qualifying club activities’. This includes time-limited certificates. 
A qualifying club is established and conducted in good faith as a club; has at least 
25 members; and does not supply alcohol to members on the premises otherwise 
than by or on behalf of the club. These qualifying clubs (such as the Royal British 
Legion, working men's clubs, cricket clubs) are generally organisations where 
members join for a particular social, sporting or political purpose and then the club 
purchases alcohol in bulk for its members. 

 

 Personal licences - The personal licence is separate from the licence which 
authorises the premises to be used for the supply of alcohol. Sales of alcohol may 
not be made under a premises licence (other than a community premises that has 
successfully applied to remove this requirement) unless there is a Designated 
Premises Supervisor in respect of the premises (who must hold a personal 
licence); and every sale must be made or authorised by a personal licence holder. 

 

 Regulated entertainment and late-night refreshment licences - Regulated 
entertainment licensing is not covered in these statistics and is the responsibility 
of the Department for Culture, Media and Sport. Late night refreshment is the 
provision of hot food or drink to the public, for consumption on or off the premises, 
between 11pm and 5am or the supply of hot food or hot drink to any persons 
between those hours on or from premises to which the public has access. 

 

 24-hour alcohol licences - The possession of a 24-hour licence does not 
necessarily mean that the premises will choose to open for 24 hours. Prior to the 
2003 Act, hotels were often authorised to sell alcohol to residents and their private 
guests only outside of permitted licensing hours. 

 
Variation - See Application to vary a premises licence 
 
Variation (to club premises certificate) – Applications made under s.84 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 to change the terms of a club premises certificate, for example 
the qualifying club activities or the conditions.  
 
Vertical drinking - The sale and consumption of alcohol at premises with little or 
no seating for patrons. 
  

Page 266



 

83 | P a g e  
 

Appendix I Guidance for the Protection of Young People - Children 

and young people under 18 years of age who attend 

events at licensed premises 

The protection of children from harm is one of the four licensing objectives 
that underpin the Licensing Act 2003. Events aimed at attracting young people 
under 18 years old could involve some risk, even though alcohol may not be 
available at the event. Mixed age events (attended by young people, where 
alcohol is available for sale to persons over 18) increases this potential risk. 
 
The Durham Safeguarding Partnership for Children and Young People expects 
that where children are permitted, the licensed environment must be safe and 
family friendly, in line with the council’s licensing policy. We consider that 
licensed premises should operate in accordance with the following principles: 

 The Provision of a Family Friendly Environment  

 Alcohol - Provisions should be in place to see that alcohol is not served to, or 
purchased on behalf of, under-age young people. This should include use of a 
recognised age verification initiative (Challenge 25) which requires, for 
example, photographic evidence of identity. All staff responsible for selling age 
restricted goods should be trained and staff training records should be 
maintained. This initiative should operate in compliance with the partnership 
guidance issued by Durham Constabulary, the Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership and Trading Standards.  
 
The Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership expects that children will not 
be exposed, at licensed premises, to persons who are behaving irresponsibly 
(for example if they behave in a drunk or disorderly manner, if they become 
aggressive, use strong or offensive language, or engage in otherwise 
inappropriate behaviour). 
 
Premises or clubs found to be selling alcohol illegally or irresponsibly, or those 
failing to provide a family friendly environment, are expected to attend the 
relevant training to safeguard children from the risks associated with alcohol. 

 
 Advertising - Drinks promotions must comply with the requirements of the 

mandatory licence conditions. Applicants are recommended to consider 
advertising products and promotions in compliance with a recognised Code of 
Practice. Alcohol should not be advertised in a manner that may incite or attract 
young people to drink. Applicants should also consider their soft drink pricing 
policy so as not to discourage consumption of soft drinks by customers; 

 
 Signage - should be displayed to indicate the age verification policy, the 

location of the designated family area and any restrictions relating to children 
(for example, if they are required in time to be off the premises) 
 

 Drugs/New Psychoactive Substances - The trade or misuse of drugs or 
Psychoactive Substances (also known as legal highs) at licensed premises is 

Page 267



 

84 | P a g e  
 

a safeguarding concern. At premises, clubs or events where substance misuse 
issues have been identified, the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership 
expects that the premises management, or event organizer, shall implement a 
risk management plan and consider whether harm reduction measures would 
be appropriate as part of their policy. 

 
 It is expected that a risk management plan would include: the maintenance of 

an incident log; signage; regular and audited patrols of the premise including 
toilet/external areas; staff training and maintenance of training records; 
proactive interventions with customers considered to be at risk of harm; the use 
of safe ejection procedures.  

 
 Premises/clubs are expected to address substance misuse activity by working 

in partnership with the police and other agencies such as the Security Industry 
Authority. Event managers are also expected to manage risk in partnership with 
substance misuse treatment services or qualified welfare experts; 

 
 Noise - Managers of licensed premises or clubs that are situated in residential 

areas need to be aware that children and young people living near those 
premises may be disturbed by any excessive noise (for example: loud music 
or noise made by customers leaving premises late at night). This should be 
addressed through signage and verbal advice to customers or members. If 
children are living at a licensed premises, consideration should be given to the 
impact of noise on the welfare of those children 

 
 Location - Where licensed premises, certificated clubs or gambling premises 

are near schools, nurseries, parks, or other children’s provision, there needs to 
be an awareness of how issues such as alcohol misuse, criminality, advertising 
and adult entertainment may impact on children, particularly during the day and 
in outside areas 

 
 Entertainment - Safeguarding measures must be in place for the protection of 

children from adult entertainment, including striptease, ‘blue’ comedians, adult 
gambling, or the showing of films with inappropriate classifications or films 
considered unsuitable for children by the council 

 
 Child Entertainment - Where an activity takes place at a licensed venue which 

is directly aimed at children, such as a children’s party or show, consideration 
must be given to the content of the performance, the number of adults required 
to be present, the responsibilities of those adults required to be present and 
the responsibilities of staff, to ensure that children are supervised and protected 
from harm. 

 
 Staff supervision - If staff have responsibilities for supervising children’s 

activities in the absence of a responsible adult, or if staff are in one to one 
private contact with children, they should be appropriately vetted. If an activity 
requires children to be accompanied by a responsible adult, this requirement 
should be publicised (in the booking contract, tickets or publicity materials) and 
strictly enforced. Consideration must also be given to whether a child 
performance licence is required. 

Page 268



 

85 | P a g e  
 

 Child-Minding - If children are living on the premises then adequate minding 
arrangements must be in place whilst their parents/carers are working. Working 
staff should not ‘mind’ children from a remote location, or attempt to care for 
children within the licensed areas when operating under a premises licence 

 
 Outside areas/play areas - Children’s play areas must comply with the 

requirements of the Health Protection Service and health and safety legislation 
will apply. All external areas should be routinely monitored to prevent children 
from being at risk of harm. Signage should be displayed regarding the policy 
for supervising children in play areas 

 
 Restrictions - Where the council has placed specific restrictions on a licence 

relating to children, any breach of those restrictions, coming to the attention of 
the safeguarding partners, will be reported immediately to the Licensing 
Authority. The Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership considers that the 
restrictions imposed by licence conditions apply to all children accessing the 
event, premises or club, including children living, working, entertaining or 
socialising at licensed establishments 

 
 Smoking - Children exposed to the effects of a smoking environment are at 

risk of harm and consideration must be given to the welfare of children when 
designating any external smoking areas. Consideration should also be given to 
the supervision of children if adults temporarily exit the premises to smoke. The 
Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership expects that at premises, where 
smoking is the main or sole activity (such as shisha venues), a policy should 
be in place to prevent underage tobacco sale, to prevent children being 
exposed the effects of smoke, and to prevent children being exposed to an 
adult-orientated environment. 

 
B Staffing arrangements - Children working or involved in performance or 

entertainment  
 

 Under 18 staff - No staff under the age of 18 years are to be employed (paid 
or unpaid) on the premises where adult entertainment takes place 

 
 Children of non-compulsory school age – they are restricted when selling 

alcohol and sales may only take place in compliance with the Guidance issued 
under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 which requires specific 
supervision by a designated ‘responsible person’ 

 
 Young people working - If children of non-compulsory age are working within 

a licensed premises/club or event, the terms and conditions of their work must 
comply with health and safety working time regulations and a safeguarding risk 
assessment should be undertaken 

 
 Exclusion of children by condition - Children must not remain in a licensed 

area if there are conditions to prohibit this 
 

Page 269



 

86 | P a g e  
 

 Work permits - A work permit must be obtained for all children who are 
employed whilst of compulsory school age and regulations must be complied 
with regarding the type and hours of work they are permitted to undertake 

 
 Children performing - Children involved in entertainment or performance may 

require a licence from the Council to ensure the necessary safeguards are in 
place. Children must not participate in performance or entertainment in breach 
of any restrictions imposed by any licence conditions 

 
 Submission of risk assessments - It is expected that safeguarding risk 

assessments will be submitted to the council at the point of applying for a work 
permit or performance licence and that the Council’s good practice guidance 
for chaperones is complied with for all children working or performing under the 
age of 18 years. 

 
 Vetting - the applicant is responsible for ensuring that any staff working on 

licensed premises who may have specific access to children through the nature 
of their employment (for example, coaching, supervised play areas, children’s 
entertainment) have appropriate Disclosure Barring Service (DBS) checks 
which are current 

 
 Entertainers - children’s entertainers who are contracted to work at licensed 

premises/clubs or events should produce a reference or if their responsibilities 
involve private contact with children or supervision, a personal and recent 
enhanced DBS check should be produced. This also applies to individuals 
volunteering their services, such as play supervisors or providers of children’s 
entertainment. 

 
Where an activity takes place at a licensed venue which is directly aimed at 
children, such as a children’s party or show, consideration must be given to the 
content of the performance and the number of adults required to be present, 
the responsibilities of those adults required to be present and the 
responsibilities of staff, all to ensure that children are supervised and protected 
from harm. 

 
 Staff supervision - If staff have responsibilities for supervising children’s 

activities in the absence of a responsible adult, or if staff are in one-to-one 
private contact with children, they should be appropriately vetted. If an activity 
requires children to be accompanied by a responsible adult, this requirement 
should be publicised (in the booking contract, tickets or publicity materials) and 
strictly enforced. Consideration must also be given to whether a child 
performance licence is required. 

 
 Clear management plans - should be in place demonstrating how the 

licence holder intends to control and mitigate the potential harm to 
individuals under 18 years of age attending these events, irrespective of 
whether alcohol is available or not. 

 
 Code of conduct - Whilst every event should be assessed on its own 

merits, the Licensing Authority, Police and Local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board strongly recommend that a code of conduct/policy for these events is 

Page 270



 

87 | P a g e  
 

adopted to ensure that the four Licensing Objectives are complied with, 
particularly the Protection of Children from Harm objective. Measures 
expected to be considered include: 

 
A Under 18 Only Events 

 
1 The Police Harm Reduction Unit, DCC Licensing Services and Local 

Safeguarding Children’s Board must be notified of any under 18 events at 
least 28 days in advance of the event. Such notification should be from the 
premises licence holder or the DPS. They would be held accountable should 
the event undermine any of the licensing objectives. 

 
2 The premises must be covered by colour, digital CCTV which meets the 

requirements and expectations of the Police and council. This equipment to 
record whilst the event is being held on the premises; all recordings to be 
retained for a minimum period of 28 days and to be made available upon 
request to the Police or authorised officers of the council within a period of 7 
days. 

 
3 The operator to ensure that the premises have enough SIA registered security 

staff and they are employed to meet at least the following minimum ratio: 2 
for the first 100 customers, one of which being female, 2 for the second 100 
customers and 1 for every 100 customers thereafter. At least one member of 
security staff being employed as a floorwalker and constantly monitoring 
patrons for evidence of alcohol or drugs and protecting patrons from 
unwanted attention or harassment. 

 
4 Ensure efficient entry and dispersal procedures are in place so that young 

people are not left in a vulnerable position outside of the premises. 
 
5 Where there is normally a bar, ensuring that alcohol is not on display and is 

locked away. 
 
6 Ensuring that there is at least 1 hour between the conclusion of the youth 

event and the venue opening for the commencement of any adult 
entertainment. 

 
7 Searches on entry, to include all bags, to prevent alcohol and other illegal 

substances being brought onto the premises. 
 
8 Where alcohol is seized from persons aged under 18, the details to be 

recorded in a register. 
 
9 Any prior marketing of the event (internet, flyers, posters etc.) to make it clear 

that no alcohol will be sold to under 18’s, nobody who appears to be drunk 
will be allowed admission to the event and searches will take place to ensure 
that no alcohol is brought into the venue. Permissible ages for attendance at 
the event to be printed in prominent writing on any tickets issued for the event. 

 
10 Ensure a policy is in place for dealing with under 18’s who appear to be under 

the influence of drugs or alcohol which incorporates the level of duty of care 
expected to be provided. 

 
11 Toilet checks being carried out at regular intervals and records of such checks 

retained. 

Page 271



 

88 | P a g e  
 

12 First aid provision to be available at the premises. 
 
13 Ensure a policy is in place to prevent under aged persons leaving and 

returning to the premises to consume alcohol outside. 
 
14 For events held on a Thursday, Friday or Saturday evening a terminal hour of 

no later than 11.00pm. 
 
15 An area should be designated as a safe space, whereby ill or intoxicated 

persons, including minors, can be taken to a place of safety for medical 
treatment or, in the case of minors, until reunited with a parent, guardian or 
responsible adult. 

 
B Additional Measures expected to be considered for Mixed Age Events 

 

1.  All patrons to be given a secure wristband of different colours, 
differentiating over 18’s from under 18’s. 
 

2.  Only one alcoholic drink to be purchased at any one time by an 
individual aged over 18 years of age. 

 
3.  At least 2 SIA registered security staff acting as floorwalkers to constantly 

monitor patrons aged under 18 years of age for evidence of alcohol or drugs 
and to protect patrons from unwanted attention or harassment. 

 
4.  Children under 16 years of age should not be permitted to attend the event 

unless accompanied by a responsible adult. Each responsible adult 
should not be responsible for more than 4 such children. 

 
5.  All drinks to be served in plastic or polycarbonate glasses. 
 

 

It must be stressed that the above measures are not considered to be an 
exhaustive list and licensees are encouraged to discuss the management of any 
such events in detail with the responsible authorities as part of their risk 
management process. 
 

Page 272



 

 

 

89 | P a g e  

Appendix II Framework Hours: recommended terminal hours for the 

sale of alcohol and the provision of late-night refreshment 

for different types of premises  

 
* NOTE: For the purposes of this matrix, weekdays mean Monday to Thursday; Weekends 
include Friday night into Saturday Morning, Saturday night into Sunday morning and Sunday 
night into Monday morning; and Bank Holidays means Sunday night into Monday morning 
and Monday night into Tuesday morning. 
 

 

  

 
Category of Premises 
 

 
Weekdays* 

 
Weekends* 

 
Bank Holidays* 
 

 
Premises licensed for the sale or 
supply of alcohol for 
consumption on or off the 
premises e.g. pubs, social clubs 
and nightclubs 
 

 
07.00 to 00.00 

 
07.00 to 01.00 

Good Friday Plus 1 Hour. For 
all other bank holidays, an 
additional hour be added to 
the terminal hour of the day 
preceding the bank holiday 
(i.e. if the Monday is the bank 
holiday, the Sunday is normal 
trading plus 1 hour) 

 
Premises licensed for the sale of 
alcohol for consumption off the 
premises only e.g. off licences, 
supermarkets and garages 
 

 
07.00 to 23.30 

 
07.00 to 00.30 

Good Friday Plus 1 Hour. For 
all other bank holidays, an 
additional hour be added to 
the terminal hour of the day 
preceding the bank holiday 
(i.e. if the Monday is the bank 
holiday, the Sunday is normal 
trading plus 1 hour) 

 
Premises with licences not 
including the sale or supply of 
alcohol (community centres, 
village halls) 
 

 
07.00 to 00.00 

 
07.00 to 01.00 

Good Friday Plus 1 Hour. For 
all other bank holidays, an 
additional hour be added to 
the terminal hour of the day 
preceding the bank holiday 
(i.e. if the Monday is the bank 
holiday, the Sunday is normal 
trading plus 1 hour) 

 
Premises licensed primarily for 
late night refreshment e.g. 
takeaways 
 

 
01.00 

 
02.00 

Good Friday Plus 1 Hour. For 
all other bank holidays, an 
additional hour be added to 
the terminal hour of the day 
preceding the bank holiday 
(i.e. if the Monday is the bank 
holiday, the Sunday is normal 
trading plus 1 hour) 

Page 273



 

 

 

90 | P a g e  

Appendix III Contact Details for DCC Licensing Services and all 

Responsible Authorities in County Durham under the 

Licensing Act 2003 

 
Responsible Authority Contact 

Licensing Authority Durham County Council 
EHCP (Licensing) 
PO Box 617 
Durham 
DH1 9HZ 
 
Tel. 03000 261016 
licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk  

Chief Officer of Police Harm Reduction Unit 
Durham Constabulary 
Annand House 
John Street North 
Meadowfield 
County Durham DH7 8RS 
 
Tel. 0191 3752351 
ahru@durham.pnn.police.uk  

Fire Authority Fire Safety Division 
County Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 
Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters 
Belmont Business Park 
Durham 
DH1 1TW 
 
Tel. 0345 305 8383 
firesafety@ddfire.gov.uk  
 

Health and Safety Enforcing 
Authority - Depending upon the 
enforcing Health & Safety authority for 
the premises to which the application 
relates, send to one of the following: 
 
(Contact either authority to confirm 
which one is the enforcing authority 
for your premises, or look at the 
‘Health and Safety Law – What You 
Should Know’ poster on display in the 
premises) 

Durham County Council 
EHCP (Safety) 
PO Box 617 
Durham 
DH1 9HZ 
 
Tel. 03000 261016 
  
 
HM Principal Inspector 
Health and Safety Executive 
Yorkshire and North East Division 
Alnwick House 
Benson Park View 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE98 1YX 
 
Tel. 0345 300 9923 
http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/  
 

Planning  
Depending upon which area the 
application relates, send to one of the 
following: 

Durham City / Easington Areas 
Durham County Council 
Planning Development (Central/East) 
PO Box 616 
Durham 

Page 274

mailto:licensingenforcement@durham.gov.uk
mailto:ahru@durham.pnn.police.uk
mailto:firesafety@ddfire.gov.uk
http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/


 

 

 

91 | P a g e  

DH1 9HY 
 
Chester-le-Street / Derwentside Areas 
Durham County Council Planning Development (North) 
PO Box 255 
Chester-le-Street 
DH3 9EA 
 
Wear Valley / Sedgefield / Teesdale Areas 
Durham County Council 
Planning Development (South/West) 
PO Box 114 
Spennymoor 
DL16 9BW 
 
Tel. 03000 26 0000 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries  

Environmental Health  Durham County Council 
EHCP (Pollution Control) 
PO Box 617 
Durham 
DH1 9HZ 
 
Tel. 03000 261016 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries  

Protection of Children from Harm Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH1 5UJ 
 
Tel. 03000 26 0000 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries  

Weights and Measures Authority 
(Trading Standards) 

Consumer Protection Manager 
Durham County Council EHCP (Trading Standards) 
PO Box 617 
Durham 
DH1 9HZ 
 
Tel. 03000 261016 
tradingstandards@durham.gov.uk  
 

Public Health  Director of Public Health 
Room 3/56 – 3/71 
Public Health 
Children and Adults services 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH1 5UJ 
 
Tel. 03000 260000 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 275

http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries
http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries
http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries
mailto:tradingstandards@durham.gov.uk
http://www.durham.gov.uk/enquiries


 

 

 

92 | P a g e  

Appendix IV Important Information for Residents and Other Persons – 

How residents and businesses can have their say in 

respect of licence applications and the operation of 

licensed premises in their area 

This appendix provides information to residents and businesses on how to find out about 

applications and submit any comments (representations) in respect of them. 

Representations do not have to be objections and can be made in support of an application. 

In this section, references to ‘licences’ shall also be relevant to Club Premises Certificates. 

Further useful information and guidance can be found on the Council’s website at: 

www.durham.gov.uk and on the Governments website at: www.gov.uk/alcohol-licensing  

a) Advertising applications - Applicants for new licences and variations to existing 

licences must advertise the application in two ways: 

 

- Placing a notice at or on the premises: 

 On A4 (or larger) pale blue paper (or on white paper, in the case of an application for 

a Minor Variation) 

 Printed legibly in black ink or typed in a font of at least 16 point 

 Placed prominently at or on the premises where it can be conveniently read from the 

exterior of the premises 

 Placed every 50 metres on the external perimeter of the premises abutting any 

highway (where applicable) 

 

- Placing a notice in a newspaper (not applicable for a Minor variation): 

 Newspaper circulation must be near the premises (or if there isn’t a local paper, in a 

local newsletter or circular) 

 Advertisement will be at least once in the ten days following the application being 

given to the licensing authority 

 

Both notices are required to give a brief description of the application including: 

 

 The name of the applicant or club 

 The postal address of the applicant or club 

 The postal address and, where applicable, the internet address where we keep our 

licensing register and where and when the record of the application may be inspected 

 The date by which representations from responsible authorities or other persons 

should be received and how these representations should be made 

 That it is an offence to knowingly or recklessly make a false statement in connection 

with an application, and the maximum fine for which a person is liable on summary 

conviction for the offence 

 

Non-statutory advertising – DCC Licensing Services also provides information on the 

council website and will email notifications of applications received by the council to County 

Councillors. We will also provide this information to MPs and Parish Councils on request. 

Page 276

http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/alcohol-licensing


 

 

 

93 | P a g e  

The Council is not legally required to do this, and this information is provided as a courtesy 

to members and residents and there may be occasions when notice is not provided. 

Therefore, it is good practice to regularly check the Council’s website and notices on 

premises in your local area. 

Licensing Register - The electronic Licensing Register contains copies of all premises 

licences and Club Premises Certificates in County Durham. An application can be viewed 

in person, upon appointment, with DCC Licensing Services or a copy can be provided upon 

request. The licensing authority’s ‘licensing register’ is not currently available online 

however the council is developing its on-line licensing capabilities and this service may be 

available soon.  

Representations - If you want your views to be considered by the Council in respect of an 

application, you must submit a ‘relevant representation’.  

A relevant representation must: 
 

a) Be made by any person or responsible authority (see Appendix III) 
b) Be made in writing to the licensing authority 
c) Be received by the licensing authority no later than 28 days after the date the 

application was made (ten days for a minor variation) 
d) Relate to the likely effect of the granting of the application upon one or more of the 

licensing objectives, which are: 
 

- The prevention of crime and disorder 
- The prevention of public nuisance 
- Public safety 
- The protection of children from harm 

 

NOTE: Any representation that is considered as frivolous or vexatious by the 

licensing authority will not be accepted. 

 

Representations may be made by email and the licensing authority does not require email 

representations to be followed up with a hard copy. Representations should be made to: 

 

By Post: 

 

Durham County Council 

Licensing Services 

PO Box 617 

Durham 

DH1 9HZ 

 

Or by email: licensing@durham.gov.uk  

Good practice for making a representation - you should clearly demonstrate how your 

representation affects the promotion of the licensing objectives. To achieve this: 

Page 277

mailto:licensing@durham.gov.uk


 

 

 

94 | P a g e  

- Provide an evidential base for the grounds of the representation, which could 
include written logs of problems, details of previous complaints, photographs or 
video evidence of the issues 

- Ensure as far as possible that the representation is specific to the premises 
- Consult the Licensing Policy, the Local Factors and Standards, and consider 

their relevance in relation to the application. If you consider that an application 
has not addressed any issues in the Policy, then you should highlight these and 
explain your reasons why you think these issues should be addressed 

- Consider how you would like the issues to be addressed. For example, you may 
wish to propose additional or alternative conditions to those proposed in the 
application’s operating schedule. Alternatively, you may wish to propose 
restricted hours or licensable activities 

- If you are making a representation in support of an application, explain how the 
proposed application would promote the licensing objectives. 

- Representations will not be considered if they are considered ‘frivolous’ or 
‘vexatious’ by the licensing authority. ‘Frivolous’ and ‘vexatious’ have their 
ordinary meanings; therefore, the licensing authority might disregard 
representations that are made because of a business dispute between rivals or 
representations that lack seriousness 

 
Disclosure of personal details - The council is required to provide the licence 
applicant with copies of any relevant representations received in respect of the 
application. The council may consider withholding some or all a person’s personal 
details where that person can demonstrate they have a genuine and well-founded fear 
of intimidation and the circumstances justify such action. 
 
The withholding of personal details by the licensing authority will only be taken in 
exceptional circumstances and any person requesting their details to be withheld will 
be expected to demonstrate why such action is necessary. 
 
Where a person has concerns over an application but does not wish their personal 
details to be disclosed, alternative approaches include requesting a local councillor to 
submit a representation based on their concerns, or providing details on how the 
licensing objectives are likely to be undermined to a responsible authority, who may 
make representation if they consider it justifiable and appropriate to do so. 
 
Councillors - can make their own representations in their capacity as a member of 
the Council. If you have concerns regarding premises and do not wish to submit a 
representation yourself, an alternative is to contact your local councillor to enquire 
whether they will make a representation. However, it is a matter for members whether 
they accept, and it is recommended that such requests 
are made in writing so that any request can be clearly demonstrated.  
 
Nominations - If you have made a representation, you can nominate any person, 
including a local councillor, to represent you at the hearing. It is your responsibility to 
ensure that the nominated person is available and willing to represent you. As above, 
any request should be made in writing so that the licensing authority can be satisfied 
the person has been nominated by you prior to any hearing. 
  

Page 278



 

 

 

95 | P a g e  

Appendix V Delegation of Licensing Functions 

Where, under the provisions of the 2003 Act, there are no relevant representations on an 
application for the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate or police objection 
to an application for a personal licence or to an activity taking place under the authority of a 
temporary event notice, these matters will be dealt with by officers to speed matters through 
the system. 
 

Matters to be dealt with Sub Committee Officers 

Application for personal licence  If a police objection  If no objection made 

Application for personal licence 
with unspent convictions  

All cases   

Application for premises 
licence/club premises certificate  

If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application for provisional 
statement  

If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application to vary premises 
licence/club premises certificate  

If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application to vary designated 
premises supervisor  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Request to be removed as 
designated premises supervisor  

All cases   

Application for transfer of 
premises licence  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Applications for interim 
authorities  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Application to review premises 
licence/club premises certificate  

All cases   

Decision on whether a 
representation is irrelevant 
frivolous vexatious etc  

All cases   

Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and not 
the relevant authority 
considering the application  

All cases   

Determination of an objection to 
a temporary event notice  

All cases   

Determination of application to 
vary premises licence at 
community premises to include 
alternative licence condition  

If a police objection  All other cases 

Decision whether to consult 
other responsible authorities on 
minor variation application  

All cases   

Determination of minor variation 
application  

All cases   

 
From Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Page 279



 

 

 

96 | P a g e  

Appendix VI Suggestions, Recommendations and Examples - what 

may be included in applications and operating schedules 

to ensure that the licensing objectives are promoted 

Table 1 below provides recommendations, suggestions and examples for how to prevent 
the specific crime/disorder outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant must 
consider the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with their premises, 
activities, cliental and workforce when identifying hazards, assessing risks and identifying 
controls. 

 
Table 1. The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

Crime/Disorder How to Prevent Crime/disorder 

Illegal sales  Implement a No ID – No Sale policy and use posters to advertise 
its use 

 Keep staff training records 

 Put up posters stating that proxy sales are unlawful 

 Record each time somebody is refused to be served due to being 
underage 

 Implement a plan to prevent counterfeit alcohol and tobacco 
sales 

 Operators should ensure staff are aware of the risks of proxy 
sales and take appropriate measures to prevent offences 

Drunkenness - 
Implementation of 
effective measures 
to prevent and deal with 
drunkenness 
at the premises 

 Ensuring all alcohol sales are properly authorised - Positive 
consideration will be given to the DPS (and or at least one 
personal licence holder) being on duty on the premises at all 
times when it is open to the public 

 A documented policy in relation to preventing and managing 
drunkenness on the premises 

 Have procedures to deal with drunken customers 

 Access to the premises should not be permitted to any person 
who is visibly intoxicated 

 Participate in local “Pubwatch” schemes  

 Refuse to serve drunk people 

 Ensure a designated premises supervisor is on the premises 
whenever alcohol is sold 

 Do not have irresponsible promotions - Ensuring only 
responsible drinks promotions are operated at the premises 

 Plan for caring of intoxicated customers 

 Binge drinking reduction plan 

 Plans to distribute free drinking water 

 The sale of alcohol being subject to the use of waiter/waitress 
service for consumption by persons seated at tables 

 Displaying responsible drinking information and posters 
throughout the premises 

 Ensuring alcohol-free options are readily available 

 Making appropriate arrangements to ensure the safe transport 
home of vulnerable customers 

Conflict - in and around 
the premises and the 
control of entry to and exit 
from 
the premises, including 
assessing the need for 
door supervisors 

 Have procedures to deal with drunken anti-social behaviour 

 Effective monitoring of the premises (both interior and exterior) 
including the use of CCTV - A digital CCTV system installed in 
conjunction with any specification or recommendations of 
Durham Constabulary 

 Regular risk assessments 

 Implement a dispersal policy 

Page 280



 

 

 

97 | P a g e  

 Club hopping minimising plan 

 Capacity management policy e.g. head counts 

 Have plans to minimise queues 

 Layout and lighting designed to minimise opportunities for crime 
and disorder 

 Alcohol free areas 

 A documented risk assessment assessing the need for door 
supervisors at the premises. Where employed, door supervisors 
should by easily identifiable (through high-visibility uniform) and 
employed in appropriate numbers and during appropriate times 

 Written records to be kept of any door supervisors on duty  

 Designing out crime in the layout of the premises 

 Implementation of documented reporting procedures at the 
premises.  Documented records to be kept in respect of: 

- Lost and found property 
- Refused sales of alcohol 
- Thefts 
- Banned and ejected persons 
- Injuries 
- Complaints and any remedial action taken 

Theft  Store alcohol away from doors 

 Security tag products 

 Ensure to have well-lit premises 

 Use well managed cloakrooms 

Drugs  Conduct searches in public and in view of CCTV  

 Devise an effective drugs policy containing details of search 
procedure and storage procedure of confiscated drugs 

Weapons  Use drinking vessels which cannot create sharp edges 

 Ensure there are no loose items which can be used as weapons 
e.g. heavy ash trays  

 Bottle bans  

 Use toughened/safety glass to hold drinks 

 Train staff in connection with drugs, knives and weapons 

 

Table 2 below provides recommendations, suggestions and examples of how to prevent 
the specific danger outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant must consider 
the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with their premises, activities, 
cliental and workforce when identifying hazards, assessing risks and identifying controls. 

 
Table 2. Public Safety 

Danger caused by… How to prevent the danger 

Fire  Consider smoke free premises 

 Consider the fire risk of special effects 

 Have plans for a safe means of evacuation 

 Protect electrical installations, training of staff in fire safety and 
highlight visible escape routes in the fire risk assessment 

Drinks  Operation of a documented glass policy for the premises - A 
documented risk assessment in respect of the use of glassware 
on the premises. Where appropriate, plastic or polycarbonate 
drinking vessels shall be used, especially in outdoor areas or 
after specified hours 

 Operation of a documented glass collection and spillage policy - 
A documented policy to ensure that drinking vessels are not left 
unattended, and the efficient collection of glasses and cleaning 
up at the premises, especially in outdoor areas 

Page 281



 

 

 

98 | P a g e  

 Implement plans for reducing drink driving 

 Have plans to distribute free drinking water 

Drugs  Train staff in drug awareness 

 Use anti-spiking products 

 Report suspected and actual spiking to police 

 Use of controlled drugs wipes to identify where drugs may have 
been present and used on the premises 

Over-occupancy  Ensure safe design and layout of premises 

 Ensure that operating schedule states occupancy of individual 
floors 

 Use measures to count the number of people 

 Occupancy risk assessment – advice may be sought from the 
Fire and Rescue service 

Lack of seating  Provide seating in vertical drinking establishments 

Arrival and dispersal  Provide taxi contact information 

 Provide adequate lighting in car parks 

 Ensure a well-managed door policy and dispersal policy 

 Use and display of appropriate safety signage 

Design, construction 

and layout 

 Ensure the premises are suitably designed, constructed and laid 
out 

Medical emergency  Have a First Aid box available and a qualified First Aider  

 Have an accident book to log accidents 

 Have a written policy to deal with accidents and emergencies 

The effective 
management of queues 
outside the premises 

 Review the risk assessments regularly 

 Suitable and satisfactory safety policy in place 

 A documented policy addressing how queues outside the 
premises will be managed to ensure safety and prevent 
accidents, nuisance and disorderly behaviour 

 

Table 3 below provides recommendations, suggestions and examples of how to prevent 
the specific nuisance type outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant must 
consider the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with their premises, 
activities, cliental and workforce when identifying hazards, assessing risks and identifying 
controls. 

 
Table 3. The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

Nuisance caused by How to prevent the nuisance 

Noise  Prevention of noise breakout from the premises  

 Participation in any local community initiatives 

 Communication with residents and groups 

 Provision of a mobile contact number for the DPS or nominated 
person for the immediate resolution of problems 

 Hosting of meetings with residents to troubleshoot issues 
associated with the premises 

 Have suitable sound insulation in place 

 Consider car parking arrangements and effects on residents 

 Consider how much noise air conditioning systems create 

 Use a sound limitation device 

 Consider how much noise is created by taxis and routes to/from 
premises 

 Carry out regular noise monitoring 

 Train staff in reducing noise 

 Have a dispersal policy in place  

Page 282



 

 

 

99 | P a g e  

 Have plans of how to limit noise upon leaving premises 

 Dispose of bottles after 10.00 and before 23.00rs 

 Locate DJs/speakers away from doors/windows 

 Prevent people loitering outside off-license shops  

 Plan deliveries to avoid nuisance  

 Use door supervisors to reduce noise 

 Implement measures to minimise or divert queues away from 
residential areas 

 Provide the manager’s contact details on request  

 Effective management of exterior spaces (e.g. beer gardens, 
smoking areas)  

 Supervision arrangements including how areas will be kept clean 
and free of litter, particularly at the end of trading 

 Customer noise and disturbance controls - Prevention of 
customers causing disturbance when leaving the premises 

 Policies for the dispersal of customers to ensure orderly conduct 
and minimise disturbance.  

 Supervision of customers leaving premises, including preventing 
customers congregating outside, the use of a winding-down 
period, providing a dedicated taxi/private hire calling service that 
operates a call-back facility 

Waste  Cleansing arrangements and ensuring the premises and 
surrounding area are kept clean and free of litter 

 Policies in place in relation to supervision arrangements and how 
such areas will be kept clean and free of litter, particularly at the 
end of trading 

 Clearly identify the locations of bins 

 Consider other emissions, e.g. using suitable ventilation systems 
to reduce odours 

 Consider methods to collect drinking vessels, crockery, cutlery 
and litter 

 Control of the use of flyers and other promotional material to 
minimise litter 

Smoking   Consider whether there is a need for door supervisors to control 
customers in smoking areas and reduce noise 

 Use of noise barriers 

 Keep smoking areas away from neighbouring properties 

Light  Consider nuisance caused by light pollution when using lighting 
to ensure safety or preventing crime and disorder 

 Use suitable lighting units that only illuminate areas in need of 
lighting 

 

Table 4 below provides recommendations, suggestions and examples of how to protect 
children from each of the dangers outlined. This table is not exhaustive, and every applicant 
must consider the specific situation, location and circumstances associated with their 

premises, activities, cliental and workforce when identifying hazards, assessing risks and 
identifying controls. 
 

Table 4. The Protection of Children from Harm 

Danger or Risk Ways to Protect Children and Minimise risks 

Underage Activity  Use a proof of age scheme e.g. Challenge 25 and signpost its use 

 Use and maintain a refusal register which can be made available 
for inspection. Records should include the refusal date and time, 
the product attempted to buy and a physical description of the 
customer 

Page 283



 

 

 

100 | P a g e  

 Implement measures to avoid proxy sales including use of CCTV, 
regular patrols, posters stating proxy sales are illegal, posters not 
obstructing shop windows (so that staff can see if proxy sales 
occur outside) 

 Locate all gambling machines in areas under the supervision of 
staff 

 Control deliveries of alcohol to prevent underage sales  

 Train staff and maintain training records to ensure that they are 
available upon request 

Sexual exploitation  Implement a child sexual exploitation policy and report suspicious 
behaviour 

 Train staff to recognise indicators of exploitation 

Age inappropriate 

cinema 

 Specify film minimum age and display notices 

 Check age at point of sale and prior to entry to screening room 

Unaccompanied 
children 
Prevention of 
underage 
 
Sales of age restricted 
products, and access 
by underaged persons 
 
Acting to prevent 
proxy sales of 
alcohol from the 
premises 
 

 Implement procedures for lost and found children at large events 

 Follow the guidance in Appendix I. Guidance for the protection of 
young people under 18 years of age who attend events at 
licensed premises 

 The operation of Challenge 25 (on-licence and off-licence) with 
acceptable forms of ID 

 Operators should ensure staff are aware of the risks of proxy-
sales and take appropriate measures to prevent offences 

 

  

Page 284



 

 

 

101 | P a g e  

Appendix VII Application Processes 

Apply for a premises licence - if you need to sell or supply alcohol, late night hot food and 

drink or provide public entertainment, you will need to apply for a premises licence to be 

granted under the Licensing Act 2003. Alternatively, if you are a qualifying club, you will 

need a club premises certificate. 

Guidance and forms are available from the UK.Gov 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/premises-licence-application-forms  

These documents give guidance on the application process for a premises licence. 

Application forms are also available above. 

Regulated entertainment – includes: 

 a performance of a play 

 an exhibition of a film 

 an indoor sporting event 

 boxing or wrestling entertainment 

 a performance of live music 

 any playing of recorded music 

 a performance of dance 

 entertainment of a similar description falling within the last three categories (but only 

where the entertainment takes place in the presence of and for the purposes of 

entertaining that audience or spectators) 

Late night refreshment - 'Late night refreshment' means the supply of hot food or hot drink 

to members of the public (whether for consumption on or off the premises) between the 

hours of 11.00pm and 5.00am. 

Eligibility criteria - Any of the following may apply for a premises licence: 

Anyone who uses or carries on a business in the premises to which the application relates 

to  

 a recognised club 

 a charity 

 a health service body 

 a person who is registered under the Care Standards Act 2000 in relation to an 

independent hospital 

 a chief police officer of a force in England and Wales 

 anyone discharging a statutory or function under Her Majesty's prerogative 

 a person from an educational institute 

 any other permitted person 

Applicants must not be under 18 years of age. 

Application evaluation process - We will only be able to deal with applications relating to 

premises located within County Durham. Applications must be correctly completed and 

include information as to the operating schedule, plan of the premises and a form of consent 

Page 285

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/premises-licence-application-forms


 

 

 

102 | P a g e  

from the premises supervisor (for applications where the sale of alcohol will be a licensable 

activity). 

An operating schedule should include details of: 

 the licensable activities 

 the times when the activities will take place and any other times when the premises 

will be open to the public 

 information regarding the person who will be specified in the Premises Licence as 

the Designated Premises Supervisor. 

 whether the supply of any alcohol is for consumption on or off the premises (or both) 

 the steps proposed to be taken to promote the licensing objectives 

 the layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and disorder 

hotspots, proximity to residential premises and proximity to areas where children may 

congregate 

 any risk posed to the local area by the applicants' proposed licensable activities 

 any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or voluntary 

schemes including local taxi marshalling schemes, street pastors and other 

schemes) which may help to mitigate potential risks 

When submitting your application to us, you must ensure that you take the following steps 

for it to progress: 

 Advertise your application by displaying a public notice at the premises for 28 

consecutive days (starting with the day after you submit your application to us). 

 Place an advert in a local newspaper (at least once during the ten working days after 

you submit your application to us). 

 Submit a copy of the application and required documents to all responsible 

authorities.  

Other people and responsible authorities then have 20 working days in which to make 

representations about the application to us (as the licensing authority). Our “Reviewing and 

making representations about a club or premises” page has more information about other 

people and responsible authorities who can make representations in connection with a 

premises licence application. 

Where no representations are made, we must grant the application, but conditions can be 

attached. 

If relevant representations are made (in other words, they are not deemed to be frivolous or 

vexatious), it will be necessary to hold a hearing. This hearing must be held within 20 

working days of the end of the representation period. The premises licence may then be 

granted - subject to conditions - or the application may be rejected. Licensable activities 

listed in the application could also be excluded. 

We will serve a notice of our decision to the following within five working days of the hearing: 

 the applicant 

 any person who has made relevant representations 

 any responsible authority who has made relevant representations 

Page 286



 

 

 

103 | P a g e  

Matters arising with existing licences - Applications can also be made to vary or transfer 

a licence. As per the above, a hearing will take place if any relevant representations are 

made or conditions relating to a transfer are not met. 

All other matters arising during the life of a premises licence that are controlled by the 

Licensing Act 2003, can be dealt with online.  

Applicable fees - Gov.uk has a list of premises licence fees included in their alcohol 

licensing fee levels. Premises licence fees are statutory and are payable annually. 

Implied granting of licence ('tacit consent') - If you have not heard from us, by the end 

of the target completion period we specify for dealing with your application, you have the 

legal right to act as though as though your licence has been granted. This is known as 'tacit 

consent'. This does not apply to minor variation applications. 

Our target completion period for processing a correctly completed application is 90 working 

days. We aim to acknowledge your application within 5 working days of receipt. Please 

contact us using the details below if you have not received acknowledgement within 10 

working days. 

Apply online 

 Apply for a premises licence  

 Apply for a provisional statement  

 Apply to remove Designated Premises Supervisor 

 Apply to vary a premises licence 

 Apply to vary a licence to specify an individual as designated premises supervisor 

 Apply to transfer a premises licence  

 Notification of an interest in premises under section 178 

 Give an Interim Authority Notice  

 Consent to transfer a premises licence  

 Consent to be designated under Licensing Act 2003 

 Apply for minor variation to premises licence 

 Notification of change of name or address under licensing act 2003 

 Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor 

 Make annual payment for a premises licence  

Applicant redress - If an application for a licence is refused, the failed applicant can appeal 

to a Magistrates' court within 21 days of notice of the decision. An applicant also has the 

right to appeal to the Magistrates' court within the same time frame against any conditions 

attached to a licence, a decision to reject a variation application, a decision to reject a 

transfer application or a decision to exclude an activity or person as designated premises 

supervisor. 

Other persons/responsible authority redress - Other people and responsible authorities 

can can make representations in connection with a premises licence application or apply 

for a review of an existing premises licence. Where this happens, a hearing will be held by 

the licensing authority within 90 working days of receipt of the application. 

Page 287



 

 

 

104 | P a g e  

Our decision as a licensing authority will be communicated in writing within 5 working days 

of the hearing. Any appeals against this decision must be made to the Magistrates' court 

within 21 days of notice. 

Consumer complaint - Contact us if you have any complaints concerning an existing 

premises licence. 

  

Page 288



 

 

 

105 | P a g e  

Appendix VIII Planning and Development Control Matters 

Planning Legislation and Building Regulations – Operation of licensed premises will 
require several additional approvals as well as under the Licensing Act 2003. One of the 
most important additional approvals is planning permission under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. It is often the case that each discipline deals with applications which 
have relevance to the others’ service area. Because of this, and being fully cogent of the 
benefits to the customer and better use of staff time in the enforcement arena, a procedure 
note has been jointly prepared with a view to improving linkages between the services.  
 
The key aim of the note is to ensure standard operational procedures are put in place to 
ensure that issues of relevance to one service are routinely flagged with a customer as and 
when an application is made to an alternative team.  
 
The planning, building control and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid 
duplication and inefficiency. Applications for premises licences for permanent commercial 
premises should normally be from businesses with planning consent for the property 
concerned. Licensing applications will not be a re-run of the planning application. The 
granting by the Licensing Committee of any variation of a licence, which involves a material 
alteration to a building, would not relieve the applicant of the need to apply for planning 
permission or building regulation control where appropriate. 
 
Licensing control broadly covers two areas - those relating to the person and those to 
premises. Planning is concerned primarily with issues associated with the use of land. 
Having regard to this, planning regulation normally has no interest in licensing applications 
that relate to the person. 
 
Planning permission is required for certain building operations (such as new buildings and 
alterations which materially affect the external appearance of the building) and material 
changes of use. Advice can be obtained from the Council’s Planning Department on 
whether planning permission is required and about the planning process. 
 
For those licensing applications, flagged as being of potential interest to Development 
Management (DM), the following process will apply: 
 

 Relevant Licensing Team to notify relevant DM Office via e mail (see details below). 
When necessary, notification to include scanned details of licence application form. 

 

 DM Office to check planning position (normally requiring site history search and 
consideration as to whether proposals require planning permission) and thereafter to 
inform Licensing Services of comments within the relevant consultation period 

 

 Licensing Team to consider comments received from DM* and thereafter, following 
the issuing of the decision, send an electronic copy of the decision notice to the 
relevant DM Office 

 
* Noting the separate legislative context, as discussed above, any comments made by DM 
to the effect that planning permission will be required for the proposal will, in most cases, 
not be influential to the final decision on a Licensing application. However, in these cases 
the Licensing Team will advise the customer that in addition to the License approval, an 

Page 289



 

 

 

106 | P a g e  

application for planning permission will also be required. This advisory notification will 
provide the customer with the contact details, for the DM Officer, who should be contacted 
for further planning advice. 
 
In some cases, involving applications made under the Licensing Act 2003, the DM Team 
may feel that there are clear and justified planning grounds (that coincide with the four aims 
of the Council’s Licensing Policy) to object to a license application. An example of this could 
be where a previous planning application to carry out a form of development, now proposed 
in a licence application, has been refused and upheld at appeal on such grounds. In these 
cases, the DM Office will make clear in their response to the Licensing Team that a statutory 
objection is being lodged and as part of this response the grounds will be set out. In such 
cases the DM Office will also ensure representation is made at any committee at which the 
licence application is determined. 
 
The Licensing Authority considers that in most cases all planning permissions, 
consents and certificates should be obtained before any licensing 
applications is made.  
 
Under these circumstances, it is less likely that the local planning authority, as a 
Responsible Authority, will make representations in relation to the licensing application. 
Members of the public will also be less likely to be confused about the two separate issues 
and so less likely to make representations on planning matters to a licensing application. 
 
There may be reasons why an applicant considers that it is necessary to make a licensing 
application before, or at the same time as, a planning application. If that is the case, 
applicants are requested to explain their reasons for doing so, when the licensing 
application is submitted. This may help to avoid representations being made. 
 
Where an applicant indicates that a licensing and planning application has been made at 
the same time, licensing officers will consider whether there should be discussion with 
planning counterparts with the aim of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and 
scheme designs. 

 
Contact E Mails for Development Management: 
 
Northern Area: (for proposals in former Chester & Derwentside Districts) dmnorth@durham.gov.uk 
 
Central & East Area: (for proposals in former Easington and Durham City area) 
dmcentraleast@durham.gov.uk 
 
South West Area: (for proposals in former Wear Valley, Sedgefield and Teasdale Area): 
dmsouthwest@durham.gov.uk 
 
To ensure the inter departmental benefits to the customer, as discussed above, are fully realised 
Development Management will also ensure that the Licensing Section are notified of planning 
applications which may raise a licensing issue.  
 
Unlike the position with Licensing, it is not possible to produce an overarching list of potential 
planning applications, which may have licensing implications. Because of this notification of relevant 
planning applications will be undertaken by the Development Management service sending the 
weekly list of applications to Environment, Health and Consumer Protection in Regeneration and 
Local Services (REaL). 

Page 290

mailto:dmnorth@durham.gov.uk
mailto:dmcentraleast@durham.gov.uk
mailto:dmsouthwest@durham.gov.uk


 

 

 

107 | P a g e  

PROCESS TO BE APPLIED TO CONSULTATION   
 
The following process will be applied in respect of DM notifications to Licensing: 
 

 DM Service to collate a single countywide list of all planning applications received. This list 
to be sent weekly to EHCP in Neighbourhoods, through the ‘Neighbourhood Services 
Licensing’ e mail address on the Council’s Global address list and to 
ehcpsouth@durham.gov.uk. 

 

 Relevant Licensing Officer to submit comments to DM Case Officer within 21 days of 
publication of weekly list. 

 

 DM Case Officer to ensure that any Licensing comments received are attached to final 
planning decision. This to be achieved through an informative comment added to the 
decision notice or additional paragraph added to covering letter. This will detail Licensing 
comments together with contact details of Licensing Officer for further information. 

 
In addition to the above standard procedure, additional licensing comments may be received when 
planning consultation responses are issued by the Pollution Control Team. In such cases, assuming 
these comments are not material to the planning decision itself, the DM Officer will ensure these are 
also extracted from the consultation response and added to any decision. 
 
 

  

Page 291



 

 

 

108 | P a g e  

Appendix IX Public Health Information 

Licensing and Public Health - The impact of alcohol on County Durham 

The licensing authority recognises there is no public health licensing objective and 

therefore cannot conduct its licensing function to promote public health. The licensing 

function can only be carried out to promote the four licensing objectives as set out by 

the Licensing Act 2003. 

Nevertheless, the Licensing authority recognises the potential impact of alcohol on the 

public health of the residents of County Durham. This can have a big impact on the 

National Health Service and medical providers locally. Public Health are a responsible 

authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and can make representations on licence 

applications as well as calling for reviews on premises that undermine the licensing 

objectives. 

The Secretary of State’s Guidance states that health bodies can make representations 

based on any of the four licensing objectives. The licensing authority considers that 

data: 

 around hospital admissions due to alcohol consumption 

 that shows a correlation between anti-social behaviour and excessive alcohol 

consumption in different localities 

 that violence related to alcohol or the night time economy in general 

 that links high alcohol consumption to a particular area 

 that undermines the physical, moral and psychological of children and vulnerable 

persons  

to all be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives. Any or all this data would 

be grounds for public health exercising their right to participate in the licensing 

process. 

Although Public Health is not a licensing objective, we believe that this Statement of 

Licensing Policy needs to be placed in context with the alcohol-related harms that are 

apparent in County Durham. The Licensing authority takes the issue of public health 

extremely seriously and would expect applicants and licence holders to familiarise 

themselves with any local issues that may be detrimental to the public health of the 

people of County Durham. The licensing authority will take cognisance of the issues 

raised by public health in relation to licensed premises and issues surrounding alcohol 

and will determine applications in line with ensuring that all of the licensing objectives 

are actively promoted for the safety of the local communities in which a licensed 

premises operates.  

It is estimated that 1.7% of adults in County Durham are dependent drinkers; this 

equates to around 7,000 people. This means County Durham is ranked in the top 30% 

of Local Authorities with the highest percentage of dependent drinkers.  

Alcohol has a significant impact on a range of health conditions and alcohol is seen 

as a factor in more than 60 medical conditions. The main health consequences of 

Page 292



 

 

 

109 | P a g e  

alcohol misuse are liver disease, cancers (liver, oral, oesophageal, gastric, colon, 

breast), hypertension, stroke, acute intoxication and injuries. 

Alcohol consumption – Alcohol-related harm is determined by the volume of alcohol 

consumed and the frequency of drinking occasion (PHE, 2018). Four years of the 

Health Survey for England have been combined to give robust Local Authority level 

data for adult consumption (Figure 1).  

Additionally, volume of alcohol sales through the off-trade (supermarkets, 

convenience store and off-licenses) has been released as there is an association 

between these sales and alcohol-specific hospital admissions (Figure 1).  

All indicators in Figure 1 below are statistically significantly worse in County Durham 

than England. 

  
* = statistically significantly worse than England 

Figure 1: Consumption of Alcohol in County Durham 2011-14. Source: PHE 

 

Page 293



 

 

 

110 | P a g e  

Treatment – It is estimated 

that 1.7% of adults in County 

Durham are dependent 

drinkers; this equates to 

around 7,000 people.  

 

Structured alcohol treatment 

in County Durham helps 

people recover from alcohol 

dependence. When engaged 

in treatment, people use 

alcohol and illegal drugs less, 

commit less crime, improve 

their health, and manage 

their lives better.  

 

 

 

Figure 2 provides a 

summary of the last three 

years activity for alcohol 

treatment in County Durham. 

 

Figure 2: Alcohol treatment in County Durham 2014/15 to 2016/17 

Source: PHE 

 

Local Health Profile – For all the six key indicators highlighted in the 2018 Local 

Health Profile County Durham is statistically significantly higher than England. Four 

out of the six indicators are ranked in the worst 30% of all local authorities nationally. 

 

 
Figure 3: LAPE 2018 summary for County Durham, key indicator values and 

national ranking. Source: PHE 

 

Page 294



 

 

 

111 | P a g e  

Cost – In 2015/16 the overall cost of alcohol harm in County Durham was estimated 

to be £181.6m; this equated to £349 per head of population. Figure 4 below shows 

how this cost is distributed between different sectors and how this compares with the 

other 326 local authority areas. 

 

 
Figure 4: Cost of alcohol harm in County Durham, 2015/16. Source: Balance, 

2018. 

 

Pre-birth, children and young people – The Chief Medical Officer advises against 

pregnant women or women trying to conceive, drinking alcohol. The guidelines state 

that no level of alcohol is safe to drink in pregnancy. 

 

Similarly, the medical advice for children and young people is clear; an alcohol-free 

childhood until the age of 18 is the healthiest and best option.  For young people who 

do drink alcohol, the implications could be life changing. For example: 

 

 Young brains continue to develop and change until the mid-twenties. Drinking 

alcohol before adulthood can change or delay the development of the logical, 

thoughtful part of the brain.i 

 

 Alcohol can affect a child’s mental health and wellbeing. It is linked to stress, 

depression and self-harming behaviour.ii 

 

 Children are smaller, which means alcohol’s effects work more quickly. 

Alcohol poisoning can result in young people being admitted to hospital or worse.iii 

 

 Alcohol can lead to other risky, impulsive behaviour. Young people who drink 

regularly are four times more likely to smoke and three times more likely to take 

other, illegal drugs. They are more likely to get hurt due to an accident or because 

of violence.iv 

Page 295



 

 

 

112 | P a g e  

 Children’s bodies are still developing through the teenage years. We know 

that drinking alcohol can affect their liver, bones, hormones and their growth.v 

 

Alcohol health awareness – Significant numbers of people in the North East continue 

to drink at risky levels. More worryingly, many of us drinking above those guidelines 

consider ourselves to be moderate drinkers and remain oblivious to the risks we are 

taking.  

There is clearly an information deficit within the public when it comes to the Chief 

Medical Officers’ low risk drinking guidelines and the consequences of exceeding them 

on a weekly basis as detailed in the recent ‘Alcohol: Are we Kidding Ourselves?’ report 

from Balance. 

 Over one in four NE adults (26%) are drinking above the Chief Medical Officer’s 

low risk guidelines of 14 units a week compared to one in five (20%) across the 

UK – that’s around 550,000 people in our region exceeding the guidelines. 

 Nearly 9/10 North East adults drinking above 14 units a week consider 

themselves to be either “light or moderate” drinkers – that’s around 467,000 

people. 

 Nearly one in 10 (8%) NE adults are drinking at over 28 units a week – more 

than twice the weekly low risk guidelines. That’s over 169,000 people putting 

themselves at greater danger of over 200 alcohol-linked diseases and injuries. 

 Three out of four people drinking more than 28 units a week believe they are a 

light or moderate drinker – that’s an estimated 123,000 people in the North 

East. 

Alcohol: Are we Kidding Ourselves? report from Balance (2019) 

1 CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people. 
1 CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people. 
Newbury-Birch et al (2009) Impact of Alcohol Consumption on Young People. A Systematic Review of 
Published Reviews. 
1 PHE (2018) Local Alcohol Profiles for England. 
1 CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people. NHS 
Digital (2016). Smoking, drinking and drugs use among young people. 

CMO for England (2009) Guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people.  

Page 296



 

 

 

113 | P a g e  

Appendix X Links to Other Important and Relevant Strategies and 

Policies - these may be of help/interest and contain 

further details of schemes available in Durham which 

applicants and licencees can participate in to assist in 

carrying out the objectives 

 

1. Anti-social behaviour: https://www.durham.gov.uk/asb   
 
2. Best Bar None: http://www.durham.gov.uk/bbn  
 
3. Business: http://www.durham.gov.uk/business  
 
4. Business Services: http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2094/Business-Services  

 
5. Business and street trading licences: 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2113/Business-and-street-trading-licences  
 
6. CCTV - Surveillance Camera Code of Practice: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice  
 
7. Child protection: https://www.durham.gov.uk/childprotection  
 
8. County Durham Plan: https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp  
 
9. Council Plan and service plans: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2366/Council-

Plan-and-service-plans  
 
10. County Durham Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2015-2020: 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3119/County-Durham-Alcohol-Harm-Reduction-
Strategy-2015-2020  

 
11. Counter terrorism: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-

protective-security-advice-for-bars-pubs-and-clubs  
 
12. Crime & Community Safety: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3863/Crime-

Community-Safety  
 
13. Crime prevention: https://www.durham.gov.uk/crimeprevention  
 
14. Drugs and alcohol: https://www.durham.gov.uk/alcohol 
 
15. Durham's City Safety Group: http://www.durham.gov.uk/citysafetygroup  
 
16. Durham County Council: http://www.durham.gov.uk/  
 
17. Entertainment and alcohol licences: 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2114/Entertainment-and-alcohol-licences 

Page 297

https://www.durham.gov.uk/asb
http://www.durham.gov.uk/bbn
http://www.durham.gov.uk/business
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2094/Business-Services
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2113/Business-and-street-trading-licences
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice
https://www.durham.gov.uk/childprotection
https://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2366/Council-Plan-and-service-plans
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2366/Council-Plan-and-service-plans
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3119/County-Durham-Alcohol-Harm-Reduction-Strategy-2015-2020
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3119/County-Durham-Alcohol-Harm-Reduction-Strategy-2015-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-protective-security-advice-for-bars-pubs-and-clubs
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-protective-security-advice-for-bars-pubs-and-clubs
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3863/Crime-Community-Safety
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3863/Crime-Community-Safety
https://www.durham.gov.uk/crimeprevention
https://www.durham.gov.uk/alcohol
http://www.durham.gov.uk/citysafetygroup
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2114/Entertainment-and-alcohol-licences


 

 

 

114 | P a g e  

 
18. (ESD)Privacy Notice, Durham County Council, EHCP Service - European Services 

Directive Licences: http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/25347/Privacy-notice-licensing-
European-Services-Licence/pdf/PrivacyNotice-
EuropeanServicesLicence.pdf?m=636869409964230000  

19. Events safety information for organisers: http://www.durham.gov.uk/eventsafety  
 
20. Gambling licences: http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2115/Gambling-licences  
 
21. Health & Safety: http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3811/Health-Safety  
 
22. Improving your premise's security: 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/11325/Improving-your-premise-s-security 
 
23. Information Commissioners: https://ico.org.uk/  
 
24. Licensing Act 2003 applications: http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-

Act-2003-applications  
 
25. Licences & Permits: http://www.durham.gov.uk/licensing  
 
26. Multi-Agency Intervention Service (MAIS: https://www.durham.gov.uk/MAIS  
 
27. Noise complaints: http://www.durham.gov.uk/noisecomplaints  
 
28. Personal licence for alcohol: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2172/Personal-

licence-for-alcohol  
 
29. Planning and crime prevention: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3883/Planning-

and-crime-prevention  
 
30. Report a concern about a child: https://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact  
 
31. Sale of alcohol - retailer guidance: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5457/Sale-of-

alcohol-retailer-guidance  
 
32. Safe Durham Partnership: 

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8552/Safe-Durham-Partnership  
 

33. Sex establishments and entertainment venues licence: 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2130/Sex-establishments-and-entertainment-
venues-licence  

 
34. Street care and cleaning: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3902/Street-care-and-

cleaning  
 
35. Street cafe licence (to place tables and chairs on a highway in County Durham): 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2157/Street-cafe-licence  
 

Page 298

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/25347/Privacy-notice-licensing-European-Services-Licence/pdf/PrivacyNotice-EuropeanServicesLicence.pdf?m=636869409964230000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/25347/Privacy-notice-licensing-European-Services-Licence/pdf/PrivacyNotice-EuropeanServicesLicence.pdf?m=636869409964230000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/25347/Privacy-notice-licensing-European-Services-Licence/pdf/PrivacyNotice-EuropeanServicesLicence.pdf?m=636869409964230000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/eventsafety
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2115/Gambling-licences
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3811/Health-Safety
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/11325/Improving-your-premise-s-security
https://ico.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-Act-2003-applications
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2136/Licensing-Act-2003-applications
http://www.durham.gov.uk/licensing
https://www.durham.gov.uk/MAIS
http://www.durham.gov.uk/noisecomplaints
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2172/Personal-licence-for-alcohol
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2172/Personal-licence-for-alcohol
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3883/Planning-and-crime-prevention
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3883/Planning-and-crime-prevention
https://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5457/Sale-of-alcohol-retailer-guidance
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/5457/Sale-of-alcohol-retailer-guidance
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8552/Safe-Durham-Partnership
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2130/Sex-establishments-and-entertainment-venues-licence
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2130/Sex-establishments-and-entertainment-venues-licence
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3902/Street-care-and-cleaning
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3902/Street-care-and-cleaning
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2157/Street-cafe-licence


 

 

 

115 | P a g e  

36. Street trading consents and licences: http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2150/Street-
trading-consents-and-licences  

37. Support for the community: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3020/Support-for-the-
community 
 

38. Trading Standards: http://www.durham.gov.uk/tradingstandards  

Other Useful websites - The following websites provide more information on drugs, 

alcohol, treatment services and national policy: 

 County Durham drug and alcohol recovery services - offers a range of 
confidential support to individuals, families and carers wanting to know more 
about all aspects of drugs and alcohol. 

 NHS Drug addiction: getting help - if you need treatment for drug addiction, 
you're entitled to NHS care in the same way as anyone else who has a health 
problem. 

 Talk to Frank: Drugs A-Z - is an easy to use guide on illegal drugs, their effects 
and their risks. 

 NHS: Alcohol support - NHS website about alcohol support. 
 NHS: Drink less - advice and tips on ways to reduce your drinking. 

Adfam - is the national charity working to improve life for families affected by drugs or 
alcohol 
 
 
 
 

END 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           

Page 299

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2150/Street-trading-consents-and-licences
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2150/Street-trading-consents-and-licences
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3020/Support-for-the-community
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3020/Support-for-the-community
http://www.durham.gov.uk/tradingstandards
https://codurhamdrugalcoholrecovery.co.uk/
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/healthy-body/drug-addiction-getting-help/
http://www.talktofrank.com/drugs-a-z
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/alcohol-support/
https://www.nhs.uk/oneyou/for-your-body/drink-less/
https://www.adfam.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

     

County Council 

23 October 2019 

  Adoption of the Sedgefield  
Neighbourhood Plan  
 

 

 

Report of Spatial Policy 

Ian Thompson, Director of Regeneration and Local Services 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Sedgefield 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To formally adopt (‘make’) the Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan.  

Executive summary 

2 The Localism Act 2011 introduced a right for communities to draw up 
neighbourhood plans. Sedgefield Town Council, with support from the 
County Council, have produced a neighbourhood plan which has 
undergone a successful examination.  

3 On Thursday 12 September, a referendum was held into the Sedgefield 
Neighbourhood Plan. 92.86% of all votes were in favour of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. This report advises that the Sedgefield 
Neighbourhood Plan should be made (adopted) by the County Council 
and form part of the statutory development plan. The statutory 
development plan comprises of a collection of documents that set out a 
Local Planning Authority’s policies for the development of land in their 
area. The development plan includes documents such as the adopted 
local plan and any existing neighbourhood plans. 

  

  

Page 301

Agenda Item 11



Recommendation 

4 It is recommended that:  
 
i) Council make (adopt) the Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan so that it 
forms part of the Council’s statutory development plan. 

 

  

Page 302



Background 

5 The 2011 Localism Act introduced measures for local communities to 
prepare neighbourhood development plans. A detailed legislative 
framework for undertaking neighbourhood planning was set out in the 
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012. To date two neighbourhood 
plans have been made (Great Aycliffe and Whorlton and Westwick), 
while around 10 further plans remain under preparation. 

6 A neighbourhood plan, once adopted, forms part of the statutory 
development plan and sits alongside the Local Plan. Should planning 
permission be sought in areas covered by an adopted neighbourhood 
plan, the application must be determined in accordance with both the 
neighbourhood plan and the local plan. 

7 There are a number of legally prescribed stages that need to be 
undertaken in preparing a neighbourhood plan. The plan needs to be 
subject to examination by an independent examiner. The independent 
examiner will assess whether the proposed plan meets the ‘basic 
conditions’. The basic conditions are that the proposed neighbourhood 
plan i) has regard to national policies, ii) contributes to the achievement 
of sustainable development, iii) is in general conformity with the 
development plan for the area; and iv) does not breach and is otherwise 
compatible with EU obligations. Subject to a positive examination 
outcome, the plan proceeds to a referendum. Where a neighbourhood 
plan is successful at referendum, and the local planning authority is 
satisfied that EU and human rights obligations have been met, it is a 
legal requirement to bring the plan into force as soon as reasonably 
practicable. 

8 The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 and the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require local planning authorities to 
make (adopt) a plan that has been supported at referendum within eight 
weeks of the day after the referendum. 

Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan  

9 The Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan (the Neighbourhood Plan) relates 
to the whole of the Sedgefield Town Council parish area and is entirely 
within County Durham. Sedgefield Town Council undertook pre-
submission consultation on the draft Plan in accordance with Regulation 
14 between 9 April and 23 May 2018.  

10 Following the submission of the Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan and 
supporting documents to the Council in October 2018, The County 
Council consulted upon the Plan for a six-week period from 19 October 
to 30 November 2018, in accordance with Regulation 16.  A re-run of 
this consultation was required, however, as a required document was 

Page 303



not made available during the consultation period.  A second 
consultation took place for a six-week period, from 19 February to 30 
April 2019.     

11 The Examiner’s report was formally issued on 3 June 2019.  The 
Examiner concluded that the Neighbourhood Plan met all of the basic 
conditions subject to a number of modifications. Following the 
necessary modifications, the Neighbourhood Plan proceeded to 
referendum which was held on Thursday 12 September 2019. It was 
declared that 92.86% of votes (from a turnout of 1023 people, or 25.8% 
of the electorate) were in favour of the Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan. 

12 The Examiner considered the issue of Human Rights and concluded 
that the proposed Neighbourhood Plan did not raise any issues under 
the European Convention and the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Conclusion 

13 The Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan sets out new policy requirements 
for Sedgefield Parish, which will form part of the development plan and 
have weight in planning decision making.  It has received the support of 
the local community.  In accordance with the legal duty placed upon the 
Council, it is recommended that the Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan is 
formally made (adopted) by the Council to become part of the statutory 
development plan. 

Contact: Stuart Carter Tel:  03000 261909 

 

  

Page 304



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 and the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require local planning authorities to make a 

plan that has been supported at referendum within eight weeks of the day 

after the referendum. 

Finance 

There will be no financial implications from adopting the neighbourhood plan. 

Consultation 

The Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan has been subject to statutory 

consultation requirements of the Town and Country Planning England – the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Examiner’s report confirmed that the plan meets the Basic Conditions and 

would appear to have neutral or positive impacts on groups with protected 

characteristics. 

Climate Change 

The Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan supports development in the town centre, 

protects open and green spaces and promotes sustainable transport. 

Therefore, the plan is supportive of taking steps to combat climate change. 

Human Rights 

Human Rights considerations are considered within the main body of the 

report. 

Crime and Disorder 

None identified. 

Staffing 

None identified. 

Accommodation 

None identified. 

Risk 

Page 305



The council has a legal duty to adopt the Neighbourhood Plan and if the 

recommendations are not implemented the council will be in breach of this. 

Procurement 

None identified. 

Page 306



 
 

 

County Council 

23 October 2019 

 County Durham Vision 2035 

  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present the latest draft of the County Durham Vision 2035 document for 
approval.  

Executive summary 

2 A draft vision document was developed with partners as a shared vision 
for the county for the next 15 years.   

3 An extensive public consultation exercise has been carried out where the 
draft vision was presented to Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and 
partnership meetings. A presentation, video and latest draft of the vision 
document (https://www.durham.gov.uk/vision ) were used as the basis for 
this consultation exercise. Verbal comments were captured at meetings. In 
addition, forms were distributed to give attendees the opportunity to 
provide written comment.  

4 A copy of both the video and the vision document were made available on 
the council’s website together with a questionnaire to give those who could 
not attend a consultation event in person the opportunity to comment on 
the vision. The consultation ran from 12 June to 31 July. 

Recommendations 

5 The County Council are asked to: 

(a) Note the public consultation feedback contained summarised in this 
report. 

(b) Agree the vision for County Durham in accordance with Article 4 
paragraph 4.01(a) of the Council’s Constitution (Appendix 2) 

Page 307

Agenda Item 12

https://www.durham.gov.uk/vision


 
 

(c) Note that the vision will be agreed by each of our partners on the 
County Durham Partnership Board and will be launched at the County 
Durham Partnership event on 25 October. 

(d) Note that a new branding strategy is being developed for the vision; 

(e) Note that a review of the delivery framework and monitoring 
arrangements for key strategies has commenced. 

  

Page 308



 
 

Background 

Public consultation 

6 The consultation involved the following meetings: 

 All 14 area action partnerships 

 11 County Durham Partnership thematic partnerships and sub-groups 

 11 other groups including Cabinet Transformation Board and Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board with invitation extended to 
all other non-executive members 

7 202 separate comments were received. The consensus from feedback at 
events is that all partnerships were supportive of the draft vision, subject to 
some suggested additions. 33 individuals took the time to write to say that 
they agreed with the ambitions and objectives contained within the vision 
and that they believed that it was well balanced. Nine people wrote to say 
that they hoped that positive working relationships would continue as 
partnerships have worked well in County Durham to date. One person 
wrote to say that they believed the housing section of the vision was good. 
A number of written responses were also received via email from 
individuals and organisations such as the Environment Agency, Believe 
Housing and Durham City Parish Council.  

8 A number of comments made during the consultation were in response to 
the presentation and the video rather than the vision document and were 
expressing views on things that they hoped a new vision would address. In 
many cases, these suggestions were already contained within the draft 
vision document.  

9 There were some comments which sought clarification indicating that the 
draft document was ambiguous, and amendment was needed to provide 
clarification to the reader. The main two issues were whether this was a 
vision for the council or a shared partnership vision for the county and also 
when we mention ‘Durham’, are we referring to the county or the city?  

10 There were a number of comments about key themes that people hoped 
we would pay attention to in the vision. These included: 

 Rurality and the need for any future vision for the county to recognise 
the particular issues faced by rural communities; 

 The need to reduce carbon emissions as a county and mitigate against 
the ongoing effects of climate change; 

Page 309



 
 

 The natural environment in Durham is a fantastic asset. Consultees 
pointed out that we need to protect our countryside and coastline and 
the biodiversity of our county for future generations; 

 People wanted to see more in the vision around a commitment to 
explore how new technologies could improve people’s lives and 
provide examples of opportunities that should be investigated; 

 The exit of the UK from the European Union is clearly on many 
people’s minds and how this may affect the economy of the county. It 
was felt that this should be recognised within the vision.  

11 Further clarification has been provided together with additional content to 
address these concerns and the latest draft is presented in Appendix 2. 

Revised vision document 

12 The confusion expressed during the consultation as to whether this was a 
vision for the council, or the county is addressed through changes to the 
wording of the document on page 2.  

13 There concerns of the minority of people who asked whether we are 
referring to County Durham or Durham City when we use the word 
‘Durham’ has been clarified on page 2 of the document.  

14 It was felt that there was scope to further emphasise the issues contained 
within paragraph 10 which people feel do not feature strongly enough. 
These may already be contained within objectives under each of our three 
ambitions, but it is felt that we could reassure the reader that there are 
certain underlying themes which we have used to shape our overall 
thinking on drafting the vision. These are contained within page 3 of the 
amended document.   

15 There were comments about the relatively high proportion of people in the 
county with long-term conditions. This has been recognised to 
amendments in the document on page 7.  

16 Several consultees commented that they expected to see what actions 
would be taken to address performance issues or that they hoped to see 
reference to certain key metrics. It was stressed that this is a vision 
document rather than a plan or a suite of performance indicators It is our 
intention to use existing plans and strategies, where possible to monitor 
the implementation of this vision. Some existing plans and strategies may 
need to be amended to reflect the new vision. A review of the delivery 
framework and monitoring arrangements for key strategies will be carried 
out over the forthcoming months. An explanation of this is provided on 
pages 11-12.  

Page 310



 
 

17 Some people were surprised that we do not make more of the 
opportunities that technology will provide us in the future. The whole 
document has been reviewed and references to where technology could 
be used to improve people’s lives have been added where appropriate.  

Branding 

18 A new branding strategy to replace the Altogether Better branding will be 
required. Work on developing options for future branding has commenced.  

Conclusion 

19 Comments have been received on the draft vision for the county in an 
extensive consultation exercise. 

20 These have been analysed and suggested amendments to the draft 
vision.  

21 The vision was considered at a meeting of Cabinet on 11 September.  

22 The approval route for the vision is as follows: 

 23/10/19 Council (Constitutional requirement) 

 Sept/Oct Other partner agencies sign-off 

 25/10/19 CDP Launch event  

  

Page 311



 
 

Background papers 

Emerging Findings Document 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-our-
future/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636789245733670000  

Vision consultation page (includes vision document and video) 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/vision  

Appendix 1: Implications Schedule 

Appendix 2: Draft County Durham Vision 2035 (version 10.0) 

Appendix 3: Equality impact assessment 

Contact: Tom Gorman Tel:  03000 268027 

  

Page 312

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-our-future/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636789245733670000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-our-future/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636789245733670000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/vision


 
 

Appendix 1: Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

Corporate, service and financial planning are part of an integrated process. 

Ambitions will influence future resource allocation. 

Consultation 

This report details proposals for agreement and launch of the County Durham 

Vision which has been shaped following extensive consultation including: 

 Stage one: Analysing all major council consultations over the last year 
as part of an exercise to develop issues that a new vision needs to 
address. (August 2018) 

 Stage two: Consultation on our emerging findings document involving 
AAPs, partnerships and other interested parties. (November 2018-
January 2019)  

 Stage three: Consultation on our draft vision document involving AAPs, 
partnerships and other interested parties. (June – July 2019)  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equalities issues have been considered in the development of the proposed 

ambitions and objectives within the draft vision document. 

Climate Change 

Climate change, the need to mitigate against its effects and a commitment to 
a low carbon future for the county is a theme that underpins our whole vision 
and is also specifically referenced in a number of objectives.  

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

Crime and disorder issues have been considered in the development of the 

proposed ambitions and objectives within the draft vision document. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

 

Page 313



 
 

Risk 

Major risks have been considered in the development of the proposed 

ambitions and objectives in the draft vision document. 

Procurement 

None.  

Page 314



Version 10.0 (Draft) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A Vision for County Durham 
For 2035 

Page 315



 

1 
 

County Durham in 2035 
The purpose of this document is to present a shared understanding of what 

everyone wants our county to look like in 15 years’ time. It is the agreed vision of the 

public, private and voluntary sector bodies that make up the County Durham 

Partnership. It will provide strategic direction and enable us to work more closely 

together, removing organisational boundaries and co-delivering services for the 

benefit of our residents.  

Durham is a forward thinking county with a strong sense of community. Our friendly 

people, fascinating history and beautiful countryside from the dales to the coast are 

what makes our county great. We have rebuilt and reinvented our economy and 

communities to overcome past challenges. We are passionate about building a 

better future for all and forming a new relationship between the County Durham 

Partnership and everyone who lives in, works in or visits our county.  

Durham is unique. It is the only English county that shares its name with its 

administrative centre. Durham is the name of our county and the city. When we refer 

to Durham in this document we mean County Durham, our rural and our urban 

communities, from the Pennines to the North Sea, from the Tees to the Derwent: our 

countryside, our coast, our cathedral, our castles and our communities. This is a 

vision for the whole county.  

Durham is well-connected and welcoming, and a centre for innovative business and 

manufacturing. Our distinct identity and sense of community offers something 

different for people and businesses. The county has fast and reliable links by road, 

rail and air to the rest of the country and internationally. We are a skilled and 

dynamic area developing new ideas, products and services. 

An essential element of our vision is our people. We want to build on our strengths 

and opportunities whilst recognising our challenges. We are optimistic and ambitious 

for the future. It is an ambitious vision. We do not profess to have all the answers. In 

some cases, it will mean us having to develop new and innovative solutions, together 

with communities and achieve the level of improvement we want for our residents.  

Our vision is also intrinsically linked to our County Durham Plan which articulates in 

spatial terms, our vision for housing, jobs and the environment as well as the 

transport, health and schools infrastructure required to support it.  

We have carried out an extensive consultation exercise with local communities and 

partners to develop a vision that reflects the voices of the people of Durham. 

We want to work together with residents to target future action in the areas where we 

can be of most benefit. Achieving this vision is beyond the grasp of any one 

organisation. In times when resources are scarce, it is important to collaborate. 

History has taught us that the best outcomes are always achieved when we work 

together with communities to achieve our goals. We believe that the future is bright 

for Durham. Together, we can tackle the challenges that we face more effectively 

and through harnessing the potential of the people who live in County Durham, we 

can achieve great things together.  

Page 316



 

2 
 

We have developed a vision and three strategic ambitions to develop County Durham over the 

next 15 years.  

Vision Statement 

Our vision for 2035 is that County Durham is a place where there are more and better jobs, 
people live long and independent lives and our communities are well connected and 
supportive of each other. 

More and better jobs 
Our young people will achieve their full potential by having access to good quality education and 
training to prepare them for employment. We will work together to help them find rewarding work 
and reduce the number of people living in poverty.  

We will help people to create more and better jobs by developing major employment sites across 
the county to build a strong, competitive and low carbon economy establishing the county as a 
premier place in the North East to do business.  

We will build on our successful tourist economy through culture-led regeneration to broaden the 
leisure experience for residents and visitors to the county. Our visitor experience will compete with 
the best offered by other comparable destinations.   

People live long and independent lives 
Our children and young people will have the best start in life and enjoy good health and emotional 
wellbeing. We will work with families to make sure that children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities can achieve the best possible outcomes.  

We will design the physical environment to give people greater opportunity for exercise, and to 
cycle and walk more for everyday journeys. We will reduce carbon emissions and mitigate the 
impact of climate change on people’s lives.  

We will promote positive healthy behaviours and help people to stop smoking. We will tackle the 
stigma and discrimination of poor mental health, build more resilient communities and promote 
positive mental health.  

People will be able to live independently for longer. We will further integrate the work of health and 
social care organisations to improve the lives of people receiving these services. We will also 
deliver more housing to meet the needs of older people. 

We will work to tackle health inequality across the county and close the gap in healthy life 
expectancy between our communities.  

Connected communities 
We will deliver new high-quality housing in a range of house types and tenures including 
affordable homes that are accessible and meet the needs and aspirations of our residents. 

Properties in our communities will be well used. We will work with owners to help bring more 
empty homes back into use and ensure that privately rented homes are well managed.  

Our town and village centres will be well used, clean, attractive and safe.  

Our transport network will support cycling and walking and provide good access to workplaces, 
retail and leisure opportunities and will be relatively free from congestion. Widespread use of 
electric vehicles will reduce noise and improve air quality.  

We want our communities to remain welcoming, accept one another and build new relationships to 
support each other. Children will have a safe childhood and victims of crime will have access to 
the right services and support that they require. 

Page 317



 

3 
 

Consultation feedback 
This vision has been built on an extensive public consultation. Residents, businesses 

and specific groups such as people with a disability and children and young people 

were asked what they would like to see in a new vision for County Durham. A 

summary is below. 

Underlying Themes 

Many commented that we all live in a large and diverse county with a very dispersed 

settlement pattern which creates specific issues. A large proportion of the county, 

particularly to the west of the A68 is rural and has some of the lowest population 

densities in the country. It is important to people that rural communities remain 

sustainable whilst maintaining those characteristics that make them distinctive. The 

particular challenges of rural communities are referenced throughout this vision.  

People felt that climate change was one of the most important issues facing society 

today and thought that there was a lot that could be done locally to respond to this 

threat. Climate change, the need to mitigate against its effects and a commitment to 

a low carbon future for Durham is therefore a theme that underpins our whole vision 

and runs right through this document.  

Everyone is justifiably proud of our beautiful countryside and coast. A large part of 

the county is of significant landscape value including the North Pennines Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty (also a designated UNESCO Global Geopark) to the 

Durham Heritage Coast. Some parts of our county support unique combinations of 

plant and animal species. Many felt that we need to commit to protecting our natural 

environment for future generations. These views have been incorporated into our 

vision.  

New technologies such as artificial intelligence and the use of datasets have the 

potential to transform the global economy and business models across many 

sectors, automating processes, achieving efficiencies, enhancing the customer 

experience and driving better decision making. Durham is well placed to develop 

new business opportunities in this area. Individual organisations need to look at 

providing more effective products and services using these technologies whilst 

having regard to the ethical issues that they pose.  

Finally, the exit from the European Union was identified by many as being a 

significant event which will affect the whole of the UK over the lifetime of this vision. 

Durham benefits from EU funding which is used to develop infrastructure and 

services, support economic and social cohesion, support businesses, agriculture and 

the environment. The Government has proposed a UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

which will replace farming subsidies and EU structural funding after Brexit. We will 

lobby Westminster to ensure that Durham receives its fair share.   

  

Page 318



4 
 

Specific Issues 

Particular issues that need to be addressed were identified following an analysis of 

performance data and emerging policy and further refined following consultation with 

residents and other interested groups. These are set out below:   

 

People wanted to see a thriving economy in County Durham with more 
and better jobs for everyone. 
  

 

Residents were rightly proud of the history and heritage of the county and 
its beautiful countryside. They felt that the county could be further 
developed as a place for tourists and residents to visit, stay and come 
back to. 
 

 

There is a strong sense of community spirit in County Durham. People 
wanted to build on this and ensure that people support each other within 
their own communities.  
 

 

Everyone wanted County Durham to continue to be a great place to grow 
up. This involves making sure children are safe, healthy and have access 
to good education so that they are well placed to access jobs 
 

 

Local people have highlighted the importance of people helping 
themselves and adopting healthy behaviours to keep themselves fitter for 
longer. Residents were also concerned about mental health problems in 
some communities.  
  

 

Transport is a key issue across the county. It should support a thriving 
economy and ensure that our towns and villages are vibrant and well used.  
 

 

People wanted to see a range of good quality housing that meets our 
future needs. The need for more affordable housing, including good quality 
rented accommodation and more specialist housing to suit the 
requirements of older and vulnerable people, was also highlighted.  
 

 

There was a recognition amongst those consulted that the growth in online 
shopping in recent years is leading to store closures in our high streets 
and that this is a national problem. We need to think more innovatively 
around mixed uses for our high streets and centres and other initiatives to 
make them more vibrant and well used.   

 

The symbols used here are reflected throughout this document and show how these 

priorities are being addressed.  

Page 319



5 
 

Our Ambitions 
More and better jobs 
Our ambition is to continue with the economic renaissance of the 

county. By 2035, our aim is for County Durham to enjoy a thriving 

economy with more and better jobs, better employment 

opportunities for all and reduced levels of poverty and deprivation. 

We will build on our existing portfolio of businesses specialising in 

leisure and tourism, green technologies, creative industries, 

financial services, pharmaceuticals and advanced engineering and 

technologies. We will support a low carbon economy, encouraging 

the use of low carbon technologies and renewable energy sources.  

County Durham has some of the most beautiful countryside and 

coastal landscapes in Britain, a fascinating history, a wealth of 

attractions and a regular events programme. Over the last 10 years, 

great strides have been made to improve our tourist economy. Our 

aim is to have Durham recognised nationally and internationally as 

a leading centre for culture and the arts, with a range of 

experiences that match and exceed the best offered by England’s 

premier county destinations.  

A number of our villages were developed around collieries and 

homes were built to house the population boom at the peak of coal 

production. Some of these communities have suffered a decline 

following the demise of these industries. We want to work with 

these communities to address the underlying causes of deprivation 

and socio-economic inequality.  

 

Six specific objectives will help us to achieve more and better jobs across the whole 

county. These objectives have been developed following consultation with the public 

and other interested parties.  

 
1.1 We will deliver a range of accessible employment sites across the county 

New and expanded employment sites across the county which are accessible to our 
labour market will attract new employers, allow expansion of existing businesses and 
respond to the changing needs of the business sector. These sites will be located in 
areas of the county that offer good opportunities to attract investment, in line with the 
County Durham Plan (the spatial plan for the county).  

Page 320



6 
 

 
1.2 We will have a strong, competitive economy and County Durham will be a 
premier place in the North East to do business 

Our aim is to bridge the gap between the economic performance of County Durham, 

initially with that of other parts of the North East and following this, the rest of 

England. This will be achieved by creating and sustaining employment and also 

improving productivity and competitiveness of our businesses. We will build on the 

growth in green technologies, creative industries, financial services, pharmaceuticals 

and advanced engineering sectors over the last 10 years. We will continue to work in 

partnership with the government to explore opportunities for more local control by 

devolving housing, transport and planning powers and funding. We will continue with 

the rollout of superfast broadband to stimulate growth in our economy and open up 

new economic sectors. Our plans will support rural growth whilst preserving the 

quality of what makes these areas distinctive.  

 
1.3 We will broaden the experience for residents and visitors to the county  

We will protect and enhance our core heritage and natural assets and biodiversity 

and provide a programme of cultural and sporting events to promote the county. We 

will improve the county’s online visibility and accessibility and support and enhance 

visitor accommodation and our towns and villages. We will improve the quality of the 

visitor post-arrival experience by developing green, visitor-friendly transport options 

connecting the county’s main visitor attractions. 

 
1.4 Young people will have access good quality education, training and 
employment  

We will strive to ensure that children and young people achieve the best possible 

education and pay particular attention to improving the educational attainment of 

vulnerable children and young people. We will reduce inequality in educational 

outcomes across the county and support young people to gain the necessary 

qualifications, skills and experience including digital competencies required in the 

modern business world and to progress into sustained employment. 

 
1.5 We will focus our efforts on helping all people into rewarding work 

We will increase the number of apprenticeship opportunities across the county, 

particularly within growth and labour intensive sectors. We will increase employment 

of young people, older people and people with a disability or learning difficulties by 

creating and building pathways to help them into education, training and 

employment. We will work together to build skills in the labour market and ensure 

that the expertise and experience required by local businesses are available within 

the Durham workforce and that support is available to help people out of lower paid 

employment into more financially rewarding jobs.  

 
1.6 Fewer people will be affected by poverty and deprivation in the county 

We will work to continue our economic renaissance in the county and help 

regenerate areas suffering high levels of deprivation. We will work with communities 

to help to tackle the impact of welfare reform and support individuals and families 

affected by these changes. We will also develop programmes of work to build 

stronger families and support workless households.   

  

Page 321



7 
 

People live long and independent lives 
Good health is central to people’s happiness and has a significant 

impact on the economy. 

Health is determined by several factors, many of which are not 

based on an individual’s behaviour or choice but are a 

consequence of where they live, their environment, access to a 

good natural and built environment and high quality education and 

jobs and a network of friends and family.  

Both life expectancy and the number of years a person remains in 

good health are lower in Durham than in other parts of the country. 

The proportion of people with long-term limiting conditions in the 

county is higher than national levels. This, together with an ageing 

population all means that we have to try different things to change 

all of our futures. An ageing society will create different demands 

for technologies, products and services including new care 

technologies and new housing models. We all have an obligation to 

help our older people leads independent and fulfilling lives and 

continue to contribute to society.  

Seven specific objectives will help support people to have long and independent 

lives. These objectives have been developed following consultation with the public 

and other interested parties.  

 
2.1 Children and young people will enjoy the best start in life, good health and 
emotional wellbeing 

Childhood is the springboard to a successful adulthood. It is the foundation on which 

our lives are built. We will provide the best support to expectant mothers and parents 

of new born babies and their children, as well as high quality nursery and primary 

education. We will improve health and wellbeing outcomes for children and young 

people and help children and their families achieve and maintain their optimum 

mental health and wellbeing.   

 
2.2 Children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
will achieve the best possible outcomes  

We will secure high quality support to families and children and young people with 

special educational needs and disabilities and ensure that they are well prepared for 

adult lives and can live independently. 

 
2.3 We will create a physical environment that will contribute to good health 

We will maximise the quality of our local environment and clean air with opportunities 

to be physically active and achieve a healthy weight. We will reduce our carbon 

emissions and mitigate against the impact of climate change on our residents and 

communities. We will encourage transport choices that are the most sustainable by 

Page 322



8 
 

improving the attractiveness of these modes of transport including cycling and 

walking for everyday journeys.  

 
2.4 We will promote positive behaviours 

We will create a smoke-free county for our residents. Our children to have a future 

free from harm due to drug and alcohol misuse.  

 
2.5 We will tackle the stigma and discrimination of poor mental health and 
building resilient communities 

County Durham will be a county where mental health is seen as equal to physical 

health and where discrimination relating to poor mental health is challenged. We will 

implement a programme called ‘Mental Health at Scale’ where we will tackle the 

stigma and discrimination of mental health focusing on young people, the workplace 

and the community to build more resilient communities and promote positive mental 

health. 

 
2.6 Better integration of health and social care services 

Our residents will be able to live independently for longer with support from a more 

integrated health and social care system. We will also make sure that health 

underpins all public sector policies and plans and we will make better connections 

between health, employment, housing, education and community safety.  

 
2.7 People will be supported to live independently for as long as possible by 
delivering more homes to meet the needs of older and disabled people 

The number and proportion of older and disabled people is forecast to increase in 

the future. We will develop housing and care options specifically to meet the needs 

of the older and disabled people within our communities. This will include 

adaptations to the homes of older people and providing assistive technologies to 

help with activities of daily living and allow people to live independently for longer. It 

will also mean building more appropriate types of housing and developing 

communities to suit the needs of an older population. Where residential or nursing 

care is required, we will ensure that it is safe.  

  

Page 323



9 
 

Connected communities 
Our residents are rightly proud of their heritage and values. We 

want to have a caring and welcoming county where everyone is 

valued, where we can help each other and we support our 

vulnerable people. We want communities that give everyone the 

opportunity to realise their potential. We also recognise that 

communities are not just geographical. Social networks can be an 

important part of people’s lives and be a force for good, reducing 

social isolation, providing a sense of belonging and playing a big 

role in building communities and catalysing neighbourhood 

cooperation and social action.  

A range and choice of housing which is accessible, well designed 

and meets our future needs is key to the sustainability of our 

communities. This should include an appropriate level of affordable 

housing, a good standard of rented property and an increased 

range of new housing options. Our housing will be energy efficient 

for increased comfort and reduced running costs.  

Many high streets across the country are facing a range of 

challenges including the growth of online retail and changes in 

consumer behaviour. High streets and town centres retain an 

important place in our society, but they need to adapt to ensure 

that they remain vibrant, safe and attractive social hubs that people 

want to use.  

People also expect local travel to be convenient, with good quality 

direct links between centres of population, to employment 

locations such as business parks and leisure opportunities. If we 

are to enjoy connected communities then they must be connected 

by an appropriate transport infrastructure. 

Seven specific objectives have been developed to improve our communities in 

County Durham. 

 
3.1 All children and young people will have a safe childhood 

We will protect and support children and young people in need and make sure that 

they are safe. Social work practice and other support services to vulnerable children 

will be improved. We will provide excellent care for looked after children and care 

leavers and provide support to young offenders and young victims of crime. 

  

Page 324



10 
 

 

 
3.2 Victims of crime will have access to the right level of support, with 
services available to address their needs 

Victims of crime are often vulnerable people. Being a victim of a crime can also 

make you more vulnerable. All victims will be offered support to cope and recover 

from their ordeal at all stages and to engage in the justice system. 

We will work with communities most affected by long-term empty properties, 

including owners and landlords to bring these homes back into use. An approach to 

selective licensing of private landlords will be developed to provide further powers to 

intervene where landlords are operating poor management practices and tenants are 

living in unsatisfactory conditions.  

We will work together and take appropriate action to ensure that our town and village 

centres are well used and digitally connected for a range of purposes including retail, 

commercial, leisure, residential, cultural and service uses. Our towns and villages 

will be an attractive proposition to visit and in which to spend time. All generations 

will feel that they enjoy visiting them and will feel safe. Residents will be proud of the 

towns and villages that they live in and improvements will lead to a better quality of 

life.  

We want a transport system that supports a thriving economy. People need access 

to employment in the region, places where they shop and key services such as 

education, hospitals and leisure opportunities. Our transport network should be 

reliable, with buses and trains running on time and traffic congestion at a minimum. 

Large volumes of standing traffic in Durham City make it less attractive to visitors 

and residents and impact on air quality and health. We will consider further traffic 

interventions to boost our economy and to reduce congestion. People also require 

broadband access to the digital workplace from their homes, whether as employees 

or as owners.  

 
3.6 Communities will come together to accept and support each other 

We will work together to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour adversely affecting 

our communities and to address the underlying causes of crime and community 

tensions. We will actively take steps to encourage community cohesion and mark 

specific events which encourage greater understanding of each other to promote 

good relationships. We want to work with communities to solve problems together 

and develop local solutions that will work. We will provide a range of activities and 

opportunities to divert people away from crime and antisocial behaviour. 

Communities will be facilitated to come together digitally to allow them to grow and 

thrive.  

  

 
3.3 Standards will be maintained or improved across County Durham’s 
housing stock  

 
3.4 Our towns and villages will be vibrant, well used, clean, attractive and safe 

 
3.5 People will have good access to workplaces, services, retail and leisure 
opportunities 

Page 325



11 
 

 3.7 We will deliver new high-quality housing which is accessible and meets 

the needs and aspirations of our residents 

Our county needs to have housing with a range of house types and tenures which 

are in the right place and that meet the needs of all of our residents. It is important 

that new homes are built to ambitious standards in terms of energy efficiency, carbon 

footprint and wider environmental impacts such as sustainable drainage and 

ecological value. The design of new development in rural areas will be sympathetic 

to the natural, built and historic environment and reflect local distinctiveness. More 

affordable and low carbon homes will be delivered through a combination of housing 

for sale or rent, including housing that provides a subsidised route into home 

ownership. This issue is particularly acute in some of our rural areas. We expect all 

homes to be connected digitally and for speed and capacity to keep pace with 

developments in technology. 

  

Page 326



12 
 

Delivery and next steps 
This vision document will replace the current Sustainable Community Strategy for 

County Durham and will commence in 2019. A high-level action plan detailing the 

major changes that we want to make will be developed, together with a set of key 

performance indicators which will be used by the County Durham Partnership to 

monitor progress and measure success in achieving our vision.   

 

We will deliver this vision together with our communities. We will operate to the 

following principles of working in order to improve the wellbeing of our residents: 

 Solutions will be designed and produced together with service users.  

 We will work with communities and support their development and 
empowerment.  

 We will acknowledge the differing needs of our communities whilst 
acknowledging and building on their potential strengths. 

 We will direct our activities where they can make the biggest difference to 
those who are most vulnerable and help to build resilience.  

 We will make person centred interventions available, ensuring that they are 
empowering and not stigmatising.  

 We will align our related strategies, policies and services to reduce duplication 
and ensure greater impact.  

 

This vision will be delivered through an integrated framework of partnership and 

organisational plans and strategies across County Durham Partnership.  

 
Vision for County Durham 

 
           

Partnership Plans 
   

Safe 
Durham 

Partnership 
Plan 

 Joint Health 
and 

Wellbeing 
Strategy 

  
Children and 

Young People’s 
Strategy 

  
Regeneration 

Statement 

 Climate 
Emergency 

Plan 

           

Organisation Plans 
   

PCVC 
Police, 

Crime and 
Victims 

Plan 

 DDFRS 
Integrated 

Risk 
Management 

Plan 

  
NHS Clinical 

Commissioning 
Groups Strategic 

Plans 

  
Durham 

Constabulary 
Plan on a 

Page 

  
DCC 

Council Plan 

 

The implementation of the vision will be monitored by the County Durham 

Partnership quarterly through actions contained within the above strategies and a set 

of performance indicators developed to measure the success of achieving the 

ambitions and objectives set out in the vision.  

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

T&P Strategy 

Lead Officer 
 

Tom Gorman, Scrutiny and Strategy Manager 

Title 
 

County Vision - Durham 2035 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

11th September 2019 

Start Date 
 

December 2018, Updated August 2019 

Review Date 
 

September 2020 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

December 2018 
We are reviewing our vison for the county in collaboration with partners in order to 
set a new Durham 2030 vision. We want to produce a short partnership vision 
statement alongside our key ambitions founded on a strong evidence base rather 
than a huge ‘plan’ document, making it relevant and accessible.  
 
Our visioning approach is in three stages:  

1. Collation of baseline data and key insights across partners to produce an 
emerging findings document. 

2. Early stage public consultation on proposed ambitions based on key 
themes which we feel reflect our emerging findings on the particular needs 
and opportunities of County Durham. 

3. Public consultation on a draft vision to ensure we have captured what is 
important to everyone. 

 
The County Durham Partnership is made up as follows: 

 Durham County Council 

Page 329



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

 County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 

 Durham Constabulary 

 North East Chamber of Commerce 

 Durham University 

 Voluntary and Community sector 

 NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 Public Health 

 Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner 

 Housing Organisations 
 
Our emerging findings show that people want Durham to retain and build upon the 
features that make the county unique. They also want to see that agencies have 
an effective plan to address the challenges, priorities and issues identified.  
 
The following proposed ambitions were developed for the early stage public 
consultation (January 2019) in response to highlighted issues and a review of 
available data: 

 A thriving economy that creates financially secure jobs 

 County Durham is a place to visit, stay and come back to  

 A range of good quality housing is available to meet the future needs of the 
county 

 Vibrant town and village centres 

 County Durham is a great place for children and young people to grow up 

 People are supported to enjoy healthier and happier lives 

 Fair and supportive communities where everybody matters 
 
Update June 2019 
After listening to residents, communities, businesses and special interest groups 
the proposed vision for County Durham 2035 is as follows: 
 
‘County Durham is a place where there are more and better jobs, people live 
long and independent lives and our communities are well connected and 
supportive.’ 
 
A further round of consultation on the above vision statement and underpinning 
ambitions took place from 12 June to 31 July 2019 
(http://www.durham.gov.uk/vision) 
 
Consultation feedback will be used to develop the final vision document which we 
will take to the County Durham partnership and wider partnerships for approval 
and adoption. Feedback has also be used to update section two of this equality 
impact assessment.  

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

Page 330

http://www.durham.gov.uk/vision


Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

General public – residents and visitors to the county, County Durham Partnership 
(as listed in the subject section of this assessment), DCC staff and staff and 
volunteers of the County Durham Partnership, elected members, all service users 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Y 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N Y 

Religion or Belief 
 

N Y 

Sex (gender) 
 

N Y 

Sexual orientation 
 

N Y 

Transgender 
 

N Y 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The emerging vision does not aim to cause disadvantage for any particular group 
although there will be different impacts across the protected groups. For example, 
differing age groups will be impacted in different ways depending on their life stage 
and their need for tailored services.  
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

Page 331



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

The proposed vision and under-pinning ambitions will promote our commitment to 
the public sector equality duty as they aim to provide positive outcomes across all 
protected groups and to foster good relations.  
 
Partnership working will ensure that the vision represents the breadth of 
stakeholder opinion. Consultation strategies are in place to gain the views of 
people not generally engaged with the council to ensure the proposed vision is as 
inclusive and representative as possible.  
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Consultation 
Initial public consultation on the emerging findings and proposed ambitions took 
place for six weeks closing on 21.01.19: 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19635/Durham-2030-our-vision-for-the-future on  
 
A final round of public consultation took place from 12 June to 31 July 2019 to 
establish views on the proposed vision statement and underpinning ambitions. All 
feedback will be used to develop the final document which we will take to the 
County Durham partnership and wider partnerships for approval:  
http://www.durham.gov.uk/vision 
 
High-level consultation feedback, disaggregated by protected characteristic where 
possible, has been used to inform section two of this equality analysis.  
 
Summary of baseline evidence contained in emerging findings document: 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-our-
future/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636869576968000000 
 
National issues 

- Ageing population, 25% of population will be over the age of 65 years by 
2039 leading to greater demand on adult social care services, housing and 
leisure 

- Increased life expectancy leading to an increase in the number of years 
adults may live with poor health.  

- Potential further reductions in government funding for councils, police and 
fire. 

- Uncertainty of the impact of UK’s exit from the EU. 
- Environment and climate change issues and impact.  
- National trend in increasing demand for children’s social care services. 

 
Durham’s strengths 

- Natural beauty and heritage of the county  

Page 332

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19635/Durham-2030-our-vision-for-the-future
http://www.durham.gov.uk/vision
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-our-future/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636869576968000000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-our-future/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636869576968000000


Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

- Sense of pride and friendliness of residents 
- Durham constabulary ranked as best police force in England and Wales 
- Children and young people report high levels of feeling safe and happy 
- Good standard of early years and primary education 
- Low levels of pollution compare with rest of the country  
- Low house prices 
- Good coordination of health (NHS) and social care (DCC) 
- Effective engagement with communities by DCC 
- Durham city recognised as a driver of economic resurgence with the 

university and county wide tourism as key to this 
- Good north-south transport links  

 
Challenges for the County 

- Economic development and regeneration are key. Whilst employment levels 
are improving, we lag behind regional and national levels. Household 
income lags behind the rest of country indicating too many low wage jobs. 

- Decline of high streets in line with national trend.  
- Need for range of good quality housing and better management of private 

rented sector. 
- Percentage of secondary schools ranked by Ofsted as good or outstanding 

is low in the county. 
- Participation of young people is higher education is low. 
- Ofsted has highlighted we are lagging behind nationally expected standards 

for children’s social care. 
- Health issues rank poorly such as long-term conditions and obesity levels. 
- High levels of poverty and deprivation. 
- Perceived decline in community spirit 
- Dispersed and decentralised settlement pattern within the County. 
- Concerns about austerity and outcome of government’s fair funding review. 

 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Tom Gorman, Scrutiny and strategy manager 
 

Date: December 2018 
Updated August 2019 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Mary Gallagher, E&D Team Leader 
 

Date: December 2018 
Updated August 2019 

Page 333



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions 
on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including varying age 
groups. 
 
Certain groups have been 
targeted for consultation to 
achieve a diversity of 
opinion.  
 
In terms of age we targeted 
staff and a series of focus 
groups with people of 
working age (who do not 
normally engage with us) 
which helped to ensure we 
received views from a broad 
age range. We also targeted 
youth groups and 
stakeholders with a view in 
terms of children and young 
people including youth 
partnerships, student 
councils, Teesdale YMCA 
and the children’s 
safeguarding board. 
 
We were not always able to 
determine responses from 
specific equality groups 
where equality monitoring 
information has not been 
provided.  
 

Baseline population data 
- Between 2001 and 2011 the 
population of County Durham 
increased from 493,678 to 
513,242, an increase of 4.0% 
which is higher than the 2.2% 
rise seen in the region but 
lower than the 7.1% seen 
across England & Wales. 
 
-The 2016 mid-year 
population estimate for County 
Durham shows a population of 
521,800 an increase of 4,027 
people since mid-2014 and a 
5.9% increase since 2001. 
County Durham has 
experienced a higher rate of 
growth than the north east 
region (3.3% over the period 
2001-2015), but a 
considerably lower rate of 
growth when compared to 
England as a whole (10.8% 
from 2001-2015).  
 
-2014 based population 
projections for County Durham 
indicate that from 2016 to 
2035 the county’s population 
aged 65 or over will increase 
from 105,200 to 146,300 (a 
39% increase) and those aged 
75 and over will increase from 
45,00 to 75,700 (a 65.6% 
increase). This age group is 
projected to increase more 

Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

Page 334



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

Feedback themes relevant 
to age are recorded in the 
evidence section of this 
impact assessment (to the 
right).  
 
Overall analysis shows no 
significant differences in the 
views of target groups 
compared with the general 
consultation feedback. 
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against age: 
More and better jobs  
We will: 
(1.4) Facilitate young people 
to achieve their full potential 
by having good access to 
quality education and 
training 
(1.5) Help create more and 
better jobs 
People live long and 
independent lives 
We will: 
(2.1) Ensure children and 
young people will have the 
best start in life and enjoy 
good health and emotional 
wellbeing 
(2.6) Better integrate health 
and social care. 
(2.7) Assist people to live 
independently for longer by 
delivering more homes to 
meet the needs of older ad 
disabled residents.  
Connected Communities 
We will: 
(3.1) Ensure children have a 
safe childhood 
(3.3) Improve housing stock 
(3.6) Communities will come 
together to support one 
another 

than any other age group in 
the county. 
 
-County Durham has an out of 
work benefit claimant count, of 
young people aged 18-24, of 
5.9% this is compared to 5.5% 
of the same age group in the 
North East and 3.2% of the 
same age group in the UK.  
(Source: Durham Insight) 
 
-Participation of young people 
is higher education is low. 
London has the highest 
participation rate at 63% 
(2016/17), whereas the North 
East and Yorkshire and 
Humber are the lowest at 
40%. 
(Source: DfE) 
 
Stage one and two 
consultation analysis 
Respondents told us: 
-Good jobs and employment 
opportunities are vital (for a 
broad age range and disabled 
people). 
-Infrastructure improvements 
(e.g. transport) needed to 
facilitate economic and visitor 
opportunities. 
-Children and young people 
identified poor mental health 
as an emerging issue. Also 
issues in relation to public 
transport such as safety. 
-Need for more affordable 
housing. 
 
Stage three (final) 
consultation analysis 
Respondents told us: 
-We need to look at access to 
jobs from across various parts 
of the county (in particular the 
west). We agree, and propose 
transport plans will be 
required as part of planning 

Page 335



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

(3.7) Deliver a range of high 
quality/affordable housing 
that are accessible and meet 
the aspirations of residents 
 
 

approval of new employment 
developments. 
-To address skills shortages 
and upskill local people into 
better paid jobs. We agree to 
emphasise this as part of 
ambition 1.5. 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including disability. 
 
Certain groups have been 
targeted for consultation to 
achieve a diversity of 
opinion.  
 
In terms of disability we 
targeted groups such as 
disability partnership and 
localised disability groups. 
We held specific 
consultation sessions with 
people who have a leaning 
disability at the Pioneering 
Care Centre. Reasonable 
adjustments were made 
where required. 
 
We were not always able to 
determine responses from 
specific equality groups 
where equality monitoring 
information has not been 
provided.  
 
Feedback themes relevant 
to disability are recorded in 
the evidence section of this 
impact assessment (to the 
right).  
 

Baseline population data 

County Durham has a higher 
percentage of permanently 
sick and disabled people than 
the North East average, 
representing nearly a quarter 
(23.6%) of the overall 
population (Census 2011). 
 
Increased life expectancy is 
leading to an increase in the 
number of years adults may 
live with poor health.  
(Source: Durham Insight) 
 
Stage one and two 
consultation analysis 
Respondents told us: 
- Good jobs and employment 
opportunities are vital (for a 
broad age range and disabled 
people) 
-There is an increased need 
for specialist accommodation 
to suit the needs of disabled 
residents. 
-Important that people adopt 
healthy lifestyles to keep fitter 
for longer. 
-Poor mental is an emerging 
issue. 
 
Stage three (final) 
consultation analysis 
Respondents told us: 

Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

Page 336



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

Overall analysis shows no 
significant differences in the 
views of target groups 
compared with the general 
consultation feedback. 
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against 
disability: 
More and better jobs  
We will: 
(1.5) Help to create more 
and better jobs. 
People live long and 
independent lives 
We will: 
(2.2) Work with families to 
address SEND need to 
achieve positive outcomes 
(2.3) Create a physical 
environment that will 
contribute to good health 
(2.4) Promote positive 
healthy behaviours 
(2.5) Tackle stigma around 
poor mental health and build 
resilient communities 
(2.6) Better integration of 
health and social care 
services 
(2.7) Assist people to live 
independently for longer by 
delivering more homes to 
meet the needs of older ad 
disabled residents.  
Connected Communities 
We will: 
(3.2) Victims of crime will 
have access to the right 
level of support, with 
services available to 
address their needs 
(3.5) People will have good 
access to workplaces, 
services, retail and leisure 
opportunities  

-There is a large proportion of 
people in the county with 
long-term health conditions. 
-Health inequalities exist 
between the most and least 
deprived areas of our county. 
Whilst these issues are 
addressed within the vision 
document we agree they 
could be further emphasised 
by specifically referencing 
inequality and the need to 
narrow gaps as an 
overarching theme of the 
vision. 
-Carbon neutrality should be 
referenced across the vision. 
We feel this has been 
adequately referenced 
including a specific ambition 
(2.3) on creating a physical 
environment that contributes 
to good health which covers 
carbon emissions and 
mitigating the impact of 
climate change. 

Page 337



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

(3.7) Deliver a range of high 
quality/affordable housing 
that are accessible and meet 
the aspirations of residents 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics. 
 
 

 Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including pregnant women 
and new mothers. 
 
Overall analysis shows no 
significant differences in the 
views of target groups 
compared with the general 
consultation feedback. 
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against 
pregnancy and maternity: 
People live long and 
independent lives 
We will: 
(2.4) We will promote health 
behaviours including helping 
people to stop smoking 

 Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

Page 338



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including race and ethnicity. 
 
Feedback themes relevant 
to race are recorded in the 
evidence section of this 
impact assessment (to the 
right).  
 
Overall analysis shows no 
significant differences in the 
views of target groups 
compared with the general 
consultation feedback. 
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against race: 
Connected Communities 
We will: 
(3.2) Victims of crime will 
have easy access to the 
services and support they 
require 
(3.6) Ensure our 
communities remain 
welcoming, accept one 
another and build new 
relationships to support one 
another 
 
 

Baseline population data 
In County Durham BAME 
communities are a relatively 
small number of the 
population. According to the 
2011 Census, 98.1% of 
Durham’s population is white 
British. 1.9% is ‘other ethnic 
group’, the largest 
component of this being 
mixed race and Asian. We 
also have a significant 
population of Gypsies and 
Travellers who are either 
migrant or settled in the 
County. 
(Source: Durham Insight) 
 
Stage three (final) 
consultation analysis 
Respondents told us: 
-We need to value diversity. 
We agree and our vision 
references accepting and 
supporting one another (3.6). 
Socio economic, educational 
and health inequalities are 
also referenced within the 
vision which links to valuing 
diversity. 
 

Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including religion or belief 

Baseline population data 
In County Durham 72% 
state their religion as 
Christian; around 0.19% as 
Buddhist; 0.12% Hindu; 

Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

Page 339



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

which includes people of no 
belief. 
 
Certain groups have been 
targeted for consultation to 
achieve a diversity of 
opinion.  
 
In terms of religion or belief 
we targeted groups such as 
the Durham Faith Network 
and held a breakfast 
seminar at County Hall for 
this group. 
 
We were not always able to 
determine responses from 
specific equality groups 
where equality monitoring 
information has not been 
provided.  
 
Overall analysis shows no 
significant differences in the 
views of target groups 
compared with the general 
consultation feedback.  
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against 
religion or belief: 
Connected Communities 
We will: 
(3.2) Victims of crime will 
have easy access to the 
services and support they 
require 
(3.6) Ensure our 
communities remain 
welcoming, accept one 
another and build new 
relationships to support one 
another 
 

0.37% Muslim, 0.12% Sikh, 
0.04% Jewish and 26.8 
percent as having either no 
religion or not stating their 
religion (Census 2011). 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

Page 340



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including impacts for men 
and women. 
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against sex: 
Connected Communities 
We will: 
(3.7) Deliver new high-
quality housing in a range of 
house types and tenures 
including affordable homes 
that are accessible and 
meet the needs and 
aspirations of our residents  
(3.5) People will have good 
access to workplaces, 
services, retail and leisure 
opportunities 
 

Baseline population data 
The balance of males and 
females within the County is 
fairly evenly split and there 
are 
251,280 (49%) males and 
261,962 (51%) females 
living in County Durham 
(Census 2011). Looking at 
older age groups (aged 
70+) there is a higher 
proportion of women which 
accounts for the 49/51 
split. 
 

Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including sexual orientation. 
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against 
sexual orientation: 
Connected Communities 
We will: 
(3.2) Victims of crime will 
have easy access to the 

Baseline population data 
No accurate data is available 
about the number of lesbian, 
gay and bisexual (LGB+) 
people living in County 
Durham. However, 
Government and Stonewall 
estimates state that between 
5 and 7 % of the population 
is lesbian, gay or bisexual 
(LGB). This would amount to 
between 25,000 and 35,000 
people in County Durham. 
 

Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

Page 341



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

services and support they 
require 
(3.6) Ensure our 
communities remain 
welcoming, accept one 
another and build new 
relationships to support one 
another 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The vision aims to have a 
positive impact for all 
protected characteristics 
including transgender. 
 
Vision priorities demonstrate 
positive impact, (for the 
following numbered ambition 
of particular relevance) 
when mapped against 
transgender: 
Connected Communities 
We will: 
(3.2) Victims of crime will 
have easy access to the 
services and support they 
require 
(3.6) Ensure our 
communities remain 
welcoming, accept one 
another and build new 
relationships to support one 
another 
 

Baseline population data 
We have no accurate data 
on transgender populations. 
 

Proposed vision to 
reflect consultation 
feedback and 
evidence base 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

Partnership working has ensured that the vision represents the breadth of 
stakeholder opinion. Consultation strategies captured the views of people not 

Page 342



Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment 

  
 

 

generally engaged with the council to ensure the proposed vision is as inclusive 
and representative as possible. 
 
The proposed vision will promote our commitment to the public sector equality duty 
as it aims to provide positive outcomes across all protected groups which will 
advance equality of opportunity and contribute towards fostering good relations. 
This impact assessment has drawn out areas of the vision particularly relevant to 
specific protected characteristics. In particular, it is evident there are benefits 
across all age ranges and in terms of health and disability which is reflective of the 
emerging findings document. 

 
 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

Yes, the vison aims to promote positive relations between geographical 
communities and communities of interest. 
 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

Proposed vision to reflect 
consultation feedback and 
evidence base. 

   

Vision to receive approval 
and adoption by County 
Durham partnership and 
wider partnerships.  

   

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

N 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Tom Gorman, Scrutiny and strategy manager 

Date: 
5 August 2019 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Mary Gallagher, E&D Team Leader 

Date: 
5 August 2019 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 343

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



             

       
Durham County Council 
   
23 October 2019 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel  
Annual Report 2018-19 
 

Report of Councillor Peter Brookes, Chair of the Corporate 

Parenting Panel 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Parenting Panel 
Annual Report April 2018 – March 2019, for information.   

2 The Annual Report was agreed by the Corporate Parenting Panel at its 
meeting on 19 July 2019, and endorsed by Cabinet on 11 September 
2019. 

3 The Annual Report is attached as Appendix 2 of this report. 

Executive summary 

4 Following an inspection of Durham County Council’s Children’s 
Services by Ofsted in February/March 2016 the service was judged as 
requiring improvement.  Since this judgement the service has carried 
out work to address Ofsted’s recommendations and with the Council’s 
Transformation Agenda has made significant improvements in relation 
to political oversight of Children’s Services including the revised terms 
of reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel. 

5 The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of 
Durham County Council’s constitution and make specific reference that 
the Corporate Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual 
report that will be shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.   

6 This is the second Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
following the changes to political oversight. 

Recommendations  

7 Council are requested to:   

 Note the content of the Annual Report 
 

Page 345

Agenda Item 13



Background 

8 In March 2016, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were 
inspected by OFSTED who found that services required improvement. 
Their report made fourteen recommendations including: “Review 
existing arrangements to ensure that political and senior leaders have 
access to improved quantitative and qualitative performance information 
that enables them to have an accurate picture of the current practice 
delivered to children, so that they can develop strategies to maintain 
and improve the quality of front-line practice.”  

9 Following the publication of the Ofsted Inspection report an Ofsted 
Improvement Plan was developed and was grouped into four themes, 
including The Strengthening Political and Management Oversight 
theme.  Benchmarking was undertaken, and as a result changes were 
made to political oversight arrangements, including the functions, 
membership, governance and administration of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel.  Work has also been undertaken to raise the profile of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel’s work. 

10 Further work has been done following the approval of changes to the 
constitution, and terms of reference for the Corporate Parenting Panel 
were agreed, which incorporates all aspects of the constitutional 
changes.  The terms of reference include the functions described in the 
Constitution with the responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel in 
relation to each of the functions clearly set out. 

11 The terms of reference make specific reference that the Corporate 
Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual report that will be 
shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.  

Development of the Annual Report 

12 To ensure the voice of the child is reflected in the work of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel, it was agreed that young people from the Children in 
Care Council, supported by officers from Transformation and 
Partnerships, would develop the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Annual 
Report for 2017-18. 

13 The young people worked on the design, content and language of the 
Annual Report to ensure it was easy to read and understand. 

14 The Annual Report was well received, and a decision was made to 
follow a similar process for the development of the Annual Report for 
2018-19. 

15 To ensure we continue to raise the profile of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel, the Durham County Council Communications and Marketing 

Page 346



Team have been involved in the development of the 2018-19 Annual 
Report to ensure it follows a more corporate format, whilst ensuring it 
uses language and design which is also appealing to young people. 

16 The Annual Report will hold a more prominent position on the Durham 
County Council website, and will again be hosted on the Investing in 
Children Website, and the Children in Care Council website. 

17 The Annual Report includes information on: 

(a) What a Corporate Parent is 

(b) The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

(c) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference 

(d) Key performance data 

(e) Achievements 

(f) Evidencing the changes made as a result of consultation with 
young people ‘You Said – We Did’ 

(g) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s priorities for 2019/20 

Terms of Reference 

18 The five functions of the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of 
Reference, which were agreed by the Panel at the meeting on 14 
December 2018 are as follows: 

 Ensure that the Council acts as a good corporate parent to children and 
young people in care and care leavers including: 

o Children and Young People in residential care 
o Children and Young People in foster care 
o Children and Young People placed for adoption 
o Children and Young People placed at home under Care Planning, 

Placement and Case Review Regulations 
o Young People who are living in supported lodgings 
o Young People in Secure services  
o Young People in custody. 

 

 To engage and listen to the views of children, young people and their 
carers for whom the Council is the parent. 
 

 To work in partnership with other statutory agencies to drive forward 
improvements in care. 
 

Page 347



 To act as the governing body for the Virtual School for looked after 
children and young people.   
 

 To act as the governing body for Aycliffe Secure Services, monitoring and 
ensuring the quality of secure accommodation.  
 

Conclusion 

19 The Annual Report provides oversight of the work undertaken during 
2018-19, and the priorities for the year ahead. 

Author: Helen Fergusson Tel:  03000 261663 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 348



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
The Corporate Parenting Panel’s role is to lead on ensuring the corporate parenting 
responsibilities of the Council are being met in line with the duties under the Children 
Act 1989.  
 
Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the local authority in 
relation to children looked after by them, to safeguarding and promoting the welfare 
of these children, ensuring effective, individualised support and access to services.  
 
Finance 
There are cost implications for design and print services, however the Corporate 
Parenting Panel Annual Report will primarily be shared by email, and will be hosted 
on the Children in Care Council, Investing in Children and Durham County Council 
websites to minimise printing and distribution costs. 
 
Consultation 
Young people from the Children in Care Council have been involved in the 
development of the Annual Report.   
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Looked After Services are available to all children and young people in line with legal 
duties.  
 
Climate Change 
No implications 
 

Human Rights 
Children and young people have been central to the development of the Annual 
Report to ensure that their voices are heard.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
There are no crime and disorder implications. 

 
Staffing 
There are no staffing implications. 

 
Accommodation 
There are no accommodation implications. 
 
Risk 
There are no risk implications. 
 
Procurement 
There are no procurement implications.  

Page 349



Appendix 2:  Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018-19 

 

Attached as a separate document 

 

Page 350



Corporate Parenting Panel

Annual Report 
April 2018 - March 2019

County Durham

Page 351



Message from the Chair!

What is a 
Corporate Parent

The Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel

If a young person can’t stay 
at home safely, it is up to the 
local authority to provide the 
care, support and security 
that they need. 

This isn’t just up to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel, 
everyone should be looking 
out for our children and 
young people, and every 
councillor and council 
employee has a role to play 
as the eyes and ears of the 
community.

Being a corporate parent 
means doing whatever we 
can to support young 
people in our care and care 
leavers, to help them to 
achieve their full potential 
and to have the best 
possible outcomes, 
including:

3 Progress in school

3 Education, Employment 
and training 
opportunities 

3 Good Physical and 
Mental wellbeing

3 Suitable accommodation

3 Access to services and 
support

3 Preparation for leaving 
care and living 
independently.

I am pleased to present the second Annual Report of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel, and to be able to report the progress 
that we have made over the last year. 

I would like to thank everyone for their hard work and commitment 
over the past year to improving outcomes for our young people. I 
look forward to seeing more positive changes as we continue our 
work into 2019/20.

In addition, I would like to thank the young people themselves for 
being part of the Corporate Parenting Panel, helping us to move 
forward and develop.

Councillor Peter Brookes

The Corporate Parenting Panel is a group that is part of the 
council, which is called a committee. It has 21 councillors as well 
as council officers. There are also 10 other members, including 
school representatives and a young people’s representative to 
make sure there is a broad range of experience and knowledge 
and that the voice of children and young people is heard.

Corporate parents have responsibility to act for the children and 
young people in our care as a parent would for their own child and 
to ask:

 

 If I were that 
child would it 

have been 
good enough 

for me?
How could 
I make it 

even 
better?

If this were my 
child would it 

be good 
enough for 

them?

2

Page 352



In 2016 Terry Collins introduced ‘an opportunity for every 
care leaver’ encouraging our care leavers to join Durham 
County Council ‘the family firm’. As part of this initiative a 
number of opportunities have been brought in to offer work 
experience, internships and apprenticeships to care 
leavers’ champion across a number of departments within 
the council.

In 2018, Terry asked all service areas to identify a ‘Care 
Leavers’ Champion’ to further support this initiative and to 
help develop the Local Offer for Care Leavers. 

This initiative will ensure we do as much as we can to 
assist our young people who are leaving care, to become 
the most successful adults that they can be.

Terry also hosts a bi-monthly meeting providing an 
opportunity for young people to raise any issues directly 
with him.

3

Corporate Parenting Panel responsibilities

Where are children in 
care?
Children and young people 
can be in care in a range of 
settings, including foster 
care, children’s homes and 
secure homes – the council is 
corporate parent to all of 
them.

Why are children in 
care?
Young people are looked 
after for a variety of reasons 
including neglect and abuse. 
They could also be in care if 
their parents are unable to 
look after them because of 
their own complex health 
needs or behaviours. Some 
young people have no 
parents to care for them, or 
they could be 
unaccompanied asylum 
seekers.

Terry Collins    
(Chief Executive Officer) 

meets with looked 
after young people 

regularly

“

”

1.  Make sure the council acts as a good corporate parent to 
children and young people in care and care leavers, including:

l Young people in residential care

l Children and young people in foster care

l Children placed for adoption

l Children placed at home under Care Planning. Placement and 
Case Review regulations

l Young people who are living in supported lodgings

l Young people in secure homes

l Young people in custody 

2. Engage and listen to the views of children, young people and 
their carers.

3. Work in partnership with other agencies to make improvements 
for our children and young people in care. 

4. Oversee the Virtual School for looked after children and young 
people.

 A sub group has been established to lead on this work. 

5. Oversee Aycliffe Secure Services
 A sub group has been established to lead on this work.

 

Care Leavers’ Champions

Page 353



Updates against 2018/19 priorities

4

What we said we would focus on Young people’s comments
Continue to improve review 
meetings for looked after children 
and young people

“I chair my own reviews”
“I talked to my own reviewing officer”
“I made my own smiley face form up”

Make sure more children and 
young people have care plans that 
they really understand

“Mine is really easy to understand, but it’s a bit babyish”

Improve the experience of children 
and young people when coming 
into care

“We get foster carer profiles before we go into the placement”
“There is member information available in the homes”
“Young people designed a leaflet that’s given to all young people”

Create more job opportunities for 
care leavers

“There’s apprenticeships now”
“looked after children get guaranteed interviews”

Support our care leavers with 
council tax costs if they move out of 
county

“Young people are supported on an individual basis around 
their eligibility, to get the best possible outcomes”

Raising the profile of looked after 
children/care leavers in all 
departments of the council to 
ensure they have a voice in 
influencing any decisions that are 
being made

Fostering Panel representation
Training for Fostering Panel members 
Corporate Parenting Panel representation
Attendance at Health and Wellbeing Board meeting
Attendance at Children and Families Partnership meetings
Looking at having Children and Families Partnership representation
Head of Service/Extended Management Team training delivered 
by young people
Children’s Services training delivered by young people
Training on looked after children/care leavers in universities 
training delivered by young people
Care Leavers Champions in each service directorate
Training ‘life as a looked after child’

Encourage more people to be 
foster carers by spreading the word 
of how great and rewarding it is

“Lots of info on this, on buses and posters all over”

Share positive stories of looked 
after children in the media

“This has improved a bit but more needs to be done”
“Tracey Beaker was negative portrayal of looked after 
children”

Re-launch of the council’s Promise 
to Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers

“We have done this”
 

Page 354



5

Children in Care Council (CiCC)

l Young people are part of the fostering panel 
to make sure their views are fed in.

l Survey developed for all looked after children 
to get a whole range of views so that this 
feeds into service developments.

l New care plans have been designed 
following feedback from young people, that 
are now easier to understand.

l Supervised contact rooms have had ‘make 
overs’ as young people felt these rooms were 
not nice places to spend time. The young 
people have been involved in redesigning the 
rooms and ordering the new furnishings.

l Councillor information is now hosted on the 
CiCC website so that young people can 
easily access this 

 http://www.durhamcicc.co.uk
 your-dcc-councillors.html 

l Comments boxes are in children’s homes to 
enable young people to feed into the Reg 44 
inspection if it takes place when they are out, 
or if they do not wish to talk to the inspector.

l Information on the Reg 44 inspector and the 
elected member allocated to each home are 
displayed in each home so the young people 
know who is visiting. The CiCC has produced 
guidance for this.

l A leaflet has been developed to give young 
people information they might need when 
they are becoming looked after.

“We wanted to make sure that anyone coming 
into care, knows what to expect and who will be 
working with them”
“It makes you understand what life in care is 
going to be about! I like the guide a lot!”
l Presentations and training have been 

delivered by young people at Extended 
Management Team and Children and Young 
People’s Services Management Team in July 
2018 to enable them to share their 
experiences of the looked after system and 
help practitioners to think about how they can 
improve their practice.

“It’s good to do the training to let them know 
what it’s like to be in our shoes”
l Young people have delivered training to 

fostering panel members to share their 
thoughts and experiences to improve things 
for young people coming into care.  

l IIC revised the council’s complaints 
procedure to ensure it is fit for purpose and 
easy for young people to access. The new 
leaflet is hosted on the CiCC website so that 
it is accessible for young people. 

l In 2018-2019, two complaints (1.5%) were 
received directly from a child or young 
person, compared with none the previous 
year. The number of complaints made by 
children or young people through an 
advocate decreased to 3.6% in 2018-19 
compared with 6.4% in 2017-2018. 

The CiCC is a group for children and young people who are looked after in County 
Durham, and is supported by Investing in Children. The CiCC members meet 
monthly to talk about issues which are important to them, highlight what works and 
share stories of the support they have received. This forum is well established, with 
senior managers and elected members who are on the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
managers from the independent reviewing officer services, Virtual School staff, 
fostering services staff, and looked after children service staff regularly attending 
CiCC meetings.

‘If you are not already a member of the CiCC – what are you waiting for . . . . .?’

What difference have we made . . . 

continued on the next page

Page 355



Care Leavers Challenge
Could you live on £57.90 a week?

Care leavers, through the Children in Care Council, asked for 
the members of the Corporate Parenting Panel to undertake 
the ‘Care Leavers Challenge’ by living off a care leaver’s 
budget for a week to highlight the difficulties young people face 
in their day to day lives.

Cllr Beaty Bainbridge took part in the 2018 challenge and felt 
that it was a ‘real eye opener’. The main challenge she faced 
was cooking on a budget, even with all of her experience from 
52 years of marriage and cooking for her own family.

Cllr Bainbridge found that because of the limited budget, she 
had to plan ahead and always needed to make sensible 
choices around what to buy, and how to cook it to stretch the 
food out to make as many meals as possible. She was 
surprised just how little food she could afford and visited the 
food bank to source extra supplies.

Cllr Bainbridge was concerned that if young people do not 
have some of the life skills she has around cooking and 
housekeeping, then they would have a limited variety of 
healthy meals, which she felt would lead to a poor diet overall. 
This could lead to additional health issues including stress and 
poorer mental health. 

Cllr Bainbridge felt that without cooking skills and additional 
support from food banks, the young people would eat very 
little.

To support our care leavers we are looking to develop a young 
person friendly ‘care leavers hub’ where young people will 
have ownership of the space and can ‘drop in’.

It is expected that the hub will offer sessions for young people 
with support staff, including CAMHS, Youth Offending Service, 
The Full Circle etc. It will also run training courses for care 
leavers, including cooking and life skills. 

l Placement risk assessment 
forms that foster carers get 
before agreeing to the 
placement have been 
revised after young people 
felt the information contained 
in them could be very 
negative. The information is 
more balanced now and 
includes lots of positive 
information as well. This has 
helped to identify good 
placements for children 
where their needs can be 
met.

l Improvements have been 
made to the Personal 
Education Plan (PEP) forms, 
following feedback and 
recommendations from 
children and young people.

l More opportunities have 
been created for care leaver 
apprenticeships following 
regular meetings with the 
council’s Chief Executive.

l  Young people have reviewed 
and updated the council’s 
Promise to Looked After 
Children and Young People.

l Foster carers have been 
asked to produce profiles 
about themselves and their 
homes following feedback 
from children and young 
people, wanting to improve 
and be more prepared when 
moving home.

l Young people continue to 
deliver foster preparation 
training to potential foster 
carers as part of their 
assessment every two 
months.

What a difference we have made
continued from page 5

6

Page 356



Local Offer for Care Leavers

7

We’ve produced our Local Offer for Care Leavers to give care leavers a clear idea of what 
services we provide and what can be expected from us, including:

l Your rights
l Stay safe
l Someone to talk to
l Young Person’s Advisor
l Social Worker
l Pathway Plan
l Reviews
l CiCC

Support Housing
l Your options after leaving 

care
l Living on your own
l Going to university
l Money to set up a home
l Care leavers and Council 

Tax
l Help to avoid becoming 

homeless

l Health
l Emotional 

wellbeing
l Getting involved
l Relationships 

Money
l Help with money
l Help with Universal 

Credits and Benefits
l Welfare Rights
l Credit Unions, financial 

help and debt advice

Education, 
Employment & Training

Looking after
yourself

l School holidays and work 
experience

l Going to sixth form or 
college

l Going to university
l Learning to drive
l Help to get a job
l Help to get an 

apprenticeship or 
traineeship

Feedback from the young people is that 
they do not like how the Local Offer for 
Care Leavers is hosted on the council’s 
website, as it is hard to find and is not 
young people friendly. In response, we are 
working to ensure the information is as 
accessible as possible to children and 
young people.

Page 357



Information about our care leavers 
for 2017-2018

 
82% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in 
education, employment and training (EET), in 
comparison to the England average of 64% and the 
statistical neighbour rates of 64%. 

59% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in 
education, employment and training (EET), in 
comparison to the England average of 51% and the 
statistical neighbour rates of 58%. 

96% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in suitable 
accommodation, above the national rate of 84% and 
above our statistical neighbour rates of 89%. 
 
87% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in suitable 
accommodation, above the national rate of 84% but 
below our statistical neighbour rates of 89%. 

There was a 17% improvement in English for grade 4+ 
and 10% improvement at grade 5+. In 2017 we had 
identified that too few of our looked after children 
achieved good passes (5+) in English, maths and at the 
Basics Measure and therefore we targeted this to 
improve outcomes.

8

Cllr Peter Brookes 
and Cllr Olwyn Gunn 

(Portfolio Holder for Children 
and Young People’s Services) 

have offered to let 
me to shadow 

their work

“

”

Page 358



9

Key performance

 Karen Robb 
(Strategic Manager Looked After 

Children and Permanence) 

offered to let young 
people shadow her 

work

“

”

We want as many of our young people as possible to be 
cared for in County Durham or nearby. 

l Latest data shows that 8% at 28 December 2018 of our young 
people were placed over 20 miles away (outside of County 
Durham)

  We want to have as many of our looked after children and 
young people as possible in foster care, rather than in 
other types of accomodation

l Latest data shows that at 29 March 2019 79% of our young 
people were placed in foster care (in house 49%, friends & 
family 16%, IFA 14%)

  Placement stability for children is really important, as it 
helps with school attainment, friendships and emotional 
wellbeing. 

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 there were 6.9% of 
our looked after children with three or more placements during 
the year 

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019, 86.6% of our looked 
after children (aged under 16) were living in the same 
placement for at least two years 

  Children and young people tell us that having the same 
social worker can be really important and helps them to 
build good relationships

l Latest data shows that at December 2018, 22% of our children 
had two or more social worker changes in the previous 12 
months. This has decreased from 26% in 2017/18.

  The health of our children and young people is very 
important. 

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 91.4% of our young 
people had received the required number of health 
assessments 

  Keeping in touch with our care leavers and ensuring they 
are supported is a priority:

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 we were in touch with 
100% of 17-18 year old care leavers and 95% of 19-21 year old 
care leavers

  It is important that our care leavers have somewhere 
suitable to live:

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 96% of our 17-18 year 
old care leavers, and 94% of our 19-21 year old care leavers 
live in suitable accommodation

  Lots of work is taking place to ensure our care leavers are 
in employment, education or training (EET).

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 64% of our 17-18 year 
old care leavers and 54% of our 19-21 year old care leavers are 
in EET

 

 

Page 359



Celebrations of young people and carers
Care Day 2019

‘Ric Flo’, was a special guest at the event. Ric is a care experienced person who uses his creative 
lifework to share with the world his experience of growing up in care and campaigning for better rights 
and understanding. Ric works as a performer and trains social work professionals within the world of 
fostering. He performed some of his work and gave an inspirational talk at the event. 

Local young people attended the event to share their experiences of life in care in Durham.

The third annual Exceptional People in Care 
(EPIC) awards ceremony was held during 
National Care Leavers Week in November.

Winners included: 
18 year old Rachel Calder for education 
achievements, 
19 year old Connie Jones for volunteering, and 17 
year old Andrew Rochester who won the Investing 
in Children award for his increased confidence 
and the support he gives to others.

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Durham’s Cabinet 
member for children and young people’s 
services, said “It is always great to hear stories of 
these young people building on the support we give 
them to make successes of their lives and it was 
humbling to meet some of them at the awards.”

LAC Epic Awards

  

#IiCCareDay19 
Durham CiCC celebrated life in 
care. This year the message 
was 

“Proud To Be Me – 
Celebrate Living in Care!”

10

Page 360



11

Our annual celebration of the outstanding 
commitment of our foster carers was another 
well attended event. 

Held in March, foster carers, their foster children and their 
own children are welcomed each year as we mark 
long-service, celebrate achievement and hear some very 
special stories.
 
Among those to be honoured were Debbie and John Hinds 
from Durham, who have cared for more than 60 children in 
their 25 years fostering with us. Three families also 
received special recognition for going the extra mile in 
caring for children and young people. A further six sons 
and daughters of foster carers were given awards for the 
part they have played in welcoming children into their 
family and home.

Investing in Children Membership Award

Foster Carer Annual Awards

 

This award gives organisations national recognition for their good practice and active inclusion of 
children and young people in dialogue leading to change. 

To achieve membership, organisations have to demonstrate the ways they listen to children and 
young people and the changes made. Children and young people involved in the service have to 
agree and all membership reports are read and approved by children and young people involved in 
the process.

All of Durham County Council’s looked after children’s services have achieved or are working towards 
achieving the Investing in Children Membership Award™.

“We as children and young people are reassured when we visit somewhere and see an 
Investing in Children certificate. We know there will be someone there who is actually listening 
to you and you will be able to put forward ideas” 
Quote from a young person involved in the process.

Page 361



Priorities for 
2019/20

Achievements

l Young people want to be 
involved in completing 
placement risk 
assessment forms, and to 
have sight of these forms 
before they are submitted

l Review Freedom Cards to 
see if additional offers and 
discounts can be included

l Work with school settings 
so that they better 
understand the needs of 
looked after children

l Subsidised transport costs 
for care leavers

l Free leisure activities for 
care leavers 

l Ringfenced apprenticeship 
positions within Durham 
County Council for care 
leavers 

l Opening a children’s home 
at Aycliffe Secure Centre 
to improve the transition 
from secure 
accommodation into the 
community. 

3 Freedom Cards are available which provide discounted 
opportunities to young people to offer opportunities to 
participate in social activities with their peers, and alleviate 
social isolation. Further work is underway to develop this offer 
after recent feedback from young people

3 The Drive Project provides funding for driving lessons, a theory 
and practical test for looked after young people 17+ and care 
leavers who are the responsibility of the council.  

3 46 young people were part of the scheme this year. 10 young 
people passed their theory test and six young people passed 
their practical test.

3 Money has been allocated to improve the facilities where 
children spend time with their families, across the county. Young 
people are involved in the project to ensure the rooms are nice 
places for them to spend time.

The makeovers to date have been a success, and 
feedback from young people has been positive 

“Fab room” 
“Love having our own room”    
“we like being able to choose 
our own toys”
“lots of toys and love the 
playdough!”     
“it’s nice and calm in here”

We are hoping to make over more 
rooms throughout the year.

3 The winter fuel allowance payments are now made to our 
care leavers.

3 We are delighted to have welcomed a care leaver into our 
Children and Young People’s Services team.

Achievements

Helen Fergusson 
(Head of Children’s Social Care) 

helped me loads 
with my social work 

placement

“

”

12

Page 362



13

3 Care Leavers Champions are in all service areas within Durham 
County Council

3 DCC promise launched officially Friday 26th October 2018. 
Young People from CiCC have been involved in supporting the 
council with the creation of the promise and regularly review it. 

3  Following 150 family group conferences, 140 children and 
young people remained in their family/living arrangements with 
support, and did not become looked after.

3 Children and young people are working on making films that will 
explain to other young people what family group conferencing 
is, and what to expect.

3 The Supporting Solutions Service worked with 107 young 
people on the edge of care, and as a result of offering crisis and 
intensive interventions, 100 young people remained in their 
family/living arrangements.

3 Local Offer for Care Leavers has been developed and published

3 Improved foster carer recruitment and retention figures 

3  In 2017-2018 we took 321 enquiries from potential foster carers  
and successfully approved 26 new carers.

3  Young People from the CiCC delivered training to Durham 
County Council’s extended management team to raise the 
profile of looked after children and care leavers. This was to 
ensure plans are in place to hear their voice and use this to 
influence any decisions that are being made..

“If you have a room and a big heart you can be a foster carer. 
Even if you just care for one child you can make such a huge 
difference to their life.”
Comment from our foster carers

“Thank you for the training sessions over the last few weeks, 
we found them very informative and they have definitely 
opened our eyes to the world of fostering. If anything it has 
made us more determined to do it!”
Someone on our training programme

1)  To treat you with respect and to remember that everyone is different.   

2)		 To	help	find
	best	home	we	can	for

	you.		It	will	
be	where	yo

u	feel	safe, 

  cared about and treated well.  

3)  To help you stay in touch with family and friends if it is ok to do so.  

4)  To listen carefully to you and try to act on what you say.  

 
5)  That your social worker will get to know you well.  

  They will keep in touch with you and listen to what you say. 

6)  To really listen to things you would like to change about being looked after.  

7)  To be honest and share any information or changes with you. 

8)		 To	involve	y
ou	in	any	de

cisions,	plan
s	or	change

s	that	affect
	you	or	your

	future.	 

9)  To give you any help or support that you need.  

10)	 To	help
	you	be	the	

best	that	yo
u	can	be	at	

school,	coll
ege,	training

	and	work.	 

11) To give you help and support when needed to move from care to adult life.  

 
12) To work together and support you during every change in your life.

 
For example moving placement or leaving care. 

Our Promise

To Looked After Children and Young People

Contact: Tel: 0191 307 7030    www.investinginchildren.net 

Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services  - contact number 03000 266 593

Head of Children’s Social Care - contact number 03000 265 759

43474

Page 363



l On average more Durham looked after 
children achieved expected standards in their 
KS2 SATS in writing and maths than children 
looked after across the country.

l Durham looked after children made better 
progress between KS1 and KS2 in maths and 
writing than all other children in Durham 
schools. 

l At KS4 Durham looked after children achieved 
much higher GCSE results in English and 
made better progress across all subjects than 
looked after children nationally.

l Durham looked after children have much 
higher school attendance than all other 
Durham children. 

l Young people have been involved in meeting 
with the Virtual School team and redesigning 
Personal Education Plans (PEPs) for primary 
and secondary school pupils.

l Work with the Music service and Virtual School 
has taken place to engage young people who 
are looked after children or care leavers who 
are not engaging with the CiCC.  

l At Durham Virtual School we have been 
training schools to help them understand the 
impact of attachment and early trauma so that 
they can understand and support the needs of 
our looked after children. 

l Curious Kids was launched in February 2019. 
All Durham looked after children in years 2 - 6 
are receiving books and activities through the 
post to help to encourage a love of reading. 
Foster carers attended some training to help 
develop reading skills, Children chose the 
name Curious Kids and the books are 
commissioned by the Virtual School through 
Durham Learning Resources. We are looking 
at how to provide books for younger and older 
children too.

Virtual School

14

“Dear Curious Kids I really 
enjoyed opening this parcel. 
When will I get my next 
parcel?” “Happy and excited! 

p.s. my sister Libby , 
aged 13, wants one! 

She is jealous!”

“Yes, a letter 
for me”

When asked to “Choose your own words or draw a picture to show how you felt when you 
opened your first Curious Kids parcel” these were some of the responses we got: 

Page 364



15

Residential services for children and young people 
We offer residential services for children and young people, giving support and care when 
they cannot live at home or when they need a short break away from their family or carers. 

We have nine children’s homes in County Durham and offer a range of different services, 
including:
l  a therapeutic home for children under 12 years
l  a provision which can offer respite for young people where families are at risk of  

breakdown
l  a short-break resource for children who have a disability
l  a number of well-established medium to long term children’s homes.

“it was my destiny to come to …… all the staff challenge me in a way that I know 

they want the very best for me. My behaviour is now the best it’s ever been .”

“They make the house a home to me and it makes 

the staff feel more like friends and family.”

“the staff aren’t like staff, they are like my family”

“I had input with the décor of the living room.”

“This is a really good home.”

“I am always asked if I want to be involved in things.”

“ I don’t feel like a kid in care, because the staff treat me like their own.”

Page 365



16

Aycliffe Secure Centre
l Analysis of the new parental survey was 

encouraging with 92.5% of parents answering 
‘Great or Good’ when asked ‘How well do 
you think Aycliffe Secure Centre are 
looking after your child?’

 “Staff are always very friendly informative and 
helpful. I’m glad my son is in such good care.”

  “Staff appear genuinely caring and sensitive to 
my child’s needs – they focus on the positives and 
this is very reassuring for me as a parent.”

l 100% of parents/carers stated that they had 
noticed positive changes in their child since 
coming to Aycliffe

 “Calmer and more respect”
  “Staff are mostly bringing out the good in my son 

and he is looking better physically for being here.”
l Over the last 12 months Aycliffe Secure Centre 

has appointed 50 new workers to further 
increase the level and quality of support 
offered to our young people. 

l Young people have developed a DVD 
featuring young people who were new to the 
centre. They told their story of admission and 
tried to dispel myths about secure 
accommodation. This was largely unedited, so 
the young people got ‘the real story’. The film 
has been positively received, and it has helped 
to ease the worries of young people coming 
into the centre for the first time.

l Young people have been involved in 
recruitment for staff at all levels within the 
centre, including residential workers and 
senior managers.

l Young people have hosted some important 
visitors including the council’s corporate 
director of children and young people’s 
services Margaret Whellans, local politicians 
including Councillor Olwyn Gunn and MP Phil 
Wilson, NHS England researchers, youth 
custody monitors and Ofsted inspectors. On all 
occasions the engagement from the young 
people has been exemplary and it has helped 
young people feel part of the centre and to feel 
valued for their positive contribution.

l Myspace meetings continue to be an important 
forum in the centre, to gathering views of 
young people. Feedback received from these 
forums supports decision making and ensures 
that views of young people are key in driving 
change/improvements.

l Young people and staff took part in a wide and 
varied activity programme including a rickshaw 
challenge and tug of war and have raised 
money for Children in Need and Comic Relief 
throughout the year. 

l We continue to increase sporting and leisure 
options to further improve the health and 
wellbeing of our young people. Recent 
additions to the activity programme have 
included dance, basketball, personal training, 
boot camp and trampolining sessions.

l The third annual BBQ in summer 2018 was a 
great success, offering parents/carers/workers 
the opportunity to spend time in a relaxed way 
with the young people, enjoying good food, 
good music and good dancing.

l We also had our annual firework display in 
November with music and refreshments going 
down well - events such as these really bring 
the Aycliffe family together.

Education
l Between January to July 2018, 75% of pupils 

made one or more levels of progress in 
English, and this year achieved 26 Entry 
Level, 11 Level 1, and 2 Level 2 qualifications 
in Functional Skills.

l In maths, 71% of pupils made one or more 
levels of progress and achieved 30 Entry 
Level, and 8 Level 1 Functional Skills 
qualifications. For this academic year to date, 
the combined totals for English and maths 
have increased to 88%.

l Our engagement with local and national 
industry has meant that our young people had 
the opportunity to meet with employers from a 
range of areas including aviation, finance, 
business/administration, retail, health and 
social care, as well as further education 
colleges and apprenticeship providers. Eight of 
our leavers went directly onto college 
placements to study NVQ courses in a range 
of subjects. Three young people successfully 
secured apprenticeships or traineeships for 
when they left us.

Page 366



17

l In March we were inspected by an external 
verifier from our principal exam board, 
Edexcel, whose role is to review our maths 
and English accreditation. The report stated 
that:

l “The centre’s accredited education programmes 
have some of the best results in the secure estate.”

 

“I feel that this place has supported me and made me 
feel part of a family and I’m so happy!”

“My case manager has sorted loads of stuff for me 
and she has always told me the truth. No matter how 
busy she was she always had time to listen to me.”

 

“I would love for all young people who have to come 
into custody to receive the level of care X received at 
Aycliffe”

“X was treated first and foremost as a child and not 
as an ‘offender’. Staff made the effort to get to know 
him, care about him and guide him to make the right 
choices”

“It was clear to see that all of the staff involved in X’s 
care did genuinely care for him and went out of their 
way to make sure he felt supported”

“X has developed the skills to become a mature and 
responsible young person who has with the help of 
staff reflected on his life choices when in the 
community”

 

To ensure the council provides the best 
possible outcomes for the children and young 
people we look after, the Corporate Parenting 
Panel has requested presentations from 
various sources, to make sure they have a 
good overview of the range of services 
provided. This has included feedback from:

l Foster carers

l Adoptive families

l The Full Circle therapeutic support

l Services for looked after children with a 
disability

l The Virtual School

l Young people’s views on mental health

Work of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel

What our Youth Offending team said

What our young people said

47120 CYPS

Page 367



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 18 September 2019
	5 Presentation by Area Action Partnership
	8 Report from the Cabinet
	9 Appointment of a Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning - Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
	10 Review of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	Table of Responses
	University of Durham Intern Report Revision of LA2003 Policy
	Draft Statement of Licensing Policy Council 231019

	11 Adoption of Sedgefield Neighbourhood Plan - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	12 County Durham Vision 2035 - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	Draft Durham Vision v10.0
	Appendix 3 - Draft Vision - EIA

	13 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018/19 - Report of Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel
	Corporate Parenting Annual Report


